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CORPORATE PROFILE
yNCILE

The Company is an investment holding company, principally engaged
in the investment and management of various assets and businesses,
currently including global energy assets and the mobility services
business. The financial statements of the Company is reported by
consolidating the financial results of its controlled portfolio companies,
whereas the Company’s interests in other non-controlling portfolio
companies are mostly recognized as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss in the Company's financial statements.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company has invested in several energy
portfolio companies in China and abroad, which mainly include Hongbo
Mining, Stonehold, JOVO, GNL Quebec, and JUSDA Energy, etc.,
covering investments in upstream crude oil assets and strategic
investments throughout LNG value chain. To capture new investment
opportunities, the Company has also set foot in the mobility services
industry by investing in Weipin, a company that operates a mobility
services platform in China, in late 2019.

° Xilin Gol League Hongbo Mining Development Company
Limited* (85 #& 28 %) B8 7= 19 % % 7 & A& R 2 7@) ("Hongbo
Mining"”) is a wholly-owned portfolio company acquired by the
Company in 2016. It is an operating company engaged in
exploration, development, production and sales of crude oil in
China with its gross sales volume of approximately 319,522
barrels, and gross revenue from sales of approximately HK$112.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY2020"). The
Company holds 100% equity interest in Hongbo Mining and
therefore its financial figures are fully consolidated to the
Company’s financial statements.

o Stonehold Energy Corporation (“Stonehold”), a portfolio
company in the upstream oil sector invested by the Company in
2017, owns a world-class shale oil block in Eagle Ford, Texas of
the United States (the “U.S."). The total net production and the
revenue of Stonehold for 2020 had reached approximately
650,752 boe and US$19 million, respectively. The Company
invested in Stonehold through the provision of a Term Loan, with
a fixed annual interest rate of 8%. In addition, the Company is
also entitled to an amount equivalent to 92.5% of the net
disposal proceeds upon disposal of the underlying assets. The
investment in Stonehold (the “Stonehold investment”) is
recognized as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
in the Company’s financial statements.

4 IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021
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Note:

Jiangxi Jovo Energy Company Limited* (JL#8 1 282RM % B R
2~ &) ("JOVO"), an LNG sector portfolio company invested by
the Company in 2017, is a comprehensive clean energy service
provider focusing on the mid-stream and terminal aspect of the
gas industry. JOVO has subsequently completed the initial public
offering application and review process (the “IPO"), and trading
of its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange commenced on 25
May 2021 (stock code: 605090). JOVO offers a wide range of
clean energy and related products, such as liquefied natural gas
(LNG), liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) and methanol, and
comprehensive solutions of international energy provision and
integrated application. The Company holds minority interest in
JOVO and recognizes this investment as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss in the Company's financial
statements.

LNG Quebec Limited Partnership (“GNL Quebec") is another
portfolio company in LNG value chain invested by the Company.
GNL Quebec owns and operates one of the largest Canadian
LNG export terminals under development with a planned capacity
of 11 mmtpa. The Company holds minority interest in GNL
Quebec and recognizes this investment as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss in the Company's financial
statements.

JUSDA Energy Technology (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.* (%R i g2 )R &l
HF(E®)ABRAR) (“JUSDA Energy"), an investment in LNG
value chain made by the Company in 2018, is engaged in LNG
logistics services using LNG ISO container model. JUSDA Energy
started its business in 2019, and has been providing stable
logistics services to its customers helping them to distribute LNG
from domestic LNG receiving terminals or source LNG to the
overseas markets by using ISO containers. The Company holds a
39% equity interest upon completion of all equity contribution in
JUSDA Energy and recognizes this investment as interest in an
associate in the Company’s financial statements.

Weipin (“Weipin"), a mobility sector portfolio company acquired
by the Company in 2019, is principally engaged in the online ride-
hailing services business in China. The Company effectively
holds 35.5% of the equity share of Weipin and had the majority
voting right of the board of directors with all the decision-making
power over the activities of Weipin from completion of the
acquisition to 21 June 2021. The Company consolidated the
financial results of Weipin into its FY2020 financial statements.

Terms used in this section have the same meanings as those defined in the

subsequent sections of this annual report.

For identification purposes only
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B =

Revenue from sales and services

— Revenue from sales of crude oil

(Note 1)
— Revenue from rendering of
mobility services (Note 2)
Investment (loss)/income (Note 3)
Total (loss)/income from principal
business activities, net of cost
(Note 4)
EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA (Note 5)
(Loss)/profit before taxation
(Loss)/profit for the year (Note 6)
Basic (loss)/earnings per share
(HKS per share)
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
(HKS per share)

Non-current assets

Current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

6 IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

HERIRBBHA
— RmEERA (FEE1)

— REHITRERA
(FizE2)
1B (5518),/ s (HE3)
TEERTHR(ER)
Uz (GBRp AR (Bi5E4)

EBITDA

S FHEEEBITDA (FiH3E5)

BrEiAT (E18),/ I

FE(E8),/ 78 (HzEe)

FRER(FE) /BF
(BRR#T)

Sl () BF
(BR#T)

FRBEE
MBEE
BERE
REEE
FRBEIE
BEER
BEFE
AREREEBER
el ES B

2021

—E-—F
HK$’000
FERT

1,760,515

90,008

1,670,507
(297,577)

(302,970)
(314,972)
(314,972)
(464,389)
(436,376)
(5.849
cent &1l )
(5.849
cent &l )

Year Ended 31 March
BE=A=t+-BALEE
2020 2019
—E-TE —TfF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

2018

HK$'000
THET

243,546 168,026 123,399
152,219 168,026 123,399
91,327 - -
(244,018) 163,289 74,395
(206,152) 237,956 106,576
(210,978) 236,636 101,656
(210,978) 236,636 101,656
(303,843) 35,482 24,323
(296,725) 27,379 14,493
(4.499 0.437 0.403
cent/81ll) cent &1l cent /&1l
(4.499 0.436 0.294
cent &1ll) cent &1l cent &1l

2017

HK$'000
TET

76,779

76,779

(3,105)
(392,795)
(32,175)
(450,619)
(462,426)

(0.33)

(0.33)

2021

—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET

2,417,054
1,188,470
3,605,524
355,843
205,402
561,245
3,044,279

2,904,233

As at 31 March

R=RA=t+—H
2019
—TNF
HK$'000
FET

AOKES)
—T-N\F
HK$'000
FHET

HK$'000
FHTL

2,734,099 2,606,207 2,314,740
1,179,910 1,292,662 1,948,721
3,914,009 3,898,769 4,263,461
277,114 226,514 287,003
230,107 128,842 386,899
507,221 355,356 673,902
3,406,788 3,543,413 3,589,559
3,229,711 3,643,413 3,589,559

2017
—E—+tF
HK$'000
FHBT

588,396
2,251,002
2,839,398

374,268

387,766

762,034
2,077,364

2,077,364
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note b:

Note 6:

The revenue from sales of crude oil represents the revenue generated from the
net sales of crude oil produced by Hongbo Mining, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The decrease of revenue in FY2020 was mainly attributable to
Hongbo Mining's active control in its oil production output considering the low oil
price during FY2020.

The revenue from rendering of mobility services represents the revenue from the
online ride-hailing services provided by Weipin, of which its financial results was
consolidated in the financial statements from 15 November 2019 (acquisition date
of Weipin) to 31 March 2021.

According to accounting policy, the investment (loss)/income stated here mainly
includes (i) the returns from one of the investments regarding upstream oil and
gas assets, primarily in the form of interest income (interest at the rate of 8% per
annum) and other fair value changes from the term loan (the “Term Loan")
granted to Stonehold, which holds the unconventional shale oil and gas assets in
the Eagle Ford core region in the U.S.; and (i) the net of investment income and
losses in the form of fair value gain or loss from other projects. The investment
loss in FY2020 was mainly attributable to the fair value change from the Stonehold
investment which mainly resulted from the slow recovery and uncertainties in the
demand for crude oil, which was affected by concerns over the prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic in many parts of the world, holding back market recovery. In
addition, the global promotion of carbon neutralization is accelerating, which
promotes the use of natural gas and other alternative renewable energy and
consequently reduces the long-term demand for fossil fuels like crude oil.

The total (loss)/income from principal business activities, net of cost represents
the above-mentioned revenue from sales of crude oil, revenue from rendering of
mobility services and investment (loss)/income, net of the cost of sales of crude
oil and cost of rendering of mobility services. The loss was mainly due to the
reasons stated above in Note 1 and Note 3.

Adjusted EBITDA refers to EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-recurring items,
including the notional listing expense and related transaction costs in relation to
the Transfer and the Transactions during FY2016 (collectively referred to as the
Reverse Takeover Transaction, the "RTO") (as defined in the circular of the
Company dated 29 June 2016 (the “RTO Circular”)).

The loss for FY2020 is primarily attributed to the following factors:

(i) The loss from the fair value change of the Stonehold investment;

(ii) The operation loss from Hongbo Mining due to the decrease of crude oil
price which was adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and the
imbalanced oil supply and demand during FY2020; and

(iii) The non-cash impact from amortization of certain intangible assets in an
amount of HK$85 million during FY2020 from Weipin. These intangible
assets include the online ride-hailing license, drivers list, and business
relationship, which were recognized in the acquisition of Weipin on 15
November 2019.

B 1 -
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B35
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OPERATING SUMMARY
2EME

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2021 2020

—E-—F —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiExT FAT

GLOBAL ENERGY Upstream oil and gas business from Hongbo Mining
INVESTMENT RECEEEN LR HRER

2IREERRE Gross production volume (barrels) (Note 1) 314,466 406,290
mESE (R (FEE1)
Gross sales volume (barrels) (Note 1) 319,522 400,279
miHE (m) (MsE)
Net sales volume (barrels) 255,618 320,224
FIHE ()
Average unit selling price (HK$ per barrel) (Note 1) 352 475
P B EE(FWET) (M)
Average daily gross production volume (barrels) 874 1,129
FHERBES (M)
Average unit production cost before depreciation and

amortisation (HK$ per barrel) (Note 1) 102 92

Rt EREHN THEMEERA (BRET) (1)
Average unit production cost (HK$ per barrel) (Note 1) 253 214

B AERA (BT (1)
Wells drilled during the year
FE R H
— Dry holes (unit) (Note 2) - -
— (O (KiFE2)
— Oil producers (unit) (Note 3) - 12
— EmA(O)(FHF3)
Fracturing workover during the year (unit) - 3
FEBRRGEE (D)

Key investment (loss)/income

TERE (FHB) WA

Stonehold investment (Note 6 and 8) (300,421) (143,298)
Stonehold % & (i 6 & 8)

LNGL investment (Note 8) (26,144) (116,595)
LNGL# & (ffzE8)

JOVO investment (Note 7 and 8) 30,629 2,167
NEERE (W77 %8)

8 IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021
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MOBILITY SERVICES
BUSINESSES
TR R

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Mobility services businesses from Weipin

Weipin 2 11T R 3£ 7
Total orders (Orders) (Note 4 and 5)

Rl (5)(FFE4 &5)

Average daily order(s) (Note 4 and 5)

g EETEEE (MiFE4 &5)

Average revenue per order (HK$) (Note 4 and 5)
FHFBERA GET) (M54 &% 5)

Hongbo Mining is a subsidiary of the Company engaged in exploration,
development, production and sale of crude oil in China. Hongbo Mining’'s gross
production volume was used in the calculation of average unit production cost and
average unit production cost before depreciation and amortisation which includes
20% of crude oil production volume as the entitlement for Shaanxi Yanchang
Petroleum (Group) Company Limited (Yanchang Oil Mineral Administrative
Bureau* (RREERAM (KE)EREEAR(ERMEEER))

The average unit selling price was calculated using the net sales amount and net

("Yanchang”).

sales volume which exclude Yanchang's 20% entitlement. Gross sales volume
equals to the net sales volume plus Yanchang's 20% entitlement.

In Block 212 of Hongbo Mining, 3 exploratory wells that were completed for more
than one year in the previous fiscal year were written off in FY2020. These 3
wells could not obtain industrial oil flow due to the current economic and technical
conditions, and therefore were deemed to have no industrial production value.
The land acquisition compensation and preliminary expenses related to the 3
wells were transferred to the exploration expenses in a total amount of
approximately HK$13.3 million.

In FY2020, Hongbo Mining halted all well-drilling activities in response to the
adverse effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and the imbalance of the oil supply-
demand.

Weipin was a subsidiary of the Company engaged in online car-hailing mobility
business from November 2019 and ceased to be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company with effect from 21 June 2021. Due to the COVID-19
pandemic, Weipin had not reached full potential in both revenue and daily order
volume generated from the mobility services in FY2020. Nevertheless, China has
shown great improvement on the containment of the COVID-19 pandemic and
people’s enthusiasm, and frequency for travelling have been restored significantly.
Furthermore, with the expansion of new cities covered by Weipin, the mobility
services business has been improved with the average daily order volume
reaching 454,000 orders in January 2021.

BEET -

FisE2 -

MEES :

FfisE4 :

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLFE
2021 2020
—ETEF
HK$'000
FHET

—E-—F
HK$'000
TR

65,373,216 3,088,786
179,597 22,546
25.6 30

F‘@Eﬁiﬁﬁ/‘ﬂﬁqﬂ BitEHE M £E
REEFRMHM B AR - i HEFHEMEERAR
&*aﬁﬁ%&ﬁ&ﬁé}ﬂ‘]ﬂ?i’iﬁ i 4 EE PR A B BT AR Y
FEBEEXEESBERALROM(EE)EREA
FERAR(ERBEERR) (ERA M) DIERH
EBZ20%0E - FTHEMEBHEMFHER
REFHE(TREERAH20% NN HE - &
HESNFHEN LERAM20% WHE -

RZZEZTHF - REEEE212E B3 A AR
BIEED il — F A L ERAF TR - %
£ 30 A B ATAAS B MBI (R RIS T 0h
7 AR RATABIEMREE - H30HFF
BB HERNPNEREADERER B8
#713,300,00078 7T °

RZZ-TYF - REE COVID-19&IE R A
FIFENTNEE  REBXCELMEET
EE) o

Weipn B ZZE—NF+—ARBRARRRNEHELY
BHTEB 2B AR BB =—F A
Zt+—HRETBEHIARANMB®REK - AR
ZCOVID- 19 IBHE - RZZZZ 84 + Weipin
HITIRB KA RS BB REFTHBHERE
SR - R EFECOVID-19 & BRI =7 MRS ZE
AR - AFIRY B2 2V FSR RS B R IRE - 1t
Sh - BEZE Weipin B Z 0T AU 4E R - H1TRTES
EBEARE  ER =T -—F—-AMNBEHES
3% 454,000 &
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OPERATING SUMMARY
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Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

Note 8:

Average revenue per order is calculated with reference to the total revenue
generated from the mobility services businesses and the total number of orders
during FY2020. The significant increase of the total orders and average daily
orders was mainly due to the expansion of new cities covered by Weipin and the
great improvement on the containment of the COVID-19 pandemic in China and
people’s enthusiasm, and frequency for travelling have been restored significantly
starting from second half of 2020.

The significant loss from the Stonehold investment was mainly attributable to the
fair value change from the Stonehold investment. In light of the prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic in many parts of the globe, the said loss primarily resulted
from the slow market recovery and uncertainties in the world’'s demand for crude
oil. In addition, the global promotion of carbon neutralization is accelerating, which
promotes the use of natural gas and other alternative renewable energy and
consequently reduces the long-term demand for fossil fuels like crude oil.

The valuation of JOVO investment improved due to the improvement of
operational performance in JOVO in 2020. JOVO has subsequently completed its
IPO, and trading of its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange commenced on 25
May 2021 (stock code: 605090).

Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the section

headed "“Business Review" in this annual report for further information.

For the purpose of this annual report, unless otherwise indicated,

exchange rates used are for the purpose of illustration only and do not

constitute a representation that any amount has been, could have

been or may be exchanged at such rate or any other rate or at all on

the date or dates in question or any other date.

In respect of

information of exchange rates that have been previously disclosed in

the Company’s announcements, the same exchange rates as disclosed

in the respective announcements have been used herein.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
the Company, | hereby report to you the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries for FY2020.

The Company is an investment holding company, principally engaged
in the investment and management of different assets and businesses,
currently including global energy assets and the mobility services
business. The principal businesses of its invested portfolio companies
(including those which are subsidiaries) consist of mobility services
platform, oil and gas business and investment fund management in
related businesses and sectors.

Overall, the Company and its subsidiaries recorded a net loss of
HK$436.4 million for FY2020 as compared to a net loss of
approximately HK$296.7 million for FY2019. The significant loss was
mainly attributable to the fair value change of the Stonehold
investment which mainly resulted from the slow recovery and
uncertainties in the demand for crude oil, which was affected by
concerns over the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic in many parts of the
world, holding back market recovery. In addition, the global promotion
of carbon neutralization is accelerating, which promotes the use of
natural gas and other alternative renewable energies and consequently
reduces the long-term demand for fossil fuels like crude oil. Moreover,
due to low oil prices, the adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic,
as well as the imbalance of the oil supply and demand, Hongbo Mining
had halted all well-drilling activities, resulting in significant decline of
Hongbo Mining’s revenue and profitability for FY2020. However,
before the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company had
diversified its investments by entering into the mobility services
industry which contributed to the significant increase in the top lines.
Although the revenue from the mobility services business was also
adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, it had gradually
recovered due to China's successful prevention and control efforts on
COVID-19. The Company recorded a revenue of HK$1,670.5 million
from mobility services in FY2020.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T

At the beginning of 2020, Brent oil prices continued their upward trend
from the end of 2019, starting at the level of US$60/barrel. They
subsequently encountered the COVID-19 epidemic, which greatly
reduced market demand. The OPEC+ conference in March 2020 failed
to reach a production reduction agreement, causing Saudi Arabia and
Russia to increase production and compete for market shares. Due to
the increase in shale oil production in the United States, the pipeline
transmission capacity and oil depots were fully utilized in April 2020.
For the first time in the history of West Texas Intermediate (“WTI"),
negative oil prices appeared, and WTI fell to the level of US$ -40 per
barrel. After OPEC+ began to cut production by 9.7 million barrels per
day in early May 2020, oil prices gradually rebounded to a level of more
than US$40+ per barrel and fluctuated for many months. It was not
until November 2020 that the development of the COVID-19 vaccine
made a breakthrough, and in December OPEC+ decided to slow down
the rate of production increase in 2021, and oil prices rebounded to the
level of US$50/barrel. Entering into 2021, OPEC+ will continue its
production reduction efforts and gradually reduce the scale of
production reduction, while the demand side will grow steadily. The
global crude oil inventory has steadily declined, which has also formed
support for oil prices. In response to the oil price environment in the
first half of 2021, while strictly controlling the investment in new wells,
Hongbo Mining and Stonehold, the upstream oil and gas investment
portfolio screened some old wells for fracturing, and took advantage of
the high oil prices during a short-term rapid production increase. Given
the continued macroeconomic uncertainty, the Company remain
cautious and focused on managing liquidity through executing on
initiatives such as reducing well-drilling activities and pullbacks in
capital expenditure and growth projects.

Despite the impact on the market and economic activities from the
COVID-19 epidemic, the global LNG trading volume grew steadily in
2020 compared with the demand of 358 million tons in 2019, reaching
360 million tons. The increase in 2020 reflects the resilience and
flexibility of the global LNG market. As for the domestic natural gas
market, in 2020, the national apparent consumption of 325.6 billion
cubic meters represents an increase of 6.9% year-on-year, accounting
for 8.8% of the total primary energy demand. On the domestic supply
side, local and imported LNG continued to lead the growth in 2020,
and the largest increase in imported LNG is 9.7%, and the local LNG
also increased to 15 billion cubic meters. In the fourth quarter of 2020,
the newly establishment National Pipeline Network Company (Bl R &
#8/2 7]) connected the gas pipelines and open a receiving station TUA.
Opportunities and challenges coexist for the Company’s investment.
The portfolio companies of the Company, such as JOVO, can expand
the distribution radius through pipelines and reach out to new gas
users to increase sales. But other end users or traders of the market
can also enter into the gas market through the pipeline network of
Guangdong Province in the form of TPA. Pipeline gas will further
squeeze out the market share of liquefied gas, which will lead to fierce
competition in the liquefied gas market, and will require each project
to lock in long-term stable users.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T

In addition, the mobility services market in China has experienced
strong recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. The daily orders
of ride-sharing and ride-hailing services of Weipin dropped to
historically low levels due to the nationwide quarantine requirements
in the first quarter of 2020. However, the sector has recovered rapidly
in the second quarter of 2020 and continued to grow in the following
quarters. The entire market (including online taxi service, ride-hailing
service, hitching service, and chauffeuring service) reached more than
30 million daily orders in the second half of 2020. And the daily order
reached 14,000,000 orders in January 2021.
Mobility OPCOs, has been operating in 27 major cities of China, such
as Guangzhou, Hangzhou and Chengdu, with a total of approximately

Weipin, through the

280,000 registered car drivers. The Company believes that the new
mobility sector in China is still an underpenetrated market with
potential to double its order volume in the next few years. To provide
the management of Weipin with more flexibility in terms of decision
making over its operations and in turn increase the investment return,
on 21 June 2021, through amicable negotiations, the shareholders of
Weipin agreed to enter into an amended shareholders’ agreement so
as to, among other things, make adjustments to the structure of the
board of Weipin, of which the Company agrees to lower its number of
designated directors from 3 to 2 directors in the board of Weipin. After
the adjustment, the Company no longer has the majority voting right of
the board of directors of Weipin, and in turn no longer has the decision-
making power over the business activities of Weipin. Under the
relevant regulatory requirements and accounting standards, Weipin
shall cease to be consolidated into the financial statements of the
Company with effect from 21 June 2021. The shareholding percentage
held by the Company in Weipin remains unchanged (i.e. 35.5%), and
Weipin continues to be an investment portfolio of the Company. The
Company believes, allowing the directors with more experience in
operation of mobility services to have more decision-making power in
Weipin's business and management is conductive to the long-term
development of Weipin and will in turn bring more favourable
investment return to the Company and its shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
T

As mentioned above, the Company owns different investments,
currently comprising a portfolio of assets in the energy sector and the
mobility service sector around the world. The Company has evaluated
and considered that the application of advanced manufacturing will be
a major global development trend. In the latest five-year development
plan of the PRC, the development of frontier technologies has become
a national policy priority. On 27 March 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into an amended and restated limited
partnership agreement for its admission as the limited partner into a
fund with a primary focus on advanced manufacturing sector. Through
the investment in the fund, and with the additional funding from other
limited partners, the Company shall be able to leverage on the
knowledge and connections of the general partner to identify and
manage promising investment opportunities, while maintaining rights
to evaluate and opportunity to co-invest each investment projects of
the fund.

Going forward, the Company’s top priority in 2021 remains managing
liquidity at the portfolio company level in anticipation of continued
uncertainty, while continuing to pursue the investment strategy with
decarbonization and other green asset opportunities which included
but not limited to investments in advanced manufacturing sector. Also,
the Company shall continue to pay close attention to the market
environment and consider potentially exiting its mature investments so
as to seize opportunity and realize value.

Finally, | would like to take this opportunity to extend our appreciation
to all fellow directors and employees for their invaluable efforts,
dedication and commitment to the Company and its subsidiaries. |
would also like to thank all shareholders and business associates for
their continuous support with which we will get through these
difficulties times.

Wang Jingbo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
25 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R M AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
The Company is an investment holding company, principally engaged
in the investment and management of different assets and businesses,
currently including global energy assets and the mobility services
business. The principal businesses of its invested portfolio companies
(including those which are subsidiaries) consist of mobility services
platform, oil and gas business and investment fund management in
related businesses and sectors.

Summary of key investment portfolios
1. Investment in global energy sector
1.1 Investment in upstream crude oil assets
The Company had made an acquisition of an upstream
crude oil asset in 2016 at favourable costs and completed
the investment in another upstream shale oil project in
2017.

The global oil market has been largely disrupted by the
COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. The global economic recovery
has been dramatically uneven and fragile with China leading
the way to return to normal, while the rest of the world
lags behind. However, the uncertainty created by COVID-19
shows little sign of abating. On the supply side, global
supply is falling as OPEC+ countries improved their
compliance rate with the production reduction agreement,
but the potential impact of Iran’s increased production still
exist. Although oil prices have remained at a relatively high
level due to the expected gradual recovery in demand,
considering the current repeated epidemics, it is very
difficult to predict how the situation will turn out in the near
future. As a result, the market is still very fragile. The
Company will continue to pay close attention to the market
and try to preserve value for its assets financially and
operationally.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE T Mo

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

16

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)

1.1.1

Hongbo Mining Investment

Hongbo Mining, one of the upstream portfolio
companies, is the Company’'s wholly-owned
subsidiary and is engaged in exploration,
development, production and sale of crude oil in
China. The Company completed the acquisition of
Hongbo Mining in July 2016 at the consideration of
RMB558.88 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$652 million) (the “Hongbo Mining Acquisition”).

Under the exploration and production cooperation
contract (the "EPCC") entered into between Hongbo
Mining and Yanchang, Yanchang (as the mineral right
owner) and Hongbo Mining (as the operator)
cooperate to explore for crude oil in Block 212 and
Block 378 which cover a combined region of 591 km?
in Inner Mongolia; and Hongbo Mining and Yanchang
are entitled to 80% and 20% of the sale proceeds
(net of any sales related taxes), respectively. Block
212 had obtained from the Ministry of Land and
Resources of the People’s Republic of China a 15-
year valid production permit covering Unit 2, Unit 19
and other areas in Block 212 in May 2017.
Furthermore, Block 212 and Block 378 are entitled to
exploration permits which are renewable for a term of
two years after expiration. The current exploration
permit for Block 212 will expire on 3 April 2022,
whereas the exploration permit for Block 378 had
expired on 9 November 2019 and the application for a
renewal permit is being processed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE T Mo

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)

1.1.1

Hongbo Mining Investment (continued)

In response to the adverse effects of the COVID-19
pandemic and the imbalance of the oil supply/
demand, Hongbo Mining has quickly adjusted its
production target by actively controlling production
volume, reducing capital expenditures, and
implementing various measures for cost reduction
and efficiency improvement. Accordingly, Hongbo
Mining had halted all its well drilling activities in
FY2020 to reserve the production capacity for more
favorable pricing in the future. Besides, Hongbo
Mining had actively negotiated with its major buyer,
and successfully obtained a favorable oil selling price
at second quarter of 2020. As of 31 March 2021, all
the production wells, reserves and resources
estimated by Hongbo Mining were located in Block
212.

As a result, in FY2020 Hongbo Mining's oil production
volume decreased by approximately 22.6% to
314,466 barrels; its gross and net oil sales volume
decreased by approximately 20.2% to 319,522 barrels
and 255,618 barrels, respectively. Its gross revenue
(equals to the net revenue from sale of crude oil plus
the 20% crude oil entitlement for Yanchang) and net
revenue from sales of crude oil decreased by
approximately 40.8% to approximately HK$112.5
million and HK$90.0 million, respectively, compared
to the year ended 31 March 2020 (“FY2019").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE T Mo

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

18

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)

1.1.1

Hongbo Mining Investment (continued)

Due to the decrease of oil and gas reserves, the
average unit production cost increased by HK$39 per
barrel, or approximately 18.2%, from HK$214 per
barrel (equivalent to US$27.4 per barrel) in FY2019 to
HK$253 per barrel (equivalent to US$32.6 per barrel)
in FY2020. And the average unit production cost
before depreciation and amortization increased by
HK$10 per barrel, or approximately 10.9%, from
HK$92 per barrel (equivalent to US$11.8 per barrel) in
FY2019 to HK$102 per barrel (equivalent to US$13.1
per barrel) in FY2020.

The following table provides a recap of Hongbo
Mining’s key operational metrics and product prices
for the periods indicated.
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Year ended 31 March
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Average daily gross production THERBEEZ(B)
volume (barrels)

Average daily gross sales volume — F¥HE B E#HE (1)
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Average unit production cost RETITE R
before depreciation and BN ER AN
amortisation (HK$ per barrel) (&W@ET)

Average unit production cost SEAG B A E AR
(HK$ per barrel) (B@®ET)

Average unit selling price FHEMEE
(HK$ per barrel) (B@%T)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R M AT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) RIMOE (2
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued) TEREHECHE (B)
1.  Investment in global energy sector (continued) 1. 2RERRVEET(E)
1.1 Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued) 1.1 REWNBEHEENIRE (B)

1.1.1 Hongbo Mining Investment (continued)
The summary of Hongbo Mining's exploration and
development expenditures incurred is as follows:

110 RIEEERE ()
RIETEEATE SR IE K&
BHRTBEHIINT

Summary of expenditures incurred

2021

for the year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+t—HLEE

FREE zHAxHE

—E-—F

Number

BE

Wells drilled during the year FE#FHN B

Cost

A
(HK$’000)
(F#&x)

2020
===
Number Cost
He DN
(HK$'000)

(F%7T)

Oil producers Bl - - 12 51,131
Dry holes (Note) =4 (Mi5E) - 13,321 - -
Total st - 13,321 12 51,131
Fracturing workover BRI - - 3 2,116
Geological and 3 5 J% b BR Y 3R B AN

geophysical costs - 2,292 - 2,914
Note: In Block 212, the 3 exploratory wells that were completed for Misk : R ZTBF - AR

more than one year in the previous fiscal year were written
off in FY2020. These 3 wells could not obtain industrial oil
flow due to the current economic and technical conditions,
and therefore were deemed to have no industrial production
value. The land acquisition compensation and preliminary
expenses related to the 3 wells were transferred to the
exploration expenses in a total amount of approximately
HK$13.3 million.

FEETE - FALNIAKE
212 @ BAI BN R ETTIR AN -
%3 A LA B A A A
IR EREE T 00R - Bt
BRR/TEBIEMREE-
H13 A A B RO Bt 1 S B
HEAEADRER R
#913,300,000 & 7T °
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

20

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)

1.1.1

Hongbo Mining Investment (continued)

Based on the oil and gas reserves as at 31 March
2021 as estimated by independent technical
consultants, the net 1P reserves of Hongbo Mining
were 6.99 million barrels at stock tank conditions
(“MMstb") and the net 2P reserves were 11.80
MMstb. Due to the challenges of the macro-economy
such as highly volatile prices of oil and gas, the net 1P
and 2P reserves decreased by 9.6% and 13.1%,
respectively, as compared with those as at 31 March
2020.

The below are the summary and review of the
reserves and resources of Hongbo Mining as at 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2020, as conducted by the
independent technical consultants, Gaffney, Cline &
Associates (“GCA"):

Proved (1P)

Proved + Probable (2P)

Proved + Probable +
Possible (3P)

Contingent resources (1C)

E?ET%%HP)

+ RS E (2P)

BE +Wuﬂ]u +
AIBERHE (3P)
“EBEIRE (1C)
&iBERE (2C)
& EEIRE (3C)
ERER

Contingent resources (2C)
Contingent resources (3C)

Prospective resources

EHOE (9
FEREHSHEE)

1. Z2RERREELH(E)
REBRHEENRE (B)

1.1

As at 31 March 2021

1.1.1

RIEEERE ()

SN S AVES E LSRR N
—E-—F=A=1+—HHK
MRRE  REBRENIPF
HErR6VEEHERIE
EHERD 2PFREA
11.80 B B M - HVER
BRESRAFERBLEER
EAH IPFI2PEHES -
TTF=HA=+—H1PH
PFFHE DRI T £9.6% M
13.1%

TR BB E R Gaffney,
Cline & Associates ([GCA)
Mt R B AEEEN =
%_—E:ﬂ =+—HE=
T_TF=RA= ‘f— A &) f#
EREREBR

As at 31 March 2020

R=ZT=—%F
=A=+—H
Gross Net Gross

BIAE FRE RiFE=E FHEE
(MMstb) (MMstb) (MMstb) (MMstb)
(B8 (B8 (B8 (B8
e AR ) S EEAE) R TR ) AR )
8.74 6.99 9.2 7.3
14.75 11.80 16.3 13.0
18.68 14.94 20.5 16.4
3.92 3.13 2.1 1.6
7.98 6.39 3.5 2.8
12.80 10.24 5.6 4.5
9.7 7.76 9.7 7.76
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)

1.1.1

Hongbo Mining Investment (continued)

Note: The reserve estimates and the future net revenue have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted petroleum
engineering and evaluation principles set forth in the
Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and
Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of
Petroleum Engineers. Independent technical consultants used
standard engineering and geosciences methods or a
combination of methods, including performance analysis,
volumetric analysis, and analogy, that it considered to be
appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and
estimate volumes in accordance with the 2007 PRMS (the
Petroleum Resources Management System published by the
Society of Petroleum Engineers, American Association of
Petroleum Geologists, World Petroleum Council, and Society
of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers in March 2007) definitions
and guidelines. These reserve amounts are estimates only
and should not be construed as exact quantities.

1.1.2 Stonehold Investment

The Company had widened its global footprint in the
upstream oil sector by successfully completing the
investment in Stonehold in September 2017.

Stonehold holds certain world-class unconventional
shale oil and gas assets (the “Target Assets”),
covering approximately 24,087 gross acres (9,123 net
acres) across Dimmit and La Salle counties in the
Eagle Ford region of South Texas of the U.S.. The
area of the target assets is liquid-rich, and the majority
of the reserves are crude oil and natural gas liquid.
Based on the information provided by Stonehold, the
Target Assets consist of 218 producing wells
currently, and the total net production and revenue of
the Target Assets for the year 2020 were
approximately 650,752 boeN°® and US$19 million,
respectively.

EIEE (2

FEREHSHE(H)
1. Z2RERREELH(E)

1.1

REBRHEENRE (B)

1.1.1

RIBEERE (B)

BIEE - HEHE RARAOFRETIIRE
o T2 R0 S & AR A0 A h R
RARFEBMHE NERENR
HEERANOHTIERMEE
RAGE - BRIE-TTLFA
HEREEGE (ZHEAAR
MTRMEE - EEAMNE
BRipe ROHEEER
AR TRAREN —FF
tE=ZRBM) BEERE
5l B RMERRMD T IRE
TRMBHERM B AdiRa %
‘A BREUESN - FHE
DT RSB FHAR BB R KB
EMHEHRELETOE R
BEhEHE ZEHEEER
B TREBIERAREREYE -

1.12 Stonehold & &

RRAFR-_E—LEFENAK
T 5e A Stonehold HY#E
AR LA RITENZK
IRE o

Stonehold 5B & Tt R4 IE
BHAEEHREE(BEE
Bl BExHERENE
ER I ¥ (Eagle Ford) i@ i K
8 (Dimmit) & 17 8 5% (La
Salle) #724,087 48 #A(9,123/F
)T e BEEEMTERE
BERENE BRI
EREBRRKARBRITAK -
R 4% Stonehold 1R E L
BEEEERMBE21804%
EF —T_ZTFHIZEE
WRFEERRASROA
650,7521 ' & 2" E K
19,000,000 7T °
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.
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Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)
1.1.2 Stonehold Investment (continued)

On 14 August 2017 (local time in Houston, Texas, the
U.S.), the Company and Think Excel Investments
Limited (“Think Excel”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the credit agreement
(the “Credit Agreement”) with Stonehold, pursuant
to which, the Company and Think Excel have
conditionally agreed to grant the Term Loan to
Stonehold for the purpose of financing the acquisition
of the Target Assets and the subsequent operations
of such assets by Stonehold. Stonehold is a company
wholly owned and solely controlled by Breyer Capital
L.L.C.. The principal amount of the Term Loan shall
not exceed (i) the initial payment with an amount of
US$165.0 million (approximately HK$1,291.1 million)
on 26 September 2017; (ii) thereafter, US$10 million
(approximately HK$78.3 million); and (iii) any
guarantee payment made by the Company and Think
Excel to Stonehold in respect of the senior debt to be
obtained from commercial bank(s). The unpaid
principal amount from time to time shall bear interest
at the rate of 8% per annum (after the making of or
the allocation of any applicable withholding tax), with
an additional interest of an amount equal to 92.5% of
the disposal proceeds received or recovered by
Stonehold in respect of disposal of the Target Assets
after deducting outstanding principals and interests
as well as relevant fees and expenses. The Term
Loan shall be payable to the Company and Think
Excel in full on the maturity date, which falls 10 years
after 26 September 2017.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) WO (&)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued) FTEREHSHE (B)
1.  Investment in global energy sector (continued) 1. 2RERRVEET(E)
1.1 Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued) 1.1 RENBEHEENIRE (E)

1.1.2 Stonehold Investment (continued) 1.12 Stonehold#&& (&)

On the same date of the Credit Agreement,
Stonehold entered into an acquisition agreement (the
“Acquisition Agreement”) with Stonegate
Production Company, LLC (“Stonegate”), pursuant
to which, Stonegate has conditionally agreed to sell
and Stonehold has conditionally agreed to purchase
the Target Assets. All Target Assets are non-operated
oil and gas assets of Stonegate (the “Stonegate
Acquisition”).

On 26 September 2017 (local time in Houston, Texas,
the U.S.), the initial payment of the Term Loan with
an amount of US$165.0 million (approximately
HK$1,291.1 million) under the Credit Agreement was
released to Stonehold and the acquisition of the
Target Assets by Stonehold from Stonegate was
consummated in accordance with the terms of the
Acquisition Agreement, and a subsequent payment of
the Term Loan with an amount of US$5.0 million
(approximately HK$39.0 million) has been released to
Stonehold on 22 November 2017.

REEWEEEE B
Stonehold 81 Stonegate
Production Company, LLC
([Stonegate |) 7] i7 I &% 153
E(wEHED Bt
Stonegate B & RIE HE &
Stonehold B IEHRIZERE B
BEE-FMTBEEEEEHR
Stonegate H3FE & MR E &=
([Stonegate WEEEE |) -

RZE—+FhLAZ=+"H
(ZEF#® 7 E MK ETE
EERHE) THERNE
% 165,000,000 3 7T (£
1,291,100,0007% 7T ) B 1R &
1Z B 173 3 i F Stonehold -
1M Stonehold & 18 15 Y 8% 7 3%
16 X BX Ih 1 Stonegate U8 B8
BIZEEE BETHERD
1% #& 1 305,000,000 % 7T (4Y
39,000,000/ L) E R =&
—+F+—A-+-BHEMW
¥ Stonehold °
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)
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Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)
1.1.2 Stonehold Investment (continued)

Due to the impact of low oil price, Stonehold and its
operators have carried out a curtailment plan for its oil
production between April and July 2020. The plan
helped Stonehold maintain the required cashflow in
its asset and also reserved the production capacity for
better pricing later on. Moreover, Stonehold has
actively worked with the operators to postpone
drilling and completion activities until a later date
when oil price rallies. Given that the oil price has
improved, crude oil production recovered since July
2020. The cumulative production for the whole year
of 2020 was 650,752 barrels of oil equivalent, the
annual average realized oil price was US$29.2/barrel
and the Company recorded a loss in the fair value of
the Stonehold investment amounting to US$39
million in FY2020. The loss of fair value change from
the Stonehold Investment mainly resulted from the
slow recovery and uncertainties in the demand for
crude oil, which was affected by concerns over the
prolonged COVID-19 pandemic in many parts of the
world, holding back market recovery. In addition, the
global promotion of carbon neutralization is
accelerating, which promotes the use of natural gas
and other alternative renewable energy and
consequently reduces the long-term demand for
fossil fuels like crude oil.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.1

1.2

Investment in upstream crude oil assets (continued)

1.1.2 Stonehold Investment (continued)
For details of the Term Loan and the Credit
Agreement, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 15 August 2017, 27 September
2017 and 28 February 2018, and the circular of the
Company dated 29 September 2017 published on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) (http://www.hkexnews.hk/).

Note:  The barrel of oil equivalent, an energy unit based on the

level of energy released by one barrel of crude oil.

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain

The Company, through its subsidiaries, has also made
reasonable expansion of the energy related business
portfolio and business model in order to capture the energy
market opportunities and dynamics.

Despite the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic, the apparent
consumption of natural gas of China in 2020 is 325.6 billion
cubic meters, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.9%.
From the supply perspective, local and imported LNG
continued to lead the rise in 2020. The largest increase in
imported LNG was 9.7%, and the increase of local LNG
was up to 15 billion cubic meters. At the beginning of 2020,
the global LNG price hit a record low. Due to the
subsequent recovery of demand in parts of Asia, the
increase in the winter purchases of 2020 and the shortage
of supply, the market price of the international LNG spot
price and domestic natural gas rebounded rapidly in the
fourth quarter of 2020, and the domestic LNG price also
exceeded RMB10,000/ton. In December 2020, the price of
LNG reached as high as RMB12,000-13,000/ton in East
China. Some of its LNG portfolio companies of the
Company benefited the low-cost LNG purchase in the first
three quarters of 2020 and the high selling price in the
terminal market in the fourth quarter of 2020, and achieved
better-than-expected performance.

EHOE (9
FEREHSHE(E)
ERERRERF (B)
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1.1
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

26

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.2

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain (continued)
1.2.1 JOVO Investment

On 28 July 2017, Valuevale Investment Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, completed
the subscription of the shares allotted and issued by
JOVO, which is principally engaged in clean energy
businesses, including importing, processing and sale
of LNG and LPG in China, at the consideration of
RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately

HK$115.2 million).

In the first three quarters of 2020, LNG supply in the
international market was sufficient, JKM dropped to a
lower level, which lowered the JOVO's LNG spot
purchase costs. However, the domestic selling price
decreased together with the international purchase
prices to a limited extent, and such price gap
supported the JOVO's overall profit level. According
to JOVOQO's financial results, JOVO achieved a net
profit of RMB768 million attributable to the parent in
2020, representing a year-on-year increase of 109%.

JOVO has subsequently completed the IPO, and
trading of its shares on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
commenced on 25 May 2021 (stock code: 605090).
The Company holds approximately 2.07% of the
enlarged share capital in JOVO after its IPO. JOVO
has raised approximately RMB2.68 billion from the
IPO and plans to utilise the proceeds for purchasing
two state-of-the-art mid-size LNG vessels and
supplementing its working capital in order to further
expand its production capacity and improve its

profitability.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.2

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain (continued)
1.2.1 JOVO Investment (continued)

The Company firmly believes that JOVQO's business
strategy is in line with the trend of a low-carbon
economy, and the continuing high demand for natural
gas supply in China will keep JOVO growing at a high
speed. The investment in JOVO provides a valuable
opportunity for the Company to participate in the
rapidly growing natural gas market in China with a
good prospect of investment return. The completion
of the IPO shall drive JOVO to establish a more
advanced corporate governance structure, and
provide a platform to access more financial resources
for its future development. The IPO also provides
liquidity to the Company’s investment in JOVO, which
may help better reflect the market value of the
Company’s investment in JOVO. The Company will
continue to evaluate this investment portfolio from
time to time and determine the appropriate
investment and divestment strategy to realise

optimum financial return.

1.2.2 GNL Quebec Investment

On 30 November 2017, the Company, through its
subsidiary, entered into an agreement of purchase
and sale with an investment fund for purchasing its
interests in GNL Quebec at the purchase price of
US$3.15 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$24,633,000). On 26 July 2018, the Company
made a subsequent investment of US$1 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,800,000) to
support the project’'s ongoing development. The
Company holds minority interest in GNL Quebec as at

31 March 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)
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Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.2

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain (continued)
1.2.2 GNL Quebec Investment (continued)

According to the information provided by GNL
Quebec, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, it is
developing a state-of-the-art and low-carbon-emission
LNG exporting terminal (the “Terminal”) project with
a maximum nameplate liquefaction capacity of up to
11 million tons per annum, which is one of the largest
Canadian LNG export terminals under development.
Along with it is a 750-km natural gas pipeline (the
"Pipeline”) to connect the Terminal to TransCanada’s
Canadian Mainline in Eastern Ontario (together the
“Project”). The Terminal is designed to receive,
liquefy and export up to 1.55 billion standard cubic
feet of natural gas per day (equivalent to
approximately 15.4 billion cubic meters per year) from
gas supply sources in North America and is well-
located to deliver cost- competitive LNG to Asia,

Europe and South America, etc.

GNL Quebec remains on-track to develop the
Terminal and Pipeline. In respect to the natural gas
supply, the Canadian current natural gas market
conditions and forecast, together with gas
transportation cost, are moving in favour of increasing
the cost competitiveness of the Project. GNL Quebec
is also very active in marketing their products in
Europe and Asia, since the Project is uniquely located
in the east coast of Canada, which attracts interested
buyers from Europe. GNL Quebec is carefully
evaluating different pricing models in order to meet
customers’ needs while securing good return for

investors.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.2

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain (continued)
1.2.3 LNGL Investment

On 13 June 2018, the Company, through its
subsidiary, completed the subscription for 56,444,500
shares allotted and issued by LNGL, a company
principally engaged in developing LNG export terminal
projects in North America, at an aggregate
subscription price of A$28.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$166.8 million). The Company is the
second-largest shareholder, holding 9.8% equity

interest in LNGL.

In 2020, LNGL had evaluated potential corporate and
asset transactions to provide liquidity and value for its
shareholders. Being affected by the adverse
dynamics in the general global economy, the oil and
gas market and other factors, LNGL's cash reserves
were insufficient to sustain its operations in the long
run. To raise additional funding for its operations,
LNGL sold its equity interests in subsidiaries that own
and operate the Magnolia LNG project, which is
in late May 2020. LNGL
and the purchaser had agreed to work together (on a

situated in Louisiana. U.S.,

non-exclusive basis) on a potential recapitalization

proposal for LNGL but without success.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

30

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.2

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain (continued)
1.2.3 LNGL Investment (continued)

On 9 February 2021, the creditors of LNGL resolved
to place LNGL into liquidation, and all the remaining
assets of LNGL including the Bear Head LNG project,
which is situated in Nova Scotia, Canada, will be used
to pay the creditors in full for their claims before its
shareholders can receive any distribution. As the
investment in LNGL is recognized as a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss in the Company’s
financial statement, and the book value of the LNGL
investment as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020
was zero and HK$26 million respectively, the
liquidation of LNGL caused minimal impact on the

financial position and operation of the Company.

1.24 JUSDA Energy Investment

On 25 September 2018, the Company, through one
of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, had entered into an
agreement for a joint venture (the “JV Agreement”)
with JUSDA Supply Chain Management International
BEHER~AA
("JUSDA") and the management team (the
in relation to the formation of

CO,LTD* (M ZERHBHEREE

“"Management”),

JUSDA Energy, to be engaged in LNG logistics
services. The Company made contribution of
HK$43,937,000 and HK$17,462,200 to JUSDA Energy
pursuant to the JV Agreement and the completion of
such investment took place on 21 December 2018
and 8 January 2020 respectively. The Company will
hold a 39% equity interest upon completion of all

capital contribution in JUSDA Energy.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.2

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain (continued)
1.24 JUSDA Energy Investment (continued)

The domestic and overseas projects developed by
JUSDA Energy in the early stage have made
substantial progress in 2020. For overseas projects,
JUSDA Energy utilizes the storage capacity of the idle
receiving station of its partners in Japan to complete
the first phase of a 15,000-ton LNG tank
transshipment project. Benefiting from the low cost
of oversea upstream LNG source, JUSDA Energy
actively promoted and implemented two phases of
transshipment projects. For domestic projects,
JUSDA Energy assisted domestic partners in LNG
distribution. Under the macro environment of actively
promoting natural gas reform in China, and with the
strong support from local governments, the
renovation project of the shipment terminal for
transshipment project was finally approved in 2020
and has now entered into the construction stage. It is
expected that renovation will be completed and the
domestic transshipment project will be launched in
2021.

In addition, relying on the international market
resources accumulated by the Company, JUSDA
Energy is also identifying the opportunities in the
natural gas market of emerging economies, and will
replicate its business model in emerging markets as
soon as possible. At the same time, JUSDA Energy is
also advancing the development of storage yards and
storage resources to support its business in emerging
markets.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

1.

32

Investment in global energy sector (continued)

1.2

Investment regarding LNG business along the value
chain (continued)
1.24 JUSDA Energy Investment (continued)

At that time, JUSDA, as the sole logistics chain
management platform under Foxconn Technology
Group, has a wide container transportation network
and strong bargain power among the industry, which
provides strong support to JUSDA Energy in
improving its LNG logistics services and reducing
relevant cost. JUSDA Energy will rely on its three
transshipment and distribution bases in North China,
East China and South China to connect overseas spot
LNG sources with the domestic market and emerging
markets, and gradually build itself into a leading LNG
container operator focusing on transshipment of LNG
and supported by the price different LNG markets and
cycles.

Although the global LNG market is in a sluggish state at the
moment, the Company believes that the low-price
environment will help the market grow. The Company will
continue to look for opportunities to invest in natural gas
projects with an emphasis on the downstream sector.

For details of the above transactions, please refer to the
Company'’s voluntary announcements dated 17 July 2017,
31 July 2017, 8 February 2018, 4 June 2018, 13 June 2018,
25 September 2018 and 24 December 2018 published on
the website of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) WO (&)

Summary of key investment portfolios (continued) FTERBHSHME(H)

2. Investment in mobility services business 2. WHITREEKRSE
2.1 Weipin Investment 2.1 WeipinR&

The Company has set foot in new mobility industry to
diversify income stream and maximise returns for its
shareholders in late 2019. On 15 November 2019, Triple
Talents Limited (“Triple Talents"”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a series of
agreements with Weipin and its affiliates, pursuant to
which Triple Talents has agreed to subscribe for certain
shares in Weipin. Upon completion of this transaction with
a total investment of approximately RMB200 million, the
Company effectively holds 35.5% of the equity share of
Weipin, but has the majority voting right of the board of
directors with all the decision-making power over the
activities of Weipin. Weipin is the holding company of the
mobility services platform business. For more details of the
Company’s investment in Weipin, please refer to the
voluntary announcement of the Company dated 25
November 2019 published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk).

To provide the management of Weipin with more flexibility
in terms of decision making over its operations, on 21 June
2021, through amicable negotiations, the shareholders of
Weipin agreed to enter into an amended shareholders’
agreement so as to, among other things, make adjustments
to the structure of the board of Weipin, of which the
Company agrees to lower its number of designated
directors from 3 to 2 directors in the board of Weipin (the
“Adjustment”). After the Adjustment, the Company no
longer has the majority voting right of the board of directors
of Weipin, and in turn no longer has the decision-making
power over the business activities of Weipin. Under the
relevant regulatory requirements and accounting standards,
Weipin shall cease to be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company with effect from 21 June 2021.
The shareholding percentage held by the Company in
Weipin remains unchanged (i.e. 35.5%), and Weipin
continues to be an investment portfolio of the Company.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 June 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

2.

34

Investment in mobility services business (continued)

2.1

Weipin Investment (continued)

Weipin, through its operation subsidiaries (the “Mobility
OPCOs"), is committed to creating a fast and standardized
mobility services system, connecting all participants in the
mobility market, tapping into the market traffic through the
traffic platform in an aggregation mode, and generating
synergies by optimizing vehicle energy costs. The
aggregation mode has become the current trend of online
car-hailing operations in China. The Mobility OPCOs, as
transportation service providers, access large traffic in the
aggregation platform and meet the needs of passengers
through the division of labor between the upstream and
downstream of the industry chain. Under the aggregation
mode, the online car-hailing services consist of the
providers represented by “Didi” and “Gaode Map"” which
generate online traffic of passengers, and drivers and
vehicle providers represented by the Mobility OPCOs,
which are responsible for executing the orders of
passengers. The Mobility OPCQOs rely on a high-quality
driver management system and refined operating cost
control to ensure that the online car-hailing orders imported
through the aggregation traffic platforms are perfectly
executed.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

2.

Investment in mobility services business (continued)

2.1

Weipin Investment (continued)

The Mobility OPCOs have signed information service
cooperation agreements with the two major aggregation
traffic platforms on the mobility market, namely “Gaode
Map"” and “Didi"”. The Mobility OPCOs take full advantage
of the scale, traffic and reputation of “Gaode Map” and
“Didi” on the customer-end, participate in the operation on
the business-end in a light-weight asset manner, and
complete the orders from passengers with high quality. In
the cooperation between the Mobility OPCOs and the
aggregation traffic platforms, full fares paid by passengers
are collected by the Mobility OPCOs. The aggregation
traffic platforms collect a certain percentage of the platform
charges from the Mobility OPCOs, and the remaining fares
are controlled and allocated by the Mobility OPCOs. The
software system of the Mobility OPCOs sets certain
operating parameters to automatically calculate the
proportion of fares payable to drivers, which include a fixed
percentage of drivers’ fees and the rules for determining
drivers’ incentives. Drivers can collect their confirmed
payment on the driver application run by the Mobility
OPCOs one week after an order is completed.

Weipin, through the Mobility OPCOs, has been operating in
27 major cities of China, such as Guangzhou, Hangzhou
and Chengdu, with a total of approximately 280,000
registered car drivers. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the
expected revenue and the daily order volume generated
from the mobility services have been unable to reach full
potential during FY2020. In the second half of 2020,
people’s enthusiasm and frequency for travel services have
been restored significantly, and the demand for online car-
hailing services has continued to grow. As of 31 March
2021, the average daily order volume in FY2020 was
179,597 orders. Weipin's daily average order volume
continues to grow due to its expansion into other cities.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)
3. Investment in advanced manufacturing industry investment

fund

3.1

Advanced Manufacturing Fund Investment

On 27 March 2021, Giant Charm Investments Limited (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“Giant
Charm”), Fortuna | SP and the partners of Soview
International Fund LP (the “Fund”) entered into an
amended and restated limited partnership agreement (the
“Amended and Restated Limited Partnership
Agreement”) for the admission of Giant Charm and
Fortuna | SP as the limited partners into the Fund. Pursuant
to the Amended and Restated Limited Partnership
Agreement, the general partner of the Fund (the “General
Partner”) is targeting approximately US$300 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,330.94 million) in capital
commitments from all existing and potential limited
partners. Currently, Giant Charm and Fortuna | SP, as the
limited partners of the Fund, proposed to make capital
commitments of US$105 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$815.83 million) and US$80 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$621.59 million),
respectively. The General Partner proposed to make capital
commitments of US$2 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$15.54 million). As at the date of this report, Giant
Charm has not yet made any actual payment into the Fund.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Summary of key investment portfolios (continued)

3.

Investment in advanced manufacturing industry investment

fund (continued)

3.1

Advanced Manufacturing Fund Investment (continued)

The Fund primarily focuses on advanced manufacturing
companies and businesses, including but not limited to
those engaging in the research, development and
application of new, innovative or other state-of-the-art
technologies, know-hows, processes, techniques, tools,
materials for the development and/or fabrication of oil and
gas exploration or production equipment, new energy
facilities, semiconductor devices and products. The
investment objective of the Fund is to seek to generate
long-term capital appreciation through such investments.

The Company owns different investments, currently
comprising a portfolio of assets in the energy sector and
the mobility service sector around the globe. The Company
has evaluated and considered that the application of
advanced manufacturing will be a major global development
trend. In the latest five-year development plan of the PRC,
the development of frontier technologies has become a
national policy priority. The advanced manufacturing sector
features a wide range of applications across different
industries. The sole shareholder of the General Partner has
rich experience and credentials in the advanced
manufacturing sector. Through the investment in the Fund,
and with the additional funding from other limited partners
of the Fund, the Company shall be able to leverage on the
knowledge and connections of the General Partner to
identify and manage promising investment opportunities,
while maintaining rights to evaluate and opportunity to co-
invest each investment projects of the Fund in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Amended and
Restated Limited Partnership Agreement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 28 March 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription

On 22 January 2018, the Company received an aggregate subscription
price of HK$1,485 million from Foxconn Technology Pte. Ltd., High
Tempo International Limited, World Trade Trading Limited, Q-Run
Holdings Limited, and Q-Run Far East Corporation (collectively known
as the "Foxconn Subscribers”) and issued to each of the Foxconn
Subscribers 297,000,000 subscription shares at the subscription price
of HK$1.00 per subscription share totalling 1,485,000,000 subscription
shares in accordance with the terms and conditions of the subscription
agreement (the “Foxconn Subscription”).

For details of the Foxconn Subscription, please refer to the
announcements of Company dated 13 December 2017 and 22 January
2018 and the circular of the Company dated 23 December 2017
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/).

The gross proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription are HK$1,485
million. The net proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (the “Net
Proceeds”) (after deducting the expenses incurred in the Foxconn
Subscription) are approximately HK$1,483 million.

On 24 June 2020, the Board resolved to change the intended use of
unutilized Net Proceeds (the “Change in Use of Proceeds”) by
allocating the unutilized Net Proceeds of HK$200 million from
investment or acquisition of targets in the natural gas industry in China
and North America to general working capital as the Company requires
funds for general working capital purposes.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (continued)
The following table summarizes the intended use of proceeds and the

actual use of proceeds as at 31 March 2021.

Investment or acquisition of targets &K UEHE &
in natural gas industry in Chinaand ~ JtEXART/TEM B E
in North America

Investment in up-stream shale gas & FEBEEER/

HEEHEEIFINAR

and/or shale oil assets or
projects overseas

Other investments RRERHEMITE
for future development
General working capital —REEES

EHOE (9
ELEBBERFEHRAE (&)
TRBANR-_F-_—F=A=1+—BMERA
ZEERB LS FACERBE -

Intended
use of
Net Proceeds

Unutilized
change as Net Proceeds Net Proceeds

Intended
use of

(after the Actual use of

announced as at as at
on 24 June 31 March 31 March
2020) 2021 2021
PS8
BHEEE S i
Péz%( g =B--§ ZEBZ-F
ZBHTE —E-ZEFf =H=+—-H =H=t—H
FRE RA=ZTHA ZFHMBRA ZXREA
BHEZ YN i B2 Fri8 A
BERZ 28H%) BERAZ R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET

Net Proceeds
set out in the
Circular

1,100,000 900,000 399,000 501,000
300,000 300,000 - 300,000
83,000 83,000 83,000 =

S 200,000 54,000 146,000
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription (continued)
As at 31 March 2021, an aggregate amount of HK$536 million had
been utilized pursuant to the revised intended use, and the unutilized
net proceeds of HK$947 million are expected to be utilized in
accordance with the revised intended use by 31 December 2023. The
expected timeline for the revised intended use of unutilized Net
Proceeds, which is subject to future adjustments, if required, is based
on the best estimation of the Company taking into account, among
others, the prevailing and future market conditions and business
developments and need.

The outbreak of COVID-19 coupled with the adverse dynamics of the
global economy disrupted the natural gas market, and the Company
considers that any assessment of the business and financial prospects
of potential acquisition targets would involve a high degree of
uncertainties. Therefore, the Company decides to take a prudent
attitude in the investment or acquisition of natural gas assets in the
near future to lower potential investment risks, and believes that the
Change in Use of Proceeds will not impair the general business plan to
identify investment or acquisition opportunities of targets in natural gas
industry.

The Board believes that the Change in Use of Proceeds will not have
any material adverse effect on the existing business and operation of
the Company and its subsidiaries, and is in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Board will, from time to
time, assess and evaluate the business need of the Company and its
subsidiaries and the optimal plan for allocation and deployment of the
Company’s financial resources to strengthen the efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of the Net Proceeds.

Looking forward, the priority of the Company is to protect investment
principal and to enhance the Shareholders’ value. The Change in Use
of Proceeds will enable the Company to optimize the allocation of its
resources and to ensure the commercial development and sound
financial performance of its businesses.

For details, please refer to “Subsequent Events After the Reporting
Period” of the 2020 final results and the announcement of Company
dated 24 June 2020 published on the website of the Stock Exchange
(http://www.hkexnews.hk/).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK

The Company is an investment holding company, principally engaged
in the investment and management of different assets and businesses,
currently including global energy assets and the mobility services
business. The principal businesses of its invested portfolio companies
(including those which are subsidiaries) consist of mobility services
platform, oil and gas business and investment fund management in
related businesses and sectors.

In the first quarter of 2021, Brent's average oil price was US$55/barrel,
and continued its upward trend in the second quarter. Although the
spread of the second wave of the COVID-19 epidemic at the beginning
of 2021 has affected the speed of oil demand recovery, the firm
implementation of OPEC+ production cuts on the supply side and
Saudi Arabia’s voluntary production cut of 1 million barrels per day
offset the impact of the above factors on oil demand. Looking ahead at
the remaining period of 2021, the trend of oil price is subject to the
speed of demand recovery, the balance between supply and demand
through adjustments, and the pace of inventory reduction. Oil demand
has recovered to 93 million barrels/day at the end of 2020, and is
expected to rebound to 99 million—-100 million barrels/day at the end of
2021, subject to the timing and effectiveness of the large-scale
COVID-19 vaccination. In response to the slow recovery of demand,
while implementing OPEC+'s established production reduction
strategy, the supply side is also slowly releasing idle production. The
uncertainty lies in the impact from Iran’s sanctioned production when
it returns to the market and the pace of recovery of shale oil in the
United States. As for the inventory aspect, the newly increased
inventory of 1.1 billion barrels worldwide affected by the COVID-19
epidemic has dropped to 700 million barrels in January 2021. Based on
the estimated supply and demand gap of 1.3 million to 2.3 million
barrels/day predicted by different agencies, it is expected that from the
fourth quarter of 2021 to the first quarter of 2022, the newly increased
inventory will be consumed, and inventory levels will return to their
pre-COVID-19 level. However, the oil industry was affected by
concerns over the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic in many parts of the
world, holding back market recovery. In addition, the global promotion
of carbon neutralization is accelerating, which promotes the use of
natural gas and other alternative renewable energy and consequently
reduces the long-term demand for fossil fuels like crude oil. The future
trend of oil prices is not optimistic. Therefore, from the perspective of
asset operation, risk control and preparation for extreme events, the
Company will consider using hedging instruments for its upstream
assets when necessary. Meanwhile, the Company will focus on
maintaining liquidity for the assets and attempting various ways to
boost future production when oil price gets back to a higher level.

R
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Looking at the LNG market, the gradual recovery of the international
economy in 2021 will also drive global LNG demand. Spot prices such
as JKM, TTF, and NBP have all risen accordingly. The LNG long-term
contracts linked to the Brent oil price has also risen in response to the
high international oil price. Although the rapid recovery of the domestic
economy and the dual-carbon strategy drove the demand for clean
energy, in the traditional slack season of domestic natural gas market,
the high cost of LNG will curb some demand. Based on (1) the tight
balance between supply and demand due to the uncertainties from
projects in production on the supply side and the recovery of global
natural gas demand, (2) the demand for replenishment as European
inventories fell below the normal level in the first quarter 2021, and (3)
the advance storage of LNG by domestic suppliers in preparation for
the extreme weather of the winter of 2021, LNG purchase price in
2021 will remain in the high range. Thus, the market players need to
use financial tools to hedge against the risk of rising costs. In addition,
due to the commencement of operation of the national pipeline
network, LNG suppliers, needs to connect with users such as
municipal gas companies power plants and tailor gas supply services
to meet the needs of such customers. By increasing the volume of gas
sold, gas suppliers can effectively mitigate the risks from price
fluctuations of LNG.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

In addition, the Company has closely engaged in the operation and
supervision of the mobility services platform. The mobility services
sector in China has experienced challenging situations during the
COVID-19 pandemic with daily orders dropped to historic low level.
However, the sector has recovered rapidly in the second quarter of
2020 and continued to grow in the following quarters. The daily order
in China reached 14,000,000 orders in January 2021. The entire market
(including online taxi orders and chauffeuring services) reached over 30
million daily orders in the second half of 2020, and the leading player
Didi reached its record high daily orders of 50 million on its peak day.
Didi has launched its “0188" three-year strategy, aiming to reach 50
million daily ride-hailing trips in China by 2022, which is in line with our
view that the Chinese mobility service market is still underpenetrated.
Since the market dynamic has shifted from customer-oriented to
driver-oriented, the future growth will be driven by the growth of
compliant drivers. Weipin has collaborated with Didi to launch “express
saver” product, providing 10%-20% discount to customers and more
flexibility to driver’s service requirements. The flexible new product
attracted numerous drivers with lower turnover rate than the standard
product, and its lower price scheme helped to attract more customers.
The Company believes the “express saver” product could reach 3
million to 5 million daily orders by the end of year 2021, representing a
market with significant growth potential. To provide the management
of Weipin with more flexibility in terms of decision making over its
operations, on 21 June 2021, through amicable negotiations, the
shareholders of Weipin agreed to enter into an amended shareholders’
agreement so as to, among other things, make adjustments to the
structure of the board of Weipin, of which the Company agrees to
lower its number of designated directors from 3 to 2 directors in the
board of Weipin. After the adjustment, the Company no longer has the
majority voting right of the board of directors of Weipin, and in turn no
longer has the decision-making power over the business activities of
Weipin. Under the relevant regulatory requirements and accounting
standards, Weipin shall cease to be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company with effect from 21 June 2021. The
shareholding percentage held by the Company in Weipin remains
unchanged (i.e. 35.5%), and Weipin continues to be an investment
portfolio of the Company. Allowing the directors with more experience
in operation of mobility services to have more decision-making power
in Weipin's business and management is conducive to the long-term
development of Weipin and will in turn bring more favourable
investment return to the Company and its shareholders.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

As mentioned in the previous sections of this report, the Company
owns different investments, currently comprising a portfolio of assets
in the energy sector and the mobility service sector around the globe.
The Company has evaluated and considered that the application of
advanced manufacturing will be a major global development trend. In
the latest five-year development plan of the PRC, the development of
frontier technologies has become a national policy priority. On 27
March 2021, Giant Charm, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an amended and restated limited partnership agreement
for its admission as a limited partner into a fund which primarily
focuses on the advanced manufacturing sector.

Going forward, the Company's top priority in 2021 remains to be
managing liquidity at the portfolio company level in anticipation of
continued uncertainty, and continuing to pursue the investment
strategy with decarbonization and other green asset opportunities
which included but not limited to investments in advanced
manufacturing sector. Also, the Company shall continue to pay close
attention to the market environment and consider potentially exiting its
mature investments so as to seize opportunity and realize value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRE T Mo

FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW

Revenue from sales and services

Revenue from sales and services includes revenue from sales of

goods of approximately HK$90.0 million and revenue from rendering of

mobility services of approximately HK$1,670.5 million:

(1)

Revenue from sales of goods

The revenue from sales of goods represents the crude oil net
sales from Hongbo Mining, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. It decreased by HK$62.2 million, or 40.9%, from
HK$152.2 million in FY2019 to HK$90.0 million in FY2020.

The decrease was mainly due to the comprehensive effect of the
decrease in crude oil average selling prices and the net sales
volume. Hongbo Mining's crude oil is priced mainly with
reference to Brent Crude oil prices. The average Brent crude oil
price in FY2020 decreased to approximately HK$344 per barrel
as compared to approximately HK$475 per barrel in FY2019. The
average unit selling price of Hongbo Mining'’s crude oil decreased
to approximately HK$352 per barrel in FY2020 from HK$475 per
barrel in FY2019, which was consistent with the trend of global
oil prices, and even slightly better than Brent Crude oil prices
since Hongbo Mining had actively negotiated with the buyer and
successfully obtained a favorable oil selling price at second
quarter of 2020 to guarantee the interests of the Company. On
the other hand, Hongbo Mining’s net sales volume decreased to
255,618 barrels in FY2020 from 320,224 barrels in FY2019,
which was mainly due to active controlling production plan when
facing the effect of low oil price market. For further details on the
decrease of the production volume, please refer to “Business
Review — Hongbo Mining Investment”.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)
Revenue from sales and services (continued)

(2)

Revenue from mobility services

The revenue from rendering of mobility services represents the
online ride-hailing services provided by Weipin, a subsidiary of
the Company from 15 November 2019 to 21 June 2021. The
amount of revenue from rendering of mobility services
represents the value of full fares paid by passengers, net of value
added tax and the surcharge. In FY2020, Weipin recorded
65,373,216 orders and a total revenue of HK$1,670.5 million
from the operation of mobility services, with an average revenue
per order of HK$25.6. Compared with FY2019, from 15
November 2019 (acquisition date of Weipin) to 31 March 2020,
Weipin recorded 3,088,786 orders and a total revenue of
HK$91.3 million, with an average revenue per order of HK$30.
The significant increase of 62,284,430 orders or approximately
2,016.5% and HK$1,579.2 million in revenue or approximately
1,729.7% is mainly due to the expansion of new cities covered
by Weipin and the great improvement on the containment of the
COVID-19 pandemic in China and people’s enthusiasm, and
frequency for travelling have been restored significantly starting
from second half of 2020.

Cost of sales and services

Cost of sales and services includes cost of sales of goods of HK$79.5

million and cost of rendering of mobility services of HK$1,686.4 million:

(1)

46

Cost of sales of goods
Cost of sales of goods represents the cost of sales of crude oil
from Hongbo Mining, which decreased by HK$7.5 million, or
approximately 8.6%, from HK$87.0 million in FY2019 to HK$79.5
million in FY2020. The decrease was consistent with the trend of
the crude oil production.

In response to the adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the imbalanced oil supply and demand in the first quarter of
2020, Hongbo Mining has quickly adjusted its production target
by actively controlling production volume, reducing capital
expenditures, and taking various measures for cost reduction and
efficiency improvement. For further details on the decrease of
the production volume, please refer to “Business Review —
Hongbo Mining Investment”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)
Cost of sales and services (continued)

(2)

Cost of rendering of mobility services

The cost of rendering of mobility services represents the cost of

operating the online ride-hailing services by Weipin, which

increased by HK$1,567.7 million, or approximately 1,320.7%,
from HK$118.7 million in FY2019 to HK$1,686.4 million in
FY2020. The significant increase was consistent with the trend

of the revenue of rendering of mobility services, and is primarily

attributed to the following factors:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

Earnings to drivers, which is the cumulative payments to
the drivers, including driver incentives and referrals, which
is the payments distributed to drivers as reward of
achieving certain operational targets. which increased by
HK$1,332.0 million, or approximately 1,773.6%, from
approximately HK$75.1 million in FY2019 to HK$1,407.1
million in FY2020;

Amortization of intangible assets, which includes the online
ride-hailing license, drivers lists, and business relationship,
which increased by HK$54.0 million, or approximately
173.6%, from approximately HK$31.1 million in FY2019 to
HK$85.1 million in FY2020;

Platforms charges, which is the service fee paid to
aggregation traffic platforms, which increased by HK$124.3
million, or approximately 1,130.0%, from approximately
HK$11.0 million in FY2019 to HK$135.3 million in FY2020;

Referral fees to other driver source providers, which
increased by HK$17.8 million, or approximately 1,186.7%,
from approximately HK$1.5 million in FY2019 to HK$19.3
million in FY2020; and

Driver management and carrier liability insurance amounting
to approximately HK$6.7 million, service charge for cash
withdrawal amounting to approximately HK$9.9 million,
licence fees for mobility services amounting to
approximately HK$11.3 million, customer service cost
amounting to approximately HK$9.6 million and other costs
amounting to approximately HK$2.1 million.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)
Investment loss
Investment loss mainly includes the following:

(i) the fair value loss from the Stonehold investment of HK$300.4
million. The loss of fair value change from the Stonehold
Investment mainly resulted from the slow recovery and
uncertainties in the demand for crude oil, which was affected by
concerns over the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic in many parts
of the world, holding back market recovery. In addition, the global
promotion of carbon neutralization is accelerating, which
promotes the use of natural gas and other alternative renewable
energies and consequently reduces the long-term demand for
fossil fuels like crude oil;

(i) the net fair value gain from other investments, share of losses of
an associate and dividend income of a totaling gain HK$2.8
million.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by HK$49.0 million, or
approximately 58.7%, from HK$83.5 million in FY2019 to HK$132.5
million in FY2020. The increase in administrative expenses was
primarily due to the consolidation of Weipin since 15 November 2019.
Weipin recorded administrative expenses of HK$13.4 million and
HK$88.1 million in FY2019 and FY2020 respectively, which mainly
include the payroll to staffs and services received from third parties.

Taxes other than income tax

Taxes other than income tax decreased by HK$4.4 million, or
approximately 38.7%, from HK$11.4 million in FY2019 to HK$7.0
million in FY2020, which was mainly due to the decrease in resources
tax levied on the sale of crude oil attributable to the revenue decrease
of Hongbo Mining.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Exploration expenses, including dry holes

The exploration expense increased HK$12.7 million, or approximately
435.8%, from HK$2.9 million in FY2019 to HK$15.6 million in FY2020,
which was mainly due to three exploration wells in Block 212 that
were completed more than one year in previous fiscal years were
written off in FY2020. As the three wells could not obtain industrial oil
flow due to the current economic and technical conditions, and
therefore were deemed to have no industrial production value. The
land acquisition compensation and preliminary expenses related to the
three wells were transferred to the exploration expenses with the
amount of approximately HK$13.3 million.

Net finance income

The Company and its subsidiaries recorded net finance income of
HK$1.9 million and HK$5.2 million in FY2019 and FY2020 respectively.
The increase of approximately 175.2% was primarily due to the
exchange gain in FY2020.

Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation increased by HK$160.6 million from a loss of
HK$303.8 million in FY2019 to a loss of HK$464.4 million in FY2020,
which was primarily due to the cumulative effects of factors as
discussed above in this section.

Income tax

Income tax consists of deferred tax expense and current tax expense.
The Company recorded deferred tax credit of HK$8.6 million and
current tax expense of HK$1.5 million in FY2019 and deferred tax
credit of HK$28.0 million in FY2020.

The deferred tax credit in FY2020 consists of (1) the reversal of
deferred tax liability arising from amortisation of Weipin's intangible
assets recognized at the acquisition date of approximately HK$21.0
million; (2) deferred tax asset arising from the unused tax losses from
Weipin of approximately HK$7.2 million.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)

Loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company

Loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
increased by HK$109.9 million from a loss of HK$276.8 million in
FY2019 to a loss of HK$386.7 million in FY2020 which was primarily
due to the cumulative effects of factors as discussed above in this
section.

EBITDA

The management of the Company prepared a reconciliation of EBITDA
to profit/loss before taxation, its most directly comparable financial
performance measures calculated and presented in accordance with
financial reporting standards and interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. EBITDA refers to
earnings before interest expenses, income tax, depreciation and
amortisation.

The management of the Company believes that EBITDA is a financial
measure commonly used as supplemental financial measures by the
management of the Company and by investors, research analysts,
bankers and others to assess the operating performance, cash flow,
return on capital and the ability to take on financing of the Company
and its subsidiaries as compared to those of other companies.
However, EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed
as alternatives to profit from operations or any other measure of
performance or as an indicator of the operating performance or
profitability of the Company and its subsidiaries. EBITDA fails to
account for income tax, interest expenses, depreciation and
amortisation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)
EBITDA (continued)
The following table presents a reconciliation of EBITDA to loss before

taxation for the periods indicated.

Loss before taxation bR AT E 1R
Add: Interest expenses e FERX

Add: Depreciation and amortisation

EBITDA

o : e N

EBITDA

The EBITDA changed from a loss of HK$211.0 million in FY2019 to a
loss of HK$315.0 million in FY2020. The aggravation of negative

EBITDA is primarily attributable to the following factors:

(i)

(ii)

The increase of loss of fair value change from the Stonehold
Investment, which mainly resulted from the slow recovery and
uncertainties in the demand for crude oil, which was affected by
concerns over the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic in many parts
of the world, holding back market recovery. In addition, the global
promotion of carbon neutralization is accelerating, which
promotes the use of natural gas and other alternative renewable
energy and consequently reduces the long-term demand for
fossil fuels like crude oil;

the decrease in the revenue of sales of crude oil from Hongbo
Mining, which declined by about 41% for FY2020 as compared
to FY2019. The decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to
Hongbo Mining's active control in its oil production output having
considered the low oil price during FY2020; and

M#EEEDE (&)

EBITDA (&)

TREAFTREAE EBITDA ER B BT E 1B A
HER -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLFE

2021 2020

B —F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FTERT FHET
(464,389) (303,843)
6,521 7,409
142,896 85,456
(314,972) (210,978)

EBITDAR — & — LB F #Y & 8 211,000,000

BT

# /=T — T 4 #)E518 315,000,000 %

JL o BREBITDAMBIEZER2HMR U TAE :

(i)

Stonehold % & ) A 7t B (B & &) 5 18 1%
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Hh o RIRENMEEERP A - IREFEH
RARREMBRETBEER  Bit
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FINANCIAL RESULTS REVIEW (continued)
EBITDA (continued)

(iif)

the loss from Weipin, a subsidiary of the Company from 15
November 2019 to 21 June 2021. This is because Weipin's
business is at the early stage of operation, and is unable to reach
its full potential due to the adverse effect of COVID-19 pandemic.
The Company believes that with stable operation, Weipin's
margin cost is expected to decrease, and it gradually generates
profit.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company and its subsidiaries manage its businesses by divisions,

which are organised by a mixture of both business lines (products and

services). In a manner consistent with the way in which information is

reported internally to the Company’s most senior executive

management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment, the Company and its subsidiaries have presented the

following two reportable segments in FY2020:

52

Global energy investment: this segment constructs and operates
upstream oil and gas business, LNG business, and generates
income from processing of oil and gas and LNG, as well as
investing and managing of energy- related industries and
businesses.

Mobility services business: this segment manages and operates
the drivers and vehicles for rendering of online ride-hailing
services to the passengers through aggregation traffic platforms
and generates income from rendering of mobility services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Global energy investment

2HERRE
Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=t-HLEE

te (b))
(PHEE (b))
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR BT
Revenue from sales and services HE RERBEBA
(Note 1) (1) 90,008 162,219
Investment loss REEE (287,577) (244,018)
Reportable segment loss A2 BER
(adjusted EBITDA) (Note 2) (SZREEBITDA) ([t 2) (299,197) (202,174)
Depreciation and amortisation WER & (52,672) (53,259)
Interest income FEWA 12,510 21,811
Interest expense FIERX (6,372) (7,305)
Impairment losses on trade receivables [EIBR X&) A E B 1R - (1,832)
Reportable segment assets 2RI BEE 3,022,112 3,413,165
(including interest in an associate) (BER—EHE AR ER) 46,597 50,086

Additions to non-current segment FRAREFRDNTEE
assets during the year 1,949 67,817
Reportable segment liabilities 2RI PEE (260,874) (351,209)

Note 1: Revenue from sales and services reported above represents reportable segment
revenue generated from external customers. There was no inter-segment
revenue during both the current and prior year.

Note 2: The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss is “adjusted EBITDA" i.e.
“adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”.

For details of segment information of the Company and its
subsidiaries, please refer to Note 4(b) to the financial information of
this annual report.

SEMEH (R

Mobility services business Total
TR = #st
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
BE=A=T+-BLEE BE=A=T+-BLEE
2020
===
(note (b))
(B3 (o))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT BT THERT T

1,670,507 91,327 1,760,515 243,546
- - (297,577) (244,018)
(14,860) (8,619) (314,057) (210,793)
(90,224) (32,197) (142,896) (85,456)
204 42 12,714 21,853
(1,064) (289) (7,436) (7,694)
(13,550) - (13,550) (1,832)
586,058 509,500 3,608,170 3,922,665
- - 46,597 50,086

9,826 3,657 11,775 71,374

(205,205) (47,382) (466,079) (398,591)
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A 2|/ EBRA - AEREFRBEFEHE DGR
WA o
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Company and its subsidiaries finance their operations primarily
through a combination of bank and other borrowings and proceeds
from the Foxconn Subscription. For further details of use of proceeds
from the Foxconn Subscription, please refer to “Business Review —
Use of proceeds from the Foxconn Subscription” in this annual report.

The cash and cash equivalents are mostly denominated in US$, HK$
and RMB. As at 31 March 2021, the Company and its subsidiaries had
unpledged cash and bank deposits of HK$983.8 million (31 March
2020: HK$1,114.2 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Company and its subsidiaries had
outstanding loans of HK$23.7 million (31 March 2020: HK$77.5
million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had Convertible Bond (as defined
in the RTO Circular) with carrying amount of approximately HK$36.1
million (31 March 2020: HK$50.0 million). The remaining aggregate
principal amount of the Convertible Bond is HK$40.0 million, with
maturity date of 30 April 2022 and payable at an interest rate of 1%
per annum.

Save as the information disclosed above or otherwise in this annual
report, the Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding mortgage,
pledge, debentures or other loan capital issued or agreed to be issued,
bank overdrafts, borrowings, liabilities under acceptance or other
similar liabilities, hire purchase and finance lease commitments, or any
guarantees or other material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021.

The Company and its subsidiaries have not used any financial
instrument to hedge potential fluctuation in interest rates and
exchange rates.

As at 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of total bank

and other borrowings, Convertible Bond to the total assets) was
approximately 1.7% (31 March 2020: 3.2%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT

The market risk exposures of the Company in its energy investment
business primarily consist of oil price risk, currency risk, liquidity risk,
interest rate risk and driver management risk.

Oil price risk

Hongbo Mining, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is
engaged in petroleum-related activities in the PRC. The Company also
has the Term Loan granted to Stonehold, which is engaged in
petroleum-related activities as well. Prices of crude oil are affected by
a wide range of global and domestic political, economic and military
factors which are beyond the control of the Company. A decrease in
such prices could adversely affect the financial result and financial
position of the Company and its subsidiaries.

In FY2020, the Company had not purchased any put options for part of
the production of Hongbo Mining. However, Hongbo Mining had
actively negotiated with the buyer, and successfully reached a floor oil
selling price at second quarter of 2020 to guarantee the interests of its
shareholder. As at 31 March 2021, the Company did not hold any such
put options.

Currency risk

The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to currency risk
primarily through overseas investment which gives rise to other
receivables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e., a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise
to this risk are primarily HK$, US$, A$ and RMB.

The Company and its subsidiaries currently do not engage in hedging
activities designed or intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk.
The Company and its subsidiaries will continue to monitor foreign
exchange changes to best preserve the cash value.
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MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Company and its individual operating entities are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short- term investment of
cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The
policy of the Company and its subsidiaries is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk of the Company and its subsidiaries arises
primarily from interest- bearing borrowings. The Company and its
subsidiaries regularly review and monitor the mix of fixed and variable
rate bank and other borrowings in order to manage the interest rate
risks.

Driver management risk in the mobility services platform
Maintaining a team of competitive drivers is a key to the success of
the mobility services platform. If Weipin is unable to attract or maintain
a critical mass of drivers, its business will become less appealing to
business partners, and the financial results of the Company would be
adversely affected.

To continue to retain and attract drivers to Weipin's platform, Weipin
will increase the drivers’ earning by increasing the fixed fees payable
to drivers for a given trip and its incentives to drivers. Further, Weipin
has indicated to continue to provide more resources and access to
larger driver pools in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R M AT

MAJOR RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Driver management risk in the mobility services platform
(continued)

In addition, Weipin will continue to invest in the development of new
driver service system that provides additional value for drivers, which
differentiates it from its competitors. Specific measures include: (1)
Outstanding full-time drivers will be rewarded with the services of
exclusive service managers, as well as tea breaks and other services
at service stations; (2) Weipin will integrate the resources of the
automobile service industry, cooperate with other companies in
relevant industries, and provide core drivers with services such as
charging, vehicle insurance, vehicle maintenance, and traffic violation
handling; and (3) Weipin will select high-performance drivers on a
regular basis and reward them with a certificate or a medal, giving
them a strong sense of honor and enhancing their loyalty to Weipin's
platform.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 March 2021, the Company and its subsidiary held Stonehold
Investment as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Details of the Stonehold Investment is as follows:

Year ended
31 March
2021

BZE
—E——fF
=A=+-—H
LLFE

Investment
loss

REER
HK$'000
TAT

Stonehold Investment Stonehold % & 300,421

FERBEER®
HITER B F & 1Y 5] 4 & 22 a1 g (4%)

BEAN - Weipin i 42 5815 & 5 2% /& R ER 4R B n
BEMNZFABRESES  EMEEERIRER
FHF ARBBEE - (1)ZOERARER
EBAIREERY  UEREIGETRERGE
BRT% : 2Weipn B A& RBREITEEIR
HABMRETREESIE  RROABERS
B BHRE EWER EEREZRE
X (3)Weipin if§ JE BRFTE Z OB E Rl - WiB
R M SR R - B0 RIEETTR
& » 1858 B Weipin “F &4 1 -

BEX®E

RZBEZ—F=A=+—08  ARakEWEB
A A Stonehold LB FIEE BIBRIZ AR E
BRF SR E E - A7 Stonehold % & Y FF
BT -

At 31 March

At 31 March 2021 2020

R-B-—%
=A=+—8

Approximate

percentage
to the total
assets
HBREE
BRNADLE

Fair Value Fair Value

AREE
HK$'000
FHET

DREE
HK$'000

TAT
26.8%

964,430 1,264,851
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS (continued)

The Board acknowledges that the performance of the Stonehold
investment may be affected by the degree of volatility in the oil and
gas market and is susceptible to other external factors that may affect
its values. Accordingly, in order to mitigate possible financial risks
related to the equities, the Board maintains a diversified investment
portfolio across various segments of the market and also closely
monitors the performance of its investment portfolio.

For details of the Stonehold investment in FY2020, please refer to the
section “Stonehold investment” in the “"Business Review". Except the
Stonehold investment, as at 31 March 2021, there was no investment
held by the Company and its subsidiaries the value of which was more
than 5% of the total assets of the Company and its subsidiaries.

MAJOR ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
In FY2020, there was no major acquisition or disposal by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

CHARGES ON ASSETS OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 March 2021, Hongbo Mining's land, buildings, machinery and
equipment amounting to approximately HK$93.5 million had been
pledged as the security to secure financing facilities granted to Hongbo
Mining (31 March 2020: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

So far as known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2021, there had been
no litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance in which the
Company or its respective subsidiaries was engaged or pending or
which as threatened against the Company or its respective
subsidiaries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R M AT

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Company and its subsidiaries had no capital
commitment (31 March 2020: HK$0.5 million) contracted but not
provided for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company and its subsidiaries had 331 (31
March 2020: 265) employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. In FY2020,
the total staff costs (including the directors’ emoluments) amounted to
HK$87.5 million (FY2019: HK$50.8 million). Employees’ remuneration
package was reviewed periodically and determined with reference to
the performance of the individual and the prevailing market practices.
Employees’ remuneration package includes basic salary, year-end
bonus, medical and contributory provident fund.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Company and its subsidiaries did not have any other future plans
for material investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2021.
However, the Company will continue to seek new investment
opportunities to broaden its revenue base and profit potential and
maximise shareholder’ value in the long term.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R M AT

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF RESULTS
The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee"”) was
established with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules"”). The Audit
Committee comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors and a
Non-executive Director who possess the appropriate business and
financial experience and skills to understand financial statements. Mr.
Chau Shing Yim David is the chairman of Audit Committee and the
other two members of the committee are Mr. Shi Cen and Mr. Lin
Dongliang. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of references
which are in line with the CG Code. The Audit Committee has
reviewed the Company and its subsidiaries’ annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with management of the Company the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company and discussed the risk
management and internal controls and financial reporting matters,
including a review of the consolidated financial statements and the
annual report of FY2020.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

SR LEREEAEMN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WANG Jingbo — Chairman

Mr. Wang, aged 43, was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 5 August 2016, and appointed as chairman on 26 August
2016. He is also a member of the nomination committee of the
Company.

Mr. Wang has over 15 years of experience in research, management
and investment in upstream oil and gas industry and other energy
sectors, including around 7 years of practical experience in upstream
oil and gas companies. Mr. Wang is a founder and a director of Titan
Gas Technology Holdings Limited (“Titan Gas Holdings"), the
immediate holding company of Titan Gas, and has been its executive
director, managing director and chief executive officer since 2012.
Titan Gas Holdings is principally engaged in development and
investments in oil and gas upstream assets globally. During his tenure
with Titan Gas Holdings, Mr. Wang has led sourcing, technical
assessment, commercial negotiation, and development of a number of
investment and acquisition opportunities in oil and gas sector in
Mainland China, Middle East and North America. Since 2011, Mr.
Wang has also worked at IDG Capital as a partner, where he oversees
the firm’s operation and private equity investment. From 2008 to 2011,
Mr. Wang worked at D. E. Shaw & Co., a wall-street investment
institution in the U.S.. From 2005 to 2008, Mr. Wang was a researcher
at Exxon Mobil Corporation, a major integrated oil and gas company.
From June 2017 to January 2019, Mr. Wang was a director of Fang
Holdings Limited (stock code: SFUN), whose shares are listed on the
New York Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor’s degree in Engineering from the
Mechanical Engineering Department of Tsinghua University and
obtained a master’s degree in Science, and a Ph.D. in Mechanical
Engineering from Cornell University as well as a master’s degree in
Business and Administration from New York University.
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

SR LEREEAEMN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. LIU Zhihai — President

Mr. Liu, aged 37, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 5 September 2019, and is also the president of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for the Company’s overall
management and business operation, corporate governance, human
resource management, as well as public and investor relations. Mr. Liu
also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Liu has over 11 years of experience with energy companies and
investments and broad knowledge of the oil and gas industry. He was
a co-founder of Titan Gas Holdings and has worked for IDG Capital
since 2011, where he headed the firm’s oil and gas practice as a
managing director and led and participated in several investments in
the oil and energy sector. Prior to 2011, he worked as a business
analyst at Accenture, covering strategy, mergers and acquisitions and
operation optimization projects and consulting services for several
major oil and gas companies and national oil companies.

Mr. Liu graduated with a bachelor’'s degree of Science and a master’s
degree of Science from the Mathematical School of Peking University.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIN Dongliang

Mr. Lin, aged 58, was appointed as the non-executive director of the
Company on 5 August 2016. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee.

Mr. Lin has presided over a variety of investment projects in the IT
industry since 1995 with remarkable success. Prior to joining IDG
Capital, Mr. Lin was a Senior Research Fellow at the Development
Research Center of the State Council of the PRC. He also previously
worked for Citibank New York from 1992 to 1993. Mr. Lin is a general
partner of IDG Capital and a director of Titan Gas Holdings, and he is
currently a non-executive director of NetDragon Websoft Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 777)).
Mr. Lin is also a director of Sichuan Shuangma Cement Co., Ltd.* (P
JNEE KRS B BR A A]) (stock code: 000935), which is listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lin graduated with a master’s degree in Engineering Management
from Tsinghua University.
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

SR LEREEAEMN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. SHONG Hugo

Mr. Shong, aged 65, was appointed as the non-executive director of
the Company on 5 August 2016. He is also a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Shong is Co-Chairman of IDG Capital and also a director of Titan
Gas Holdings. Among his many affiliations, Mr. Shong has served on
the Board of Trustees of Boston University, the Harvard Business
School Asia Advisory Committee and the Leadership Board of the
McGovern Institute for Brain Research at MIT. Mr. Shong was a non-
executive director of Mei Ah Entertainment Group Ltd. (stock code:
391) until 17 June 2020, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Shong is a non-executive director of
Huafa Property Services Group Company Limited (formerly known as
HJ Capital (International) Holdings Company Limited) (stock code: 982),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Shong graduated with a bachelor degree from Hunan University in
1981. He studied Journalism at the Graduate School of the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences from 1984 to 1986. He was under
graduate study at the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy from
1987 to 1988 and obtained his Master of Science degree from Boston
University’s College of Communication in 1987. He also completed the
Harvard Business School’'s Advanced Management Program in the fall
of 1996.
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SR LEREEAEMN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHI Cen

Mr. Shi, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 5 August 2016. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee and nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Shi is a partner of Ascendent Capital Partners (Asia) Ltd., which is
a private equity investment company focusing on the Greater China
market. Prior to joining Ascendent Capital Partners (Asia) Ltd. in April
2011, Mr. Shi was senior vice president of D. E. Shaw & Co.,
responsible for its Greater China private equity investment business.
Prior to joining D.E. Shaw & Co., Mr. Shi served as vice president at
CCMP Capital Asia Pte Ltd. (formerly known as JP Morgan Partners
Asia), where he focused on buyouts and other private equity
investments in China and the Asia Pacific region. He began his career
at Goldman Sachs Investment Banking division, where he focused on
providing overseas equity offerings and cross-border mergers and
acquisitions advice for Chinese companies. Mr. Shi is currently a non-
executive director of SciClone Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 6600), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Shi graduated with a bachelor’s degree in Economics, specialising

in international finance, and obtained a master's degree in Economics
from Tsinghua University.
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

SR LEREEAEMN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. CHAU Shing Yim David

Mr. Chau, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 5 August 2016. He is also the chairman of
the Audit Committee and remuneration committee of the Company.

Mr. Chau has extensive experience in corporate finance and was
formerly a partner of one of the big four accounting firms in Greater
China, holding the position as the Head of Mergers and Acquisition and
Corporate Advisory. Mr. Chau is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England and Wales (“ICAEW"), and was granted the
Corporate Finance Qualification of ICAEW. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (“HKICPA") and
was an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. He
is a Fellow member as well as director of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, the Chairman of Corporate Outreach Committee and China
Strategy Committee. Mr. Chau is a member of Hospital Governing
Committee of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital (“PYNEH")
and the Trustee of the PYNEH Charitable Trust. Mr. Chau is a member
of Jinan Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultation Conference.

Mr. Chau is also currently an independent non-executive director of
Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (stock code: 2314), Man Wah
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1999), China Evergrande Group (stock
code: 3333), China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited
(formerly known as Evergrande Health Industry Group Limited) (stock
code: 708), Hengten Networks Group Limited (stock code: 136) and
BC Technology Group Limited (stock code: 863). All the aforesaid
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Ms. GE Aiji

Ms. Ge, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director, a member of the remuneration committee of the Company
and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company on 19
October 2018.

Ms. Ge has extensive experience in the energy industry. She has
played pivotal roles in many domestic enterprises’ overseas upstream
exploration and development projects and led various major
international merger and acquisition projects in the upstream oil and
gas field. Ms. Ge has been serving as the vice president of Talent
Power Group Limited since 2014. From 2012 to 2016, Ms. Ge served
as a non-executive director of Mining Resource Company of China
Great Wall Industry Corporation. In addition, Ms. Ge held several
management positions with China National Oil and Gas Exploration and
Development Corporation, China National Petroleum Corporation and
its affiliated companies.

Ms. Ge graduated from Beijing University of Chemical Technology with
a bachelor’'s degree of Chemical Engineering in 1986 and a master's
degree of Technical Economics in 1988. Ms. Ge also obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the National
University of Singapore in 2007.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WANG Jingbo — Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wang, aged 43, was appointed as chief executive officer of the
Company on 5 August 2016. He is primarily responsible for the
Company's overall business development and growth strategies,
Board governance and supervision of key management issues. Please
refer to the above section headed “Executive Directors” for more
detailed information.

Mr. LIU Zhihai — President

Mr. Liu, aged 37, was appointed as the vice president of the Company
on 30 September 2016 and subsequently re- designated as president
on 2 January 2017. He is primarily responsible for the Company's
overall management and business operation, corporate governance,
human resource management, as well as public and investor relations.
Please refer to the above section headed “Executive Directors” for
more information.

Mr. TAN Jue — Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tan, aged 38, was appointed as one of the joint company
secretaries and the chief financial officer of the Company on 5 August
2016 and 30 September 2016, respectively. He is primarily responsible
for financing, financial reporting, budget planning, internal control,
compliance, and financial management operations. He also leads or
oversees the Company’s major investment transactions. Mr. Tan also
holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Tan has over 13 years of experience in financial management,
cross-border mergers & acquisitions, and corporate governance. He
joined IDG Capital in 2013 and has been responsible for, as an
executive director, the execution of the fund’s investment in
companies in growth and mature stages and has also gained extensive
experiences in the management of portfolio companies in areas of
finance, operation, internal control and corporate governance.
From 2006 to 2013, he worked for the deals group of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Consultants Shenzhen Limited Beijing
Branch for 7 years.

Mr. Tan graduated with a bachelor’'s degree of Economics from
Renmin University of China. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. LEE Khay Kok — Vice President

Mr. Lee, aged 55, was appointed as vice president and the chief
Engineer of the Company on 30 September 2016. He is primarily
responsible for the Company’s engineering management, technical
assessment and review, operation overseeing, and technology
innovation.

Mr. Lee has over 26 years of experience in upstream oil and gas
exploration and development, in particular in the fields of production
enhancement and fracturing stimulation. He had been the chief
engineer of Titan Gas Holdings since 2013, where he was in charge of
the firm’s engineering and technology management.

From 1994 to 2013, Mr. Lee worked for Schlumberger Limited, a
leading company providing a wide range of oilfield services globally
from exploration to production. Mr. Lee held several key technical
positions during his approximately 19-year tenure at Schlumberger
Group, including Geomarket Technical Engineer — Principal (chief
technical advisor in Schlumberger company), In Touch Manager —
Stimulation (responsible for 24/7 technical support to Schlumberger
worldwide stimulation community) and CHG Stimulation Domain
Manager (regional chief technical engineer supporting North-east Asia
area) providing technical support and advice to Schlumberger Technical
personnel or to oil companies. At Schlumberger Group, Mr. Lee was
involved in many key oilfield production enhancement projects. His
roles in these projects varied from the technical design of the job to
field execution and in some cases where he was the engineer in-
charge in operations.

Mr. Lee graduated with a bachelor’'s degree in Mineral and Petroleum
Engineering from National Cheng Kung University in Taiwan and
obtained a master’'s degree in Petroleum Engineering from the
University of Oklahoma. Mr. Lee was also a recipient of the 1995 Rock
Mechanics Award from the U.S. National Committee for Rock
Mechanics for his Master’s Thesis.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment and management
of various assets and businesses, currently including global energy
assets and mobility services businesses. The principal businesses of
its invested portfolio companies (including those which are
subsidiaries) consist of mobility services platform, oil and gas business
and investment fund management in related businesses and sectors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
Details of the results in FY2020 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 215 to 216 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
FY2020 (31 March 2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Company’s performance during the year as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Company and an indication of likely future
developments in the Company’s business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
These discussions form part of the Report of the Directors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and its subsidiaries during FY2020 are set out in note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Details of bank loans and other borrowings during FY2020 are set out
in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the last five financial years is set out
on page 6 of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BOND
(A) Summary of outstanding Convertible Bond

70

On 28 March 2008, the Company issued the Convertible Bond in
the principal amount of HK$120,000,000 to Tanisca Investments
Limited (“Tanisea"”), pursuant to the subscription agreement
dated 29 October 2007 (as amended on 28 March 2013, 3 June
2014 and 15 August 2017 (the last amendment between the
Company and Titan Gas only), respectively). Tanisca later
transferred to Titan Gas the Convertible Bond in the principal
amount of HK$96,832,526, pursuant to a conditional sell and
purchase agreement dated 22 June 2015 (as amended on 27
October 2015, 20 November 2015, 28 January 2016, 23 March
2016 and 28 June 2016 respectively). Upon completion of the
transfer, on 29 July 2016, Tanisca held the Convertible Bond in
the principal amount of HK$23,167,474.

On 25 September 2017, Tanisca converted all the Convertible
Bond it held with a principal amount of HK$23,167,474 into
344,754,077 Ordinary Shares at the conversion price of
HK$0.0672 per conversion share in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Convertible Bond.

On 22 August 2018, Titan Gas transferred the Convertible Bond
in the principal amount of HK$16,832,526 to three entities.

On 18 October 2018, certain holders converted the Convertible
Bond in the principal amount of HK$18,432,526 into 274,293,540
Ordinary Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.0672 per
conversion share in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Convertible Bond.

On 17 December 2018, certain holders converted the Convertible
Bond in the principal amount of HK$18,400,000 into 273,809,523
Ordinary Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.0672 per
conversion share in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Convertible Bond.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BOND

(continued)
(A) Summary of outstanding Convertible Bond (continued)

BRERABRST (&)

(A) RIENTRKRESZHE(E)

On 9 March 2021, Titan Gas transferred the Convertible Bond in
the principal amount of HK$6,048,000 to an entity.

On 11 March 2021, certain holders converted the Convertible
Bond in the principal amount of HK$20,000,000 into 297,619,047
Ordinary Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.0672 per
conversion share in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Convertible Bond.

As at 31 March 2021, the remaining Convertible Bond with
nominal value of HK$40,000,000 was solely held by Titan Gas.

For details of the issuance, the amendments and the transfer of
the Convertible Bond, please refer to (i) the announcement dated
31 October 2007 and the circular dated 21 November 2007; (ii)
the announcement dated 28 March 2013 and the circular dated
30 April 2013, the announcement dated 3 June 2014 and the
circular dated 13 June 2014, and the announcement dated 15
August 2017 and the circular dated 16 August 2017; and (iii) the
announcements dated 27 October 2015, 20 November 2015, 28
January 2016, 23 March 2016, 28 June 2016 and 29 July 2016,
and the RTO Circular of the Company published on the website
of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/).
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SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BOND BRERMERESHF &)

(continued)

(B) Dilutive impact of the Convertible Bond on the issued (B) AEREFEH EBHRTEERNEE
Ordinary Shares 2
As at 31 March 2021, the outstanding principal amount of the RZTEZ—F=A=+—H 7J@RE
Convertible Bond was HK$40,000,000. Based on the conversion H B R (E 38 N4 58 /540,000,000 78 7T °
price of HK$0.0672 per Ordinary Share for the Convertible Bond, AR B RESF SR ERR0.067278 T
the maximum number of Ordinary Shares issuable by the MR E RNEBEERABKRESZ
Company upon full conversion of the Convertible Bond (the ([EBREE])  AAFABTHEBR
“Conversion”) will be 595,238,095 Ordinary Shares. B &% 1 % 595,238,095 R i AK o
The following table sets out the shareholding structure in terms NREFEHREBERIZL BRI DR
of Ordinary Shares upon Conversion with reference to the HERE(B2ERARIN_ZE-_—F=A
shareholding structure of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and =+ —HBREZRE R BREARD R E
assuming no further issuance of Ordinary Shares by the HwE—FRTERRK)
Company:

As at Immediately following
31 March 2021 the Conversion

R-ZB--$=A=+-H FHEEBREFRK

Percentage of Percentage of

Numbers of  total issued Numbers of  total issued

Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary

Shares Shares (%) Shares Shares (%)

HERTEER EERTEER

BYNEIL BYNEDH

Name of shareholders i 4 EERA (%) EER (%)

Titan Gas Titan Gas 2,746,385,293 39.85 2,746,385,293 36.68

Holder of the Convertible Bond ARRESEEA - - 595,238,095 7.95
(i.e., Titan Gas) (BN Titan Gas) (Note 1)
(FzE1)

Foxconn Subscribers (Note 2) 2LERBA M) 1,485,000,000 2155 1,485,000,000 19.83

Lin Dongliang (Note 3) MR (fEE3) 12,910,000 0.19 12,910,000 0.17

Public shareholders NS 2,647,414,668 3841 2,647,414,668 35.36

Total Fots 6,891,709,961 100.00  7,486,948,056 100.00
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SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BOND

(continued)

(B) Dilutive impact of the Convertible Bond on the issued
Ordinary Shares (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Titan Gas will hold 595,238,095 Ordinary Shares converted by the
Convertible Bond immediately following the Conversion, representing
7.95% of the then total issued Ordinary Shares. Therefore, upon the
Conversion, Titan Gas will hold an aggregate of 3,341,623,388 Ordinary
Shares, representing 44.63% of the then total issued Ordinary Shares.

The Foxconn Subscribers are Foxconn Technology Pte. Ltd., High Tempo
International Limited, World Trade Trading Limited, Q-Run Holdings
Limited, and Q-Run Far East Corporation respectively. Each of the
Foxconn Subscribers holds 297,000,000 Ordinary Shares.

As at 31 March 2021, Mr. Lin Dongliang, a non-executive Director (being
a core connected person of the Company as defined under the Listing
Rules), held 12,910,000 Ordinary Shares, which are not counted as
Ordinary Shares held by public shareholders.

The above percentage figures are subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, figures shown as totals may not be the arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them.

An analysis of the impact on the diluted loss per share is set out

in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual

report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other Convertible
Bond had been converted during FY2020.
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DONATIONS
During FY2020, the Company and its subsidiaries did not make any
charitable donations to any charitable organisations.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws and there are no restrictions against such rights under the
laws in Bermuda.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any
distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong
law, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended from time to time) and any other applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of dividend will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:

° the Company and its subsidiaries’ actual and expected financial
performance;

° shareholders’ interests;

° retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed surplus
of the Company and each of the other members of the Company
and its subsidiaries;

° the level of the Company and its subsidiaries’ debts to equity

ratio, return on equity and financial covenants to which the
Company and its subsidiaries is subject;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

possible effects on the Company and its subsidiaries’
creditworthiness;

any restrictions on payment of dividends or other covenants on

the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial ratios that may be
imposed by the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial creditors;

the Company and its subsidiaries’ expected working capital

requirements and future expansion plans;

liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend:;

taxation considerations;

statutory and regulatory restrictions;

general business conditions and strategies;

general economic conditions, business cycle of the Company
and its subsidiaries’ business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company; and

other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no

assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific

period.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

In March 2020 and April 2020, the Company repurchased a total of
1,816,000 ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange,
with an aggregate consideration paid amounting to HK$1,334,973.60.
All the shares repurchased by the Company were subsequently
cancelled and the issued share capital of the Company was reduced
thereon. The repurchase was effected by the Board for the
enhancement of shareholder value in the long term. Details of the
shares repurchased are as follows:

No. of shares Highest price
repurchased

BEROEE

Month of repurchase

MR HEsREF 2Rz LHikHG

R=B-BF=AR-T-Z2FNA  AR7F
RS FTBE 14 +£1,816,0000% A A &) & @A% -
BN E A 1,334,973.605 7T ° BEE AR A
FTEBERMDHEEFHE AR AR T NE BT
BABRD EFgETNEBEERERSR
REB - BEROOFBET

Repurchase price per share
BREBEEE

Aggregate

Lowest price consideration
paid
ENGREE
HKD

BT

paid
ENRIEE
HKD
BT

paid
BAERE
HKD
BT

March 2020 —E-TF=R 1,040,000 0.68 0.58 679,952.00

April 2020 —Z-ZFMA 776,000 0.89 0.80 655,021.60

Total et 1,816,000 1,334,973.60
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its B EXPIHEEESIN - KRR HEEFME LR

subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
shares in FY2020.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the laws of Bermuda, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2021.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2020, the largest customer accounted for 5% of the total
revenue of the Company and its subsidiaries from sales of goods and
services. During FY2020, the largest four suppliers accounted for 8%
of the total purchase of the Company and its subsidiaries, and the
largest supplier accounted for 4% of the total purchase of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in the largest customers or
five largest suppliers mentioned above.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Deconsolidation of the mobility services business

As at 31 March 2021, the Company effectively held 35.5% of the
equity share of Weipin, and the Company had the majority voting right
of the board of directors with all the decision-making power over the
activities of Weipin.

To provide the management of Weipin with more flexibility in terms of
decision making over its operations, on 21 June 2021, through
amicable negotiations, the shareholders of Weipin agreed to enter into
an amended shareholders’ agreement so as to, among other things,
make adjustments to the structure of the board of Weipin, of which
the Company agrees to lower its number of designated directors from
3 to 2 directors in the board of Weipin (the “Adjustment”). After the
Adjustment, the Company no longer has the majority voting right of
the board of directors of Weipin, and in turn no longer has the control
over the relevant activities of Weipin. Pursuant to the relevant
regulatory requirements and accounting standards, Weipin has ceased
to be consolidated into the financial statements of the Company with
effect from 21 June 2021. As at the date of this report, the
shareholding percentage held by the Company in Weipin remains
unchanged at 35.5%, and Weipin continues to be one of the
investment portfolios of the Company. The Company is in the process
of evaluating the fair value of the investment held by the Company and
shall recognize the deemed disposal gain or loss of Weipin in the year
ending 31 March 2022.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 since early 2020 has brought additional uncertainties to
the global business environment as well as to the Company.

As far as the Company's businesses are concerned, the COVID-19 has
negatively affected the operation, and caused the decrease in the
demand for crude oil. Although crude oil price was on the rise recently
as a result of the expected gradual recovery in demand, it is very
difficult to predict how the situation will turn out in the near future
considering the impact of repeated epidemics. As the result, the
market is still very fragile.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jingbo (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Zhihai (President)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Dongliang
Mr. Shong Hugo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Ge Aiji

Mr. Shi Cen

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

One third of the directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2), Bye-law 84(1) and Bye-law 84(2) of
the Bye-laws, Mr. Wang Jingbo, Mr. Lin Dongliang and Ms. Ge Aiji will
retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive directors and considers them to be
independent. Under the terms of their appointment, the independent
non-executive directors are appointed for a specific term and are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company's
Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MIANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 61 to 68 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Company has entered into letters of appointment with each
Director, pursuant to which each of the executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is
appointed for terms of three years, subject to re-election in accordance
with Bye-laws of the Company at general meeting.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

REMIUNERATION POLICY

The Company's remuneration policy is built upon the principle of
providing an equitable, motivating and market- competitive
remuneration package that can stimulate and drive staff at all levels to
work towards achieving the strategic objectives of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

The remuneration of the Directors is reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board, having regard to Directors’
duties, responsibilities, the operating results and comparable market
statistics.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed in FY2020.

RELATED PARTIES’' TRANSACTIONS

Details of related parties’ transactions are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. None of the related party
transactions mentioned above constitutes connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or holding company or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which any of the Company’s Directors or an entity connected with
the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were
as follows:

(A) Long positions in Ordinary Shares:

Name of Director Nature of interest

EEfE

Wang Jingbo Corporate

TER AR

Shong Hugo Corporate

AREELR A7)

Lin Dongliang Corporate

HIRZ N
Beneficial
B

EERRMREARKRMPERZER
R#E

RIZ-—F=A=+—0 EERARAFZ
Bty RABRR D (E& R ES KBS G (T&
SFRBEGEEF ) EXVE)F - EELHENAR
AREEZ R AERIIFE 2R ERAFELZ
B IRBELHHOTAERETESFRS
MR A #H'J(Hgﬁ—r,ﬁ DASITHREARRA R
B Pz s FORRIATE -

(A) BEBRZHFE:

Percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued Ordinary

Ordinary Shares Shares
AR E#LT
ZERHE ZERBESL
2,746,385,293 39.85%
(Note 1)
(B&E1)
2,746,385,293 39.85%
(Notes 1 and 2)
(MisE1 % 2)
2,746,385,293 39.85%
12,910,000 0.19%
(Notes 1 and 3)
(BIE1 R 3)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

(A) Long positions in Ordinary Shares: (continued)

82

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

These shares are held by Titan Gas, a company which is controlled as to
75.73% by Titan Gas Holdings, which is in turn owned as to 35.13% by
Standard Gas Capital Limited (“Standard Gas"), 49.14% by IDG-Accel
China Capital II L.P. (“IDG-Accel Capital Il L.P.”) and IDG-Accel China
Capital Il Investors L.P. (“"IDG-Accel Investors Il L.P.”) (collectively, “IDG
Funds”), 8.05% by Mr. Wang Jingbo (“Mr. Wang”) and 6.87% by
Kingsbury International Holdings Co., Ltd.* (&t iEBEE =R HD AR A
Al) (“Kingsbury"), 0.73% by Zhang Weiwei and 0.08% by Bryce Wayne
Lee. Under the SFO, Titan Gas Holdings, Standard Gas and IDG Funds
are deemed to have interest in the Ordinary Shares in which Titan Gas
has beneficial interest.

Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury have entered into an acting in
concert arrangement for the purpose of facilitating a more efficient
decision-making process in connection with the exercise of their
shareholders’ rights in Titan Gas Holdings pursuant to which, Standard
Gas, Kingsbury and Mr. Wang agree to align with each other in respect
of the voting of major actions in respect of Titan Gas Holdings' business
and each of Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury will consult with
each other and reach agreement on material matters of Titan Gas
Holdings before it/he exercises its/his respective voting rights in Titan
Gas Holdings, provided that Mr. Wang will have a casting vote and will
have the final decision making power in the event that a consensus
cannot be reached among Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury.
Under the SFO, Mr. Wang is deemed to have interest in the Ordinary
Shares in which Titan Gas has interest.

All the issued voting shares in Standard Gas are held by Blazing Success
Limited (“Blazing Success"”) which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Liu
Zhihai. Blazing Success has granted a power of attorney to the board of
directors of Standard Gas which comprise Mr. Wang, Lin Dongliang and
Shong Hugo. Under the SFO, Shong Hugo is deemed to have interest in
the shares in which Standard Gas has interest.

All the issued voting shares in Standard Gas are held by Blazing Success
which in turn is wholly owned by Mr. Liu Zhihai. Blazing Success has
granted a power of attorney to the board of directors of Standard Gas
which comprise Mr. Wang, Lin Dongliang and Shong Hugo. Under the
SFO, Lin Dongliang is deemed to have interest in the shares in which
Standard Gas has interest.

The 12,910,000 Ordinary Shares are held by Lin Dongliang beneficially.

*  For identification purposes only
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0.08% ° WRIKFEFH K HIE &) - Titan Gas
Holdings * Standard Gas & IDG & & 18
7R Titan Gas i A B 2 i 2 09 5 i I
AR °

Standard Gas * T E RS HEEHITE
% Z R Titan Gas Holdings 2 A% B F| 5T
VBOABLH NEREBERIRE
iE o IRIRFZ L HE - Standard Gas ~ £t
8 % F % A4 [F E 7 5k Titan Gas Holdings
¥ ETBTHRAFHEEER B
il Standard Gas * TEE RS HIES A1
RIEE S BT M Titan Gas Holdings 2
1% Z RT3k Titan Gas Holdings 2 &K%
EAEE e REK S EEEERBE
Standard Gas * £ 54 k& AT REEMK
HUEE —ZARATUHERZREL R &
BORTERE - BIRFEHF KGR - T4
W18 BT Titan Gas B HESH) X B AL
AR ©

Standard Gas 2 17 Z# k7 2 #H &
Blazing Success Limited ([Blazing
Success ) {6 - MigEHZIMELESD
& ¥ A o Blazing Success & % % 1 &
3tZ F Standard Gas 2 EE & (K EBIE
FhAE  MWRRREESR) - REZHFR
BRI - AREE RS IRAR A7 Standard Gas
HERENRGO P EEER

Standard Gas B B 1T R# R D 2 FB A
Blazing Success#5 A + & & B 21 48
%4 2 B A © Blazing Success B ¥ H
HIEZFLE T Standard Gas ZEE€ (i
EBRETRE MRBERAEERS) - R
BERBEGKRIN MRR2EKREBR
Standard Gas # A # 2 8 IR 15 = # & 1

25 °

12,910,000 8 L @R A MR R E a5 A ©



REPORT(DFTHE[NRECTORS
EETWE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

(B) Long positions in the Convertible Bond:

Name of Director Nature of interest
BEEHA ERME

Wang Jingbo Corporate

TER A7

Shong Hugo Corporate

AR B G

Lin Dongliang Corporate

IR NG]

Note 1:  The 595,238,095 underlying shares represented the new Ordinary

Note 2:

Note 3:

Shares to be issued upon full conversion of Convertible Bond with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$40,000,000 held by Titan Gas at a
conversion price of HK$0.0672 per Ordinary Shares issued by the
Company. As explained in Note 1 of Section (A) above, under the SFO,
Mr. Wang is deemed to have interests in the convertible bond in which
Titan Gas has interest.

As explained in Notes 1 and 2 of Section (A) above, under the SFO,
Shong Hugo is deemed to have interest in the shares in which Standard
Gas has interest.

As explained in Notes 1 and 3 of Section (A) above, under the SFO, Lin
Dongliang is deemed to have interest in the shares in which Standard
Gas has interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the

Directors or chief executives of the Company had registered an

interest

or short position in the shares, underlying shares or

debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations

that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the

SFO, or

as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

EERRMREARKRMPERZER
R#E (&)

(B) AEREXZIHFE :

Number of

underlying shares

HEROEE

595,238,095
(Note 1)
(M7E1)

595,238,095

(Notes 1 and 2)
(Bi&E1 % 2)
595,238,095

(Notes 1 and 3)
(BT % 3)

MizE1: 595,238,095 % 18 Bl A% 15 8 1L IR (B AR
TiMAR0.0672 B T RBE R B AN R
77 W Titan GasFTE A2 AL 55
40,000,000 7T 2 Al AR B H 18 15 T 2%
T2 E B o S0 £l (A) I8 A a1
Frift - ARIBEHFREIE GG - TEEWR
/"*—W\Tltan Gas#E Bz M AT AR & 5
HEER -

BfsE2 :  ahan bt (A) B &Mﬁizﬁm iR
BRESRPEHED ERERSERAR
Standard Gas ¥ A 4 25 E’]HXT B E

= o

M3 ©  FAR L (A) TEAR TR 1 RMRES AT - AR
BEAFRPEKEA MEZEE BN
Standard Gas % & # @ 89 IR {5 = % 5 1

250
m

BREXHBEEN RZB-_—F=H
:—i'—EI CARREZTHRZRSITHAR
BMERA QA HEEFABBEEE 2R

R $HE§J&1 HEEET  BEARE
&5 LIS 1501 5 352 1R R TE i #R AR

BT BB R 1T AE A A A R
SR -

i
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, at no time
during FY2020 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSON’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, the following interests in the issued share capital
and underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

Capacity/
Nature of interest

510 RENEE

Beneficial owner

BEmfa A

Tanisca Investments Limited (Note 3)
Tanisca Investments Limited (FffE3)

MO Tian Quan (Note 3)
2R2 (KIFE3) Sy LB R

Beneficial owner

BB A

Titan Gas Technology Investment
Limited (Note 4)

Titan Gas Technology Investment
Limited (Pf7E4)

Titan Gas Technology Holdings
Limited (Note 4)

Titan Gas Technology Holdings
Limited (Fif3+4)

RYE A B
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Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of a controlled corporation

ESEMARGRREEZER

B EX [EERED MARRN T HE 2
FoRR ] —EBEEIN  R-T T FEM
BE - SETAEERREFSAIEBR18
RA T T LEREAEBARAR RN KE
R mEs 2N RETRERZEEN
MARR ~ HEEARA R S E AR R E AR
A E QR IMEELERZH - RTEEA B
TREMEABBESZSER -

FERRREMALTRELTIRGR
HERKRHZER

RIZB-—F=A=+—8 RARFZHET
B R ARRARAD 2 DA TR IR AN R AR IR RE
KB IGRPIE 3B IR EAFEZ ERE M
FOEE

Number of
Ordinary Shares Percentage of the
or underlying Company’s issued

Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares

(Note 1) (Note 2)
BRI EE AR AT BT
EERHE EERBEAL
(PfFEE) (FE2)
344,754,077 (L) 5.00%

(Note 3)

(BH3E3)
379,507,486 (L) 5.51%

(Note 3)

(BH3E3)
3,341,623,388 (L) 48.49%

(Note 4)

(5t 4)
3,341,623,388 (L) 48.49%

(Note 4)

(M5t 4)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Capacity/
Nature of interest

510 HENEE

Standard Gas Capital Limited (Note 4, 5) Interest of controlled corporations
Standard Gas Capital Limited (ff{5E4 - 5) 22k E

Kingsbury International Holdings Co.,
Ltd. (SRR AR RN BRAF])
(Note 4, 5)

S FERIFR AR AR B IR A R (Hi5E4 - 5)

IDG-Accel China Capital GP Il
Associates Ltd. (Note 6)

IDG-Accel China Capital GP Il
Associates Ltd. (fft3%6)

IDG-Accel China Capital I
Associates L.P. (Note 7)

IDG-Accel China Capital Il
Associates L.P. (Bft3%7)

IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P. (Note 7)

IDG-Accel China Capital I L.P. (Fff7£7)

Interest of controlled corporations
SFnEER

Interest of controlled corporations
REEEER

Interest of controlled corporations

R LB s

Interest of controlled corporations

XYL E s

HO Chi Sing (Note 8)
AR (M3E8)

Interest of controlled corporations
R LR

ZHOU Quan (Note 8) Interest of controlled corporations

Az (fizEs) A EER
LUO Yuping Interest of controlled corporations
#ET A EER

Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd
HERBETLEROHBR AT

Interest of controlled corporations
LB

Number of
Ordinary Shares
or underlying
Ordinary Shares
(Note 1)

(BF&E1)

3,341,623,388 (L)
(Note 4, 5)
(BizE4 - 5)
3,341,623,388 (L)
(Note 4, 5)
(FzE4 - 5)

3,341,623,388 (L)
(Notes 4, 6)
(M54 - 6)

3,341,623,388 (L)
(Notes 4, 7)
(Mf3x4 - 7)

3,341,623,388 (L)
(Notes 4, 7)
(Bizx4 - 7)

3,353,123,388 (L)

(Notes 4, 6, 8)
(M54 -6~ 8)
3,353,123,388 (L)
(Notes 4, 6, 8)
(Hiz*4-6-8)
3,353,123,388 (L)
(Notes 4, 5, 9)
(M3F4-5-9)
1,485,000,000 (L)
(Note 10)
(MF5E10)

IDGRERIRERRA A / F#2021

FERRREMALTIRELTRGR
HERKRDZER (5)

Percentage of the

Company'’s issued

Ordinary Shares
(Note 2)
HAERAE BT
ETERBEIL
(P 2)

48.49%

48.49%

48.49%

48.49%

48.49%

48.65%

48.65%

48.65%

21.55%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Q-Run Holding Ltd.
Q-Run Holding Ltd.

Snow Lake China Master Fund, Ltd.
Snow Lake China Master Fund, Ltd.

Snow Lake China Offshore Fund, Ltd.
Snow Lake China Offshore Fund, Ltd.

Snow Lake Capital (HK) Limited
Snow Lake Capital (HK) Limited

Ma Sean
Ma Sean

Notes:

86

Capacity/
Nature of interest

510 HENEE

RPN £

Beneficial owner

BEmEA A

Beneficial owner

BEmEA A

Ry AE s

Investment manager

BREEEA

EREAE L o

In the above table, the information on the companies in which the interests are
held, the capacity/nature of such interests and the number of Ordinary Shares or
underlying Ordinary Shares is based on information available on the website of the
Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/). The percentage of such Ordinary
Shares or underlying Ordinary Shares in the issued Ordinary Shares is calculated
with reference to the number of issued Ordinary Shares of the Company as at 31
March 2021 and is for reference only.

The letter “L" represents the individual's long position in the Ordinary Shares or

underlying Ordinary Shares. These interests in the underlying Ordinary Shares
represent the derivative interests under the Convertible Bond.
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FERRREMALTIRELTRGR
HERKRDZER (5)

Interest of controlled corporations

1.

2.

Interest of controlled corporations

Interest of controlled corporations

Number of
Ordinary Shares Percentage of the
or underlying Company’s issued

Ordinary Shares  Ordinary Shares

(Note 1) (Note 2)
AR AR BT
ETERBEIL
(B#=E1) (P 2)
1,188,000,000 (L) 17.24%
(Note 10)
(KtEE10)
297,000,000 (L) 4.31%
(Note 10)
(KFzE10)
649,351,720 (L) 9.85%
(Note 11)
(MHEE11)
649,351,720 (L) 9.85%
(Note 11)
(BF3E11)
900,684,000(L) 13.07%
(Note 12)
(MH5E12)
900,684,000(L) 13.07%
(Note 12)
(MtsE12)

EERP BEEBEAEEZNRRINER  ZSEDS
W EHD,EE RS AER Y B E TR
5 B <2 Pt 4904 (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) £ AT 1549
BR o S L MR AER Y BARE B BIT AR
BALNS2EARARAR TS _—F=A=+—HE
BITEBREBE  EHeE -

FELEEAREBRSEEEEBROTRE - R
BB IBAR P 2 S R TR RSB T 274
% -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EHGWE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSON'’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

FERRREMALTIRELTRGR

HERKRDZER (5)

MiEE : ()

Mr. Mo Tianquan (“Mr. Mo ") has control over 100% interests of Tanisca and Upsky
Enterprises Limited. Upsky Enterprises Limited has interest in 34,753,409 Ordinary
Shares of the Company. Under the SFO, Mr. Mo is deemed to have interest in the
Ordinary Shares in which Tanisca and Upsky Enterprises Limited have interest.

Titan Gas is controlled as to 75.73% by Titan Gas Holdings, which is in turn
controlled as to 35.13% by Standard Gas, 49.14% by the IDG Funds, 8.05% by Mr.
Wang and 6.87% by Kingsbury, 0.73% by Zhang Weiwei and 0.08% by Bryce
Wayne Lee. Under the SFO, Titan Gas Holdings, Standard Gas, IDG Funds are
deemed to have interest in 3,341,623,388 Ordinary Shares in which Titan Gas has
beneficial interest. Interest in such Ordinary Shares include interest in 595,238,095
underlying Ordinary Shares through derivative interests in the Convertible Bond in
the principal amount of HK$60,000,000 at a conversion price of HK$0.0672 per
share. As at 31 March 2021, Mr. Wang, Lin Dongliang and Shong Hugo are directors
of Titan Gas Holdings.

Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury have entered into an acting in concert
arrangement for the purpose of facilitating a more efficient decision making process
in connection with the exercise of their shareholders’ rights in Titan Gas Holdings
pursuant to which, Standard Gas, Kingsbury and Mr. Wang agree to align with each
other in respect of the voting of major actions in respect of Titan Gas Holdings’
business and each of Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and Kingsbury will consult with each
other and reach agreement on material matters of Titan Gas Holdings before it/he
exercises its/his respective voting rights in Titan Gas Holdings, provided that Mr.
Wang will have a casting vote and will have the final decision making power in the
event that a consensus cannot be reached among Standard Gas, Mr. Wang and
Kingsbury. The Ordinary Shares and underlying Ordinary Shares in which Mr. Wang
has interest comprise 3,341,623,388 Ordinary Shares in which Titan Gas has
beneficial interest (including derivative interest in 595,238,095 underlying Ordinary
Shares).

The IDG Funds is under the control of its ultimate general partner, IDG-Accel China
Capital GP Il Associates Ltd. (“IDG-Accel Ultimate GP"). Under the SFO, IDG-
Accel Ultimate GP is deemed to have interest in the Ordinary Shares and the
underlying Ordinary Shares in which the IDG Funds have interest.

E X2 5% 4 E % £ D) #F #Tanisca & Upsky
Enterprises Limited 2 100% # # ° Upsky
Enterprises Limited 74 7K A 7] 34,753,409 % & i@ %
FHEAER REEHFRPEKRL  EXERERAR
A Tanisca & Upsky Enterprises Limited # /& # 25 89
LR AR o

Titan Gas g1 Titan Gas Holdings 22 411 75.73% #£ 25 -
if#% % £ Standard Gas#%#35.13% #z - B IDGE
SEH49.14% % - BT 1 H8.05% i a2
M &t A2 516.87% # &4 » F Zhang Weiwei %
0.73% #£25 & f Bryce Wayne Lee#%#10.08% #25 -
B & E FH & B & & Titan Gas Holdings
Standard Gas ) IDG &£ # 1% &K Titan Gas#E B E
T AEER ) 3,341,623,388 fR I iBAR R HE A o &
EEBRIEZDIEEBITRARER(AEER
60,000,000 7T - # A E K ER0.06728 L) BT
PTAHERSH B H9595,238,095 IR MR i AR AERS o
T —F-A=+—8 T4 MERREEE
2 A& Titan Gas Holdings {1 E = -

Standard Gas* T A E R SHEERITERER
Titan Gas Holdings 2 IR R FIFT L —HATEN &2 HE -
LAEBE B M2 RE R o IRIEZ L HE - Standard
Gas * & 18 & F ¢ 4 R B R i Titan Gas Holdings
¥Rz EEBTHFORBE L ER— B M Standard
Gas  ThARSHESAKRBESETER
Titan Gas Holdings 2 #% &4 A 5t Titan Gas Holdings
ZEREEMEHEKERBE  BERERE
Standard Gas * E&E A R HETAEX LFHFH
—EREMRERENEERRERTE TR
BiEmr L BB RIBEY BREETitan GaslEAE
= % M3,341,623,3880% E @ (B FE R
595,238,095 X HH A & @AR DT MR ) ©

DGE £ X H K& #& % B & % AIDG-Accel China
Capital GP Il Associates Ltd. ([IDG-Accel Ultimate
GPJ) = 4l - RIE F FH &k B B & 6l - IDG-Accel
Ultimate GP ##% A7 DG £ & # A 4 25 i 3 B Ak &
ARk AR -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSON’S INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

10.

11.

12.

IDG-Accel China Capital Il Associates L.P. has control over IDG-Accel Capital Il L.P.
Under the SFO, IDG-Accel China Capital Il Associates L.P. is deemed to have
interest in the Ordinary Shares and the underlying Ordinary Shares in which IDG-
Accel Capital Il L.P. has beneficial interest.

Ho Chi Sing and Zhou Quan are directors of IDG-Accel Ultimate GP and are
responsible for decision-making matters relating to the IDG Funds and their
investments, and hence control the exercise of voting rights to the shares that the
IDG Funds hold in Titan Gas Holdings. Therefore they are deemed to have interest
in the Ordinary Shares and the underlying Ordinary Shares in which IDG-Accel
Ultimate GP has interest.

Kingsbury is controlled as to 74.8% by Luo Yuping. By virtue of the acting in concert
arrangement referred to in Note 5, Luo Yuping is deemed to have interest in the
Ordinary Shares and the underlying Ordinary Shares in which Titan Gas Holdings
has interest.

Foxconn Technology Co., Ltd. has control over Q-Run Holding Ltd., which in turn
has direct and indirect controls of 297,000,000 Ordinary Shares and 1,188,000,000
Ordinary Shares of the Company, respectively. Under the SFO, Foxconn Technology
Co., Ltd. is deemed to have all the interest in the Ordinary Shares of the Company
in which Q-Run Holding Ltd. has interest.

Pursuant to the form of disclosure of interests filed by Snow Lake China Offshore
Fund, Ltd. on 10 March 2021, Snow Lake China Master Fund is wholly-owned by
Snow Lake China Offshore Fund, Ltd.. Under the SFO, Snow Lake China Offshore
Fund, Ltd. is deemed to have interest in 649,351,720 Ordinary Shares in which
Snow Lake China Master Fund, Ltd. has beneficial interest.

Snow Lake Capital (HK) Limited is the investment manager of three entities holding
Ordinary Shares. Sean Ma is the controlling shareholder of Snow Lake Capital (HK)
Limited. Under the SFO, Snow Lake Capital (HK) Limited and Sean Ma are deemed
to have interest in the Ordinary Shares that such entities have beneficial interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, no person, other than

the Directors or chief executives of the Company, whose interests are

set out in the section “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in

Shares and Underlying Shares” above, had registered an interest or

short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that

was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETWE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During FY2020, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty;
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 112 to 130 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company did not adopt any share option scheme. However, the
Company may consider to adopt one subject to compliance with the
Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EHGWE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
Details of the environmental policy and performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 131 to 204 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

Details of the relationships of the Company and its subsidiaries with
employees, suppliers and customers are set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 131 to 204 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
In FY2020 as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Company and its subsidiaries that have significant impact on
their businesses and operations.

AUDITORS
Pursuant to the resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company on 21 August 2020, the Company re-appointed KPMG as the
auditor of the Company. The proposal of re-appointing KPMG as the
auditor of the Company will be put forward at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to
consult an expert.

90 IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

BERERER
KRARIREWBRATIRERRERBENFEEH
RAFERFIBNEE204BEMNIRE - HELE

AR -
HER #ERAREFRZME

ARRIREMBAREREES - HEBEREFPZ
FENFBHENAFRE 131 AE204 AHR

B HERERRE -

BFERRER

R-F-_FRF - ARAAA - ARA]REH
MEARBERESERITETERER R
AIROERMEEEBE R L EBNEATE -

4 1]
BE=Z-BE\A -+ —ARARFREE
FAE LRBOREE  AANEREEHE

SHEM =TSP A AR BAZEED - BIERFE G
Bih 2 75 P A3 8 X B AZ RAM A0 B TR A 1R XX B JE A
RBFRGES -

ERREERER

MREREEE A BEREEARAR
DRATEE A B RERNNRGEER T
A - BREBAER -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETWE

NON-COMPETITION DEED

As disclosed in the RTO Circular, each of the Controlling Shareholders
(as defined in the RTO Circular) and Lin Dongliang (together, the
“Covenantors”) have entered into a Non-Competition Deed (as
defined in the RTO Circular) in favour of the Company (for itself and for
the benefit of its subsidiaries). With reference to the RTO Circular, the
Company organised a working meeting with the Covenantors in which
the Company reviewed their business portfolios and considered that
there was no opportunity to operate a Restricted Business (as defined
in the RTO Circular).

The Company has received confirmations from each of the
Covenantors on full compliance with the Non-Competition Deed for
FY2020. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
confirmations provided by the Covenantors, and concluded that each
of the Covenantors complied with the relevant terms of the Non-
Competition Deed for FY2020.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wang Jingbo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
25 June 2021
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
BRIZ

PRC LAWS AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO
FOREIGN OWNERSHIP RESTRICTIONS

Foreign investment activities in the PRC are mainly governed by the
Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for the Access of
Foreign Investment (2020 Version) (FNE#E AR R E IR (AW
JBEE) (20204 HR))) (the “Negative List”), which was promulgated by
the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC and
the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC. The Negative List specifies the
requirements for the market entry of foreign investment, such as
requirements in equity ownership and senior management. Industries
not included in the Negative List shall be regulated pursuant to the
principle of equal treatment of domestic and foreign investment.

Hangzhou Shandian Chuxing Technology Co., Ltd.* (#11B9E H1TRHL
BFR/AF]) (the “Onshore Holdeo 1”), Hangzhou Junshuo Technology
Co., Ltd.* (41 MM #9 %8 % % & BR 2 &) (the “"Onshore Holdco 2",
together with the Onshore Holdco 1, collectively referred to as the
“Onshore Holdcos") and their respective subsidiaries (together with
the Onshore Holdcos, collectively referred to as the “Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”) provide value-added telecommunications services
through the online ride-hailing platform, including on-line drivers
application and community services such as on- line chatting (the
“Relevant Business”). As confirmed by the Company’s PRC legal
advisor (the “PRC Legal Advisor”), the Relevant Business falls under
the scope of the Negative List and foreign investors are restricted from
holding more than 50% equity interests in companies providing such
services.

The provision of internet information services in the PRC is mainly
regulated by the Administrative Measures on Internet Information
Services (( B BB 1z B RIS B %)), according to which a provider
of Operational Internet Information Services (as defined therein) is
required to obtain an ICP License. According to interview and
consultation with the competent PRC authorities of
telecommunications administration (the “Competent Authorities”)
which approve applications for the operation of Operational Internet
Information Services, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities which
operate the Relevant Business shall hold ICP Licenses, and Weipin, a
subsidiary of the Company and the holding company of its mobility
service business, currently is practically unable to obtain an ICP
License through any sino-foreign equity joint venture or wholly-owned
foreign investment entity, in particular in Zhejiang Province where the
Onshore Holdcos are incorporated and registered.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
BRIZ

PRC LAWS AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO
FOREIGN OWNERSHIP RESTRICTIONS (continued)
Qualification Requirements Under the FITE Regulations
According to the Regulations for the Administration of Foreign-
Invested Telecommunications Enterprises ((AMEIREBEDEEIER
7E)) (the “FITE Regulations”) promulgated by the State Council of the
PRC, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the
equity interests in a company providing value-added
telecommunications services. In addition, a foreign investor who
invests in a value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications business and a proven track record of business
operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirements”). Currently
none of the applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules provides clear
guidance or interpretation on the Qualification Requirements.
According to the interview and consultation with the Competent
Authorities, there is no clear guidance about how a foreign investor
could meet the Qualification Requirements.

Despite the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the Qualification
Requirements, the Company has been gradually building up its track
record of overseas telecommunications business operations for the
purposes of being qualified, as early as possible, to acquire the entire
equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos or any of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities when the relevant PRC laws allow foreign investors
to invest and to hold any equity interests in enterprises which engage
in the value-added telecommunications business. For the purposes of
meeting the Qualification Requirements, the Company, through Triple
Talents Limited (“Triple Talents”), its wholly-owned subsidiary and an
indirect offshore holding company of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, has established and accumulated overseas operation
experience, for example:

(i) Triple Talents has obtained a domain name in Hong Kong and will
set up a website in Hong Kong to help overseas investors better
understand its products and business. Triple Talents can also
capture and analyse overseas user data through this website;

(i)~ Triple Talents has researched on further development of
overseas mobility business and potential investments in relevant
overseas companies, and formed preliminary research results;
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CONTF;@CTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

/=

PRC LAWS AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO

FOREIGN OWNERSHIP RESTRICTIONS (continued)

Qualification Requirements Under the FITE Regulations

(continued)

(i) ~ Triple Talents has engaged an industry expert as its Strategic
Director in charge of its operation of mobility business at home
and abroad; and

(iv) certain related parties of the Company have invested in
companies that are actively engaged in value-added
telecommunications businesses.

In the interview and consultation with the Competent Authorities, they
confirmed that such steps may be generally deemed to be one of the
factors to prove that the Qualification Requirements are fulfilled,
subject to a substantive examination by the relevant authorities of
telecommunication administration in accordance with the approval
procedures under PRC laws and regulations. The PRC Legal Advisor is
of the opinion that the steps taken by the Company are reasonable and
appropriate to demonstrate compliance with the Qualification
Requirements.

The Foreign Investment Law

On 1 January 2020, the Foreign Investment Law (9h 7 % & 3%) (the
“FIL") and the Regulations for Implementation of the Foreign
Investment Law of the People’'s Republic of China (the
“Implementation Regulations”) came into effect and, replace the
previous laws regulating foreign investment in PRC, namely, the Sino-
foreign Equity Joint Venture Enterprise Law, the Sino-foreign
Cooperative Joint Venture Enterprise Law and the Wholly Foreign-
invested Enterprise Law, together with their implementation rules and
ancillary regulations. The FIL and its Implementation Regulations
embody an expected regulatory trend in PRC to rationalize its foreign
investment regulatory regime in line with prevailing international
practice and the legislative efforts to unify the corporate legal
requirements for both foreign and domestic investments.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
BRIZ

PRC LAWS AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO
FOREIGN OWNERSHIP RESTRICTIONS (continued)
The Foreign Investment Law (continued)

The FIL does not explicitly stipulate the contractual arrangements as a
form of foreign investment. The FIL does not mention concepts
including “de facto control” and “controlling through contractual
arrangements” nor does it specify the regulation on controlling through
contractual arrangements. Furthermore, the FIL does not specifically
stipulate rules on the Relevant Businesses. Instead, the FIL stipulates
that “foreign investors invest in PRC through any other methods under
laws, administrative regulations, or provisions prescribed by the State
Council”, which leaves leeway for future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions promulgated by the State Council to provide
for contractual arrangements as a method of foreign investment. On
26 December 2019, the Supreme People’'s Court issued the
Interpretations on Certain Issues Regarding the Applicable of Foreign
Investment Law (“FIL Interpretations”), which came into effect on 1
January 2020. In accordance with the FIL Interpretations, where a
party concerned claims an investment agreement to be invalid on the
basis that it is for an investment in the prohibited or restricted
industries under the negative list and violates the restrictions set out
therein, the courts should support such claim. In addition, the FIL does
not specify what actions shall be taken with respect to the existing
companies with contractual arrangements, whether or not these
companies are controlled by PRC entities and/or citizens.

Therefore, there are possibilities that future laws, administrative
regulations or provisions of the State Council may stipulate contractual
arrangements as a way of foreign investment, and then whether the
contractual arrangements will be recognized as foreign investment,
whether the contractual arrangements will be deemed to be in
violation of the foreign investment access requirements and how the
contractual arrangements will be handled are uncertain.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations, Hangzhou Bolu
Technology Co., Ltd.* (#7118 [ &t #% & R 2 7]) (the "WFOE"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Weipin, the Onshore Holdcos, the
registered shareholders of the Onshore Holdco 1 (the “Registered
Shareholders 1"”) and the registered shareholders of the Onshore
Holdco 2 (the “Original Registered Shareholder 2") have entered
into a series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual
Arrangements”). Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements, Weipin
obtained effective control over, and received all the economic benefits
generated by, the business operated by the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ results of operations, assets and
liabilities, and cash flows are consolidated into the Company’s financial
statements.

During the Reporting Period, after careful consideration, the Company
has replaced Original Registered Shareholder 2 with two PRC nationals
as the registered shareholders of the Onshore Holdco 2 (the “New
Registered Shareholders 2"
Shareholders 1, “Registered
Shareholders”). The New Registered Shareholders 2 have entered

, together with the Registered
collectively referred to as the

into the same agreements under the Contractual Arrangements with
the WFOE and the Onshore Holdco 2, as previously entered into by
the Original Registered Shareholder 2, with their respective spouse
signing a spousal consent letter. The relevant agreements under the
Contractual Arrangements entered into among the Original Registered
Shareholder 2, the WFOE and the Onshore Holdco 2 have been
terminated concurrently. Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements (as
amended), Weipin obtained effective control over, and received all the
economic benefits generated by, the business operated by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Accordingly, through the Contractual
Arrangements (as amended), the Consolidated Affiliated Entities’
results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows are
consolidated into the Company's financial statements during FY2020.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL SHRHEE (8)
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic T3 E:REARIES AT H (&1EB3T) ATz AR
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the Company 434 BB F 62 AN B By & B A 25 m A
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements (as amend):
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Notes:
(1) "——pp-" denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in equity interests.
(2) R p»" denotes contractual relationship.

(3) Moo — - " denotes the control by the WFOE over the Registered Shareholders and
the Onshore Holdcos through (i) powers of attorney to exercise all shareholders’
rights in the Onshore Holdcos, (ii) exclusive options to acquire all or part of the
equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos, (i) exclusive options to acquire all or part
of the assets used in business operation of the Onshore Holdcos, and (iv) equity
pledges over the equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos.

(4) Registered Shareholders 1 refer to the registered shareholders of the Onshore
Holdco 1, namely, (i) Hangzhou Juezi, a PRC company which holds 35% of the
equity interests of Onshore Holdco 1; and (i) Ms. Gao Fang, a PRC national who
holds 65% of the equity interests of Onshore Holdco 1.

(5) Hanghozu Juezi is directly owned as to 70% and 30% respectively by Mr. Wang
Gang (the “Beneficial Owner 1”) and Ms. Sun Xiaohong (the “Beneficial Owner
2"). Beneficial Owner 1 is an individual who holds 35% of equity interests in Weipin
through investment vehicles controlled by him. Beneficial Owner 1 is a director and
a substantial shareholder of Weipin, and Beneficial Owner 2 is his spouse. Thus,
each of Beneficial Owner 1 and Beneficial Owner 2 constitutes a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level.

(6) New Registered Shareholders 2 refer to the registered shareholders of the Onshore
Holdco 2, i.e., two PRC nationals, Mr. Wang Tao and Mr. Zhou Changjiang, who
each holds 60% and 40% of the equity interests of Onshore Holdco 2, respectively.
Mr. Wang Tao is a supervisor of a subsidiary of the Onshore Holdco 2, and Mr.
Zhou Changijiang is the legal representative of a branch of the Onshore Holdco 2.
Neither of the New Registered Shareholders 2 is a connected person of the
Company.

(7) In terms of business operation, Onshore Holdco 1 and its subsidiaries, and Onshore
Holdco 2 and its subsidiaries, each focus on working with a different major partner
which provides passenger demand for the mobility service platform. The Registered
Shareholders have also been determined for the convenience of business
operations of the Onshore Holdcos and their subsidiaries.

(8) The Company indirectly holds 35% of equity interests in Weipin through a

subsidiary and effectively controls 35.5% of Weipin's shares from an accounting
perspective.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

The Company is of the view that the Contractual Arrangements (as
amended) are narrowly tailored because it is currently not feasible for
the Company to apply for an ICP License through a sino-foreign equity
joint venture or wholly-owned foreign investment entity structure and
the Company is therefore required to carry out its mobility services
business involving value-added telecommunications service
businesses through the Contractual Arrangements. A brief description
of the specific agreements that comprise the Contractual
Arrangements (as amended) entered into by each of the WFOE, the
Onshore Holdcos and relevant Registered Shareholders is set out as
follows:

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Under the exclusive business cooperation agreement entered into
between the Onshore Holdco 1 and the WFOE on 15 November 2019
(as amended and supplemented by the supplemental agreements
dated 15 November 2019 and 7 July 2020), and the exclusive business
cooperation agreement entered into among the Onshore Holdco 2, the
WFOE and New Registered Shareholders 2 on 17 August 2020
(collectively, the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”), in
exchange for a quarterly service fee, the Onshore Holdcos agreed to
engage the WFOE as each of their exclusive provider of technical
support, consultation and other services, including the use of any
relevant software legally owned by the WFOE; development,
maintenance and updating of software in respect of the Onshore
Holdcos' business; design, installation, daily management,
maintenance and updating of network systems, hardware and
database; providing technical support and staff training services to
relevant employers of the Onshore Holdcos; providing assistance in
consultancy, collection and research of technology and market
information (excluding the market research business that wholly
foreign-owned enterprises are prohibited from conducting under the
PRC laws); providing business management consultation; providing
marketing and promotional services; providing customer order
management and customer services; leasing of equipment or
properties; and other relevant services requested by the Onshore
Holdcos from time to time to the extent permitted under the PRC
laws.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements (continued)
Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the service
fee shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated profit of the
Onshore Holdcos, after the deduction of any accumulated deficit of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in respect of the preceding financial
year(s), operating costs, expenses, taxes and other statutory

contributions and subject to any necessary adjustment by the WFOE.

Exclusive Equity Option Agreements

Under the exclusive equity option agreement entered into among the
Onshore Holdco 1, the WFOE and the Registered Shareholders 1 on
15 November 2019 (as amended and supplemented by the
supplemental agreement dated 7 July 2020) and the exclusive equity
option agreement entered into among Onshore Holdco 2, the WFOE
and the New Registered Shareholders 2 on 17 August 2020
(collectively, the “"Exclusive Equity Option Agreements”), the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably grant an exclusive option to the
WEFQOE, its designated person or the assignee of the rights under the
Exclusive Equity Option Agreements to acquire any or all of their
respective equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos in whole or in part
at any time and from time to time for a nominal price of RMB1, unless
the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws request that
another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case the
purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request. The
Exclusive Equity Option Agreements shall remain effective unless the
WEFOE decides to terminate them and notifies the other parties.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Exclusive Assets Option Agreements

Under the exclusive assets option agreement entered into among the
WFOE, the Registered Shareholders 1 and the Onshore Holdco 1 on
15 November 2019 (as amended and supplemented by the
supplemental agreement dated 7 July 2020) and the exclusive assets
option agreement entered into among the Onshore Holdco 2, the
WFOE and the New Registered Shareholders 2 on 17 August 2020
(collectively, the “Exclusive Assets Option Agreements”), the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably grant an exclusive option to the
WEFOE, its designated person or the assignee of the rights under the
Exclusive Assets Option Agreements to acquire all the used and useful
assets in the business operation held by the Onshore Holdcos,
including but not limited to tangible and intangible assets used in
business operation, real estates, machines, facilities, equipment and
parts, intellectual property rights, technical knowhow, lists of clients
and suppliers and all the items and equity interests that will enable the
WFOE to operate the mobility services business. The nominal
consideration for the assets acquisition is RMB1, unless the relevant
government authorities or the PRC laws request that another amount
be used as the purchase price, in which case the purchase price shall
be the lowest amount under such request. The Exclusive Assets
Option Agreements shall remain effective unless the WFOE decide to
terminate them and notifies the other parties.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Equity Pledge Agreements

Under the equity pledge agreement entered into among the WFOE,
the Registered Shareholders 1, the Onshore Holdco 1 and its
subsidiaries on 15 November 2019 (as amended and supplemented by
the supplemental agreement dated 7 July 2020) and the equity pledge
agreement entered into among the Onshore Holdco 2, WFOE and the
New Registered Shareholders 2 on 17 August 2020 (collectively, the
“Equity Pledge Agreements”), the Registered Shareholders agreed
to pledge all their respective equity interests in the Onshore Holdcos
that they own, and the Onshore Holdco 1 and its subsidiary agreed to
pledge all their respective equity interests in their subsidiaries,
including any interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as
a security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts. The equity pledge
in respect of the Onshore Holdcos and the relevant subsidiaries takes
effect upon the completion of registration with the relevant
administration for market regulation and shall remain valid until after all
the contractual obligations of the Registered Shareholders and the
Onshore Holdcos under the relevant Contractual Arrangements have
been fully performed and all the outstanding debts of the Registered
Shareholders and the Onshore Holdcos under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully paid.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Powers of Attorney

Pursuant to the power of attorney executed by the Registered
Shareholders 1 in connection with their rights in the Onshore Holdco 1
on 15 November 2019, the power of attorney executed by the
Registered Shareholder 2 in connection with its rights in Onshore
Holdco 2 on 17 August 2020, the shareholders’ voting right
entrustment agreement entered into among the WFOE, the Registered
Shareholders 1 and the Onshore Holdco 1 on 15 November 2019 (as
amended and supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated 7
July 2020), and the shareholders’ voting right entrustment agreement
entered into among the Onshore Holdco 2, WFOE and the New
Registered Shareholders 2 on 17 April 2020 (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental agreement dated 7 July 2020)
(collectively, the “Powers of Attorney”), the Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed the WFOE and its successor(s) as their
attorneys-in-fact to exercise on their behalf, and agreed and undertook
not to exercise any and all right that they have in respect of their equity
interests in the Onshore Holdcos. The Powers of Attorney shall remain
effective for so long as each Registered Shareholder holds equity
interest in the relevant Onshore Holdcos.

Spouse Undertaking

The spouse of the individual Registered Shareholders, where
applicable, signed a letter of consent on 13 November 2019 and 17
August 2020 to the effect and confirm, among others, that: (i) the
individual Registered Shareholder’s existing and future equity interests
in Onshore Holdco 1 do not fall within the scope of communal
properties of him and his spouse; (ii) he will fully assist with the
performance of the Contractual Arrangements at any time; and (iii) he
unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right or benefits on such
equity interests and assets in accordance with applicable laws and
confirms that he will not have any claim on such equity interests and
assets.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Confirmations from the Registered Shareholders

The individual Registered Shareholders, where applicable, has
confirmed to the effect that in the event of her death, incapacity,
divorce or any other event which causes her inability to exercise her
rights as a shareholder of the respective Onshore Holdcos, she will
take necessary actions to safeguard her interests in the respective
Onshore Holdcos (together with any other interests therein) and her
successors (including his/her spouse) will not claim any interests in the
respective Onshore Holdcos (together with any other interests therein)
to the effect that the Registered Shareholder’s interests in the
Onshore Holdcos shall not be affected.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the
Company, its subsidiaries and the Onshore Holdcos and/or
Consolidated Affiliated Entities since the adoption of the Contractual
Arrangements to the date of this annual report. There was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances
under which they were adopted during the same period.

Since their adoption to the date of this annual report, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound on the basis that none
of the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual
Arrangements had been removed.

The revenue of the Onshore Holdcos and their respective subsidiaries
amounted to HK$1,670.5 million for FY2020, representing
approximately 94.9% of the total revenue from sales of goods and
provision of service of the Company and its subsidiaries for FY2020.
The total assets of the Onshore Holdcos and their respective
subsidiaries amounted to HK$483,322,000 as at 31 March 2021,
representing approximately 13% of the total assets of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021.
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SUMMARY OF THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

For details of the business activities of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, please refer to the section “Weipin Investment” in “Business
Review" of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report. For details of the financial information and accounting treatment
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, please refer to Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

REASONS FOR ADOPTING THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

The Consolidated Affiliated Entities conduct mobility services business
involving value-added telecommunications service businesses, which
are subject to foreign investment restrictions in accordance with the
Negative List. After consultation with the PRC Legal Advisor, the
Company determined that it was not viable for Weipin to hold the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities directly through equity ownership.
Instead, the Company decided that, in line with common practice in
industries in the PRC subject to foreign investment restrictions, Weipin
would gain effective control over, and receive all the economic
benefits generated by the businesses currently operated by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the Contractual Arrangements
between the WFOE, on the one hand, and the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and the Registered Shareholders, on the other hand.

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

These are the certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating the Relevant Business do not comply
with PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, the WFOE could be subject
to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish its interests in
those operations.

° Since the FIL remains relatively new, uncertainties exist with
respect to the interpretation and implementation of the FIL and
how it may impact the viability of the Company’s current
corporate structure, corporate governance and business
operations.

SNRHBE (9

BERGEMBERBEIIBNFE - FLHAX
FRIEEEAREAON] 0 [EBEE]
[WeipiniX & | —fi - ERAGEHEEERNOY
BEMREHRENFE  S2HAANFHRPE
A HRMIESS -

RS RENER

FAEBBERNKESMEESERBEEENH
TIREED - REBEBEBE  RFEBHXIH
BIRERS - KHEATEDEEBERNERER
ARRHETE Weipin BBRAMEREERFRE
FAeBBERIAT - RMAKRZ » ARRDR
T ERPBEXRNIINEARERGIMERNE
{5 - WeipiniZ @M BERE (ER—77) &
REBBERMECERR(ERS—71) 2MH
BHZE BEREMAGEBMBEEREENE
B BRIEHI R EEENMA KL EME -

HBEHREA MR E

FHEESHNLFRBNETRR - 21

e WABBRNRSELABRBEEERE
M E N AP BORRERER - H%F
ERRERBARKAEE - INEHBEE
CEREBERINIPEREARESE
KRR ©

o HMINEREBEZEDRBEEH - Bt
SMEREENRERERA R EMAR
EARRNBEMARIRE - RADAEME
BELATHES I BEETEE -

IDG B RIBEER AT / F£3§2021 105



CONTF;@CTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

106

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership, and Registered
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under the
Contractual Arrangements.

The WFOE may lose the ability to use, or otherwise benefit from,
the licenses, approvals and assets held by the Onshore Holdcos,
which could render it unable to conduct some or all of its
business operations and constrain its growth.

The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the
tax authorities in China. Any adjustment of related party
transaction pricing could lead to additional taxes, and therefore
could substantially reduce its consolidated profit and the value of
the Shareholders’ investment.

The equity holders, directors and executive officers of the
Onshore Holdcos may have potential conflicts of interest with
the Company.

Certain of the terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not
be enforceable under PRC laws.

If the WFOE exercises the option to acquire equity interests
under the Exclusive Equity Option Agreements or the option to
acquire assets under the Exclusive Assets Option Agreements,
the ownership transfer may subject the WFOE to certain
limitations and substantial costs.
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RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

The Company has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation

of the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries with the

implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and its compliance

with the Contractual Arrangements, including:

Board Supervision

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

Major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries
from government authorities will be submitted to the Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

The Board will review the overall performance of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

The Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in its annual
reports; and

The Company will engage external legal advisers or other
professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review
the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, review the
legal compliance of the WFOE and the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising from the
Contractual Arrangements.
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RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
Management controls

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

The Company will conduct monthly reviews on the operations of
the Onshore Holdcos and check the monthly management
accounts of the Onshore Holdcos;

The Company will send a representative (the “Representative”)
to be actively involved in various aspects of the daily managerial
and operational activities of the Onshore Holdcos;

Upon receiving notification of any major events of the Onshore
Holdcos, the Representative must report to the Board as soon as
practicable;

The chief financial officer of the Company (the “Chief Financial
Officer”) shall conduct regular site visits to the Onshore Holdcos
and conduct personnel interviews quarterly and submit reports to
the Board; and

All seals, chops, incorporation documents and all other legal
documents of the Onshore Holdcos must be kept at the office of
the WFOE.

Financial controls

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

108

The Chief Financial Officer shall collect monthly management
accounts, bank statements and cash balances and major
operational data of the Onshore Holdcos for review. Upon
discovery of any suspicious matters, the Chief Financial Officer
must report to the Board;

If the payment of the service fees from the Onshore Holdcos to
the WFOE is delayed, the Chief Financial Officer must meet with
the Registered Shareholders to investigate, and should report
any suspicious matters to the Board. In extreme cases, the
Registered Shareholder(s) will be removed and replaced;

The Onshore Holdcos must submit copies of latest bank
statements for every bank accounts of the Onshore Holdcos to
the WFOE within 15 days after each month end; and

The Onshore Holdcos must assist and facilitate the Company to

conduct all on-site internal audit on the Onshore Holdcos if so
required by the Company.
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LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS
The Registered Shareholders 1 are connected persons of the Company
at the subsidiary level in the following manners:

(i) Hangzhou Juezi is an associate of Beneficial Owner 1, who is a
director and a substantial shareholder of Weipin holding 35%
equity interest of Weipin; and

(i) Ms. Gao Fang is a director of the Onshore Holdco 1.

Each of the Registered Shareholders 1 constitutes a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level, so the transactions
contemplated under those agreements entered into by the Registered
Shareholders 1 under the Contractual Arrangements (as amended) (the
“Onshore Holdco 1 Structured Contracts”) constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Although the highest applicable percentage ratio in
respect of such transactions is more than 5%, given that such
transactions are (1) on normal commercial terms or better, (2) approved
by the Board, and (3) confirmed by the independent non-executive
Directors to be fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms or
better and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole, pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules, such
transactions are exempt from the circular, independent financial advice
and shareholders’ approval requirements, and subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements.

As disclosed in the notes to the diagram of the Contractual
Arrangements (as amended) above, neither of the New Registered
Shareholders 2 is a connected person of the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and therefore the transactions
contemplated under the contractual arrangements in respect of the
Onshore Holdco 2 do not constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company.

For details of the continuing connected transactions under the
Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 26 June 2020, 22 September 2020 and 25 September
2020.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
BRIZ

GRANT OF WAIVER

In respect of the continuing connected transactions contemplated

under the Onshore Holdco 1 Structured Contracts, the Stock Exchange

granted the Company a waiver from strict compliance with: (i) the

requirement of limiting the term of the relevant agreements to three

years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules and (ii) the

requirement of setting an annual cap under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing

Rules, for so long as the shares of the Company are listed on the Stock

Exchange, subject to the conditions set out below:

110

No change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

No material change without independent shareholders’ approval,

The Onshore Holdco 1 Structured Contracts shall continue to
enable the Company and its subsidiaries to receive the economic
benefits derived by the relevant Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

The Onshore Holdco 1 Structured Contracts may be renewed
and/or reproduce (i) upon expiry or (ii) in relation to any existing,
newly established or acquired wholly foreign-owned enterprise
or operating company (including a branch company), engaging in
the same business as that of the Company and its subsidiaries,
without obtaining Shareholders’ approval, on substantially the
same terms and conditions as the Onshore Holdco 1 Structured
Contracts; and

The Company will disclose details relating to the Onshore Holdco
1 Structured Contracts on an ongoing basis.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
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GRANT OF WAIVER (continued)

Review of the Continuing Connected Transactions by the
Board and the Auditor of the Company

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) have

the reviewed the performance of the Onshore Holdco 1 Structured

Contracts and confirmed that the relevant transactions have been

entered into:

(1)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company and
its subsidiaries;

on normal commercial terms or better; and
according to the Contractual Agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company’s shareholders as a whole.

Our auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that nothing has

come to their attention that causes them to believe the transactions

carried out pursuant to the Onshore Holdco 1 Structured Contracts
during FY2020:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

have not been approved by the Board;

were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Company and its subsidiaries;

were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing such transactions; and

any dividends or other distributions have been made by Onshore
Holdco 1 to the holder of its equity interest which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Company
and its subsidiaries.
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CORPORAT

TRERMS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance and has always recognised the importance of
accountability, transparency and protection of Shareholders’ interest in
general. The Company has adopted the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“CG Code") set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as its own
corporate governance policy, subject to amendments from time to
time.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company had complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code throughout FY2020, except for the CG Code
provision A.2.1, which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During FY2020, Mr. Wang Jingbo was both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
The Board is of the opinion that such arrangement does not result in
undue concentration of power and is conducive to the efficient
formulation and implementation of the Company’s strategies thus
allowing the Company to develop its business more effectively.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

During the past year, as one of its existing strategies, the Company
has aimed to widen its global footprint and develop a more diversified
and balanced business portfolio through selective acquisition of
overseas energy assets. The Company had also set foot in mobility
services industry to capture new investment opportunities, diversify
income stream and maximise returns for its shareholders by investing
in Weipin, a mobility services platform.

The past year has been one of the most challenging periods for the
Company. With the coronavirus pandemic continuing to impact
economies worldwide, global lockdown coupled with stimulus
uncertainty during the first half of 2020 dramatically reduced oil
demand, creating an oil surplus that led to a historic drop in commodity
prices. Even as the pandemic ground economic activity to a halt this
past year, governments globally pursued decarbonisation plans. As a
result, clean energy demand proved resilient in comparison to fossil
fuel demand, and the Company consider to pursue the investment
strategy with decarbonization, other green asset opportunities which
included but not limited to advanced manufacturing assets. Also, the
Company shall continue to pay close attention to the market
environment and consider potentially exiting its mature investments so
as to seize opportunity and realize value.
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CORPORAT

TRERMS

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY (continued)

Also, the Company shall continue to pay close attention to the market
environment and consider potentially exiting its mature investments so
as to seize opportunity and realize value.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises 7 directors,
including 2 executive Directors (Mr. Wang Jingbo (Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer) and Mr. Liu Zhihai (President)); 2 non-executive
Directors (Mr. Lin Dongliang and Mr. Shong Hugo), and 3 independent
non-executive Directors (Mr. Shi Cen, Ms. Ge Aliji, and Mr. Chau Shing
Yim David). The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section “Directors’ and Senior Management's Biographies” on pages
61 to 68 of this annual report.

One of the independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David, is a professional accountant and that is in compliance with the
requirement of the Listing Rules. There are also 3 board committees
under the Board, which are the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Company’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management’s
performance while the day-to-day operations and management of the
Company are delegated by the Board to management, and ensuring
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
programs and budget of the financial staff.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being
or, if the number of the Directors is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation, provided that every director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORAT

TRERMS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, each of the executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is
appointed for a specific term of not more than 3 years and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general
meeting in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing
Rules. At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr. Wang Jingbo,
Mr. Lin Dongliang and Ms. Ge Aiji will retire from office by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. To determine the
non-executive Directors’ independence, assessments are carried out
upon appointment, annually and at any other time where the
circumstances warrant reconsideration by the nomination committee
of the Company (“Nomination Committee”). The Company has
received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board determined that all the independent non-
executive Directors had met the requirements for independence as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Company’s
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. The
Directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During FY2020, the Company had provided to the Directors regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Company’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments in
which the Company and its subsidiaries operate. All Directors are also
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company's
expense. All Directors are required to provide the Company with their
training record they received during FY2020.

During FY2020, the Board has reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management. The Board has also reviewed and ensured compliance
of the relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the code of
conducts, the CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate
Governance Report.
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CORPORAT

TRERMS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern basis in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable financial
reporting standards.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) currently
comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman), Mr.
Shi Cen and Mr. Lin Dongliang.

Under the terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required, among
other things, to oversee the relationship with the independent auditor,
to review the interim and annual consolidated financial statements, to
monitor compliance with statutory and listing requirements, to ensure
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
programs and budget of the financial staff, and to oversee the
Company'’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
facilitating the risk assessment process and timely communication
with the Board where appropriate, and ensuring key business and
operational risks are properly identified and managed.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been adopted in
line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During FY2020, the Audit Committee, among other matters, reviewed
interim/annual results and reports from the independent auditor
regarding the audit on annual consolidated financial statements,
discussed the risk management and internal control of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and met with the independent auditor. The Audit
Committee reviewed the scope, extent and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

GOVERNANCE REPORT

EER (5

BEEMAPSAERVVBHRE - WHERDS

R TOIRIBE TR E Ml A B 5 R A Bl 4
SEAERR  UMEHAEEMA TR o

FREEE

ARBEZZEE ((EREEE ) BABEEM
B IFMITES N —(IIFAITES © BIE&
REE(EF) - BSHRERMRRELE -

RiEZZEGCHERE BEXZBEEE
(R Ei) ERE T 28 2 B1E - BH®
R FEERMBHRE E*ﬂ/iiméﬁijzmiﬁm
ZEBTIER  ERMBABEGSTERER
BEMRE - Tz&*ﬂ‘;@/ﬂ“%ﬁ&ﬁﬂ/@%’ﬁ;%ﬂ\&ﬁ
B UREBEARR U BREHE - RRE
EELA&W*E? HEER BEZZEENEAERE

SEBELAREEESEA (ﬁDﬁZ\
%) C WHEREREGECRRSIEE
AR EE

ERZEGCBRRECNALEXERTAT
PABRHN - iz B & 2 & H B 50 [ A] ;OB 2
PR N RBIEAER -

R-Z_ZHF  ERZEG (HTEE)EH
TR BB RERFELREPBRREL
ZHE R EEERRE AW T AR ERE
MBARzEARERE AR  WRBTZ
HEEH - ERZESCRAARFLENEB
@THI&EEE&W*BEW Rtz s - AR

o

)ﬁl—

=

IDG B RIBEER AT / F£3§2021 115



CORPORAT

TRERMS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, namely Ms. Ge Alji
(Chairman), Mr. Shi Cen, and Mr. Wang Jingbo.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under its terms of
reference, the Nomination Committee is responsible for determining
the policy for the nomination of Directors, identifying potential directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors. Potential new directors are selected on the
basis of their qualifications, skills and experience which the Nomination
Committee considers will make a positive contribution to the
performance of the Board.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been
adopted in line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the
Board's diversity policy, considering factors including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service of
Board members, and review the measurable objectives that the Board
has set for implementing the Board’s diversity policy, and monitor the

progress on achieving the measurable objectives.

During FY2020, the Nomination Committee reviewed the credentials
of the incoming Director and recommended the appointment of the
same to the Board for approval. In addition, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the skills set,
knowledge and experience) of the Board, and performed an
assessment on the independence of all the Independent Non-
executive Directors with the conclusion that all of them are
independent. It also evaluated the performance and contribution of the
retiring Directors and recommended them to the Board on their re-
elections at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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CORPORAT

TRERMS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chau Shing Yim
David (Chairman), Ms. Ge Aiji and Mr. Shong Hugo.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee, the responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include, inter alia, assisting the Company in
the administration of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policies, making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management and ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates
is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration, assessing
performance of executive Directors and approving the term of
executive Directors’ service contracts.

During FY2020, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved
the remunerations of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company, and recommended the same to the Board for approval.

The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee have been
adopted in line with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

In FY2020, the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
includes, inter alia, the review of the Company’s remuneration policy
for its executive Directors and senior management and their levels of
remuneration.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. The Company considered diversity of
board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. All Board appointments are based on merit and
contribution, and candidates are considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Nomination Committee reviews the diversity policy on a regular basis
and discusses any revisions that may be required, and recommends
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has formalised the Company's existing approach and
procedures and adopted a Board nomination policy in March 2020 to
ensure that, with the support of the Nomination Committee, proper
selection and nomination processes are in place for the appointment
of additional and replacing Directors and re-election of Directors.

As noted above, the Nomination Committee will, on an ad hoc basis,
recommend candidates who possess the relevant expertise as it
considers appropriate when the need to select, nominate or re-elect
Directors arises. In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the potential contribution a
candidate can bring to the Board in terms of skills set, experience,
expertise, independence, age, culture, ethnicity, gender and such
other factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the
Board. The Nomination Committee will provide updated information
and status of progress to the Board throughout the determination
process as and when appropriate. The Board will take into
consideration the benefits of a diversified Board when selecting Board
candidates.

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself/herself for re-
election, the relevant sub-committee will consider and, if appropriate,
recommend such retiring Director to stand for re-election at a general
meeting. A circular containing the requisite information on such retiring
Director will be sent to shareholders prior to a general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Shareholders of the Company may
nominate a person to stand for election as a Director at a general
meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and
applicable laws and regulations including those of the Listing Rules.
The procedures for such proposal are posted on the website of the
Company.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY (continued) EFEYRANE &)

The Board Nomination Policy is available on the website of the ZEEHE@IRZHBAIAARTBILER - EHe
Company. The Board will from time to time review the Board #BTEENHEFSIRANE EBHER MU
Nomination Policy and monitor its implementation to ensure its IERBEFEAN  TEEEHT  RERT
continued effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements  HJ{PEE AT ©

and good corporate governance practices.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS B I Rd 8%
The attendance records of each Director at the various meetings of the R-_E-TEF  KEBHHEAAR S A @S
Company during FY2020 are set out below: ZFEERESIINT

Attended/Eligible to Attend

BUHE /QEKITE

Annual Audit  Nomination Remuneration

general Board committee committee committee

meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings

Exg ERZEE REZEE FMzEe

RREFXE a3 3 -f 23

Number of meetings =N 1 9 2 1 1
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Wang Jingbo THREE n 9/9 N/ATNEF n N/ATNEF

Mr. Liu Zhihai ey n 99 N/ATEF NATER N/ATEA

Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Lin Dongliang WEREE 11 99 N/A TN A N/A TN A N/ATNEF
Mr. Shong Hugo RS 11 99 N/A TN A N/ATN A 1

Independent Non-executive BV HHTEE

Directors
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David K S HE 1 99 2/2 N/ATNE A 1
Mr. Shi Cen BEEE 1 99 2/2 17 N/AN A
Ms. Ge Aliji Bt il 9/9 2/2 11 11
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Pursuant to CG Code provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills during the year. This is to ensure that their
contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of their continuing obligations as
Directors and good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
trainings by reading relevant materials on topics relating to corporate

all Directors have received

governance and regulations, and have provided the joint company
secretaries of the Company with their training records for FY2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance
duties include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for
FY2020 are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

The senior management’s remuneration for FY2020 is within the
following bands:

[ A

Emolument bands

GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEREREEARHTH
ARREHMLIERERZIZF  UHIEEER

Eﬁ&%ﬁ}\iz%ﬁmﬂzﬁ cBBBESEN_-F
ZUFOFMHFRHARNREM BRI E

BREEABR T _THENFH T T
]

Number of
individuals

HK$0-HK$ 1,000,000

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000

Further particulars regarding the Directors and senior management'’s
emoluments and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 10, 36(a) and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For FY2020, services provided to the Company and its subsidiaries by
KPMG, the existing auditor of the Company, and the respective fees
paid and payable were:

07T = 1,000,000 % 7T 1
1,000,001 872 1,500,000 7T -
1,500,001 & 7L E 2,000,000 7 7T
2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 %8 7T 2
2,500,001 % 7T 2 3,000,000 78 7T

R EMRAME+NETRENEZLS
%ﬁ/\%ﬁ’]@ﬂ%&ﬂ%ﬂim%ﬁ@ﬂ/\iﬂ’%&*y
AHBBSINAR S M RAMTE10 ~ 36(a) 211 -

F&ﬁﬂﬁ

RIZ-ZHEF  ARAREZEMETHE
SHEME TSP A AN AN E P B A B R A AR TS
REBENRENERS

HK$'000
TAT

ZH AR

Audit services

2,825
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “"Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the Directors’ securities
transactions.

Having made specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout FY2020.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has appointed Mr. Tan Jue, the chief financial officer of
the Company, and Mr. Ku Sau Shan Lawrence James as the joint
company secretaries of the Company. The joint company secretaries
report to the chairman of the Company and are responsible for advising
the Board on governance matters, new Director’s induction and
professional development of Directors as well as ensuring good
information flow between the Board members and the compliance of
the policy and procedure of the Board.

In FY2020, each of the joint company secretaries of the Company had
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Responsibility of the Board

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining the Company's
systems of risk management and internal control and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems of risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are designed to provide reasonable
assurance to minimise risk of failure in operational systems, and to
assist in the achievement of the Company’s goals. The systems are
also structured to safeguard the Company’s assets, to ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records and compliance with
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Audit Committee has the final authority to review and approve the
annual audit plan and all major changes to the plan. In addition, special
reviews may also be performed on areas of concern identified by
management from time to time.
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TRERMS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management forms the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
aimed to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective risk
management practices by operational management throughout the
Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company'’s risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken
into account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these
risks. The risk assessment results are reported to senior management
and the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been
appropriately managed and decide on our priorities in risk
management, based on their preferences towards risk, and in particular
how much risks the Company is willing to take for the achievement of
its strategy and business objectives, the availability of resources for
risk mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal control
system.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

The key components of the Company’s control structure are as
follows:

Culture: The Board believes that good governance reflects the culture
of an organisation. The Company aims at all times to act ethically and
with integrity, and to instill this behaviour in all its employees by
setting example by the Board. The Company has a code of conduct,
which is posted on its internal intranet site. The Company is committed
to developing and maintaining high professional and ethical standards.
These are reflected in the rigorous selection process and career
development plans for all employees. The organisation prides itself on
being a long-term employer which instils in individuals, as they
progress through the Company, a thorough understanding of the
Company's ways of thinking and acting.

Channels of communication are clearly established which allow
employees to express their views to senior staff. Employees are aware
that, whenever the unexpected occurs, attention should be given not
only to the event itself, but also to determining the cause. Through the
Company’'s code of conduct, employees are encouraged (and
instructed as to how) to report control deficiencies or suspicions of
impropriety to those who are in a position to take necessary action.

Risk assessment: The Board of Directors and the management each
have a responsibility to identify and analyse the risks underlying the
achievement of business objectives, and to determine how such risks
should be managed and mitigated. The management, among other
matters, is responsible for facilitating risk assessment process and
timely communication to the Board where appropriate, and ensuring
that key business and operational risks are properly identified and
managed.

Management structure: The Company has a clear organisational
structure that, to the extent required, delegates the day-to-day
responsibility for the design, documentation and implementation of
procedures and monitoring of risk. Individuals appreciate where they
will be held accountable in this process.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

Controls and review: The control environment comprises policies and
procedures intended to ensure that relevant management directives
are carried out and actions that may be needed to address risks are
taken. These may include approvals and verifications, reviews,
safeguarding of assets and segregation of duties. Control activities can
be divided into operations, financial reporting and compliance, although
there may, on occasion, be some overlap between them. The typical
control activities adopted by the Company include:

— analytical reviews: for example, conducting reviews of actual
performance versus budgets, forecasts, prior periods and
competitors.

— direct functional or activity management: reviews of performance
reports, conducted by managers in charge of functions or
activities.

— information-processing: performing controls intended to check
the authorisation of transactions and the accuracy and
completeness of their reporting, for example, exception reports.

—  physical controls: ensuring equipment, inventories, securities and
other assets are safeguarded and subject to periodic checks.

—  performance indicators: carrying out analyses of different sets of
data, operational and financial, examining the relationships
between them, and taking corrective action where necessary.

— segregation of duties: dividing and segregating duties among
different people, with a view to strengthening checks and
minimising the risk of errors and abuse.

— hedging: place the Company in a hedged position, protecting it
from a decline in the oil price over the stipulated period of time.

The Company has in place effective processes and systems for the
identification, capture and reporting of operational, financial and
compliance-related information in a form and time frame intended to
ensure that staff carry out their designated responsibilities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
(continued)

Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statues are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

In the forthcoming financial year, the Company plans to use its best
endeavor to continuously refine our risk management and internal
control systems whenever necessary, which would include the
establishment of a more formalised risk response process,
improvements to be made in control design and execution in high risk
areas identified through our annual risk assessment, and a mechanism
to monitor the resolution of control deficiencies, to mention but a few.

Internal Audit Function

The Company's internal audit department plays a major role in the
monitoring of the Company’s internal governance processes. The
major tasks of the department include providing assurance on the
effectiveness of the Company’s governance, risk management and
internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding of assets,
reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits of all
branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis with
recommended action plans to audit findings. The department also
provides suggestion in risk management and internal control related
issues within the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Systems

The management prepares and submits reports to the Board in risk
and control related issues at least annually, detailing how risks have
been managed and internal controls have been designed and
implemented in accordance with the established risk and control
frameworks, to keep our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and
achieve our business objectives. The Board reviews the
reasonableness of these reports and representations from
management and makes sufficient enquiries whenever they feel
necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

In respect of FY2020, the Board and the Audit Committee conducted
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and the
internal control system of the Company covering the finance,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
Based on the review, the Board considered that the Company's risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate for its present requirements.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements for each financial period with a view to ensuring such
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries and of the results and cash flows for
that period. The Company’s financial statements are prepared in
accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Directors are responsible for ensuring that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
and that judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.
The statement of the external auditor of the Company, KPMG, with
regard to their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages
205 to 214 of this annual report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with the shareholders of the Company
through the publication of annual and interim reports, press
announcements and circulars. The annual general meeting also
provides a useful and convenient forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board, and with each other. At the annual general
meeting, the chairperson of the annual general meeting and chairman/
member/duly appointed delegate of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are available
to answer the questions raised by shareholders.

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for FY2020.

An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called a
special general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT TO PROPOSE
RESOLUTIONS AT GENERAL MEETING
Shareholder(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having the right to vote at
the general meeting; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, can submit
a written request stating the resolution intended to be moved at an
annual general meeting; or a statement of no more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company's registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its
principal office at Unit 5507, 55/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of the joint company secretaries
of the Company, not less than six weeks before an annual general
meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and
not less than one week before the general meeting in the case of any
other requisition.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING
According to the Bye-laws of the Company and the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, a special general meeting shall be convened by the
Board on the requisition of one or more Shareholders’ holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
secretary of the Company and deposited at the registered office of the
Company. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) (or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights held by all of the requisitionists) may do so in the
same manner (as nearly as possible). Any meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the date of deposit
of the requisition. All reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In
respect of other enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to
the Board through the below contact details for handling. The contact
details are as follows:

Address: Unit 5507, 55/F., The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
Tel No.: (852) 3903 1326
Fax No.: (852) 2541 5562

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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VOTING BY POLL DERAXERR

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted by  RIE FTR8]  RIREASIRE VA REE
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the LA ZEF X TR - RNELARFAEE  BE
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each %R ¥ AANA T BT BT 4804 T % o
shareholder’s meeting.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS EREXGER
There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents AR A Z ERNHR S T FITHEEH) -

during FY2020.
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REPORT OVERVIEW
1.1 About This Report

This is the fifth Environmental, Social and Governance
Report issued by IDG Energy Investment Limited
(the”Company”). This report mainly introduces the
Company and its subsidiaries’ policies and measures
regarding environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
issues and is meant to strengthen communication and
engagement with internal and external stakeholders.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and
all its members assume full responsibility for the
Company's ESG strategy and ESG reporting and are
responsible for assessing and determining the Company’s
ESG risks and ensuring that the Company and its
subsidiaries have an appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control system in place. The
management of the Company provides the Board with
confirmation as to whether the system is effective. The
Board and all its members affirm that this report contains
no false or misleading statements or material omissions
and that they are jointly and severally responsible for the
truthfulness, accuracy, and completeness of its contents.

Scope of the Report

This report covers the Company and its subsidiaries. The
Company is an investment holding company, principally
engaged in the investment and management of different
assets and businesses, currently including global energy
assets investment and the mobility services business. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries and invested portfolio
companies consist of mobility services platform, upstream
oil and gas business, LNG liquefaction and exporting, LNG
importing, processing and sales, and LNG logistics services,
energy investment fund management as well as
investment in energy-related and other industries and
businesses.
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Currently, the Company has two operating subsidiaries,
being Xilin Gol League Hongbo Mining Development
Company Limited (M BH R EZEEEFRZER QA
("Hongbo Mining”) and Weipin ("Weipin"). As
subsidiaries and main sources of revenue of the Company,
Hongbo Mining and Weipin are responsible for a large
proportion of environmental responsibilities, so the scope
of disclosure of environmental data in this report is limited
to these two subsidiaries, Hongbo Mining and Weipin.

Time Range

The Company and its subsidiaries” ESG report is an annual
report and this report is for the period from 1 April 2020 to
31 March 2021.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide") of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Vision of ESG Management

The reporting period of this report represented the fifth
year of the Company and its subsidiaries’ ESG disclosure.
The Company is an investment holding company, principally
engaged in the investment and management of different
assets and businesses, currently including global energy
assets investment and the mobility services business.

Regarding the upstream cruel oil assets, Hongbo Mining,
the Company’'s subsidiary, engaged in upstream oil
exploration, development, production and sale of crude oil
in China, the Company has adhered to the development
philosophy of “energy conservation, emissions reduction,
green development, and safety as top priority” to achieve
green and secure development while continuously
improving quality and efficiency and provide society with
high-quality oil resources. At the same time, the Company
has further increased its comprehensive strength by
focusing on talent development, technological innovation,
supervision and management and performance
optimization.
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About the mobility services industry, the Company has set
foot in the mobility services industry by investing in Weipin
(@ mobility service platform). Weipin operates by using the
original B2S2C operation model of the industry. By focusing
on the large and medium-sized drivers and the subversive
operation model, Weipin has realized the transformation
from passenger flow driven to supply driven, and the
supply of transport capacity has gradually become the core
barrier of the platform. Meanwhile, Weipin would like to
build a complete compliance platform with three licenses,
in which the platform has the License for Online Taxi
Booking Business Operation (#8488 49 H /848 & 7]
#&)) and the driver holds the Driver's License for Online
Taxi Booking (( A8 4% T8 49 5 # /2 5 B 5 8 7% )) and the
vehicle possesses the Online Taxi Booking Transportation
License (#4845 T8 49 1 f8 /R B i %) %% )). The admission of
drivers will be reviewed by designated personnel. Weipin
has set up a 24-hour response security center to protect
the safety of drivers and passengers with professional
security teams. In respect of the use of energy, Weipin
also adhere to the philosophy of “green development and
safety as top priority”. Weipin is committed to creating a
fast and standardized mobility services system, connecting
all participants in the mobility market, tapping into the
market traffic through the traffic platform in an aggregation
mode, and generating synergies by optimizing vehicle
energy costs.
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With respect to investment orientation, the Company is
optimistic about China’s huge demand for imported nature
gas and the long-term availability of abundant low-price
natural gas resources due to the shale gas revolution in
North America, already proactively made deployments
along the clean energy (natural gas) industry chain, and
developing itself into an upstream and downstream
integrated, innovative, secure and environmentally friendly
energy investment and management company in terms of
energy investment and management. Further than that, the
Company has evaluated and considered that the application
of advanced manufacturing will be a major global
development trend. In the latest five-year development
plan of the PRC, the development of frontier technologies
has become a national policy priority. In March 2021, the
Company's subsidiary has been approved to become a
limited partner of a fund mainly focused on advanced
manufacturing.

Going forward, the Company will be continuing to pursue
the investment strategy with decarbonization and other
green asset opportunities which included but not limited to
investments in advanced manufacturing sector. Under the
concept of sustainable development, further enhance the
Company’s comprehensive strength through innovative
development.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND GREEN
DEVELOPMENT

Earth is the home for human survival. Protecting the Earth’s
environment, conservation and recycling of resources are the
incumbent obligation of the Company as an enterprise citizen.
The two operating entities of the Company mainly operate in
China, therefore the Company and its subsidiaries have always
strictly followed the laws, regulations and policies on resource
preservation and environmental protection, including
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(e EE A R HFBIIR IR E)K)), Energy Conservation Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({2 A R £ FIB &1 498E )R %)) and
Plan of Ecological and Environmental Protection during the 13th
Five-Year Plan Period (("+=F" 4 f& 12 5 (R # 1R & )). The
Company and its subsidiaries have been committed to fulfilling
its environmental responsibilities by increasing investment in
energy conservation, emissions reduction and environmental
protection, increasing resource utilization efficiency, reducing
pollutant emissions, and reducing the impact on the ecological
environment of in the operating regions.

During the reporting period, the Company and its subsidiaries did

not have any environmental pollution and ecological damage
accidents, or waste management violation events.
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2.1 Emissions Management 2.1 HHYEE

The Company and its subsidiaries have strictly complied
Environmental Protection Law of the People’'s Republic of
China ({2 AR EFIBIRIZRFEE)), Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control Atmospheric
Pollution ({2 A R HAMEI K R)5RP7767%)), Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes ({Fr%E
AR AN E 88 EE )5 2R RPI08E)), Water Law of the
People’'s Republic of China ({2 A R £ FIBIKE)), Law
of the People’'s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution ({2 A R EMEIKFEEIEE)),

Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People's
Republic of China ({F#E AR XMBIRIBFEFEEL)) and
other related pollution prevention law, and Regulation on
Urban Drainage and Sewage Treatment ({3 SEBE7K E255 7K
BEIEEBI)) and Administrative Regulations on
Environmental Protection for Construction Projects ({ £ 5%
T8 B R IEREEEEH])). Hongbo Mining, the Company'’s
subsidiary, has formulated strict internal Rules on
Environmental Protection Management ({IRIZ{R#E & 12
7% ) (“Management Rules”), Management System for
Protecting 212 Oil Region Environment({212 i1 & 3R 157 &
EI2HE)) (“Management System for Oil Region”), Bye-
laws for Handover in Oil Well Operations (i FF 12 22 F 4
8] )) and Bye-laws for Well Drilling, Withdrawal after Well
Completion and Handover ({12 8 3 52 HHUS X FHAAND).
The Management Rules have clear provisions in six major
aspects such as environmental protection measures,
environmental impact assessment, “three simultaneous”
management, environmental hidden danger management,
environmental monitoring and environmental performance
evaluation. The Management System for Oil Region is
tailored to specific oil regions, including vehicle route
planning, daily environmental health maintenance and
garbage collection in well site, storage of materials and
waste & scraps, and deployment of impervious cloth, and
ensures that various departments and teams fulfill their due
responsibilities. Bye Laws for Handover standardized the
environmental management requirements for handover and
withdrawal after completion. Weipin, the subsidiary of the
Company, as a mobility services platform, does not involve
many emission issues as compared with manufacturing
enterprises, but still actively implemented energy
conservation and emission reduction measures, actively
promoted green travel.
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In terms of implementation, Hongbo Mining, in accordance
with the above relevant management rules, has also put in
place an effective management mechanism for
implementation, and stipulates a specific implementation of
the management system that led by Safety and
Environmental Protection Department, Engineering
Operation assume the organization and supervision and the
relevant functional departments and project contractor units
act as the principal of liability, which has distinct rights and
responsibilities and implement the responsibility at various
levels to integrated management, with an aim of effectively
implementing environmental protection tasks.

2.1.1 Reduction of Greenhouse Gas Emissions

In line with the Greenhouse Gas Emissions Control
Plan during the 13th Five-Year Plan Period ((*+=%#"
=608 = R B BE B T E 5 %)) and other policy
documents, Hongbo Mining has thoroughly
implemented national environmental protection
guidelines and policies and strictly controlled its
greenhouse gas emissions. On the basis of legal
compliance and with reference to the Vienna
Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer
((IRERABHED DL, Montreal Protocol ((F4F
| B # & £)) and United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change ((E& B & 1x &L 1E
28 2 #] ), Weipin has set up a number of internal
procedures to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.
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Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated by
Hongbo Mining from its crude oil production,
collection, transmission and processing activities are
mainly carbon dioxide. Scope 1" emissions are mainly
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from the following sources: £ -

e GHG emissions resulting from diesel o ARNHEKIMHEEIEER
combustion for power in oil-water well R MR AE) A4 H
maintenance activities; MEEERRERE

o GHG emissions resulting from natural gas o HREREZATRRE
combustion for oil and gas transmission pipeline AREEEAA AR B X 2
heating and domestic heating in winter; IR R BE R AR E £

B RS

e GHG emissions resulting from well testing o AEBEPHEIFRE -
release, process release and escape during TERZE R FEFERRE
production. EHNRER ©

Scope 2! emissions are mainly from the generation of HEZRETERRNINE

purchased electricity. B

Greenhouse Gas Emissions FY2020 FY2019
BERBHRER “EZHF el Es
Total greenhouse gas emissions A= REEHINEE
(tCO, equivalent) (Mg —ELhixsE = 10,861.14 11,891.12
Scope 1 gas emissions? HE-HNRENE
(tCO, equivalent) (g biEE 5,188.70 6,034.24
Scope 2 gas emissions %Bl IR BSEENE
(tCO, equivalent) (B—E e E 5,672.45 5,856.87
Intensity of greenhouse gas &Zﬁ%ﬁfﬁt}jﬂﬁrﬁ
emissions (tCO, equivalent/t (- tiEE,
crude output) FHES) 0.24 0.21

In accordance with Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs published by the Stock Exchange, Scope 1 emissions are direct
emissions from operations that are owned or controlled by the company and Scope 2 emissions are “energy indirect” emissions resulting from the
generation of purchased or acquired electricity, heating, cooling and steam consumed within the company.

BIRBEBBZAAGHNE  REBREMEEERESDFORE  BE-AREAARHEANEHNEBEREENAZREHN  #E -
RRERERRAEDERE (BRRNLEUSN) BN - 28 - RRRFRAMEEN [MERER]REREHR -
2 Hongbo Mining does not use gas flares in its oil and gas production and therefore does not have GHG emissions from them. GHG emissions from
well testing, process release and production escape are less.
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To reduce GHG emissions, Hongbo Mining has taken
a series of measures. Examples include gathering
associated natural gas in crude oil production and
using it for heating and electricity generation of
Hongbo Mining; adjusting thermal system parameters
according to season in a timely way to plan natural
gas utilization optimally; developing scientific working
schedules with reasonable activation and deactivation
for oil wells with insufficient liquid supply to pump oil
by interval and thus effectively reduce electricity
consumption; promoting new applications such as
intelligent variable frequency control cabinet and alloy
anti-wax devices to save electricity consumption; and
adding reactive power compensators to improve the
power factor of power grids, reduce the loss of
supply transformers and transmission lines, and
enhance power supply efficiency. During the reporting
period, Hongbo Mining saved approximately 2,908.2
tonnes of standard coal and reduced 4,741.02 tonnes
of carbon dioxide equivalent of GHG emissions by
combusting 2.1866 million normal cubic metres of
associated natural gas for heating and electricity
generation.
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Weipin, as a mobility services platform, advocates
low-carbon transportation and green travel mainly
through various electricity saving initiatives and the
promotion of the use of video conference, telephone
conference and other means of communication, so as
to reduce unnecessary energy waste and greenhouse
gas emissions. Weipin's business travel-related
system requires that travel of staff by public
transportation in principle. By strictly following the
policies related to low-carbon transportation and
green travel in each place, for example, Shenzhen,
where newly registered ride-hailing cars must be pure
electric cars, and traditional fuel cars and hybrid cars
will be prohibited from registering as online ride-
hailing cars, Weipin's platform operates 64,018 new
energy cars, which has actively promoted the use of
clean energy and assisted to reduce carbon
emissions. Taking advantage of its own platform and
resources integration, Weipin helps drivers to provide
better online ride-hailing services, so as to achieve
the purpose of low-carbon transportation and green
travel.

2.1.2 Waste Gas Generation and Management

The air pollutants generated by Hongbo Mining from
its business operation are mainly sulphur dioxide,
oxynitride and soot resulting from natural gas
combustion of its heating furnaces and generating
units and petrol and diesel combustion.

Exhaust Emissions
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AEERRELRIETELEN
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BERFERER
Sulphur dioxide emissions (t) Z& bR EERE (ME)
Oxynitride emissions (t) R ki E (Mg)
Particulate matter emissions (t) FErRYEERRE (BF)
Intensity of sulphur dioxide —R bR E
emissions (g/t crude output) (= WA HES)
Intensity of oxynitride emissions &AL KR E
(g/t crude output) (R/WREESR)
Intensity of particulate matter SR BER A S
emissions (g/t crude output) (2 WEESHES)

FY2020 FY2019
b ek ksl — T — B

0.39 0.45
3.85 5.39
0.52 0.66
8.75 8.12
85.26 97.24
11.47 11.91
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To reduce the impact of its business operation on the
atmospheric environment, Hongbo Mining has
adopted the corresponding measures, including
adding natural gas collection devices to all wellheads
for centralized recycling; replacing oil well
maintenance equipment with oil and gas dual-purpose
boilers or pure gas-fired boilers for heating;
strengthening vehicle management by strictly
controlling the number of vehicles and reducing
frequency of use; and continuing to phase out large-
displacement fuel-hungry engineering vehicles in a
planned way to reduce petrol and diesel
consumption.

According to the environmental impact assessment
report provided by a third-party agency throughout the
project construction period, the ratio of maximum
landed concentration of atmospheric pollutant
emission to standard concentration emitted by
Hongbo Mining was only 0.23%, indicating that its
business operation does not have a significant impact
on ambient air quality.

Since Weipin is a platform for the operation of online
car-hailing services and is not involved in the
construction and operation of maintenance plants, the
content related to exhaust gas management is not
applicable.
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In addition, in terms of global energy assets
investment and management, the Company has
successfully made deployments along the clean
energy (natural gas) industry chain, because natural
gas, as a clean energy source, can reduce sulphur
dioxide and dust emissions by nearly 100%, carbon
dioxide emissions by 60% and oxynitride emissions
by 50%. At the same time, in terms of mobility
services, the Company also focuses on the sharing
transportation industry, and expects to generate
synergies in optimizing the cost of vehicle energy and
other aspects. Further than that, the Company
continues to implement the investment strategy of
decarbonization and other green asset opportunities,
and is optimistic about investment opportunities in
advanced manufacturing. As of the reporting date, the
main investments held by the Company are as
follows:

o In July 2017, the Company completed the
subscription of shares allotted by Jiangxi JOVO
Energy Company Limited CT PN EEERKRHBH
fRAa]) ("JOVO") by making an investment of
RMB100 million. JOVO has begun operation
from 1990 and is principally engaged in clean
energy businesses, including importing,
processing and sale of the industrial products of
liquified petroleum gas and LNG. JOVO has
subsequently completed the initial public
offering application and review process (the
“IPO"), and trading of its shares on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange commenced on 25
May 2021 (stock code: 605090).
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In February 2018, the Company through its
subsidiary made a further US$3.15 million
equity investment in LNG Quebec Limited
Partnership. LNG Quebec Limited Partnership is
one of the largest Canadian LNG export
terminals under development, with a maximum
nameplate liquefaction capacity of up to 11
million tonnes per annum. In July 2018, the
Company increased investment of US$1 million
in LNG Quebec Limited Partnership.

In September 2018, the Company, through its
subsidiary, has enter into the agreement for a
joint venture with JUSDA Supply Chain
Management International CO., LTD.
("JUSDA") and the management team,
established a joint venture company to provide
liquefied natural gas ("LNG"”) logistics
transportation solutions, including LNG tank
logistics business. The joint venture company
aims to provide separate LNG logistics services
to the industry, to satisfy the global end-users
demand for LNG.

In November 2019, the Company through a
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into the
agreements with Weipin and its affiliates to
subscribe for certain shares in Weipin. Weipin
has become the holding company of certain
mobility services platform business.
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o On 15 July 2020, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with a small scale LNG
solution provider (“ssLNG solution
investment”) at an aggregate subscription price
of US$3 million (approximately HK$23.2 million).
LNG solution provider aims to solve defining
challenges in strategy, operation, sustainability
and new business development for LNG
industry clients across Asian Market.

o In March 2021, the Company through its
subsidiaries, entered into a revised and restated
limited partnership agreement with the partners
of Fortuna | SP and Soview International Fund
LP (the "Fund”), which has been approved to
become a limited partner of the Fund. The Fund
is mainly focused on advanced manufacturing
investment, and the Company committed
US$105 million (approximately HK$815 million).

2.1.3 Waste Generation and Management

The Company and its subsidiaries comply with the
management policies on the Implementation Plan for
Domestic Waste Classification System (4/&R 5
¥HIZEE M E)) issued by the State in its daily
operations, classify and dispose of waste, and have
established corresponding disposal specifications for
different types of waste.
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Meanwhile, all oil and gas exploitation projects of
Hongbo Mining are contracted, but Hongbo Mining is
responsible for supervision of waste transfer and
storage of the contractors. Hongbo Mining attaches
great importance to waste generation, reducing,

Hep o ZERENRRFRE
HEHHRTIREBERABEEA
A BRSEEEXEAE
BHBEERMNEENGTRHS
REOBAEEEM REE

gathering, transport, storage and disposal. Typically, E+DEREEVNEE
Hongbo Mining signs a service contract with a project BE L8 FRNEE -
contractor before starting the Project, supervises its REEEHETREEEAETY
waste disposal, and conducts strict acceptance E’\IEH ZNEFTREER -

inspection of waste disposal. By promoting
technological innovation, improving management
mechanisms, adopting centralized recovery, and
improving utilization efficiency, Hongbo Mining has
been continuously advancing non-hazardous disposal
and recycling of waste.

VEBHEBEEWEEBR
HERYRIRERETRR
U - REREEBBRIMA
o TEEEKS £+ E
W REMAERNTE #
EERMESCRERENER

{EF A
Waste Emissions FY2020 FY2019
BRI HE B R et N T LATF
Total hazardous waste emissions (t) BEEZEYESES (M) 4.14 197.1
QOil sludge (1) A e (ME) 4.14 197.12
Intensity of hazardous wastes BEREVELTE
(kg/t crude output) (Fre Wi mES) 0.09 3.56
Total non-hazardous waste mEREYELLRS ()
emissions (t) 79.10 145.80
Waste packaging materials (1) BEEaEME (HE) 0.20 2.30
Scrap metal (1) BEEEE (E) 1.00 120.00
Domestic waste (t) AR (MR ) 77.90 23.50
Intensity of non-hazardous wastes EERFEYELEZE
(kg/t crude output) (Fr, / WEHES) 1.75 2.63
3 In FY2019, Hongbo Mining carried out dredging operations on two 1,000 cubic meters storage tanks, resulting in higher production of oil sludge
during the previous reporting period.
3 - NMEREEE LA 1,000 KM EREET TERRE - Bt E—REPNREEEERR ©
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Hazardous Waste

The hazardous waste generated by the Company and
its subsidiaries, during the daily office operation
mainly includes waste lamps, waste batteries, waste
thermometers, toner cartridges, ink cartridges and
masks, etc.. The details are as follows:

o Waste lamps, waste batteries and waste
thermometers contain mercury, lead and other
substances, which will pose a serious risk to
the soil if not properly recycled and disposed of.
Mercury is easily volatile and can endanger
human life and health if inhaled.

o Toner cartridges and ink cartridges are an
important components of printers. The powder
particles inside are highly absorbent due to the
electrical charge and can easily enter the human
body, which may cause respiratory diseases.
Long-term exposure is harmful to human health.
The coating components may contain heavy
metals such as lead, which can cause heavy
metal contamination.

° People who contacts mask may have risk of
virus transmission as face masks can carry
bacteria. There is also the possibility of
aerosolisation (generating particles in the air) or
small amounts of virus dispersing into air, which
can easily cause secondary contamination or
transmission in this special period.
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The Company and its subsidiaries adopted the
following hazardous waste disposal management
measures during the course of its office operation:

1. Hazardous waste containers are provided in the
office area, clearly labelled according to the
classification of hazardous waste, and managed
by dedicated staff.

2. Hazardous waste sites shall be facilitated with
functions protecting from the sun, rain, leaks
and re-entrainment of dust.

3. Hazardous waste should be transferred to
property cleaners by adopting safe and non-
contaminating packaging materials and
methods, and take effective measures to
prevent spillage, dispersion and breakage.

The Company and its subsidiaries are committed to
reducing hazardous waste by saving the use of office
supplies such as toner and ink cartridges and
batteries, adopting paperless network office as much
as possible and reducing use of paper documents,
reducing the use of light in office areas during the day
and night time to extend lamp life, and replacing
traditional mercury thermometers with sensing
devices for temperature measurement. It is worth
mentioning that Hongbo Mining has recycled all
waste toner cartridges by adding carbon powder and
did not generate any hazardous office waste including
waste toner cartridge during the reporting period.
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In addition to the above mentioned situations at
office, another main hazardous waste resulting from
the crude oil exploitation, treatment, storage and
formation testing activities of Hongbo Mining are
collectively referred to as oil sludge, including paraffin
wax coagulated from crude oil, heavy oil deposited on
tank bottoms of the gathering and transportation
station, flocs formed by cleaning agents during
wastewater treatment, and waste resulting from
equipment and pipeline corrosion. These substances
have some toxicity and flammability and, if directly
discharged without proper treatment, will cause
pollution to the surrounding soil, water and air and, if
landfilled without remediation, will cause serious
pollution to underground water and seriously damage
the existing ecosystem such as trees and vegetation.

In line with the principle of reducing and recycling,
Hongbo Mining has engaged a professional third-party
team to design and expand the sewage treatment
system, which has increased the treatment capacity
by 5 times. This greatly reduced the suspended
substance in the sewage, thereby reducing the
sediment in the pipeline and the corrosion to the pipe
wall. Meanwhile, Hongbo Mining has taken effective
measures to reduce oil sludge, including injecting
liguid active solvents into producing wells and
washing the wax deposited on well walls and
bottoms with high-temperature liquid on a regular
basis; and washing pipelines with neutral or faintly
acid agueous solutions to accelerate breakdown of
coagulations and sediments and achieve grease and
grime removal. Hongbo Mining has formulated the
Hongbo Mining Plan for Managing Hazardous Waste
K EERELREDEETE])) regarding hazardous
waste collection and disposal, with a dedicated
environmental protection officer responsible for
having the equipment cleansed on a regular basis and
supervising relevant personnel to transport hazardous
wastes to the gathering and transportation station for
centralized disposal, where oil sludge and other
wastes are converted to non-hazardous wastes
through a series of processes including heating,
filtration, precipitation and dehydration. This work is
contracted to a local certified hazardous waste
disposal company.
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Non-hazardous Waste

Non-hazardous waste generated during the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries is
divided into recyclable and non-recyclable non-
hazardous waste. Recyclable non-hazardous waste
mainly includes plastic packaging materials of
purchased equipment, scrap metal (tools, wires and
parts), discarded plastic bottles and wastepaper, and
non-recyclable non-hazardous waste mainly includes
domestic waste such as food residues and cigarette
butts.

The Company and its subsidiaries advocate paperless
office and double-sided paper use, reuse of copy
paper, office online and electronic circulation; reduce
the use of paper and plastic cups and promote the
use of glass cups instead; reduce take-away meals
and treasure food; and actively implement domestic
waste classification.

In the actual implementing process, the Company and
its subsidiaries separates non-hazardous wastes by
type, with packaging materials and scrap metal of
Hongbo Mining being handed over to qualified solid
waste disposal companies, waste such as paper and
plastic bottles that cannot be reused being sent to
separate drop-off areas for recycling, and domestic
waste being stored and managed by category and
being strictly prohibited to be discharged directly into
sewers and public toilets and instead, being disposed
of in the perishable waste collection bins in office and
production sites. Subsidiaries with its own facilities
are required to establish temporary waste storage
facilities to prevent waste leakage, and waste shall be
transported to sites designated by government
authorities periodically for centralized disposal by the
relevant department.
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Moreover, Hongbo Mining has striven to reduce the
generation of non-hazardous waste by tackling their
sources through multiple effective measures,
including: adopting new techniques such as using the
sucker rod centralizer and oil tube lining to reduce the
eccentric wear caused by long-term sucker rod trips
on the oil tube, extending the workover intervals of oil
wells, and reducing waste pipes caused by sucker rod
fray; maintaining, repairing and treating for corrosion
resistance pipelines and oil tube on a regular basis to
extend their service life; using neutral detergents to
extend the service life of pipelines and equipment;
repairing and reusing decommissioned pipelines, with
the decommissioned pipelines being put into use
again safely after expiration of service life accounting
for approximately 25% of all decommissioned
pipelines.

2.1.4 Wastewater Management

The wastewater generated by the Company mainly
includes cleaning water and domestic wastewater
generated during the course of daily office work, as
well as the stratum sewage generated by Hongbo
Mining in its production process.

The Company and its subsidiaries have strictly
complied with relevant laws and regulations and
national, local and industry standards including Water
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FZE A R
FEKE)), Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution ((FF % A R
FFNE K5 2 B4 35 ) and Integrated Wastewater
Discharge Standard ({;57K4R & BERUIRZE) (GB 8978-
1996)). By taking the measures of “locating the
source, controlling the process, utilizing by different
levels and recycling” and based on the principle of
source control and recycling, Hongbo Mining collects
the sewage generated during crude oil exploitation
through the gathering and transportation station for
separation from the crude oil and sedimentation, and
then injects it back to the stratum after wastewater
treatment to facilitate oil exploitation. The whole
system is a closed loop where the wastewater can
be fully recycled, thereby achieving zero emission.
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During the reporting period, the wastewater of 75,400
cubic meters generated from Hongbo Mining's oil
exploitation was completely injected back to the
stratum after wastewater system with a reinjection
rate of 100%, which significantly reduced
consumption of fresh water.

Wastewater Emissions
BERBERER

Domestic sewage discharge (1) A EVSIKBERR = (R)

All the domestic sewage was treated centrally by the
staff of property companies, then such domestic
sewage was biologically degraded to meet the
discharge standard and used for vegetation irrigation.
The Company and its subsidiaries timely provided
drinking water through direct drinking water
purification equipment to avoid wastage. Water
saving labels were also posted in restrooms and other
areas where water taps are located.
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2.2 Use of Resources and Management

In order to properly regulate the use of resources, Hongbo
Mining, a subsidiary of the Company that consumes
resources in a relatively high proportion, has adopted
management measures for electricity, water, petrol and
diesel. Hongbo Mining is establishing calculation systems
for resource consumption, including the initial
establishment of calculation systems for fresh water and
natural gas, which separately calculate water for production,
water for oilfield water injection and domestic water and
separately calculate natural gas for domestic use, natural
gas for power generation and natural gas for heating
furnace in the production system, in order to achieve
scientific and reasonable dispatch and utilization of fresh
water and natural gas. During the reporting period, Hongbo
Mining has revised the Outsourcing Vehicle Management
System (%) B B &F & I 4| £ )) which controls the use of
vehicles more effectively by integrating outsourcing special
vehicles and operations staff into the unified management
system of the company, so as to manage the consumption
of petrol. The Vehicle Management Department has
developed the Measures for the Administration of
Regenerative Vehicle of the Company (/A FIEE &8 ¥ IE
##%)) which evaluates the useful life, condition, petrol
consumption and annual maintenance costs of vehicles,
puts forward the standard in renewal of vehicle in order to
phase out the engineering vehicles of high energy
consumption and excessive maintenance costs. Hongbo
Mining formulated and published the Special Emergency
Plan for Double Control of Energy Consumption (€ BEFEE {7
HIEEZFEZE)) according to the actual energy
consumption.
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2.2.1 Energy Management

The Company and its subsidiaries have always strictly
complied relevant requirements of laws, regulations
and policies on resource preservation and
environmental protection, including abiding by
Environmental Protection Law of the People’'s
Republic of China ({# #E A R £ F1 B IR IBREE)),
Energy Conservation Law of the People’'s Republic of
China ({1 ZE A B H F1 [ & 49 82 R 7% ) and strictly
following the Plan of Integrated Work of Energy
Conservation and Emission Reduction during the 13th
Five-year Plan Period (" +=h" &R EHRE TIES
Z£)), committed to becoming a resource-saving
enterprise and fulfilling its environmental
responsibilities by increasing investment in energy
conservation, emissions reduction and environmental
protection, increasing resource utilization efficiency,
reducing pollutant emissions, therefore ensuring
environmental and ecological protection in the
operating regions.

The energy mainly consumed by the Company and its
subsidiaries during its business operation is electricity.
For electricity consumption of the Company, the
following measures have taken for energy-saving
purpose:

1. Save electricity for air-conditioning. We strictly
implement air-conditioning temperature control
standards and make full use of natural
ventilation. The indoor temperature by air-
conditioning may not be lower than 26°C in
summer and higher than 20°C in winter.
“Reducing by 1 hours for air-conditioning
operation per day” has been set as a part of the
energy-saving system. The air conditioner
should be turned off when nobody is in the
office.
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Save electricity for lighting. The offices are
installed energy-saving lamps for lighting. The
office area with good natural lighting shall make
full use of natural light during the day. At night,
the number of lights for lighting should be
minimized in the public areas of the building
(including toilets). The lighting during the day
and permanent lighting should not be occurred.
Except for major festivals and holidays, decorative
lights may not be turned on.

Save electricity for office equipment. Power
saving mode should be set when office
equipment is not in use. If office equipment is
not used for a long time, it should be shut down
in time to reduce energy consumption for
standby. We will accelerate the elimination of
high-energy office equipment. Newly purchased
electrical office equipment must labeled with
the required energy efficiency label. During
holidays and non-working hours, electrical
equipment such as computers should be turned
off in time.

It is strictly prohibited to connect the lights or
sockets without permission. High power electric
appliances such as electric stove, heating
machine, electric cup and electric heater are
prohibited. If it is necessary to use such
appliances, it shall be approved by the
administrative department.

Save office supplies. We promote the network
and paperless office, and advocate saving paper
by controlling the number of papers for printing,
photocopying and the distribution of written
materials.
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6. Standardize the office supplies procurement
procedures. We strictly approve and control the
quantity of office supplies distributed,
encourage reuse such office supplies and
implement the wasted paper recycling in the
offices.

7. Reasonably arrangement of transportation for
going out, and priority shall be given to the
public transportation for business travel.

In the addition to the above, Hongbo Mining as an oil
and gas production enterprise, the main sources of
energy consumption also include electricity for well
site equipment, gas and oil gathering and
transmission, and water filling; petrol for cars for
inspection and supervision purposes; diesel for
engineering vehicles, generators for well sites
without grid connection, and domestic heating on
project site in winter; and natural gas as domestic fuel
and for winter heating and combustion-based
electricity generation.

In daily management, Hongbo Mining has actively
responded to the call for energy conservation and
environmental protection by installing GPS monitoring
system on all engineering vehicles with an aim to
improve energy efficiency to dispatch vehicles
reasonably and effectively, plan routes and raise
working efficiency, as well as reduce fuel
consumption. Hongbo Mining reduced domestic
electricity consumption and turned off non-essential
lighting facilities, upgraded the nighttime lighting in
the living area into sound-controlled lighting to reduce
the overall energy consumption of the lighting
system. As for the electricity consumption of oil well,
it applied measures such as intermittent operation
and lower stroke times on low yield oil pumping
wells. According to the temperature changes, Hongbo
Mining shut down the wellhead electric heating belt
in time to minimize the power consumption for
ensuring routine production.
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Energy Consumption FY2020 FY2019
BERHFERR —ECEHE eialce
Total power consumption (kWh) wiEE s (TRE) 6,477,251 6,623,175
Petrol consumption (t) ﬁfﬁ SHAEE (WE) 31.67 37.69
Total diesel consumption (t) Lo ERE A = (IR) 117.51 165.20
Diesel consumption RS m= (HR)
by equipment (t) 54.72 -
Diesel consumption by diesel Yo mEH LS mE (B)
powered vehicles (t) 62.79 -
Total associated natural gas HERATBEEES
consumption (10,000 normal (BZET FK)
cubic metres) 218.66 249.00
Comprehensive energy RAREIREES
consumption® (1,000 kWh) (FET FB) 31,912.57 35,979.32
Intensity of comprehensive RARRERESE

energy consumption (FEE MWRAES)

(kwWh/t crude output) 705.18 649.11
During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining RMEHR - RIEEEEE
consumed 1.8962 million normal cubic metres of 189.62 BIRE R AR
associated natural gas for heating (saving ARARMHE - SHRRELD

approximately 67,371.99 GJ of thermal energy) and 67,371.99F JK R B « M &
290,407 normal cubic metres of associated natural 29.0407 BEEMS T ARHEKXR
gas for electricity generation (saving approximately ARFANEE BB
871,000 kWh of electricity). 871 BT R -

4 Calculation on this indicator performed with reference to converted standard coal coefficient data in China Energy Statistical Yearbook ({7 Bl g7 %t

=4 2)) and General Prlnmples for Calculation of the Comprehensive Energy Consumption ({454 BE#ERT & @A) (GB/T 2589-2008), etc.
¢ ZEETERH2Z(PRERFTFE) (e et 5 REI)(GB/T 2589-2008) % -
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2.2.2 Water Resource Management

The Company and its subsidiaries mainly consumed
water through daily drinking and cleaning. Water
conservation is achieving by the following ways:

1. Save water in bathrooms: strengthen routine
maintenance and management of water
equipment and prevent water running for long
time; put up water-saving signs in the prominent
sites with announcing maintenance call.

2. Save water for greens: encourage cycling use of
water.

3. Strengthen the maintenance and transformation
of facilities: conduct regular inspection and
maintenance on water supply facilities, carefully
conduct inspection on pipe network, especially
pay attention to the usage of pre-embedded
pipes, and repair in time when problems are
found to prevent dripping and leakage.

4.  Conduct regular surveying and quantitative
analysis: compare and analyse the recording
data on water consumption from the property
management staff on a monthly basis, and take
effective measures to inspect the pipeline
network once irregularities are identified.

Beside, the main sources of water consumption from
Hongbo Mining, as an oil and gas production
enterprise, also include water use for well
maintenance, water injection to supplement
producing energy and increase oil recovery, and a
small amount of domestic water.

The goal of water resource management of Hongbo
Mining is to achieve 100% produced water treatment,
100% produced water reinjection, and efficient and
controlled use of fresh water.
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REBELEETBEPR
HXTMT&EEE’U%%’WK&

following aspects to conserve water resource: TREESTEE

In its production and operation process, Hongbo
Mining has adopted specific measures in the

° Adopting clean production processes and
implementing water saving practices to increase
water recycling and reduce water withdrawal.

o Ensuring effective day-to-day maintenance,
keeping the pipeline network in normal working
condition, guaranteeing safe water supply, and
preventing pipeline seepage, with all anti-
seepage measures having a permeability
coefficient of less than 1.0x107cm/s.

° Cleaning wells with treated wastewater, which
not only reduces the use of flushing fluid but

also mitigates pollution and damage to oil

TERFAREAERE
ELE ZHEEHKE
& KB EE T A
O ABUKE -

MIFEENEREEE
B BRHEENEEE
1T REER 2K - BiLE
EHEER- Fﬁﬁ[ﬂ)‘ii%%ﬁ
M2 RS EEREBE
R H /N R1.0x107cm/s
MEsK o

EAEEIERASKAR
PR TR
FE - FRE TSI

reservoir, and recycling flushing fluid. BHSANEBEE - ¥k
HREIEIBERIRE
=18
Water resource consumption FY2020 FY2019
KEFHZERER —ETHF [eiaiicce
Fresh water consumption FEOKCEFES (2 J7K)
(cubic metre) 106,387.71 133,754.00
Intensity of fresh water MEKBRERE
consumption (cubic metre/t (LFKR/ WERHES)
crude output) 2.21 2.41

RBEHA - AR R &K B
subsidiaries did not have any violation in obtaining RN EVERKEUE A KR LT
suitable water sources. TE(EE AR ERE -

During the reporting period, the Company and its
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2.2.3 Ecological Protection in Operating Regions

Land Rehabilitation

Oil field development will create a new artificial
ecosystem, and its environmental impact is mainly
shown as the excavation face being not entirely
rehabilitated, leading to reduced vegetation coverage,
vegetation biomass loss, and impaired vegetation
structure. Based on the guidelines of relevant
documents such as the Guidance on Gradual
Establishment of the Responsibility Mechanism for
Environment Control and Ecology Recovery of Mine
Fields (KEARZ F @ BILIRFAEMERLRES T
#HIH35E = R.)) and the Notice on Matters Relating
to Reporting and Review of Land Rehabilitation (£ 3
REBLHWERGHRNESEHEBELNEM)),
Hongbo Mining has formulated and issued its Land
Rehabilitation Plan (£ 3h828 75 %)), which combines
rehabilitation engineering and project development
with the focus on comprehensive environment
management for construction projects by prioritizing
ecology protection and implementing ecological
restoration by integrating a succession of measures
including land levelling, topsoil coverage, forestation
and grass plantation to achieve “exploiting while
rehabilitating”. All projects of Hongbo Mining have
passed the acceptance inspection of national
environmental protection authorities.

Biodiversity Conservation

It is also the responsibility of the Company to protect
the ecological environment where we operate. Having
considered the opinions and suggestions of experts
and East Ujimgin Banner Ecology Bureau, Hongbo
Mining, chooses to plant forages suitable for the local
soil environment and climate, such as elymus
dahuricus, caragana korshinskii, alfalfa, astragalus
huangheensis and tartary buckwheat, and aspens
good for survival, protects wild animals around the
well site, strictly prohibits hunting and lays
underground pipes in living areas for irrigation of
surrounding plants.

IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

223 EEMAERRE

T 2R e
MEFAZEREREKT A
THRERG  HAERBREH
HEFTERBRABEKRSE
BERIRE - BRI RER
BEERE BHEMERS
K HEEEETEE - R
BEEBRCRE(HANE S EL
BILREAEMERLIRESR
FHBHESEER) (BER
HETHERRMNEER
28 ) RE 038 AN ) S AR BE S
1 E I B A A 7 A EBAY
(EHEZRFR)  #H1ERT
BMAZETIREERGS -
HEREREEZBERR
BIE TEREERE - K
TR RITEES BN
BErXEh BEHBAESE
e REBERERLRE B
WIEFK - BEE] E
18 B B A 38 38 B 5 R (R &R
FIERUL ©

EYZEIERE
REEEEL MM LR
B HEREARABETDEN
B RBEEELESERM
REXRBIUEEERNER
MR EEEEES S
TERE RENKNER
E CEmE - NEK-B

IR BEE - RE
%'JE’:\@/EE’\JETE : 1 EHE
B2 EsY  BERK
EEERRBERMTEERR
BB EEEY -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
IRE - @ NEIRRE

2.3 Innovation and Safety 23 BRAF ZE24£E
2.3.1 Technological Innovation 2.3.1 BRI

The Company’s innovation-driven performance
enhancement policy is underpinned by the principle
of “respect for labour, for knowledge, for talent, and
for creation” and encouraging team collaboration as
well as independent innovation. The Company and its
subsidiaries have a Core Talent Development Program
((#> AA 125551 81)) geared to developing high-level
talent and making innovations in urgently needed
technologies and has formed an innovative team
through project research and development to nurture
corporate leaders in technology innovation to support
the innovation-driven sustainable development of the
Company. Hongbo Mining, based on its Staff
Innovation Workshop, has mobilized its staff at
various levels to make technological innovations in
various ways including joint research to make
breakthroughs in key technologies, technological
renovation, invention, repair and waste recycling. By
organizing activities such as collaborative research in
key technologies, management innovation and
project-based research and promoting advanced
concepts, technologies and methods, Hongbo Mining
has solved technical bottlenecks confronted by its oil
blocks and achieved steady progress in the
exploration and development capabilities of various
projects in the oil blocks.
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2.3.2 Safe Production

The Company and its subsidiaries care for every
employee and are committed to protecting their
health. They strictly comply with the requirements of
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FZE A
R A F1B & &)%), Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Rights and Interests of
Women ((HF 2 A R H B 15 2 = R F X)), Work
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 %
AR FZMBE %2 2 4 E %)) and Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases ((HE A R&EFEHBE R A
7£)) and other laws and regulations, and pay five
types of social insurances for employees according to
state regulations, to protect the physical and mental
health of the employees in an all-round way and
ensure a safe working environment to avoid any
occupational hazards. The Company is committed to
creating an energetic and happy working atmosphere
for employees and carries out various activities to
strengthen their communications for a more united
team, such as employee sports games, birthday
parties, holiday celebrations, etc.. The Company and
its subsidiaries also organize regular medical
examination for in-service employees and requires
new employees to undergo medical examination as
required by the Company.
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Hongbo Mining adheres to the guideline of “safety
first, prevention foremost, and integrated
management”, always highlighting occupational
health, work safety and environmental protection as
an important part of its corporate social responsibility
and reflecting this commitment into the full life cycle
of Hongbo Mining’s production and operation
activities. It has established a health, safety and
environment (“HSE") management system and an
operating mechanism which integrate decision
management, business operation, technical support,
and regulation and incentivization. Weipin purchases
carrier liability insurance for each order to protect the
rights and interests of online car-hailing drivers when
they suffer from occupational hazards.

During the reporting period, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not have any violation of China’s
relevant current labour and safety laws and
regulations or experience any major accident seriously
jeopardizing employee safety or causing employee
death, with zero lost workday due to work-related
injury.

Improvement of HSE System

Hongbo Mining, follows the PDCA management
model, that is, Plan-Do-Check-Action, which forms an
HSE system of cycles and continuous improvement.
The main contents include:

(1) Leadership commitment, policy objectives and
responsibilities. The top leader of Hongbo
Mining has made a top-down commitment and
established an HSE guarantee system;
formulated policy objectives and performed
management, and established the guiding
ideology of the HSE management system;
established an organization to clarify the
responsibilities of different departments,
different positions, and different types of jobs.
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(2)  Organization, responsibility, resources and
document management. Hongbo Mining has
established an HSE management organization,
clarifying responsibilities, authorities and
affiliation; reasonably allocating human, financial
and material resources to conduct extensive
training, so as to improve the awareness and

skills of all employees.

(8) Risk assessment and hidden danger
management. Hongbo Mining has clarified the
evaluation object, established evaluation
methods and procedures, determined the
influencing factors of hazards and accidents,
selected the judgment criteria and made
records; conducted assessment and treatment
of hidden dangers in the course of production.

(4) Safety, health and environment system
management requirements of contractors and

suppliers.

(5)  Design and construction of devices (facilities).

(6) Operation, maintenance, inspection and
supervision of the HSE management system.

(7) Change management and emergency

management.

(8)  Accident handling and prevention.

(9) System audit, review and continuous

improvement.
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Hongbo Mining, has formulated and revised the
Employee Safety Manual ({8 T%& & Ffit)),
Customary Violations and Corrective Methods K& 1&
138 2 MAIE 57%)), Hazard Source ldentification and
Risk Assessment Control Management System (/&

SN I o LR B R 4 1l B FR 1 Z ), Operation Permit
Management System ({EZEFFRAIEEF|E)), Traffic
Safety Management System (X BZ 2 EIEHIE)),
Safety Rewards and Punishment System (%% 284K
#IZ)), Special Equipment Safety Management
System (FEXREBELZEEHIE)), Emergency
Management System (KEZEERHIE)), etc.,
including 36 safety management systems and
regulations, 30 job safety responsibilities, 52 job
operation regulations, 7 assessment rules and 6
emergency plans, in accordance with the HSE system
standard framework planning.

During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining prepared
the Emergency Plan for the Prevention and Control of
Novel Coronavirus Pandemic ({78! & ik i 5 R 2L 0%
5 B 42 E 2 78 2 ) in accordance with the outbreak
and development of domestic COVID-19 pandemic.
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Hongbo Mining, has established a safety organization
with the general manager as the team leader, and
built an operating system guided by the decision
making management, implemented by the
management and achieved by the operation
management, so as to fully implement the safety
management among the production team and each
employee, with its functions of all levels as follows:

° The decision making management is
responsible for establishing and improving the
Company’s HSE responsibility system, setting
up management institutions and personnel,
organizing the formulation of rules and operating
procedures, and establishing and improving
relevant records and files; ensuring adequate
HSE investment and effective implementation;
urging and checking the Company’s HSE work,
timely controlling and eliminating the source of
danger; organizing to formulate and implement
the HSE accident emergency plan of the
Company, and reporting the HSE accident

timely and truthfully.

° The management implements the systems and
procedures in the HSE management system
according to the division of labor of the
departments, and guides the subordinate
departments or employees to carry out
identification assessment, risk control and

performance assessment.

° The operation management accepts the HSE
education and training, and strictly implements
the operation-level documents of this position,
including operation instructions, job operation

regulations, etc.
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Strengthening Risk Management and Control
Hongbo Mining, has established a dual prevention
mechanism comprising hierarchical management of
safety risks as well as safety hazard identification and
rectification. With the overall work policy of “full
participation, risk control, continuous improvement,
performance assurance” and in accordance with the
requirement of “double duties in one position”,
Hongbo Mining required departments at all levels and
relevant departments not only to undertake the work
within the scope of their own responsibilities, but also
to assume the management of relevant production
safety targets and perform the responsibilities of
production safety in accordance with the principles of
“responsibilities vest to those in charge” and "“safety
keeps abreast of production”. Hongbo Mining also
divided the HSE policy and objectives into all
grassroots units, and puts the measures of hazards
identification and risk reduction into positions step by
step, so as to truly standardize the operation of HSE
management system from top to bottom and
promote the implementation of safety and
environmental responsibilities. The Company attaches
great importance to safety management, and the
Safety and Environmental Protection Department is
responsible for improving the building of full-time and
part-time emergency team; formulates and organizes
relevant emergency drill plans every year; identifies,
analyzes and evaluates the risks caused by hazard
sources, considers the adequacy and effectiveness of
existing control measures, determines the
acceptability of risks, and compiles the accident risk
assessment reports. Meanwhile, the Company is
equipped with registered safety engineers to carry
out the Company's safety supervision and
management work, including industrial hot work,
pipelines, temporary electricity, access to restricted
space, hoisting, climbing, etc.
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Safety Education for Employees

Safety training covers employees at all levels of the
Company and its subsidiaries and HSE induction
training covers all new recruits. With highly attaching
importance to the improvement of employees’ safety
awareness, Hongbo Mining has established an
integrated HSE training system based on HSE theory,
which covers various and comprehensive aspects
such as HSE management concept, job responsibility
awareness and emergency response management.
Hongbo Mining also arranges different types of safety
trainings on an ongoing basis to carry out omni-
directional promotion of HSE through different
channels, such as safety education for employee
orientation, special equipment safety learning, traffic
safety training, daily safety education, safety
education for workers from contractors and
educational safety video watching activities, so as to
improve employees’ competence on safety
production. During the reporting period, the Company
has completed the safety training for the principal
responsible persons and safety management
personnel of onshore petroleum and natural gas
exploitation enterprises, attended the qualification
examinations organized by the competent authorities
and obtained relevant qualification certificates.
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Protection of Occupational Health of Employees
The Company and its subsidiaries have been
committed to strengthening their employee
occupational health management systems and
Hongbo Mining established an occupational health
management accountability mechanism which
stipulates that:

o The Safety and Environmental Protection
Department is responsible for establishing and
improving the occupational health management
system and the occupational health records,
formulating the occupational disease prevention
programme and implementation plan and the
emergency rescue plan for occupational hazard
accidents, organizing employee medical
examination; while also responsible for the
company’'s work on occupational disease
prevention and statistical management,
including identifying and evaluating occupational
hazards factors, conducting promotion and
education of occupational disease prevention,
contacting the Center for Disease Control and
Prevention on a regular basis, conducting
inspection of dust, noise and other occupational
hazards sites of each construction and
production department, and promptly notifying
relevant departments to implement rectification
on the unqualified items identified on the sites.

° The administration and personnel department
shall be responsible for signing labor contracts
with employees, and shall disclose to
employees the occupational hazards that may
occur during the work process and their
consequences as well as wages and benefits,
which shall be stated in the labor contracts. The
employees who are found to be suffering from
occupational hazards during occupational health
examinations shall be transferred in time and
properly settled, and the labor contracts with
employees can be annulled or terminated only
after they have undergone pre-departure
occupational health examinations.
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° All grass-roots departments are responsible for
the implementation of the prevention and
control measures on occupational hazards. They
should carry out regular inspection, maintenance
and testing of occupational hazards prevention
and control equipment to ensure their normal
operation, and receive and distribute personal
hygiene and protective equipment to employees
according to regulations; and they shall not
arrange employees with occupational
contraindications to engage in tasks with
occupational hazards, and shall establish and
improve occupational health management
archives for employees.

o Employees should strictly abide by the
requirements of the occupational hazards
prevention and management system and
occupational safety and health operational rules
during the production process, and shall be
entitled to the rights in terms of the prevention,
treatment and rehabilitation of occupational
hazards.

During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining also
entrusted a qualified technical service company to
provide occupational hazard testing for on-site
workers, and to detect noise, toxic and harmful
substances and other hazardous factors. The test
results all meet the requirements of occupational
health limits, and the pass rate is 100%. The
Company and its subsidiaries also provide
occupational health check for employees before
employment, on the job and before separation and
maintain their occupational health records, in addition
to providing all employees with safe working
conditions and adequate labour protection and
carrying out employee occupational health monitoring
and education, thereby implementing occupational
health management in a comprehensive, well-
regulated way. During the reporting period, the
Company and its subsidiaries experienced no new
occupational disease case.
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COMPLIANT BUSINESS OPERATION TO
BUILD A SAFE AND HARMONIOUS
PRODUCTION CHAIN

The Company and its subsidiaries adhere to compliant business
operation based on relevant internal compliance management
policies covering business integrity, external communication,
professional ethics, internal relation management, corporate
interest maintenance, and taking social responsibility. The
Company and its subsidiaries are committed to communicating
with all internal and external stakeholders to achieve mutual
benefit and win-win.

3.1 Anti-corruption

The Company and its subsidiaries strictly comply with laws
and regulations relating to anti-corruption, anti-extortion,
anti-fraud and anti-money laundering including the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({1 ZE A E A1E
7)), Anti-money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({1 % A R HE MBI &% #%)), the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance ({ B35 1E B 8§ & 5 )). In corporate
development, the Company and its subsidiaries have
proceeded in a way which combines clean governance and
business growth by building an ideological and institutional
firewall against corruption, which clearly defines the rights
and obligations of the shareholders’ meeting, board of
directors and the management under a check and balance
mechanism where the decision making, management and
supervision functions are relatively independent from one
another, and inculcating correct values. The Company has
formulated the Regulations on Anti-corruption Management
(BB E I #8 F ). The Company has established an
internal management committee led by the president with
members comprising vice presidents in charge of various
divisions, which operates in accordance with the principle
of democratic centralism to eliminate “rule by the voice of
one man alone” and backroom dealing, and enforce
coordination, mutual supervision, and synergistic
collaboration. Weipin has established an anti-corruption
management working group led by the CEO, with the CFO
acting as the deputy leader and members comprising the
heads of each department. The Finance and Risk Control
Center takes the lead and is responsible for its daily work.
Corruption can be prevented and detected in a timely
manner through anti-corruption talks, reports and
complaints, special investigations, process specifications,
and anti-corruption training.
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The Company and its subsidiaries make continuous
innovation in education methods and carry out in-depth
education of honest practices. On one hand, the Company
and its subsidiaries have provided special coverage of anti-
corruption in the section headed Basic Literacy and
Business Etiquettes of Employees ({E THEAEBE L E
% #& & )) in the induction training materials and training
video for new employees; on the other hand, the Company
and its subsidiaries have distributed the Employee
Handbook (¢ & T F it )) which clearly prohibits deliberate
fabrication, leakage of confidential information, corruption,
embezzlement, misappropriation, dinner invitation and gift
exchange among the employees to improve employee
loyalty and integrity.

The Company has established a comprehensive top-down
system, which requires continuously improving the
systems in various aspects such as corporate operation,
procurement, sales, project budget and final accounting,
capital and finance and strengthening corporate self-
discipline and internal control mechanisms. The Company's
subsidiary Hongbo Mining requires service providers and
contractors to sign statements of honest practice to
prevent commercial bribery while encouraging employees
to file complaints or blow the whistle directly by passing
the immediate leadership for non-compliance identified. If
the non-compliance is proven to be true, the responsible
person will be dismissed immediately, subject to further
sanctions through litigation if the circumstance is severe.
This represents an approach of combining process control
and violation punishment to prevent non-compliance.
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Taking Weipin as an example, the reporting procedure is as
follows: The Finance and Risk Control Center accepts multi-
channel social and internal complaints or reports, while
setting up a reporting mailbox to collect reporting
information, and encouraging real-name reporting. The
Finance and Risk Control Center strictly keeps confidential
the information obtained from regular investigations or the
whistle-blowing, organizes internal evaluations, and initially
verifies the authenticity of the issue. According to the
nature of the issue and the rank of the personnel involved,
a relevant anti-fraud investigation team will be established
to conduct a detailed investigation and report the results to
the management and the whistleblower simultaneously. If
there is no specific clue, analyze the potential fraud risk and
pay attention to it in the work. After the investigation is
completed, the Finance and Risk Control Center will
propose compensation, punishment, termination of the
labor contract or other treatment suggestions based on the
actual situation, and submit the same for approval
accordingly. If a crime has been committed, it shall be
handed over to the national judicial authority for processing
after the approval of the CEQO.

The Company and its subsidiaries, in response to the
national call to improve party conduct, uphold integrity and
fight corruption, has organized various party member and
non-party member employee workshops and trainings on
relevant topics to increase the overall integrity awareness
of the staff, build a corporate firewall against corruption and
resolutely put an end to the violation of the national call to
improve party conduct, uphold integrity and fight corruption.

During the reporting period, the Company and its
subsidiaries experienced no litigation brought against it or
its employees on corruption charge, and there were no
corruption-related violations that had a significant impact on
the Company.
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3.2 Ensuring Product Quality and Consolidating

Customer Relationship

Product Quality

The Company attaches importance to product quality
responsibility, and Hongbo Mining, as the Company’s
product manufacturing subsidiary, has always deemed
engineering quality as the lifeline for its existence and
development and inculcated the management goal of
“building top projects with excellence in every detail” in
the mind of every employee. Besides strictly complying
with national standards and quality specifications for the
petroleum and natural gas industry, Hongbo Mining, in the
light of the latest industry standards and its own operational
characteristics, has amended a number of engineering
quality management systems including the Well Drilling
Engineering Quality Management System (#f TR &S
EIEHE)), the Well Testing Engineering Quality
Management System (CRAIH TEEEEEHE)), the
Geological Well Logging Quality Management System ({3
LixHESEIEH|E)), the Downhole Operation Quality
Management System (FH TEEXZEEEEH|E)) and the
Fracturing Engineering Quality Management System ((JERZJ
TREEEESFIE)), analyzing equipment requirements,
operational procedures, acceptance standards, information
quality and others one by one to enhance the position
management and internal control system.
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In product quality management, Hongbo Mining has always
asked their employees to focus on the three dimensions of
“safety, quality and speed”, where managers have the
whole picture in mind and pay attention to detail as well
throughout the project by directly controlling major
processes, supervising key links, eliminating all hazards,
and strictly enforcing acceptance standards. It has focused
on the technical disclosure before construction and
acceptance of conditions for commencement of
construction, further promoted workplace standardization
and emphasized process control in engineering. It has put
in place a “three inspections” system-self-inspection by
the construction teams, mutual inspection by collaborative
entities, and special inspection by the supervision
department, to ensure its effective implementation based
on clear accountability. In line with the principle of
“fairness, justice and openness”, Hongbo Mining has put
the construction teams under comprehensive oversight and
management in extensive aspects including materials,
manning, construction progress, project quality, work
safety and environmental protection, and given rewards to
excellent construction teams, with clearly defined
punishments for non-compliances and violations. Through
the combination of rewards and punishments, Hongbo
Mining has urged the engineering teams to learn from
other’s strong points to offset its weakness. During the
reporting period, Hongbo Mining has made stricter
requirements of such aspects as solid control equipment,
drilling fluid performance, well control sentry and original
data, information record and oil and gas reservoir
protection, so as to strengthen the process control in
production and further control quality. Through these
measures, Hongbo Mining has put in place a fairly
comprehensive quality supervision system.
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Hongbo Mining has taken the following specific measures
to control product quality: 1. engaging globally recognized
third-party agencies to perform product testing; 2.
increasing product quality testing frequency from once a
year to once every half year; 3. increasing standby weighing
equipment for sales to improve weighing accuracy; 4.
asking the quality inspection authority to calibrate its
measuring equipment on a regular basis to increase
measuring equipment accuracy and avoid measuring errors.
In addition, Hongbo Mining has strictly complied with
relevant regulations including Measures for the
Administration of the Crude Oil Market (& 135 & 12 i
%)) and Administrative Measures for Oil Prices ({AJH{E
EIEYEK)) in product pricing and sale.

Privacy Protection

Hongbo Mining has committed to protecting customer
privacy in accordance with the law and has included a
confidentiality clause in contracts, among other measures.
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In accordance with the Regulations of the People’s
Republic of China on Security Protection of Computer
Information Systems (FZEARKEMBAEREERZHLE
IRFEMEM)), the Interim Provisions on the Management for
International Networking of Computer Information Network
(FHE#EEREERB AT EEITHE), the Decisions of
the Standing Committee of the National People’'s Congress
on Maintaining Internet Security 2B AKXEZ SN &
ER MR 2HRTE)) and Rule 185 and 286 of the new
Criminal Law of the People’'s Republic of China (FFZE AR
HAMEEY), Weipin has formulated the Information
System Management System ({5 ERZHEEHIE)) and
the Requirements on Information Confidentiality (({REE 12
%7 )). The Information System Management System
provides the standards of the development, operation and
maintenance of the information system, ensures the
product quality and planning consistent with the Company’s
strategic through annual planning and budgets; ensures
product requirements meeting the actual needs of business
and improves product quality by regular demand review
meetings; ensures the product stability and data security by
regular data backup and recovery testing. The
Requirements on Information Confidentiality defines the
scope of confidentiality of related confidential contents
such as customer information, company software systems,
technical documents, and company business activities;
regulate/prohibit related behaviors that may have the risk of
leakage of confidential information; set up a series of
hierarchical penalties and accountability regulations such as
economic penalties, personnel penalties, and legal
prosecutions based on the severity of leakage behaviors
and results; and the employees are required to study the
Requirements on Information Confidentiality (as
attachment) when joining our Company. The Company and
its subsidiaries do not involve advertising and labeling in the
process of providing products.
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3.3

Customer Satisfaction

Weipin's customers are mainly drivers or passengers, and
there are specific customer service officers responsible for
the collection and follow up of the complaint. Customers
can make their complaints by telephone or other methods,
and there are specific customer services personnel of the
Company to handle the complaints accordingly. If requiring
assistance of other departments, the customer services
personnel will directly contact the relevant department
personnel, and finally give the handling feedback to
customers.

During the reporting period, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not have any significant violation regarding
product and service liability and privacy matters.

Service Provider Management

Weipin's providers are mainly divided into channel
promotion service providers, cloud platform service
providers and other providers. According to the Company’ s
policies, channel promotion service providers are introduced
by filling in the data such as the Evaluation Form of
Transportation Service Providers (& 7 a4 X)) and
the Description of Background Investigation on Cooperative
Companies (( & fEA & & & # & % B ), and having the
channel management department and the person in charge
of the city review the authenticity of the providers’
qualifications. Both cloud platform service providers and
other providers are subject to review of the quality of
services, prices, and suitability for our needs by multiple
departments. The assessment or evaluation of the
providers' services is carried out regularly or irregularly, and
the cooperation with the providers who do not meet the
requirements shall be stopped.

By service type, Hongbo Mining’ s service providers are
divided into engineering contractors (39: 16 in Xilin Gol
League and 23 outside) and material suppliers (50: 20 in
Xilin Gol League and 30 outside).
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With highly valuing the responsibility management on its
engineering contractors and material suppliers, Hongbo
Mining further optimised the engineering contracting and
procurement process and system by strictly implementing
its admission, maintenance, management and removal
procedures on service providers during the reporting
period. In addition to ensuring the satisfactory of various
requirements of its products or services, Hongbo Mining
also streamlined certain approval procedures during the
reporting period, which further improved the practicality
and operational efficiency of the system.

The processes of Hongbo Mining's service provider
management system include:

o Conducting strict preliminary review, with focus on
obtaining the background information of the
enterprise, such as the strength in technology,
management, capital and other aspects. Hongbo
Mining has established a service provider assessment
group with members comprising the heads of its
various business departments to select service
providers through tender and negotiation based on
the principles of quality first and fair competition;

° In light of the accumulated experience and market
conditions over the years, analysing the cost structure
in detail, formulating reasonable price range, and
eliminating malicious competition through low price;

o Signing the HSE contracts with the engineering
contractors and including them in Hongbo Mining’s
safety management system and convening meetings
on safety on a regular basis;

° Focusing on strengthening process tracking and
enforcing comprehensive supervision by
implementing comprehensive management on
service providers to ensure high-quality services and
products;
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Further improving the requirements of construction
safety and product quality, and urging service
providers to update concepts and upgrade equipment,
in order to advance with the times to achieve
technological progress and increase production
efficiency;

Conducting graded evaluation and regular quality
assessment of the products or services provided,
continuously improving the awareness of
responsibility and service ability of suppliers and
striving to build a sustainable service chain and supply
chain to achieve win-win and mutual development
with the suppliers;

Carrying out year-end inspection on major product
suppliers and visiting them to register and verify basic
information, inspecting their management systems
and having face-to-face communication with
managerial personnel in order to get a truthful
understanding and comprehensive assessment of
their business operation and reduce the operating risk
to a controllable level;

Procuring within a radius of approximately 1,500
kilometres surrounding the oilfields and from qualified
oilfield equipment manufacturers which hold
American Petroleum Institute (API) certification and
have been approved by China National Petroleum
Corporation and Sinopec Group, based on the
principle of mainly sourcing from suppliers possessing
certifications of 1ISO9001 quality management
system, 1ISO14001 environmental management
system and OHSAS18001 health management
system and complementing it with local procurement
of small spare parts, with all service providers being
confirmed in the Company’ s service provider
database under a well-documented procedure-based
system;
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o Strengthening internal control by optimizing the o MERIE - BT REWE
Company’'s material purchase process and strictly HEMLRRE  RSEEEE
approving the purchases, as well as optimizing the =24 Bt EFRHBR K
responsibility system for excess or waste of material BREBNELH  BWERE
storage to further deepen the concept of reasonable EAERHFRSENESHE
procurement and proper use of materials in various — IR AZ(EAZRT -
departments.

During the reporting period, Hongbo Mining included all its RREHAR - ZEBEXEEMETL

engineering contractors in its supplier management REABHMAHRERERERSD

system, with 17 material suppliers obtaining API YIE L ER T 17 REVZ API R E K

certification or management system certifications. EIRRBRRE -

IV. CARE FOR EMPLOYEES AND MUTUAL ‘FREZ2RAI HEBERKE
DEVELOPMENT
4.1 Employment and Protection of Employees’ Rights 4.1 EREREI#ZIRE

and Benefits

The Company and its subsidiaries put people first, respect AN E) KM B A B SRALAA B

and protect the lawful rights and interests of their B BENMg#EE TS5 ER

employees and implement an employment policy of BETEMIEEEATIHRE  @#2

equality and non-discrimination, and are committed to RI#sl AEIHEERIKEYF

continuously refining its democratic system, building an A HEBIALTENMZITE B

%ﬁﬁﬁ ML THEIRE
TEEETHRAKE -

excellent career development platform for employees,

mwn

advancing workforce localization and diversification,
providing employees with a fair and harmonious work
environment, and achieving common growth of the
enterprise and the employees.
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Employment Policy

The Company and its subsidiaries strictly comply with the
Law of Employment Promotion of the People’s Republic of
China ((FRZEARFMBFLER L)), Labor Contract Law
of the People's Republic of China ((FFEE A RHEMELEHE
[8 /%)) and other laws and regulations on recruitment and
promotion, dismissal, working hours, etc., and have
established comprehensive employment management
rules and systems, implemented fair and nondiscriminatory
employment policy, including fair and just treatment to
employees with different nationalities, skin colors,
ethnicities, genders, religions and culture background. The
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries strictly
implement the requirements of the Employee Handbook
(¢ 8 T F fit ), and have amended the Staff Reward and
Punishment Management System (( 8 T #8E 2 | E)),
the Staff Leaves Management System (¢ & T KR & 32
& )), the Staff Occupational Accident Management Policy
(KB IIEEMEIESEZE)), the Employee Attendance
Management System (( & TZ HEI2H|E)), the Employee
Training Management System (( 8 T3 & E#/Z)), the
Employee Transaction Management System (( 8 T Z&%&
2 %l E ) and the Administrative Measures on Echelon
Personnel (5 Bx A B & 12 ## /£ )), and have also newly
introduced the Rules for Recommending Talents ({ & T
B AA HEENEE)), the Management System for Skill Rating
of Operatlng Staff and the Social Insurance ({#{ERmiI 8 T
HEES R T EEEH E)) and the Housing Provident Fund
Management System ((MHEERBMEEATESEEHE))
during the reporting period, which further develop and
improve the employment policy.
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The Company enters into labour contracts with its
employees in obedience to the law, with a signing rate of
100%. The Company has set up an 8-hour daily working
system. The Company confirms the age of job applicants
by reviewing the identity, verifying the qualification and
checking the contribution to social insurance, and strictly
prohibits and boycotts the employment of child labour in
any form. In order to implement the paid leave system, the
Company has taken various measures such as signing of
agreements and strict supervision of work time to eliminate
forced labour. The Company has established a staff
recruitment system, of which reasonable and fair
recruitment of personnel meets the requirements of the
Company'’s positions. Meanwhile, the Company attaches
great importance to the business ability of human
resources personnel in all levels, and has organized various
trainings related to labour policies and regulations.

During the reporting period, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not have any violation relating to employee
rights and other labour regulations, and no child labour and
forced labour incidents occurred.

During the reporting period, the Company and its
subsidiaries had a total of 331 employees, with 31
employees leaving, representing a turnover rate of 9.4%. In
view of factors such as the business scope and work
environment of the Company, it has more male employees
than female employees, but there is no discrimination
against gender, race and region.
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Distribution of the Employees
by Employment Type of the Company and Its Subsidiaries
AARRMEAR
ERELEESMH

4 500/1.50%
. (¢

94%

= Contracted = Employed = Dispatched
& Al EAmE  IMRKE

Distribution of the Employees by Ages
EIFREBIM

6%
7.90%

45.90%
40.20%

=20-30  =31-40 41-49 = Above 50
205%-305% 315-405% 41 BR—-495% 505% A
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Distribution of the Employees by Genders
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67.40%

= Male employees = Female employees
E8T ZET

Distribution of the Employees by Ethnicities
EIRKEBSHE
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Employees Turnover Proportion® by Genders and Ages

BEMRIRFREDNETRALSE

20.0%
15.0%
10.0%
) ||| ‘ll |I| |||
0.0%
Male Female Employees aged Employees aged Employeesaged Employees aged
employees employees 20to 30 31to 40 41to 49 above 50
BET ZHT 20-30 % 31-403% 41-49 %, 50 3%,
BT 81T BT PEET
5 Example of Calculation Method: The proportion of the turnover of male employees to the total number of male employees
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Democratic Management

The Company and its subsidiaries have established a sound
mechanism of democratic management with the labor
union as the main body and the assistance of the
administrative and personnel department, which
emphasizes on giving play to the employees’ function in
democratic management, democratic participation and
democratic supervision, and publish all matters related to
the rights and benefits of their employees, such as
soliciting employees’ advices on the Company's related
management system and feedbacks on holiday
arrangements of the Company. The Company and its
subsidiaries insist on implementing democratic procedures,
strengthen the disclosure of factory operation through
multiple channels such as departmental meetings and
regular meetings of the Company, special meetings for
business discussion, face-to-face conversations, internal
publications and the social media platform such as WeChat,
encourage the employees to participate in the discussion
and receive opinions from the employees.

During the reporting period, no complaint were received
from its employees. Based on the advice from employees
earlier, Hongbo Mining has improved the relevant
management process by issuing the breakdown of their
current month’s leave, leave days taken in the previous
month and the remaining leave days of the year to each
employee on the 27th day of each month. In terms of
remuneration, the Company adheres to the distribution
system with labor-based distribution dominant and a variety
of distribution modes coexisting with fair grading. The
Company pays on or before the 5th day of each month with
the wage strips recording it on time; In terms of logistics,
the Company conducts satisfaction surveys twice and 1
employee discussion every year to collect all the advice of
employees on the spot.
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Remuneration and Benefits

The Company and its subsidiaries have established a
protective and competitive system of remuneration and
benefits and built a system of remuneration management
based on job values, personal ability and performance,
which geared to achieving effective interaction between
corporate performance and employees’ income. The
Company and its subsidiaries have committed to optimizing
their remuneration structures with innovative incentives
and remuneration communication mechanisms to make
allocation fair and scientific. The Company has complied
with national social security, employee welfare and other
relevant regulations by making corporate contributions to
their social security accounts such as pension, medical
care, work-related injury, maternity, unemployment and
housing provident fund with a social security coverage rate
of 100%. The Company also provides group accident
insurance in addition to the national social insurance, giving
further accident assurance for our employees. In terms of
holidays, in addition to the paid holidays, annual leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and other
holidays stipulated by the country and the region, the
Company also provides lactation leave for female
employees, that is, one to two hours of lactation leave per
day for female employees with child less than one year old.

During the reporting period, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not have any violation relating to the
employee remuneration, working time, equal opportunities,
anti-discrimination and other welfare matters.
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4.2 Employee Training and Career Development 42 BIZIIRBERRE

The Company and its subsidiaries support talent cultivation,
attach importance to facilitating talent education, pay
attention to the improvement of professional ability and
comprehensive quality of their employees, establish a
career development platform that enables mutual
development of the Company and its employees and
adhere to the guidelines of “providing quality training to
facilitate development”. During the reporting period, the
Company and its subsidiaries revised the Employee
Training System to further clarify the summary and sharing
of the training effects as well as the management of
training certificates, and Hongbo Mining also issued the
Skill Rating Management System for Operating Staff with
the aim of improving the staff’s operating skills, which
formed a comprehensive training system with multiple
layers, and formulated training plans based on the advices
and recommendations from the employees, providing the
employees with planned trainings related to corporate
culture, professional knowledge, post skills and
comprehensive quality. In addition to face-to-face trainings,
the Company and its subsidiaries also offer other trainings
in various forms such as self-learning, special seminars,
exchange sessions and job rotation, in order to enhance the
training efficiency and effects and continuously improve the
employees’ knowledge and working initiatives. During the
reporting period, the training program of the Company and
its subsidiaries covered 100% of the employees, with each
employee receiving an average of 30 hours of training.

Based on the training needs collected from different
departments, the Company and its subsidiaries formulate a
training plan for all employees at the beginning of every
year and implement such plan quarterly throughout the
year on a priority basis. After the completion of relevant
professional and personal improvement trainings, the
Company and its subsidiaries collect feedbacks from the
trained employees in a timely manner. The trainings during
the reporting period were well received, which in the
opinion of our employees provided supplemental
knowledge and skills improvement for the employees’
career development.
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During the reporting period, trainings organized by the
Company and its subsidiaries included: 4 sessions of
investment and management trainings, 10 sessions of
professional technical trainings, 4 sessions of personal
improvement trainings, 6 sessions of safety trainings, and
other special trainings.
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Investment and Management Trainings

REME BB

China Expert Forum Themed Low-Carbon Energy
Development Path under the Energy Transition Outlook
and the Vision of Carbon Neutrality (REJREEF! R 2B &+
MES THEERERERECERRE)

RERERRZEBHPMEAS THEEREREREEER
w8

Carbon Path in China- CICC Carbon Neutrality 2060
Forum (k¥ H BY — & ik 1 A1 2060 5%18)

B AR B — PR &R AP A1 2060 50 12

SNEC 15th (2021) International Photovoltaic Power
Generation and Smart Energy Conference & Exhibition
(Shanghai)

SNEC % 1+ HJ&E (2021) B KRG RE S KBS 2
N

ER(EE)

Prevent Insider Dealing Training

Pt RER H5E

Professional Technical Trainings (Hongbo Mining)

BERIMBAE (REEE)

Special operation trainings (height climbing, pressure
vessel, welding, high and low pressure)

Oil production, gathering and transportation technology
competition

FREEERII(ER  BHRR  BE  SEE) ol ~ SRR R
Well control trainings Hydrogen sulphide protection technology trainings
HEE T =lEs YR

HSE management position trainings

HSE &I /A3

Level 3 drilling supervision trainings

= REHEEE

Special trainings on HSE laws and regulations

HSEEARE B

The Second Hydrogen Storage, Transportation and
Hydrogen Refueling Station Technology Forum (£ — f&
[RFHEF - ERAN NN RE)

B ERR T - B %A NS L R R

Energy Storage Sub-forum of the 18th China Southern

The Fifth New Energy Power Generation Operation and

Power Grid International Technology Forum (5+ /\JE | Post-service Seminar (5 A EFTAEFRE BB & M 1& RIS
F BB iTmIBEEE D RIE) )
F+N\EMEHEEERETREREDRIE FREMEREEEE NMERBHTE
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Personal Improvement Trainings

BARTHHELE

Corporate culture and professional quality

EERVEEBRRE

Leadership development trainings

BENBRIE

New individual income tax practice trainings (2 sessions)

BB RESE (2 )

New employee orientation trainings (2 sessions)

BT ARSI (25H)

Safety Trainings

=l

Special trainings on HSE laws and regulations

HSE A AR F L

Special trainings on safety hazard detection

R EHEEERE

Full-time and part-time safety officer certification trainings

BERBz2EESEE

Fire drill (7 sessions)

B EAR (7 H)

Full-time and part-time driver trainings

ERBEHEE

Outsourcing unit entry trainings

HNEL B A5

Employee Promotion Mechanism

The Company and its subsidiaries, in view of employees’
career development needs and in the light of the
characteristics of different types of talent, have committed
to improving its two-channel career development system
where employees can choose to develop towards the
managerial or specialised direction, and establishing a
platforms and mechanisms geared to “unleashing and
utilising the talent of everyone”. In this regard, it has put in
place fair and scientific assessment methods to ensure that
high-calibre employees stand out while continuously
expanding the room for career development for all
employees and providing them with a career development
ladder in management and professional skills and the
corresponding resources to support the talent
development. Hongbo Mining formulated the
Administrative Measures on Echelon Personnel {##% A B
EIPR)) in relation to the employee promotion
management system, which strictly made a clear echelon
boundary between middle management and junior
management as well as screened and defined the backup
personnel at each level of management.
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4.3 Employee Care

The Company and its subsidiaries make contributions to
the five major social insurance programs and housing
provident fund for employees to protect their basic
interests. The Company organizes related activities on
occasions of holidays. Meanwhile, the Company actively
promotes the construction of the department and provides
each regular employee with team-building expenses on a
quarterly basis. In order to improve the living standards of
families of employees with difficulties, the Company and
its subsidiaries gradually implement employee assistance
programs to care for employees with difficulties, establish
a regular mechanism for visits and condolences to
employees in difficulties, carry out the activities of “sending
warmth and giving love” and set up a system for helping
employees with major ilinesses, thus gradually forming a
sustainable poverty alleviation system with full coverage,
strong support and multi-party participation.

During the epidemic, in order to protect employees’ health
of the Company and actively respond to the national
epidemic prevention and fighting requirements, the
Company and its subsidiaries has taken a series of anti-
epidemic measures, including: extension of the Spring
Festival holiday, sending special cars point-to-point to pick
up and deliver employees for rework, producing preventive
Chinese medicine and providing daily protective masks and
granting special allowances for those who remained on
duty during the epidemic.

The Company and its subsidiaries have always placed
employee health at the core of the Company's
development, integrated corporate health management
resources to promote the integrated management of
employees’ occupational health, physical health and mental
health based on occupational disease prevention and
control, and at the same time strengthened the
construction of cultural and sports venues and fitness
facilities for employees, organized the investigation of
employees’ health status risks, carried out outdoor
activities, film watching, summer sunstroke prevention,
Party building and other cultural and sports activities to
improve the physical and mental health of employees.
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V. COMMUNITY SERVICES AND A--BREEIE SRS

CONTRIBUTION TO THE SOCIETY

The Company and its subsidiaries have committed to developing
a platform for communication with local community, and Hongbo
Mining has established the public relations department serving
as the interface of communication in line with the guideline of
“mutual benefit, win-win and common development” to listen to
and understand their expectations and concerns, increase mutual
understanding, respect local traditions and customs, and actively
promote community engagement, thereby delivering value on
different dimensions including job creation, environmental
protection, poverty alleviation, and tax payment and driving and
promoting local economic, social and cultural development.

During the reporting period, parts of the Company and its
subsidiaries’ participation and investment in social welfare
projects were as follows:

Support Local Anti-epidemic Work

During the period of the epidemic, Weipin purchased 30,000
pairs of gloves, 5,000 bottles of disinfectant, and 900 protective
gowns, and sent them to 22 cities according to needs, and set
up epidemic prevention and disinfection stations in 22 cities.
Weipin provided regular services such as vehicle disinfection and
mask distribution for drivers.

Poverty Alleviation
Hongbo Mining helped local herders resist ice and snow and
clear roads, and provided assistance for 20 herder households.

Interaction with Community
Hongbo Mining invited the local herdsmen to carry out various
culture activities.

Zlii\\ﬂ&w%@ﬂﬁﬂﬁ/\\%kiﬁ%iﬁﬁ
EERIROTS  BEIEMNER - &
FER|NTH  REREERIAHLEA
REERBEBRED  BEMEMBMMD
HASEERERsRk - EREN TR BEAE
EMXEERMER - BRESHTES
B NAEME RERE KEE
CBRTWEZ T EAEEE  FE
AMREZHAE - g XEAIERE -
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@’Aﬁﬁ%éﬁiﬁ EIALT

S EM S nBRE

% 15 HR 5 Weipin £ B 30,000 & F E :
5,000/ 45 & © Q00 Ef #ERI L H
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194

Employment
Arranged employment for the local community, with some
employees of the Company being from the local community.

Through the cooperation with the local government, non-profit
organizations and non-governmental entities, the Company and
its subsidiaries have built a positive image within the local
community, created a harmonious social environment and made
contribution to the overall development and harmonious
improvement of the community.
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APPENDIX — INDEX TO THE ENVIRONMENTAL, [t — F8BTHRORE - HeRE
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE A#EiEs1)ABRES]
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(B5 - HEREREERES) BERR

Subject Area A. Environmental T EEEA RE
Aspect A1: Emissions BE A1 : il

Al General Disclosure II. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
—REE AND GREEN DEVELOPMENT
2.1 Emissions Management
Information on: Z RERGEEER
ARERLRERBHN - KRN  AEREEEENNELSH - 2.1 e E R

(a)  the policies; and
(@)  HE: K

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

b)  EBFHRTABEAFENRELIERARNER -

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx and other pollutants regulated under national
laws and regulations.

i BRIERERAANLY RAHRECRBEZRERLRIIRENTRY -

Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
BRERBBEZALR T SETER  SEKCEY  2RE/LCERSAEL
E)IL °

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.

BEBRERMERRAPIRATE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BE - HERERHEED) BERR

A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 2.1.2 Waste Gas Generation and
Management

2.1.4 Wastewater Management
A1 BERUE SR R AR R - 21 2BRAEERER
21ABKER

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. 2.1.1 Reduction of Greenhouse Gas
per unit of production volume, per facility). Emissions

A1.2 RERBAHNE CABE) R (NER)BE (MABESEN - §ERBE) 21V RERBRPEG

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per ~ 2.1.3 Waste Generation and
unit of production volume, per facility). Management

A13 FELRERENREUNGHE) L(NER)BE(MABESEN - ®AREHE) - 21 3BENELRER

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.  2.1.3 Waste Generation and
per unit of production volume, per facility). Management

A14 FELEERENEE(ANEHE) L(ER) BE(MASEEEN - BEREHE)  213BENELNER

A15 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 2.1.1 Reduction of Greenhouse Gas
Emissions
2.1.2 Waste Gas Generation and
Management
2.1.4 Wastewater Management
A15 HE R R BB 01 i AT G AR 21V RERBREEG
21 2BRAEERER
214BKER

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction 2.1.3 Waste Generation and
initiatives and results achieved. Management
A16 HlEBREERBERERNNFZE  REEEENEERAGHKR 2\ IEENEERER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide

(BE - HERERHERES)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources B A2 : EiR
A2

A2.1

A2.1

A22

A2.2

A2.3
A2.3

A2.4

A2.4

A25

A25

General Disclosure

—RBE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw

materials.

BRERER(BEER - KEEMRME) BE

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings,

electronic equipment, etc.
i BRAAREE  #F 88 BF BTREF-
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RENESNERR/FREER(E - fskh) @2 U TATRETE) REE
(MABESEN - BERENE) ©

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BEKERTE (U SESSEMN - 58

HEAtE)

?4”;'
p=1113

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

LB IROE A st B RATISAUR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

T SKIBR KR LA A E I EE - ARRI KRS RAERR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

SR AR RN EE ABEHE) R (NER) BEEEMES -

Content of the Report
BERR

2.2 Use of Resources and Management

228 FEERER

2.2.1 Energy Management

22188 REE

2.2.2 Water Resource Management

222KBFER

2.2.1 Energy Management
221 8RB R

2.2.2 Water Resource Management

222 KERER

[t is not applicable as no packaging
materials are required for the products

of the Company
ARANESBABEE - AET
b3
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BE - HERERHEED) BERR

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources B A3 : BER XRER

A3 General Disclosure Il. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
— R AND GREEN DEVELOPMENT

Z RERE ZEER
Policies on minimising the issuer’ s significant impact on the environment and natural

resources.

BEBTAHRERAREREXBEAT ENHR -

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural [I. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
resources and the actions taken to manage them. AND GREEN DEVELOPMENT
A3.1 WX EHHRERARRERNEAT EREHKNEREBY ENTH - Z RERE KEREE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BRE - HERERBEES) BEAR

Subject Area B. Social TE#EB. g
Employment and Labour Practices EfE % T
Aspect B1: Employment B B1 : Ef§

B1 General Disclosure 4.1 Employment and Protection of
—M = Employees' Rights and Benefits

LI ERRETEERE
Information on:
BAEFMNFE  BRERES  TERS  RE - FTERE St REBURE
i@ AN

(a)  the policies; and

(@)  BE: R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

b  ETFTHETABERFENREEERARNER -

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region. 4.1 Employment and Protection of
Employees’ Rights and Benefits
B1.1 BUR - EEEL  FRAFRMNEIDNES LY - LI EERETERRE
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 4.1 Employment and Protection of
Employees' Rights and Benefits
B1.2 RIER - FRERRMREDNEERKLE - L ERREIERRE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BE HERERBRERS) BERR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety BHEB2 : @EEZ 2

B2 General Disclosure 2.3.2 Safe Production
—RRE 232R%HE

Information on:

ERRHELZETIFREMRBREELBEMEEN

(a)  the policies; and

(@)  BXE: R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

b)  ETFHETABEAFENREEERADNER -

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. 2.3.2 Safe Production
B2.1 R TEREMIL T AR E - 232R2HEE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 2.3.2 Safe Production
B2.2 EIGHEATERS - 232RBHE
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are 2.3.2 Safe Production

implemented and monitored.

B2.3 TR B ERRELT 2R - URBERITRER % - 232%RHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BRE - HERERBEES) BEAR

Aspect B3: Development and Training B B3 : /& Kk &3
B3

B3.2

B3.2

General Disclosure 4.2 Employee Training and Career
—BHE Development
428 THRIIRBRER
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

BRRTMEEEIT TIERE MBI REEMEER - g -

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external
courses paid by the employer.

i BIEEREE  URRAEINEORINIRE -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 4.2 Employee Training and Career
category. Development
BRI REEERIE S - BEEBTHEIINTIRE - 428 THIIRBEER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards BT B4 : % T %8|

B4

B4.1

B4.1

B4.2

B4.2

General Disclosure 4.1 Employment and Protection of
—EE Employees’ Rights and Benefits

41 EERE THEZRE
Information on:

B IFE T s TH

(@) the policies; and

(a) HE: R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

b)  BFHRTABEAFENRELIEZRARNER -

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced 4.1 Employment and Protection of
labour. Employees' Rights and Benefits
TR EAM BB R ET REHI4T - 4V ERERE THEmRE
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 4.1 Employment and Protection of

Employees' Rights and Benefits
MR ERBRNEER A BB R 8 - 4V ERRE TEGRE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BRE - HERERBEES) BEAR

Operating Practices & Z 154
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management /E[E B5 : i EH#EE
B5 General Disclosure 3.3 Service Provider Management

—fRIEE 33 RBEER

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

EEHRENRERMERRBE -

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 3.3 Service Provider Management
B5.1 minRESHHEHEAE - 33 RBEERE
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the 3.3 Service Provider Management

practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.
B5.2 HEBRRAGEENED  MERTEEENNRERHE  LREHAEANMT 33RBEER
&%Qﬁjj_/j&— °
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BE HERERBRERS) BEAR

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility BHEB6 : ERE1T

B6 General Disclosure 3.2 Ensuring Product Quality and
—BHE Consolidating Customer Relationship

2RBEREE RERPBEE
Information on:

ERFRHEERNRBOREERZS B  BREIMEBESEARMERIEN |

(a)  the policies; and

(@)  BXE: R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

b)  ETFTHRTABERFENREEERADINER -

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health ~ Not applicable
reasons.
B6.1 PERREREREHP AL ERFEAMARKN TS - TER
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 3.2 Ensuring Product Quality and

Consolidating Customer Relationship
The business of the Company does not
involve product recalls

B6.4 WA E BT RREREMDWRR - 2REEMEE EETPHE

ARRFBENYREREKER

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 3.2 Ensuring Product Quality and
implemented and monitored. Consolidating Customer Relationship
B6.5 BB E BURIRIE RILBHCR - U RAABEMTRER A - 2RBEMEE EETFHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Content of the Report

(BE HERERBRERS) BEAR

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption BEB7 : R&5

B7 General Disclosure 3.1 Anti-corruption
—REE 3NRES

Information on:

BRI LR - R - BEFRARER

(a)  the policies; and

(@) BE: K

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

b)  ETFTHRTABERFENREEERADINER -

relating to preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the 3.1 Anti-corruption
issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

B7.1 RERBANGETASEEEREVEEENE)THRARMHNEE RFALE JIRES

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are 3.1 Anti-corruption
implemented and monitored.

B7.2 WA EEE R EREF  URBBRTRERNE - JIRES

Community #E

Aspect B8: Community Investment BT B8 : H E&R &

B8 General Disclosure V. COMMUNITY SERVICES AND
—RHE CONTRIBUTION TO THE SOCIETY

I REHE FRE
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.

BRNHE2ERTREEMEHBFENEREEXBEDEZBHEMNENBE -

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, V. COMMUNITY SERVICES AND

health, culture, sport). CONTRIBUTION TO THE SOCIETY
BS.1 EIERERE(NHE  BREEE SIFK BE b 85 I REHER FEdE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN 2 AR S

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT
LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of IDG Energy
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group"”) set out on pages 215 to 332, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code")
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

BB EEHIDGRRKREHMR
LFIBRR
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= UREBEMBHRENTE - REEESHTK
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BARA  ZEFEVBHRREREFES
fAGBEMHN(EBMBRELE)EEMS
ERMTEEER T -_—F=A=+—H
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS FREFER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RiEETEIESBERMAOEEHE » R AE5E
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated AEI4GA B BHEENBARAETENEIE - &
financial statements of the current period. These matters were LEFIEERMIBABREBEEVERELEEA
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial = BEHEITRIER - HPIT &Y ELEHEEH
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do  BEXHER

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of the Stonehold investment Stonehold R & 1518
Refer to note 20(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the 2474 B 73R 2= [ 5 20(a) % 231 B #Y
accounting policies on page 231. BETER ©

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BARESEE BN ETNAEEZER

On 14 August 2017, the Group granted a term loan to  Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of the
Stonehold Energy Corporation (“Stonehold”) for the purpose  Stonehold investment included the following:

of financing Stonehold’s acquisition of certain oil and gas  F {95t Stonehold R & G EH BN BT R FEIEA T
related assets of Stonegate Production Company, LLC &IH :

("“Stonegate”) (the “Target Assets”) and the subsequent

operations of such assets (the “Stonehold investment”). On e performing recalculation of interest income
26 September 2017, the initial payment with an amount of generated from the Stonehold investment;
US$165 million (approximately HK$1,291.1 million) was e  E#TaF& 8 Stonehold % & #8248 A | S WA
released to Stonehold and the acquisition of the Target Assets

from Stonegate was completed.

W—Z—tF/\A+MHBE " & % & [ Stonehold Energy

Corporation ([ Stonehold ) % T 7 B3 & 3k + LA & #F Stonehold

A Stonegate Production Company, LLC ([ Stonegate |) Ut &

ETHREBEE(BEREED URHEREENERES

([StoneholdR&E |) - RZZE—+FNA -+ H - BERK

% %8165,000,0003 7T ( 471,291,100,0007% 7t ) B & M F

Stonehold * [A] Stonegate W& B 12 & E INE 5T °
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Valuation of the Stonehold investment (continued)

Refer to note 20(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 231.

The Key Audit Matter

REFTER %)

Stonehold RE 1518 (#&)

EREG A RKR N E20(8) % 231 H /)
BEEE °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

HARESEE

The Group is entitled to interest on the principal amount of the
Stonehold investment at a rate of 8% per annum (after the
making of or the allocation of any applicable withholding tax).
The Group is also entitled to additional interest at an amount
equal to 92.5% of the remainder cash proceeds received or
recovered by Stonehold in respect of any disposal of the
Target Assets after repayment of outstanding principal and
interest and after deducting fees, costs and expenses
reasonably incurred by Stonehold with respect to such
disposal, if applicable. The maturity date of the Stonehold
investment is 10 years after the initial payment.

E & E =5 Stonehold REL A& 5B 8% BF(LFE (RIEL
FEBEBEATEITR) - EEEEZF 5 Stonehold HEE
o] B 1R & E P ER s B 1) ER & N ER & R ERE AR & R A 2
Fr Stonehold i ERE ESBEAMNER « AR & (@
FR) B FIERPT 1S FRIA ) 92.5% 1ERFEINNI S © Stonehold & 2
AR NEENKBEERI0FER o

The carrying amount of the Stonehold investment formed a
significant part of the Group’s assets. At 31 March 2021, the
fair value of the Stonehold investment was HK$964.4 million,
which was determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to a valuation report issued by an external valuer.
Valuation of the Stonehold investment is based on a
combination of market data and valuation model which
requires a considerable number of inputs.

Stonehold R EWAREIEEBKEEREENEZN D - R=F
——F=Z A=+ —H" Stonehold X EW A 1 EE A
964,400,000 7T * ThE R R ESBKBEINBAERM L A M EE
¥ &5 PTHERE © Stonehold R E M EKIBTISEE - AR K
REHBABENBEEED -

BANETNAEEZEE

involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the assumptions, inputs
and methodology adopted by management in
their valuation of the Stonehold investment by
checking the computation logic with the key
terms of the agreements relating to the
Stonehold investment, performing our own
valuation and comparing the results with the
valuation report issued by the external valuer;
and

SIAKRFARMEERERNIIE - HBE)FEHERE
F£ ¥t Stonehold 2 & # 17 & B B P £R A B9 1R
&% B AEKGE - B Stonehold 1% & 17 7€ +8
ARG REHERESE YRR MABL
MATE (A (E A REIN BT EN D ARV ERS
HEITHR : &

considering the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the fair value
measurement of the Stonehold investment
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
2EZWITEFTERH ZEKZE B Stonehold RE R
FEMBmERRA AN BETEIEMEEKER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of the Stonehold investment (continued)

Refer to note 20(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies on page 231.

REFTER %)

Stonehold RE 1518 (#&)

EREG A RKR N E20(8) % 231 H /)
BEEE °

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HARESEE BB NMAREEZEE

We identified the valuation of the Stonehold investment as a
key audit matter because of the degree of complexity involved
in valuing the Stonehold investment and the degree of
judgement exercised by management in determining the
inputs used in the valuation model.

B 7 Stonehold & & {8 B9 18 5 14 LA R B R AL 68 A 10 8 A (B
B RRKEE IR EHE - BB Stonehold R & 4 (B & #E 52
FEAFEE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Impairment assessment of oil and gas properties

PMRBEFER ()
JHi 3% B B 1YL 18 7

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the iERREiFEBEIHREZN T 135 5E 2335102

accounting policies on page 233.

The Key Audit Matter

ATIER o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRETEER

As included in property, plant and equipment, oil and gas
properties amounting to HK$448.8 million as at 31 March
2021 were principally used in the crude oil production by Xilin
Gol League Hongbo Mining Development Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company. All of the Group's oil and gas
properties were within one identifiable cash-generating unit
("CGU").

RZZBZ—F=ZA=+—0 9% BERKRXEBETPOHREE
#3448,800,000/&7C - TERARERAINNE R RHHLE A
LEBERBERARETHRMEERE - EXBEFERH
REEAK—ERZRNReEFEL((REELEEMN]) °

Due to the decline of crude oil price and the decrease in oil
and gas reserve volume, management considered that
indicators of potential impairment existed as at 31 March 2021
and performed an impairment assessment by comparing the
carrying amount of the CGU with its recoverable amount,
which was estimated by calculating its value in use based on
a discounted cash flow forecast.

BRFRBEERHN TRIAMR#ENTR  BEEERR  RZZ
T HF=A=+—"BFEEERETR  WRBLBRRESES
B BREEE B S FEEITRER (G - AT S FEmE
ERFRReRETBATENEABEETHE -

The preparation of the discounted cash flow forecast involved
the exercise of significant management judgment in
determining the key assumptions adopted therein.
Management estimated future production volumes for crude
oil, future selling prices and future operating costs with
reference to the oil and gas reserves report issued by an
external valuer.
FIRIRERERANRESTELETEEFR KA ERRZRRT
FEENEREAE - ERE2ZINHEMEZNDREE
HEAEETRARARKEE - RIKHEERIMARIEL KA -

BHNESTNAEEZEE

Our audit procedures to impairment assessment of
oil and gas properties included the following:
B FIstmRE ERREN GO EARFEEAT

KIF :

° evaluating the methodology applied in the
preparation of the discounted cash flow
forecast with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

e ZRBTEFNEANNER  HITRBEREE
B Al R AT ER B B9 3 VA ETT AT A

° assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer engaged by
the Group and evaluating the methodology
adopted by the external valuer against the
recognised industry standards;

e EHESEZENIINIMEEMBERE - 82 HH
BEEM - WA HINBEEMKBN T ERER

ARRIITERE

° challenging the forecast crude oil production
volumes, forecast selling prices and forecast
operating costs adopted in the discounted cash
flow forecast by comparison with the Group’s
business plans, historical production
information, forecasts by external analysts and
the oil and gas reserves report issued by the
external valuer;

s UREEENXBEE  BELEEER - INB
DITEDE TR E KL - FHMER L E R ER B B h R
FERE ERFTEGReREVAFTHANTE
BIFOMES - FRAIHSEBRMIBAEEKA
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BN Iz AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) REFTER %)

Impairment assessment of oil and gas properties (continued) 5 & & B8 EFF L (&)

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the ERiFA B ERENF IR EIZZHLNE
accounting policies on page 233. FTECE o

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BEETEE RAMNE A REZEE

We identified impairment assessment of oil and gas properties  ® involving our internal valuation specialists to
as a key audit matter because of the inherent uncertainties assist us in assessing whether the discount
involved in estimating the recoverable amounts of the CGU rate applied in the discounted cash flow
and because the selection of the various assumptions adopted forecast was within the range adopted by other
in the discounted cash flow forecast could be subject to companies in the same industry; and
management bias. o SIAABEHEERBHHRMAGHTRBE LS RE
HRNMEETR @ EEEUNAIKRES S RORNENEENE - A FRF AN R ERBERITEEM D TR
MERTRReRERATRANSEBRRALXERENR AHEBER : &

RATHBR - BfIsp H R E ERRE G AR EFE -

° evaluating the sensitivity of the outcomes of
the impairment assessment by considering
possible downside scenarios against
reasonably plausible changes to the key
assumptions, such as lower crude oil
production volumes, lower selling prices, higher
operating costs and higher discount rate, and
considering the possibility of management bias
in the selection of these assumptions.

s EZEEYBARBRBETEEAITHNEEAREHR
BAFIENR - AREESE T - HEBR TR -
BERA FAMTHEEEN WERERERE
EEREEBRFESRRIOF AN - LT
BB RT (45 RV BUKNE ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN 2 AR S

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. WWe have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

FEMBHEEREXBENRSL
58

EXEFUEMESAE - HESEETER
FHRANEIES - EFBRESUBEHRRK
BB RS -

BAHGEMBRENBERL TREEME
B BT ERZEFEME R BEREMTEAN
BE T4 o

AZ WA A

EFEEMES  FUBEY  TEREMES
EREGAMBHRRIBMERTBETHAT
RHEAFEERNEEREUFFEEAHR
BRAt B

o &5

ERBFEATHOINHE  MREMARBREME
BREBAHREL  RAFTERSZEE -
FETE  RFPRBEMRS

EFNGEMEBRRARENRE

EXFAERBEBTESTMASHEMNCER
B ER &R REBCR BERD) BB EEE K
REREMTENSAMBERE  YHERR
REEREMERROFE T FHE B REFHE
AR T 28 BURY B8 K 86 AR R AL Y 75 /9 Y BB 1 &

= o

ERBGEAMBERRE  EFRETHERE
FEKEMRE ) - WHEBERBR T HREESE
REBHANEIR  URERBELEREFTE
B BRIEFEEREREBRIFLEE
SRIEEMBERABRTER -

B ZBReWpEERTEEERENMER
TERENEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN 2 AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

212 IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

BB FHGFEMBEBRRRENR
155

ZANBR  EHERAMBREABERE T
EEBEé,ﬁhéﬁiﬁﬁéiﬁﬁ%@lﬂ’ﬂéﬁﬁaEéeﬁ%mﬁ%%
BERE  XHABREREME R A2 BAE &R
T HMRERBARZEIBIF(RAER)S
NIRRT - EREBBBRIRE ° BRULIASN -
BARE TR AIEEMARE - P LA
WENAE - BEFREMBALTEERERER
BfE-

BEREBERBKFHRE  BTERERR
(BABEADETNES  ERX—ERER
@Lﬁ%‘tﬂii@ﬁﬁ?“iﬁ B8 ER PR AT LA B EREF 3k
HER S - IMRAERH T MEBIOERLER
Tﬁ%%&;,Zv?/.:l\ﬁﬁki&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁwﬁEﬁ*i&%ﬁﬁ
TEHRERTE - BIA B &Y 58 R PRt AT 1R AR 1
EX-

ERB(ER B L) ETETBES
BMERTERHE R TEXRREE -
BAITR -

. %%ﬂﬁ%m%%#ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁPA
B 75 SR 5% T BB K B8 RR IR B L B
A RITERIE A B S E L ﬁ‘vk&
NERFEEMEENESRE  EASR
PMERER - ANKFFATES K H
#\%L‘ﬁgﬁﬁ*Fﬁﬁﬂ'ﬁé
M ERFRSIZ £ - Btk R E B R
#ﬁ%ﬁmékfﬁ@LmﬂMmﬁﬁ
B 2% IR R 55 AR T B 2R ) B K #6 AR PR AL 9
Rk -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN 2 AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

BB FHGFEMBEBRRRENR
T (&)

TR FERE A R EREH 0 ARRETE
ENEER 1BEE’UEE3E£TE\7K.W
ERIEFIE AR RER o

HEEEMRA S BRIREIERIE
SRS MAARENEN S EIE -

%T%%%F’ﬁﬁ?iﬁti‘“%QJ%WE’JV\%"IE
R - RIZPTERBETRE
ERAFEEFELF REEQE’\JEKT\
HEN M ERHERENRE
RERNELBARRE - WRHFIRR
TFHEEATHEEE  BELEEZEE
BETRBEAEIEGESHBRTH
HERE - REAAOERESE - Al
MEREEFFEREER - ZFINGH
RENZHBERE B ILARENETR
&AM RRFHRNKISERAIEERE
KETRERERLE -

FERAEVERROBERYIRAR
BMAR BEHEE - J«A&iﬁ/\ﬁﬂ‘%iﬁ
REAFERMRZHFMEIR

HREEEANERIERIDNIBHES
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BN 2 AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Kwok Keung Raymond.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

,—L—,/_\ N\ 7/
e B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =—Z=——&=A=+—H L5 E (LUBTIIR)

Revenue from sales and services
Cost of sales and services

Investment loss

Total loss from principal business
activities, net of cost

Other net gains

Administrative expenses

Taxes other than income tax
Exploration expenses, including

dry holes
Impairment loss on trade receivables

Loss before net finance income
and taxation

Finance income
Finance cost

Net finance income

Loss before taxation

Income tax

Loss for the year

SHE MARFS WA
HE R ARIS A

REBE

FTEXBIDAEE  HRRA

4(a)
E e 5
TTBRS
B PT1S R AZNR R 18 6
BERAY - B

7
FEUER R 2 BB E1E 33(a)
HEBRmERAFERTIEAEER
BhE U A
BB K AR
BB YA FRE 8(a)
BB ATEE 8
Frisft 9
FEBE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2021 2020
—EZ-F —ECTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
1,760,515 243,546
(1,765,908) (205,680)
(5,393) 37,866
(297,577) (244,018)
(302,970) (206,152)
1,964 39
(132,467) (83,494)
(6,985) (11,391)
(15,613) (2,914)
(13,550) (1,832)
(469,621) (305,744)
14,586 22,771
(9,354) (20,870
5,232 1,901
(464,389) (303,843)
28,013 7,118
(436,376) (296,725)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

0 N\ 7/

= /AL
%mpqtaﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =—Z=——&=A=+—H L5 E (LUBTIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2021 2020
—EZ-F —ECTEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T
Attributable to: FE4E :

Equity shareholders of the company RARERIEER (386,701) (276,790)
Non-controlling interests IR (49,675) (19,935)
Loss for the year FEEE (436,376) (296,725)

Loss per share BRER 12
Basic PN HK$ (5.849 HK$ (4.499
cent &1l ) cent 71l )
Diluted E HKS$ (5.849 HK$ (4.499

cent j&1l) centB1lll)

The notes on pages 224 to 332 form part of these financial TIEF R E 224 B &= 5F 332 B WIHT st AN B 75 3R
statements. FEAERKE D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
sreBm MEMEE NS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =—Z=——&=A=+—H L5 E (LUBTIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2021 2020

—EZ-F —ECTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET

Loss for the year FEEFE (436,376) (296,725)

Other comprehensive income for the year FEH{tt 2 EHU

(after tax and reclassification (AREREH D ERAER)
adjustments)
[tems that will not be reclassified to TeEMsEEBRRCER
profit or loss:
Equity investment at FVOCl — FREMEAW RN L EETER
net movement in fair value reserve HERIEE — ARBERE
(non-recycling) FEE) (TEEAER) (6,372) (840)

ltems that may be reclassified subsequently FRIgEREEEHHIETIER AR ¢
to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of MEGINF B R R 2 BT R &Y
financial statements of MEH =%
overseas subsidiaries 62,918 (39,143)
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHMEmEK=E 002000 56,546 (39,983)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHW LT (379,830) (336,708)
Attributable to: FEAL
Equity shareholders of the company IN/NGIL 2 8 (342,799) (313,022)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R o (37,031) (23,686)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2HEFEEE (379,830) (336,708)

The notes on pages 224 to 332 form part of these financial FIE R 224 5 F 5 332 B &Mt 55 A A B 75 4R
statements. FEAERKE D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ArE MR

At 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) %=

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Right-of-use assets

Interest in an associate

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Other non-current assets

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Bills receivables

Other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

FRBEE

ME - BB IR

FEZIRE

BV EE

A

EREEE

R — S R A e
FBBRB A BETIRD
TRIEE
FREMpEERER AR EERT
RS REE
HAiIERBE E

EEHAEE

REBEE
&

JRE UK B 3R
e = 4%

H fth fE IR
BRBERIEARN
CREE

tEESIHRA

Time deposits with maturities over three 2| Hi H & =1& A LA = —F AR

months but within one year
Cash and cash equivalents

EHER
RekReFHEY
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Z-—F=A=+—HBABTIIF)

13
14
15
16
17
19

20

21

22
30(b)

23
24
24
24

20

25

At 31 March At 31 March
2021 2020
RIZSZ—F [ e
=ZRA=1t—H !
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHIT
570,161 571,992
3,106 15,623
333,806 384,276
112,837 112,837
18,661 22,798
46,597 50,086
1,288,153 1,506,377

- 36,476

33,632 31,161
10,101 2,473
2,417,054 2,734,099
4,718 6,492
54,648 10,825
24,965 -
45,977 31,393
35,495 16,999
38,875 -
983,792 1,114,201
1,188,470 1,179,910



CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
/\‘/T\ =) E\ﬁ ;iji/\ﬂi'%

At 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=Z=—F=A=+—H GABTIIR)

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020
RZB=—%F N —TF
=RA=+—H :)EJ =+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FETT
Current liabilities REEE

Trade and other payables FE [~ BR 30 K% 4 FE 5 5k IB 26 326,622 193,275
Contract liabilities ERAE 368 1,087
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R EAMOIE K 27 23,664 77,543
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 5,189 5,209
355,843 277,114
Net current assets RBEEFHE 832,627 902,796
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBERS 3,249,681 3,636,895

Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Convertible bond AR E S 29 36,145 50,018
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 4,164 8,458
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHIBAE 30(b) 107,913 119,759
Provisions B 31 57,180 51,872
205,402 230,107
NET ASSETS EEFE 3,044,279 3,406,788
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
/\‘/T\ =) E\ﬁ ;iji/\ﬂi'%

At 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=Z=—F=A=+—H GABTIIR)

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 AOYA)

ROZ-—F N s

=A=+—8 :)EJ =+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR#E

Share capital P& 7N 32(c) 68,917 65,959
Treasury shares BT - (680)
Reserves i 32(d) 2,835,316 3,164,432

Total equity attributable to equity AR AEFERRE(LERSBLE

shareholders of the company 2,904,233 3,229,711
Non-controlling interests FEIERER 140,046 177,077
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 3,044,279 3,406,788

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 R-ZE-—F XA+ HAREETSHERFE
June 2021. A o

Wang Jingbo &K
Director %

Liu Zhihai 25058

The notes on pages 224 to 332 form part of these financial  TIE A5 224 B & 5 332 B WMt 5 AN 81 75 1)
statements. FKEVAARE D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARREDE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) & —ZE = —%=/8=+—H8 It FE CAETIIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
FRRRERRES

Fair value

reserve Non-
Share  Treasury Share Specific  Exchange (non- Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares  premium reserve reserve  recycling) reserve losses interests equity

MEERE
(FEEA
Bx  ERRG ROEE EERE  HERRE B#)  HURE it it FBEREE  BREE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 i i HK$'000 HK$'000
i TEx TAL TAL T %7 TAL TaL
(note 32(c)) (note 32(a)(i) 1not932(d)(n) (note 32(d)(i)) (note 32(d)(iv)) lnote32(d ‘)
(BizE32(c)) (FizE32 it 32(d) (i) (FizE32(d)(iv)

Balance at 1 April 2019 R=2-1%

TME-REH 65,959 - 4235186 7,291 1517 (13,458) (114,800) (638,288  3,543413 - 3543413
Changes in equity HE-ZC-ZF
for the year ended ZA=t-HLEERZ
31 March 2020: B2
Loss for the year FEER = - - - - - - (2767900 (276790)  (19935)  (296,725)
Other comprehensive income £ 4t 2 Elias - - - = (35,392) (840) = = (36,232) (3,751) (39,983)
Total comprehensive income 2N EE - - - - (35,392) (840) - (276,790)  (313,022) (23686)  (336,708)
Appropriation of safety REEEEES
production fund - - - 1,059 - - - (1,059) - = =
Utilisation of safety FRR2EEES
production fund - - - (1,549) = = = 1549 - - -
Purchase of own shares BEASRHG - (680) - - = = = = (680) - (680)
Disposal of financial assets at  (HEFBE M2 A
fair value through other B BB
comprehensive income SRAE - - - - - 750 - (750) - - -
Acquisition of Weipin B Weipin 34 - - - - - - - = - 200763 200,763
Balance at 31 March 2020  R=2=%%
and 1 April 2020 =A=t-HR
bt Sl 23
WA -A&H 65,959 (680) 4,235,186 6,807 (33,875) (13,548) (114,800) (915,338) 3,229,711 177,077 3,406,788
Changes in equity BE-3--F
for the year ended ZA=t-HLEEZ
31 March 2021: EREE:
Loss for the year FERR - - - - - - - (386701 (386,701)  (49,675)  (436,376)
Other comprehensive income  E-ft 2 E it - - - - 50,274 (6,372) - - 43902 12,644 56,546
Total comprehensive income 2 EE#EE - - - - 50,274 (6,372) - (386,701) (342,799 (37,031)  (379,830)
Appropriation of safety SRRELEEES
production fund - - - 834 - - - (834) - - -
Utilisation of safety FRZ2EEES
production fund - - - (127) - - - 127 - - -
Conversion of convertible bond BT E% 29(f) 2,976 - 43,707 - - - (28,707) - 17,976 - 17,976
Puchaseof ownshares  BEIBSHH 32(c) (18) 680 (1317) - - - - - (655) - (655)
Disposal of financial assets at  HEFBE M2 AN
fair value through other AR BB
comprehensive income SREE 2N - - - - - 19,920 - (19,920) - - -
Balance at 31 March 2021 R=Z=-&
ZB=t-R#&t 68917 - 4271576 1514 16,399 - (143,507)  (1,322,666) 2,904,233 140,046 3,044,279

The notes on pages 224 to 332 form part of these financial TIN5 224 B & 5 332 & 8t 55 A AN 5 5R
statements. FKEAERKE D ©
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =—Z=——&=A=+—H L5 E (LUBTIIR)

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Investing activities

Payment for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Payment for the purchase of
intangible assets

Proceeds from sales of property, plant
and equipment

Acquisition of Weipin, net of
cash acquired

Payment for investment in an associate

Increase in time deposits with
maturities over three months

Net cash outflow from
other investments

Proceeds from interest generated
from the Stonehold investment

Dividends received

Proceeds from sales of
other investments

Net cash inflow from disposal
of subsidiaries

Net cash used in investing activities

222
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2021
—EB-—F
HK$'000
FET

2020
—E-ETF

HK$'000
THETT

25(b) 82,899 43,396
,,,,,,,,,, 82,899 Lo )
(39,181) (61,581)

(7,886) (1,623)

32 47

34 - (210,568)
- (17,462)

(38,764) =

(420,484) (303,520)

- 101,913

896 4,305

357,412 303,697

19 2,278

(147,956) (182,514)



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

;\\/T\/\Eﬁ, \ Z ;ﬁ%%

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) & —ZE = —%=/8=+—H8 It FE CAETIIR)

2021 AOYA)
—B—F T E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Financing activities 7l 5 B
Proceeds from advances REBRRIEFKFTEFIA
and borrowings 25(c) 23,046 78,413
Purchase of own shares EIfE A= R0 g 32(c) (655) (680)
Repayment of advances and borrowings {8 & 23 & (& X (77,538) -
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERESNERLD 25(c) (6,220) (2,978)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 ffHEEMR SN S35 25(c) (570) (406)
Interest paid EAFE 25(c) (2,061) (2,188)
Other cash outflow arising from BEEFEA MR SRMN
financing activities (107) (1,560)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FH) EE2HE
financing activities EE (64,105) 70,601
Net decrease in cash and BeRESEEYRD FE
cash equivalents (129,162) (68,517)
Cash and cash equivalents at the REDNZHERRSEEY
beginning of the reporting period 1,114,201 1,191,534
Effect of foreign exchange HNEERBE 2 E
rate changes (1,247) (8,816)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FEAZRERBESEEY
of the reporting period 25(a) 983,792 1,114,201

The notes on pages 224 to 332 form part of these financial  TIE A S 224 B & 5 332 B M 5T A AN B 75 4R
statements. REVERER S -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B SRR M R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERESN » HLAEITTIIR)

224

CORPORATE INFORMATION

IDG Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company, which was incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company's
registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its head office and principal place
of business is located at Unit 5507, 55/F., The Center, 99
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.

On 29 July 2016, the Company completed a reverse takeover
transaction which involved, among others, the acquisition by the
Company of the entire equity interest of Xilin Gol League Hongbo
Mining Development Company Limited &5 #k 20 %) 88 72 18 7% % 51
&% B R 2 A (“Hongbo Mining”), a limited liability company
established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company is an
investment holding company principally engaged in the
investment and management of global energy assets and
mobility services businesses. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries and invested portfolio companies consist of mobility
services platform, upstream oil and gas business, LNG
liquefaction and exporting, LNG importing, processing and sales,
and LNG logistics services, energy investment fund management
as well as investment in energy-related and other industries and
businesses.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l\\/T\

BB HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2021 comprises the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group's interest in an associate.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that
the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below:

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see
note 2(g));

— Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (see note 2(g));

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

BHLAETTHIR)

2 EESHBE®

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l\\/T\

BB HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(c)

(d)

226

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

. Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

. Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

° Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of
Material

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/\\/T\ /ﬁ%%i&%MT FI_II_

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEE®EEX®

The Group does not have any equity interest in certain
structured entities. However, as a result of the contractual
arrangements, the Group has rights to exercise power over
these structured entities, receive variable returns from its
involvement with these structured entities and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over these
structured entities and is considered to control these
structured entities. Consequently, the Company regards
these structured entities as indirect subsidiaries under
HKFRS 10. The Group has consolidated the financial
position and results of these structured entities in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group
with direct control over Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could
impede the Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets
and liabilities of Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The
directors of the Company, based on the advice of its legal
counsel, consider that the Contractual Arrangements are in
compliance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations and
are legally binding and enforceable.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (d) KBLRERFEZRER (E)
(continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERESN » HLAEITTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

228

(continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
the equity shareholders of the company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l\\/T\

BB HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(e)

(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or joint venture.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(1)(ii)).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal Group that is classified as held for sale). Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of
the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any
direct investment into the associate that forms part of the
Group's equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group's
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see notes 2 (I)(ii)). At each
reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any
acquisition date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group's share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

230

(continued)
(e) Associates (continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and
this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g)).

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in associates are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(I)(ii)), unless classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal Group that is
classified as held for sale).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(f)

(g)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or Groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 2(1)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities
The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 33(g). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

232

(continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(continued)

(i)

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) — recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(conti

(i)

nued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether classified
as at FVTPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss
as investment income/(loss).

(h) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note
2(I)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and

equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the

initial

estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling

and removing the items and restoring the site on which

they

are located, and an appropriate proportion of

production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(y)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

234

(i)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, other than oil
and gas properties, less their estimated residual value, if
any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings and structures 40 years
—  Machinery and equipment 14 years
—  Motor vehicle b-8 years
—  Others 3-5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Oil and gas properties for the relevant area are amortised
on a unit-of-production basis. Unit-of-production rate is
based on oil and gas reserves estimated to be recoverable
from known reservoirs.

Exploration and evaluation costs
Geological and geophysical costs are charged to profit or
loss as incurred.

Costs directly associated with an exploration well are
initially capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets until
the drilling of the well is complete and the results have
been evaluated. These costs include employee
remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and

payments made to contractors.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(i)

Exploration and evaluation costs (continued)

Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken
to determine the size, characteristics and commercial
potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of
hydrocarbons, including the costs of appraisal wells where
hydrocarbons were not found, are initially capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets.

If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered,
the exploration and evaluation asset is written off through
the profit or loss as a dry hole. If extractable hydrocarbons
are found and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g., the
drilling of additional wells), it is probable that they can be
commercially developed, the costs continue to be carried
as exploration and evaluation assets while sufficient/
continued progress is made in assessing the commerciality
of the hydrocarbons.

Regular review is undertaken for each area to determine
the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward
accumulated capitalised exploration and evaluation
expenditure. To the extent that capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditure is no longer expected to be
recovered, it is charged to profit or loss.

No amortisation is charged during the exploration and
evaluation phase.

When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of
extracting natural resources become demonstrable, the
relevant capitalised expenditure is first assessed for
impairment and (if required) any impairment loss is
recognised, then the remaining balance is transferred to
property, plant and equipment — oil and gas properties.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

236

(i)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 2(l)(ii)).
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss. Cooperation right is amortised on
a unit-of-production basis. Unit-of-production rate is based
on oil and gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from
known reservoirs. Other intangible assets are amortised on
a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives
as follows:

—  Online car-hailing license 4-6 years
—  Drivers list 5 years
—  Business relationship 5 years
—  Others 4-10 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group as a lessee assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEE®EEX®

recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2(I)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

(continued)
(k) Leased assets (continued) (k) HEZE &)
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238

(continued)
(k) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract
("lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16, Leases. In such cases, the
Group took advantage of the practical expedient set out in
paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the change in
consideration as if it were not a lease modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

Lease prepayments represent land use rights paid to the
relevant government authorities. Land use rights are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. The cost of lease prepayments is amortised on a
straight line basis over the respective periods of the land
use rights.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(]

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables); Financial
assets measured at fair value, including equity
securities measured at FVTPL, and equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling), are not subject

to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

— trade and other receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof; and

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

240

(continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date. Impairment losses on trade
receivables are presented under ‘Administrative

expenses’, similar to the presentation under IAS 39.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
2(w)(iv) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e.
the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the

financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

242

(continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinguency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the
recovery occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

—  right-of-use assets;

— construction in progress;

— intangible assets;

—  goodwill; and

— investment in subsidiaries and associates in the

Company'’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(continued)

(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest Group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(I) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reserved.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss
in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial report
in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see note 2(I)(i) and (ii)).

(m) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.
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(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(m) Inventories (continued)

246

(n)

(o)

(p)

(q)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2(w)).

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowances (see note
2(1)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BB HRRME

(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Convertible bond

Convertible bond that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value of
the consideration that would be received at that time do
not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.

At initial recognition of the liability component of the
convertible bond is measured as the present value of the
future interest and principal payments, discounted at the
market rate of interest applicable at the time of initial
recognition to similar liabilities that do not have a
conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised
cost. The interest expense recognised in profit or loss on
the liability component is calculated using the effective
interest method. The equity component is recognised in
the capital reserve until the bond is converted or redeemed.

If the bond is converted, the capital reserve, together with
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the bond
is redeemed, the capital reserve is released directly to
retained profits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

248

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

(ii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of
tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous

years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(u) Income tax (continued) (u) FrS# (&)

2 EESHBE®

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future
taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from
the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary difference arising from
goodwill not deductible for tax purpose, the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing
of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

250

(continued)
(u) Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Provisions for future dismantlement costs are initially
recognised based on the present value of the future costs
expected to be incurred in respect of the Group's expected
dismantlement and abandonment costs at the end of
related oil and gas development and production activities.
Any subsequent change in the present value of the
estimated costs, other than the change due to passage of
time which is regarded as interest cost, is reflected as an
adjustment to the provision and the oil and gas properties.

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, and the rendering of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfied the
performance obligation in the contract by transferring the
control over relevant goods or services to the customers, at
the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

2 EESHBE®

(v)

(w)

RERKALE
EAREALBESHAEEEX
HERME - BEITEERIGEAR
A 2 3 AT I AT SEMA TS - (R
ERHAE EREA SR AER
REE - HEBNKREEESEAX
AR ETTRAEERRH 2R
EER=E R

AR RIBEESKR KRB & » 3K
BRAREE AN A - AIREAE
BREAXAAME - R LEEN =S
Z Pl REMERRAR RIBR SN o AR F— R
SZRAREMHERH LT BERETE
FHEEDHAEEETTHERIA
BE - R HEN 2 AR
{ERIBRSN -

BEFHR A B BN RIIERER
BRI BRI BN A S B
REBERKEEEDERRKHIAHRF
B R EEMAMBRELETT - BREAK
B RER A B A5 Ay &
PASI » (IR B Rt AN R (B
B eRRBZBEIAREE
HYFEEE -

WA R
AEEHE B EEBBETIRAH
EEm A REHREHRA D BB

<
S o

Bk

EXAKBEETTANTHENR
%5 BDAS A B8 7 am S AR A0 22 )4
BASBEERARESHNAENRE
TREBRERPE - AT IAE
R T BRERRE =7 WERNZ
ST WMATBREBERSEAM
HEW - WEMBREAEZ ST -

IDG 8RR EEMR AT / F3H,2021 251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BN

l\\/T\

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

252

(continued)

(w) Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Sales of goods

Customers obtain control of the goods when the
goods are delivered and have been accepted at the
Group's premises. Revenue of sales of goods is
recognised at that point in time.

Rendering of service

Revenue of rendering of services is recognised at
point in time when relevant services are delivered to
and have been accepted by the customers.

Dividends
— Dividend income from unlisted investments is

recognised when the shareholder’s right to
receive payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial assets to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset (see note 2(I)(i)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(x)

(y)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(y) Borrowing costs (continued)
The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

(z) Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a Group of which the other entity is
a member).

254 IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

2 EESHBE®

(y)

(z)

EERA (%)
BEEELRXBEELERERAIN
RIDETEREEFRTEREIH
EH MR TR - FIg i EERA
BERMEREBREENBLARA °
EERAEREEFRTEREIL
ENBRE D BET ERETTENX
B @EERRULEBEERAER
g =

21
(@) MHFRAAL:

(i) %T%& £ [R]422 il A

S
]@

(i) & z@gzk% ENimEN

4

Qe FT®F
Iﬂha
%

(i) BAREXAKEZR
AIMTEEEAR A
ZBAALTHZBALR
TR I REREERE

4l
9P ©

(b) MEMTIIERLER B
BN £ B R B

() ZERBEAEEAR—
SERRARKE (A&
BAF - fBARRE
EWB AR ZHEEEA

AR ©

(i) —EAEEBS—EEHN
BERAE R (LB
ZERREKENE
B EMBERSER
Al) e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l\\/T\

BB HRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB ZEHI

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(z) Related parties (continued)

(b)

(continued)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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b) (&)

(iii)

(iv)
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(vii)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(aa) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Company and its subsidiaries’ various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follow:

(a) Oil and gas properties and reserves

The accounting for the oil and gas exploration and
production activities is subject to accounting rules that are
unique to the oil and gas industry. Engineering estimates of
the oil and gas reserves are inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgements involved in developing such
information. There are authoritative guidelines regarding
the engineering criteria that have to be met before
estimated oil and gas reserves can be designated as
“proved” or “probable”.

Proved and probable reserves estimates are updated at
least annually and take into account recent production and
technical information about each field. In addition, as prices
and cost levels change from year to year, the estimate of
proved and probable reserves also changes. This change is
considered a change in estimate for accounting purposes
and is reflected on a prospective basis in relation to
depreciation rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Oil and gas properties and reserves (continued)
Future dismantlement costs for oil and gas properties are
estimated with reference to engineering estimates after
taking into consideration the anticipated method of
dismantlement required in accordance with industry
practices in similar geographic area, including estimation of
economic life of oil and gas properties, technology and
price level. The present values of these estimated future
dismantlement costs are capitalised as oil and gas
properties with equivalent amounts recognised as
provisions for dismantlement costs.

Despite the inherent imprecision in these engineering
estimates, these estimates are used in determining
depreciation expense, impairment loss and future
dismantlement costs. Depreciation rates are determined
based on estimated proved developed reserve quantities
(the denominator) and capitalised costs of producing
properties (the numerator). Producing properties’ capitalised
costs are amortised based on the units of oil or gas
produced.

Impairment losses of non-financial assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a non-
financial asset may not be recoverable, the asset may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised. The carrying amounts of non-financial assets
are reviewed periodically in order to assess whether the
recoverable amounts have declined below the carrying
amounts. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their recorded carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit containing goodwill is the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and the value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate selling price because quoted market
prices for these assets or cash-generating units are not
readily available. In determining the value in use, expected
cash flows generated by the asset or the cash-generating
unit are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs. Management
uses all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of sale volume,
selling price and amount of operating costs.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND

ESTIMATES (continued)
(c) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than oil and gas
properties, are depreciated on a straight line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking into
account the estimated residual values, if any. The Group
reviews the estimated useful lives and the residual values
of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of
depreciation charge to be recorded during any reporting
period. The determination of the useful lives and the
residual values are based on the historical experience with
similar assets and taking into account anticipated
technological changes. The depreciation charge for future

3

LA TTHIR)

Bt 30 & fh5t (4

(c)

E
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REH  RERBREOFTERAE T

B

periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from
previous estimates.

4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS 4
ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT

FERBETDRER > HIREE
RS &

REPORTING
(a) Total loss from principal business activities, net (a) FEXKITEHEERE HIBRAK
of cost K

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2021 2020
—E-TF
HK$'000
FHET

—EC-—F
HK$'000
TR

Revenue from contracts with customers 7 /& B 743 &5 2 Bl 55 15 5%

and recognised at point in time FEANZEAHWA
within the scope of HKFRS 15 A A HE — B F BE SR

— sales of crude oil (note (i) EmsEE (BIRE ) 90,008 152,219
— rendering of mobility services — R B ITARAS (P 5E (i)
(note (i) 1,670,507 91,327
Cost of sales and services THE R ARFS A A
— sales of crude oil — RAEE (79,521) (86,960)
— rendering of mobility services — RHETRS (1,686,387) (118,720)
(5,393) 37,866
Investment loss (note (iii)) & EsE (BEE i) (297,577) (244,018)
Total loss from principal business FEEBRZHREE -
activities, net of cost HIBRAK A (302,970) (206,152)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(a) Total loss from principal business activities, net

of cost (continued)
Notes:

(i) Revenue from sales of crude oil is generated by Hongbo Mining.
Hongbo Mining, one of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries,
entered into an exploration and production cooperation contract
("EPCC") with Shaanxi Yanchang Petroleum (Group) Company
Limited (Yanchang Oil Mineral Administrative Bureau) (PR FE%E & A A
(EE)ERETAR(ERHMEEER), “Yanchang”) in July 2010.
The EPCC gives Hongbo Mining the right to explore, develop,
produce and sell the crude oil extracted from the two blocks (Block
212 and Block 378) located at Xilin Gol League, Inner Mongolia and
shared between Hongbo Mining and Yanchang in the proportion of
80% and 20% respectively. Hongbo Mining commenced production
in Block 212 in 2010. The EPCC was renewed in January 2021 and
the expiry date of the EPCC is extended to 30 June 2022. Yanchang
had obtained from the Ministry of Land and Resources of the PRC a
15-year valid production permit for Unite 2, Unit 19 and other areas in
Block 212 in May 2017. Besides, Block 212 and Block 378 are
entitled to exploration permit which are renewable for a term of two
years after expiration. The current exploration permit in respect of
Block 212 will expire on 3 April 2022, whereas the current exploration
of Block 378 had expired since 9 November 2019 with a new
exploration being in the process of application preparation. The
amount of revenue represents the sales value of crude oil supplied to
the customers, net of value added tax. There is one major customer
with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the revenue from
sales of crude oil.

(ii) Revenue from rendering of mobility service is generated by Weipin.
On 15 November 2019, Triple Talents Limited (“Triple Talents”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a series of
agreements with Weipin and its affiliates, pursuant to which Triple
Talents has agreed to subscribe for certain equity shares in Weipin.
Upon completion of this transaction with a total investment of
approximately RMB200 million, the Company has become the
controlling shareholder of Weipin effectively holding 35.5% of its
total share capital and Weipin has become the holding company of
the mobility services platform business. Revenue from rendering of
mobility services is generated from rendering of online ride-hailing
services to passengers through Gaode, Didi and other platform .
Passengers send requests for mobility services through these
platforms, and the system automatically matches the orders with
drivers. The amount of revenue from rendering of mobility services
represents the value of full fares paid by passengers, net of value
added tax and the surcharge.
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(RSB ZEHI

4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS a4
ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT

REPORTING (continued)

(a) Total loss from principal business activities, net

of cost (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii) Investment loss

Stonehold investment (note (1))

JOVO investment (note (1))

GNL Quebec investment (note (1))

Trading securities listed in the U.S. and
France (note (1))

LNGL investment (note (1))

Fund investment (note (1))

Dividend income (note (2))

Share of losses of an associate (note (3))

Net realised and unrealised losses on

Stonehold % & (FiaE (1))

NLERE (M)

GNL Quebec & (Hi7E (1))

REBREE EMHRSES
(M=)

LNGL#& & (FF3E(1))

ES®E (M)

BB (FH3E (2))

1R — B A RIS E (MR (3))

TESMIABEEAR

derivative financial instruments B ERFRE
Others Hh
Notes:
(1) These amounts represent fair value changes on the Stonehold

investment, JOVO investment, GNL Quebec investment,

LA TTHIR)

FERGIDRER HEREE
RS EEE (&)

(a)

FEXBZBRER  HEFA

A ()
GERNCD

(i)  REBE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E——F —E_FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx ST
(300,421) (143,298)
30,629 2,167
(6,719) 29,140
1,491 (7,049)
(26,144) (116,595)
8,161 _
896 1,612
(7,334) (8,952)
- (1,641)
1,864 598
(297,577) (244,018)
Bt &E -
(1) It % 5018 & FF W &9 Stonehold
® & L2 #% & GNL

260

(2)

trading securities listed in the U.S. and France, LNGL
investment and investment income from the fund during the
year. Such assets are measured at FVTPL (see note 20), any
interest income arising from such assets is included in fair
value changes.

The amount represents the dividend income from equity
investment designated as FVOCI (see note 21) and trading
securities listed in the U.S..

The amount represents share of an associate’s loss under
equity method (see note 19).
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4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT

REPORTING (continued)
(b) Segment reporting

BHLAETTHIR)

4 FERBIDHAGR > MERRF

RS EEE (&)
(b) 7 EBEHE

The Company and its subsidiaries manage its businesses
by divisions, which are organised by a mixture of both
business lines (products and services). In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Company and its subsidiaries’ most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Company and
its subsidiaries have presented the following two reportable
segments. Details of the Company and its subsidiaries’
reportable segments as follows:

o Global energy investment: this segment invests and
operates upstream oil and gas business, LNG
business, and generates income from processing of
oil and gas and LNG, as well as investing in and
managing energy-related industries and businesses.

o Mobility services businesses: this segment manages
and operates the drivers and vehicles for rendering of
online ride-hailing services to the passengers through
aggregation traffic platforms and generates income
from rendering of mobility services.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Company and its subsidiaries’ senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of deferred tax
assets. Segment liabilities include all liabilities with
the exception of deferred tax liabilities.
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X% D EMGEEEZ(EmR
AR5 ) FE R o 2NA T R E B
RNaliRREm AR E & EHNE AR A
SE=THEEABNIZWMERA
ETERSPERRATEMEAE
— Bz A XEH NHRER 2HD
2o ARRREHB AR Z2HRD
B RFFIBAT

o i\ﬂ' ERIEE kIR E

48 & ERmRER - LNG

X% WEMIHAKZLNG

AREERERERABRAIT
ERPEEEW

o HITHRBER: koEHER
DigEm LB AEBR
BARETARFETRER
EHTR%E I B RHEETR
BEEWE
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BihzkE BEMAEE

18

DHEEBRMBEN &
WEERRDEE  TEF
ERERIBEE - DHEEER
EBRETHBERBINFAE
BfE-

IDGRERIRERRA A / F#2021 261



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BN

l\\/T\

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERESN » HLAEITTIIR)

4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

262

(i)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue from sales and
services generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. Segment
profit/loss includes investment income/loss.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/loss is
"adjusted EBITDA" i.e
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”.

“adjusted earnings before

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, management is
provided with segment information concerning
interest income and expense from cash balances and
borrowings managed directly by the segments,
depreciation and amortisation, and additions to non-
current segment assets used by the segments in
their operations.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 2(aa).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT

REPORTING (continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

(RSB ZEHI

BHLAETTHIR)

4

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers, as well as information regarding the
Company and its subsidiaries’ reportable segments
as provided to the Company and its subsidiaries’

most senior executive management for the purposes

of resource allocation and assessment of segment

performance for the years ended 31 March 2021 and

2020 is set out below.

Revenue from sales and HERRBUA (i)
services (note)

Investment loss REER

Reportable segment loss A2HABER
(adjusted EBITDA) (& FHZEBITDA)

Depreciation and amortisation  #7% &4

Interest income FMEHA

Interest expense MERX

Impairment loss on trade B SR BRERE
receivables

Reportable segment assets ~ W2HHBEE
(including interest in an associate) (& fFH —fEE 4 A a4
1)

Additions to non-current segment ERREIERE D BEE
assets during the year
Reportable segment liabilities T 22 HEE

Global energy investment

RERRE
Year ended 31 March
BE=B=t-HLEE

2021
—E--F
HK$'000
TER

HK$'000
TAL

FERGIDRER HEREE
RS EEE (&)

(b) ZEHE (&)
i) 2BHEE BEEREEE)

BEAHWMAMASD - A KRE
EE - —FERZITFF
—A=+t—HLEFERAR
AIREMBAR&ZSITHE
BABRBUETHEEIR
%ﬁ“%%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ
AIREMBARR 2RSS
ERZEAT o

Mobility services businesses Total
HTREER At
Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
BEZA=t-HLFE BEZA=T+-HLFE
2021 2021
ZE--% —BZ-%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TER TAT TER TEL

90,008 162,219 1,670,507 91,327 1,760,515 243,546
(297,517) (244,018) - = (297,517) (244,018)
(299,197) (202,174) (14,860) (8,619) (314,057) (210,793)

(52,672) (63,259) (90,224) (32,197) (142,896) (85,456)
12,510 21,811 204 42 12,114 21,863
(6,372) (7,308) (1,064) (289) (7,436) (7,59)

- (1,832) (13,550) = (13,550) (1,832)
3,022,112 3,413,165 586,058 509,500 3,608,170 3,922,665
46,597 50,086 - = 46,597 50,086
1,949 67,817 9,826 3,567 1,775 71,374
(260,874) (351,209) (205,205) (47,382) (466,079) (398,691)
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4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS 4 FERHIZDEGR - HNEREF

ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT RABE®E (&)
REPORTING (continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) ZEHE (&)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (i) 2BHE BEEREEE)
Note: B -
Revenue from sales and services reported above represents EXFEHRZHEERREBAIERE
reportable segment revenue generated from external customers. IR ZAI 2R A FDWA o RNEF
There was no inter-segment revenue during both the current and K t—FEHESEEWA o
prior year.
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, (i) A2M/LAPUWA 18 &
profit or loss, assets and liabilities ERaEsYER

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET

Revenue from sales and services $5& & BRIEW A 1,760,515 243,546

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Loss BB

Reportable segment loss Al 2o &R
(adjusted EBITDA) (#& 2 EBITDA) (314,057) (210,793)
Elimination of inter-segment profits %> &f fEl 71 ¥ §4 (915) (185)
Depreciation and amortisation e Y (142,896) (85,456)
Interest expense BRI (6,521) (7,409)
Consolidated loss before taxation MR RI4R S B8 (464,389) (303,843)
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(RSB ZEHI

4 TOTAL LOSS FROM PRINCIPAL BUSINESS
ACTIVITIES, NET OF COST AND SEGMENT
REPORTING (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues,

profit or loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

BHLAETTHIR)

4 FERBEIDHAGR > MERAE
RS EEE (&)

(b)
(ii)

At 31 March

7 EBE & (1)

T2HRSBYA - BF &
EREBEZHR(E)

At 31 March

2021 2020

RIS —F [ seimiees
=A=+—H =

=+—H
HK$'000
TAT

HK$’000
TR

Assets BE
Reportable segment assets A 2w EPEE 3,608,170 3,922,665
Deferred tax assets REFITBE E 10,101 2,473
Elimination of inter-segment 73 5 ] JE Uk 2k T S 6
receivables (12,747) (11,129)
Consolidated total assets CEEEEE 3,605,524 3,914,009
At 31 March At 31 March
2021 AOYA)
RoB-—F St
=ZA=1+—H ==
HK$’000 HK$'000

FB

TET

Liabilities aE

Reportable segment liabilities Tfiﬁ"*ﬁﬁﬁ 466,079 398,591
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHIBAE 107,913 119,759
Elimination of inter-segment payables 53 [ &) & {~ 20 18 7 £ (12,747) (11,129)
Consolidated total liabilities meRERE 561,245 507,221
Geographic information (iii) HIBEHFR

The external customer and non-current assets NI E R IEREEE (A
(excluded deferred tax assets, right-of-use assets, HIELEHRIBEEE FHESZ

financial instruments and interest in an associate) are
located in the PRC, which are mainly held by Hongbo
Mining and Weipin.
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5 OTHER NET GAINS 5 RMBha

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE

2021

—E-—F
HK$'000 HK$ (0]0]0)
FH&T T

Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEME  BENREF
plant and equipment (B518) e (2) 8
Net gain on debt waiver B R Tl = 1,910 =
Net gain on lease modification HEETFh=E 56 =
1,964 89
6 TAXES OTHER THAN INCOME TAX 6 FMAF{ERLUIIMHKRIE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2021 2020

—EB-—F —ETHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT T

Resources tax BIRB 5,401 9,126
Petroleum special profit taxation AW ES - 613
City construction tax R 600 701
Education surcharge A M nFR 595 408
Water resources tax IKERFL 389 543
6,985 11,391
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7 EXPLORATION EXPENSES, INCLUDING DRY 7 BZER% ' 8 E%H

HOLES

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR
Dry holes g3 13,321 =
Staff cost B TR 2,292 1,960
Technical service fee B AR & - 954
15,613 2,914
Exploration expenses, including dry holes were related to the HERY B AR EREREE

exploration activities conducted by Hongbo Mining.

8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) Net finance income (a)
Interest income

Net gain on bank financing products
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net
Interest on bank and other borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on convertible bond (note 29)
Accretion expenses (note 31)

Others

HMEIREE AR

8 BRWRABR

BE WA FEE

F B A
SRITIE B EE G U

bE 5 s (B518) F 58
RITREMBERZFIE
HEBEZFE

AR ES 2 8 (5 29)
RIS (FTEEST)

HAth

BB AT BN, (FEA)

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1t—HLEE
2021

—E-—F
HK$'000
FET

2020
—E-EF

HK$'000
TAT

11,799 21,668
1,253 1,108
1,534 (9,461)

(1,247) (2,036)

(570) (406)
(4,704) (4,967)
(2,539) (2,386)

(294) (1,614)

5,232 1,901
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8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 8 RWEHE®

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE

2021
—E-—f
HK$'000 HK$ (0]0]0)
FHET FAT
(b) Staff costs (b) EITHK
Salaries, wages and other benefits Ha - TEREMER 86,194 48,625
Contributions to defined contribution E R TR ARG EIfER
retirement plan 1,276 2,187
87,470 50,812
Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC, RIERBAEESESRARER AR
the Company and its subsidiaries participate in defined &EW%QEZ%EEE%E@EME?%@F
contribution retirement scheme (the “Scheme") organised by T T 6 B 4L 8 ) SRR R SR IR ET &Y (T 5t
the relevant local government authority for their employees. The 2l) o RRARRENE A B AR EIE
Company and its subsidiaries are required to make contributions MR T RTEEE ERRIKEE
to the Scheme. The local government authority is responsible for X EREERARE - B XAt a) FE
the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees. The FON - AR E R EH B AR R AT E
Company and its subsidiaries have no other material obligation to HREERARSEAEELRNRNEME
make payments in respect of pension benefits associated with AREAE°

this scheme other than the annual contribution described above.
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8 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 8 RWEHE®

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE
2021

—E-—f
HK$'000 HK$ 000

(c) Otheritems (c) EHMEH
Amortisation 5
— intangible assets —EBREE
— other non-current assets — HiIERBEE
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment — W - BEKEE
— right-of-use assets —ERAEEE
Auditors’ remuneration AT e
— audit services — ZEBRTS
Cost of inventories* (note 23(b)) FERA* (i 5E23(b))
& Cost of inventories includes HK$56,063,000 (2020: HK$59,585,000) relating

to staff costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses, which amount is also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in
note 8(c) for each of these types of expenses.

FHET TET

86,775 32,002
2,897 2,732
46,390 47,459
6,834 3,263
3,124 2,825
79,521 86,960

FERABEEMEIRA ERBIHE
F56,063,000 78 7 (=% =24 : 59,585,000
A7) Ll IR L BB ARR
MREM E 8(c) B A FHAXA -
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9 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 9 KFeBERAZAHER
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit (a) HZEERZFZAWHIEE :

or loss represents:

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE
2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax Bl#i%i18 — FERIEH
Provision for the year FEREE -

Current tax — Outside of Hong Kong ENHiF{18 — &HE U/ E

Provision for the year cER& - 1448
Deferred tax IEFER 18
Origination and reversal of temporary ik Z 58 AYE 4 N0
differences (28,013) (8,566)
(28,013) (7,118)
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9 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 9 RFERERAZHER ()
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting loss at applicable tax rate:

(b) HZEBRAHFAEHHERZR
B BRI -

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE
2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT

Loss before taxation BB A S 18 (464,389) (303,843)

Notional tax on profit before taxation, % A8 B 5 i FliE B i R 51 E 1B
calculated at the rates applicable to KR B Bl ﬂél’]%%mlﬁ

profits in the countries concerned (30,625) (8,900)
Tax effect on bonus deduction of B A IR I A RIS 2 &

research and development costs (2,179)
Effect of non-taxable income BAERMBRARZE (3,896) (3,556)
Effect of non-deductible expenses AR A 2 936 12,212
Effect of unrecognised tax losses REERT TE R o 2 7,751 7,427
Use of unrecognised tax losses R B ERENE A - (14,301)
Actual tax expense BREIERY (28,013) (7,118)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Cayman, Bermuda
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Company and
its subsidiaries are not subject to any income tax in
Cayman, Bermuda and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Company and its subsidiaries’ operations in Hong Kong
had no assessable profits for the year. The provision for
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%)
of the estimated assessable profit for the years.

The provision for PRC current income tax is based on a
statutory rate of 25% (2020: 25%) of the assessable profit
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax
rules and regulations of the PRC.

BENE ARERABELRES
G“EE#%%DZEW&&W'
ARFAREWBARBAENS
ERE R %Eﬁﬁ%@mﬁﬁ%
8% -

HRAFEEARNARREK B QRN
%%mmMiﬁéiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂv
WA AR B A FESTRIEL B -
FE2BEBFE m%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁf
RFRAE21656% (T4 :
16.5% )T & °

FR [ 25 BRF BT 15 B B4 TR FE R B A
MZ225% (ZE_FF :25%) 2
EEME (R BABBEASHR
R RABIEE)E
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10

272

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

10 EEHM

RIFEB SR BEHIZE 383(1) 15 &%

(1
BESMDER) RHIE 288 ﬁv‘?& ERE

EHEOT ¢

Year ended 31 March 2021

A (3

BE-B--FZA=t-HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind Bonuses contributions Total
E2 =41 RIK
£ Xtk REMHEG BB STEIMR st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TEx TR
Executive directors HITES
Wang Jingbo TR - - - - -
Liu Zhihai 2 - 2,320 - 25 2,345
Non-executive directors ~ FHITES
Lin Dongliang g2 - - - _ _
Shong Hugo pEBELE - - - - -
Independent non-executive B FETESE
directors
Shi Cen % 300 - - - 300
Chau Shing Yim FEIER 300 - - - 300
Ge Aij Bu# 300 - - - 300
Total @it 900 2,320 - 25 3,245
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(RSB ZEHI

10 DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Executive directors HITES
Wang Jingbo THR = 47 = - 47
Lee Khay Kok (resigned on  Lee Khay Kok
5 September 2019)* (RZF—N%F
AR REIE)* = 833 - - 833
Liu Zhihai (appointed on Epallist
5 September 2019)* (RZF—N%F
NARRERE)* - 1,162 100 38 1,300
Non-executive directors ¥ {TES
Lin Dongliang MR = - - - -
Shong Hugo RRRE S = = - - -
Independent non-executive F YV FHITEE
directors
Shi Cen £ 300 - - - 300
Chau Shing Yim A 300 - _ _ 300
Ge Al B 300 - - - 300
Total st 900 2,042 100 38 3,080
* The amounts disclosed as directors’ emoluments were amounts related to * B EESHMemEREA T NIETS

Directors’
fees

EEHE
HK$'000
THL

and benefits

BHLAETTHIR)

10 EFHM (=)

Year ended 31 March 2020

HE-ZE-F
Salaries,
allowances

in kind
Fe 28
REWH =
HK$'000
T

Discretionary

FZA=T-RALEE

Retirement
scheme
contributions
SRIK
AR
HK$'000
TH7

Bonuses

BfafeaL
HK$'000
THAT

Total

‘st

HK$'000

TAT

qualifying services provided by person during the period when he/she served

as director.

=HRMREHR 2 A ERREER -
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INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments during the
year ended 31 March 2021, one (2020: two) is director whose
emoluments during their appointment as a director of the
Company are set out in note 10 above. The aggregate of the
emoluments of the five highest paid individuals are as follows:

Salaries and other emoluments e & H b
Discretionary bonuses @@’F“il
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGTEIH R

The emoluments of the 5 (2020: 5) individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

HKS$ BT

Nil-1,000,000
1,000,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000

Z-1,000,000
1,000,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000
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11 EEFHAL

HE_Z-_—F=-A=1+—HLEFE"
FfusmHMATHBRE—((ZT=F
F:MM)ES  BETBRARRESH
A2 H BN SR EXCHiE10 - Al &= %
AT ZEHMEFTT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—EZ—F —2-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHETT

8,387 8,262

3,019 1,643

68 335

11,474 10,240
B (ZE-—FF ) ZauALZ

FMNTATEER :

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HIEE
2021 2020
ZEETF

Number of

—E-—5F

Number of

individuals individuals

A A
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12 LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of HK$386,701,000 and the weighted average of
6,611,214,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year,
calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

BHLAETTHIR)

12 BREGE

(a)

FREXE R
FEEREABBEIDUEARAR
/A AEBAERRREMEIE
386,701,000 7% 7T & B 217 & @ %
9 hn % - ¥5 £06,611,214,000 % &
K FTEWT

EERMEF9H

Year ended 31 March

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April

Effect of conversion of convertible HIB A BT E SR
bond (note 29(f)) & (FMizE29(f)
Effect of shares repurchased 2 BB A

(note 32(c))

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares at 31 March S8

(b) Diluted loss per share
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
2020 in respective of a dilution as the impact of the
conversional bond had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
loss per share amounts presented.

REUA—-—BEHTHE S

R=A=T—HKNE

Hﬁ

S (BI5E32(c)

s e

(b)

6,594,867 6,595,907
17,123 -
(776) (26)
6,611,214 6,595,881
ZREBER

RRARRES cFEHM25 2
BREAERSRAREENE
BYERBE—_FT - —FR_FT—
TEZA=1T—HLEFEMZIIZ
BREAEBRSBRELHEAR -
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 Y% BERRE
Buildings and ~ Machinery and Oil and gas
structures equipment  Motor vehicle properties Others Total
BERER  BERRE RE HREE Hitr b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TEL THIL TEL AL THL
Cost: KA
At31 March 2019 RZE-NE
=R=1+-H 109,775 81,362 10,749 890,972 22,941 1,115,799
Additions AE = 3,276 188 3914 217 7,595
Acquisition of Weipin (note 34) 48 Weipin (Fff &£ 34) - - 98 - 285 383
Reassessment of provision ~ B/& S (Fi1s31)

(note 31) = = - (2,602) - (2,602)
Transferred from construction ~ EBAERIR

in progress - - - 53,776 - 53,776
Disposals e - - (331) - (40) (371)
Exchange adjustments EHAE (6,718) (5,065) (655) (55,973) (1,413) (69,824)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTE

:H =f-H 103,057 79,573 10,049 890,087 21,990 1,104,756
Additions NE - 119 - - 878 997
Reassessment of provision ~ B/& S (Fi1531)

(note 31) = = - (1,474) = (1,474)
Disposals e - (408) - - (153) (561)
Exchange adjustments S 8,355 6,441 814 72,110 1,810 89,530
At 31 March 2021 WZE-—F

=R=1+-H 111,412 85,725 10,863 960,723 24,525 1,193,248

Accumulated depreciation:  ZEHFE !

At31 March 2019 iy 3

=A=t-H (19,955) (43,054) (8,034) (427,192) (20,401) (518,636)
Charge for the year AEEYH (2,692) (4,978) (795) (37,603) (1,391) (47,459)
Written back on disposals Rt E&E - - 314 - 38 352
Exchange adjustments JE 5 A= 1,291 2,766 505 27,133 1,284 32,979
At 31 March 2020 RZE-%F

=A=t-H (21,356) (45,266) (8,010) (437,662) (20,470) (532,764)
Charge for the year REELH (2,738) (5.219) (704) (37,507) (222) 46,390)
Written back on disposals hitim - 388 - - 139 527
Exchange adjustments R A% (1,826) (3,837) (674) (36,782) (1,341) (44,460)
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—F

=A=1t-H (25,920) (53,934) (9,388) (511,951) (21,894) (623,087)
Net book value: EEE‘?E :
At 31 March 2020 “E-TE

:)5] ==1g 81,701 34,307 2,039 452,425 1,520 571,992
At 31 March 2021 i —a

=A=t+-AH 85,492 31,791 1475 448,772 2,631 570,161
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14 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 14 ER2IE

Cost of wells
drilled and
other capital
expenditure

AR
Hth &4 H
HK$'000
TAET

At 1 April 2019 R-ZZE-NFHEA—H 18,193
Additions INE 52,279
Transferred to property, plant and equipment HWEEYE  WMENEEG (53,776)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 5 =& (1,073)
At 31 March 2020 RZZEZTF=H=+—H 15,623
Write off of dry holes 1% $H 57 (13,321)
Exchange adjustments b 5 804
At 31 March 2021 RZE=——F=H=+—H 3,106
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 B|LEE

Online
Cooperation car-hailing Business

right license Drivers list relationship Others Total

AIFE  RNERR AREE EBBE Aft @it
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
TR TET TEL T TAL T

Cost; B
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEWA—H 34,974 - - - - 34,974
Acquisition of Weipin (note 34) 48 Weipin (¥13£34) = 3963 20,264 371297 361 395,885
Addition NE - - - - 3,390 3,390
Exchange adjustments B 5 A% (2,140) (94) (413) (7,566) (66) (10,279)
At 31 March 2020 R-E-%F

=B=t-H 32,834 3,869 19,851 363,731 3,685 423,970
Addition AE = 1,742 = = 6,144 7,886
Exchange adjustments B A% 2,662 427 1,609 29,488 512 34,698
At 31 March 2021 i —a

=A=t+-H 35,49 6,038 21,460 393,219 10,341 466,554

Accumulated amortisation: B3t

At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEMA-H (8,799) - - - - (8,799)
Charge for the year KEEZ (921) (344) (1,515) (29,218) 4 (32,002)
Exchange adjustments A% 560 19 26 502 - 1,107
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZF

=B=t-H (9,160) (325) (1,489) (28,716) (4) (39,694)
Charge for the year MEER (855) (1,310 (4,148) (80,009) (453) (86,775)
Exchange adjustments R (772) (125) (264) (5,102) (16) (6,279)
At 31 March 2021 i —a

EE=ET=F (10,787) (1,760) (5,901) (113,827) (473) (132,748)
Net book value: Eﬁfﬁi‘gfﬁ :
At 31 March 2020 TR

=A=t-H 23,674 3,544 18,362 335,015 3,681 384,276
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ—F

=A=t-H 24,709 4,278 15,559 279,392 9,868 333,806
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16

GOODWILL

16 8

HK$'000

T

Cost: (B %N

At 31 March 2019 —NWE=A=+—H -
Acquisition of Weipin (note 34) U 8% Weipin (Bf5E34) 112,837
At 31 March 2020 and 2021 NR-B-_BER-_ZE-_—F=H=+—H 112,837

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating unit (“CGU") of
Weipin.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on the
calculation of fair value less cost of disposal. The Company used
sustainable growth method to reach a fair value, and then less
the cost of disposal to reach a final conclusion. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period.

Under the sustainable growth method, the Company used an
estimated weighted average growth rate of 3% for cash flows
beyond the five-year period which was consistent with the
forecasts included in industry reports. The growth rates used did
not exceed the long-term average growth rates for the business
in which the CGU operates.

The cash flows in sustainable growth method were discounted
using a discount rate of 29% (2020: 29%). The discount rate
used was post-tax and reflected specific risks relating to the
relevant segment.

Based on the result of the impairment test of goodwill, no
impairment provision was considered necessary for the goodwill
arising from the acquisition of Weipin.

BEBFECZHLELEZHER
#t

BB DEZEWepinZ L EAXEMN([H
EEHEEN]) -

ReELBNZARRESBERER
BERLEFEKAFTEMEE - X
ARAAFBEERAAANERLAAE
B WHERIME L EFEMNA -
ZHREER - RFFTETERBER
EIEEHEZRERFHRUBKREL
WeMIBRIEDL o

58

I

%

RIFAFEER TN AR RAFH
BHE S MERA3% WM INEFH
R - HETTRIREHFM TR —
B FIRAREMRY BERRSES
BURENRBEHRMFHEEE -

AREER AR RETIEA29%
BALER REEIR(ZFE T F : 29%)  Ff
RAMBBREESRBETRKRES @S
HEBENFERE

ERNEERENRER  BEANKE
WeipinFTEE £ R 2L BT TR E R
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17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17 ERHESE

Leasehold

Land property Total

Tt HEM= #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAT TAT

Cost: AN

At 1 April 2019 RZZT—NFMNA—H 10,029 4,698 14,727
Additions = - 8,110 8,110
Acquisition of Weipin (note 34) U Weipin (Bt 34) - 4,537 4,537
Exchange adjustments PE 5, E (613) (760) (1,373)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_TEF=FA=+—H 9,416 16,585 26,001

Additions = - 2,892 2,892
Written back on disposals H & # o] - (2,127) (2,127)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 % 763 1,173 1,936
At 31 March 2021 R-E-_—F=FA=+—H 10,179 18,523 28,702
Accumulated depreciation: 2T E

At 1 April 2019 R-ZZE—NFMOA—H - - -
Charge for the year REETH (288) (2,975) (3,263)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 7 53 60
At 31 March 2020 RZZE_TF=A=+—H (281) (2,922) (3,203)
Charge for the year REFEZH (293) (6,541) (6,834)
Written back on disposals H & m] - 384 384
Exchange adjustments PE 5 (33) (355) (388)
At 31 March 2021 N-EBE-_—F=A=+—H (607) (9,434) (10,041)
Net book value: BREDFE :

At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_TF=FA=+—H 9,135 13,663 22,798

At 31 March 2021 R-E-_—F=FA=+—H 9,572 9,089 18,661
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18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated.

Name of company

NAER

Xilin Gol League Hongbo Mining
Development Company Limited
("Hongbo Mining")

AN DREREERE
BRAR ([ HHm®%])

Think Excel Investments Limited

Think Excel Investments Limited

Valuevale Investment Limited

Valuevale Investment Limited

Golden Libra Investment Limited
Golden Libra Investment Limited

Weipin
Weipin

Hangzhou Bo Lu Technology
Limited
MMBEREERA

Hangzhou Shandian Chuxing
Technology Limited (note i)

MMRE L TR ARA R (B

Place of
incorporation
and business
AR
B8k

PRC

"

the BVI

RERTEE

Hong Kong
("HK")

B (&)

HK
&%

Cayman Island

REES

PRC

Particulars of issued
registered and
paid up capital

ER{THEMK
HEERNFE

RMB434,920,000

AR 434,920,000 7

United States dollars
("USS$") 1
(EZ(E )
HK$100,000

100,000/ 7T

HK$100,000
100,000/ 7T

US$50,000
50,0005 7T

US$30,000,000

30,000,000 7

RMB1,000,000

AR%1,000,0007C

(RSB ZEHI

BHLAETTHIR)

18 RMBATZIRE

TXEHYEE
E A ENKHE

Effective percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
KARELER
ERBAL
Direct

EE

Indirect

E3

= 100%
100% =
100% =
100% =

= 35.5%

= 35.5%

= 35.5%

IDGRERIRERRA A / F#2021

FTEAEENEE &
REIMFHF - BRR B

B - ik ST @K -

Principal activity

TEED

Exploration, development,
production and sale of
crude oil

BR - RE - LERHERA

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

BASR

Investment holding

BASR

Provision of mobility service

BRtt hiTARA

Provision of mobility service

FRAt TR

Provision of mobility service

BRAt L 1TIR
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18 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18 RMELATZEE (&)

Effective percentage of equity

Place of Particulars of issued attributable to the Company
incorporation registered and KAREERR
and business paid up capital EBAAL
Name of company EMRILK ERTEMR Direct Indirect Principal activity
GRS £ Sk BREXNFE H# Mg TEEH
Hangzhou Chuang Wei Technology  PRC RMB10,000,000 - 35.5% Provision of mobility service
Limited (note i)
MM EIEM AR AR (i) th AR 10,000,007 AL TTIR
Hangzhou Junshuo Technology PRC RMB10,000,000 - 35.5% Provision of mobility service
Limited (note i)
MM SBERE AR R (=) hE AK#10,000,0007C RALHTRS
Fujian Shandianxing Network Tech.  PRC RMB50,000,000 - 35.5% Provision of mobility service
CO., LTD (note i)
R ITRRRITER, hE AR #50,000,0007C RETTIR
(M3ED
Note: Bt st
(i) The Company does not have directly and indirectly legal ownership in equity (i) NNV EEELREEEE XS AB TR
of these structured entities or their subsidiaries. In accordance with SEHMNB ARSI ATHERE - BiEES
accounting policy note 2(d), the Company and its other legally owned HEMT2d) AR RESEZHENEM
subsidiaries has rights to exercise power over these structured entities, ME AT AR ZEEBEERITERED -
receives variable returns from its involvement in these structured entities, QEZELB T ERES A E ORI HREN
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over these FRHEAETEEENREHEE &%@
structured entities. As a result, they are presented as subsidiaries of the ]/ At - E25|ARATHHBA
Company.
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19

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Interest in an associate R—EEE R R B ER
On 25 September 2018, Valuevale Investment Limited
(“Valuevale”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the agreement for JUSDA Supply Chain
Management International CO., LTD. (R ZER R EEEIES
R A &) (“JUSDA") (the “Agreement”) and the management
team, in relation to the formation of JUSDA Energy Technology
(Shanghai) Co Ltd. (fERFEREREHR (E8) BRAE), which is
engaged in liquefied natural gas logistics services. Pursuant to
the Agreement, Valuevale agreed to contribute RMB78 million (in
equivalent of HK$85 million) to the investee. By 31 March 2021,
Valuevale has completed its capital injections with amount of
HK$61.4 million.

19 R—HBELFHHER

At 31 March At 31 March
2021 2020
RIEBZ—F S ss
=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T

46,597

50,086

R-ZZE—N\FALA=-+HB ' KAF%E
& W B A 7 Valuevale Investment
Limited ([ Valuevale | ) £2 % B 32 B B 4
EHEEBRAR ([ ERKE])) REEE
B%%TZT;??F*‘(H&%J) ' Wwﬁ%ﬁﬂj}ﬁ
{b%%%%/mﬂﬁﬁ‘%° *ETE‘ET;?;’JE%
Valuevale[d & M # & & A & H &
AR ¥ 78,000,000 7T (#HE 7 85,000,000
B e BE_E-_—F=A=+—8"
Valuevale 2 5B & %2 & 61,400,00078 7T
BEE o
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20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20 BEREEBRAAEEIEZ SR

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS EE
At 31 March At 31 March
2021 2020
RIZ-—F NS
=ZA=1+—H ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Stonehold investment (note (a)) Stonehold #% & (Kt (a) 964,430 1,264,851
JOVO investment (note (b)) NERE (BIE (b)) 170,950 140,321
GNL Quebec investment (note (c)) GNL Quebect&#& (Mt (c)) 68,342 75,061
LNGL investment (note (d)) LNGL# & (FizE(d)) - 26,144
ssLNG solution investment (note (e)) ssLNG R 7 =% & (KiFE () 25,109 -
Fund investment (note () E2HE (HFEM) 59,322 =
1,288,153 1,506,377
Current assets REBEE
Trading securities listed in the U.S. and REBEZEE ETHR S ES
France - 3,661
Bank financing products RITEEI E 35,495 13,338
35,495 16,999

Notes:

BeE

284

(a)

On 14 August 2017 (local time in Houston, Texas, the U.S.), the Company
and Think Excel Investments Limited (“Think Excel”), a wholly-owned
“Credit
Agreement”) with Stonehold Energy Corporation (“Stonehold”), pursuant

subsidiary of the Company, entered into a credit agreement (the

to which, the Company and Think Excel have conditionally agreed to grant a
Term Loan to Stonehold (the “Stonehold investment”) for the purpose of
financing the acquisition of certain oil and gas related assets (the “Target
Assets"”) and the subsequent operations of such assets by Stonehold. On
the same date, Stonehold entered into an acquisition agreement (the
“Acquisition Agreement”) with Stonegate Production Company, LLC (the
“Stonegate”), pursuant to which, Stonegate has conditionally agreed to sell
and Stonehold has conditionally agreed to purchase the Target Assets. All
Target Assets are oil and gas assets owned by Stonegate as a non-operator.

IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

RZZE—tFENATMHA (ERERERM
RETEE ) « AR B RAR B EHE
A &l Think Excel Investments Limited
([Think Excel]) £2Stonehold Energy
Corporation ([ Stonehold |) 3T 37 1& & # %
([fE&WHm=&]) - &t + &2 8 & Think Excel
2 A 1§ {F [E = 13 Stonehold % 1 & #1 & 3
([Stonehold 3% & |) + /% Stonehold ig i &
THREFEE((BEBEEITRERBRES
ZEEEREES - A B Stonehold 2
Stonegate Production Company, LLC
([Stonegate ) 5] 2 W #8 17 & ([ W B8 15
#|) ' Bt » Stonegate BB IEHRIEHE K&
Stonehold E A & RIZKREBZEE - i A
B iZ & E19 A B Stonegate A IE1EXEE F 175
BERBREE °
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20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(c)

(continued)

On 26 September 2017 (local time in Houston, Texas, the U.S.), the initial
payment of the Term Loan with an amount of US$165.0 million
(approximately HK$1,291.1 million) under the Credit Agreement has been
released to Stonehold and the acquisition of the Target Assets by Stonehold
from Stonegate has also been consummated in accordance with the terms
of the Acquisition Agreement, and a subsequent payment of the Term Loan
with an amount of US$5.0 million (approximately HK$39.0 million) has been
released to Stonehold on 22 November 2017. Under the Credit agreement,
the Company and Think Excel are entitled to interest on the principal amount
of the Stonehold investment at a rate of 8% per annum (after the making of
or the allocation of any applicable withholding tax). The Company and Think
Excel are also entitled to additional interest at an amount equal to 92.5% of
the remainder cash proceeds received or recovered by Stonehold in respect
of any disposal of the Target Assets after deducting outstanding principals
and interests pursuant to the Credit Agreement, as well as after deducting
any fees, costs and expenses reasonably incurred by Stonehold with respect
to such disposal, if applicable. The maturity date of the Stonehold
investment is 10 years after the initial payment of the Stonehold investment.

Stonehold holds the unconventional shale oil and gas assets in the Eagle
Ford core region in the U.S.

On 14 July 2017, Valuevale entered into a subscription agreement with
Jiangxi Jovo Energy Company Limited (“JOVO"), pursuant to which
Valuevale has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and JOVO has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, shares of JOVO at a consideration of
RMB100 million (equivalent to approximately HK$115.2 million). The
completion of the Subscription took place on 28 July 2017.

JOVO is a comprehensive clean energy service provider focusing on the
mid-stream and terminal aspect of the gas industry. It offers a wide range of
clean energy and related products, such as liquefied natural gas (LNG),
liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) and methanol, and comprehensive solutions
of international energy provision and integrated application.

On 30 November 2017, Golden Libra Investment Limited (“Golden Libra”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement of
purchase and sale with an investment fund for purchasing its interests in
LNG Quebec Limited Partnership (the “GNL Quebec”) at the purchase price
of US$3.15 million (equivalent to approximately HK$24,633,000). The
completion of the acquisition took place on 7 February 2018.

On 26 July 2018, Golden Libra invested another US$1 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,800,000) in GNL Quebec to support ongoing
development. On 30 December 2018, Golden Libra has transferred GNL
Quebec investment to Valuevale.

GNL Quebec, through its wholly-owned subsidiary GNL Quebec Inc., is
developing a state-of-the-art and low-carbon-emission LNG exporting
terminal with a maximum nameplate liquefaction capacity of up to eleven
million tons per annum.

BHLAETTHIR)

20 BABERAABEHEIIEZEM
BE 5

Bt : (8

(a)

(%)

RZT—+tFAA=+B (EERERER
MRETIEE ) - EEHHE N EHER
® & % 5 £ %165,000,000% 7T( 4
1,291,100,000 % 7T ) £ Z H T Stonehold * B
Stonehold 71 B 18 & U B 175 &% 1 3K 78 AK %
Stonegate H B ZEEWE - EBEEN =T
—+F+—H=-+=-H ' §%5,000,0003%
7t (#939,000,000 7% 7T ) B & HAE SR E B R T
Stonehold ° RIFEE #&% + AN A 7] K Think
Excel 1z 4 F| % 8% = & Stonehold & & 7~ &
B 2 F) B (R 1 M ok &1 485 4F o] 3B FR T8 40 7
%) o BIBE(EE W% + & Stonehold & (Efa]
BEEE HKABEELASRAMBE AR
Stonehold FEAERA I E S EHBHME A KA
MFA (fWiE ) % - 22 8] & Think Excel 71
£ #1548 E 1 Stonehold AT U B =k Yz B /9
FI#RIR© FT1S 508 92.5% KO F A (E A SN
B o Stonehold#® & #) 2| Bl B A X
Stonehold & E EHEMNKEMI0OFEH °

Stonehold #% /& 3 Bl & 2 1% 0 [ 33 1) JE 5 17
B HRREE -

R_ZT—+F+ A+IMH * Valuevale 82T 7
HEERBROHERAR (ThE]) T 7R
BE 7% 0 Bt ValuevaleB B IR E R
i MAEEAKHRERERETNER
5 R{ER AR 100,000,000 7T (FBE R4
115,200,000/ 7T) - REBRHEN T —+F
tA=+N\B%EK -

NE B — BT RE 5 R om B
BER A BRERIRIGIREE - Bt —F7
SRR EAARER - fIIBRERA
R(LNG) ~ RIE A MR (LPG) & FEz - 3t AH
BaEREEREEEARHEZEBATR -

RZF—t&F+—A=1H ' A_AZE&KH
B /2 alGolden Libra Investment Limited
([Golden Libra]) B —IHX EH STV EE
% #% ' LA3,150,000% m( H & R &
24633000 T ) MEEBBEZES R
LNG Quebec Limited Partnership ([ GNL
Quebec)) FH#Em - WEFER -FT—/\
FZRAtAZEK -

R=-—ZE—N\FE+H=+7H : Golden Libra
M GNL Quebec 32 J1#% & 1,000,000 3 7t (48
E R #417,800,000 77T ) A #5186 B A48 %
BeWR=_F—/\F+=A=+H " Golden
Libra® #GNL Quebect® & # % T
Valuevale

GNL Quebec iF i@ i3 K & & [ff B 2 "] GNL
Quebec Inc. 7 % 5 # K&K B HE A AY LNG
O HEEREAERRESF—T—8
BB o
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20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

286

(d)

On 2 June 2018, the Company through its subsidiary, entered into a
subscription agreement with Liquefied Natural Gas Limited (“LNGL"), which
is listed in Australia, pursuant to which the Company has agreed to
subscribe for, and LNGL has agreed to issue, 56,444,500 ordinary shares of
LNGL at an aggregate subscription price of A$28.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$166.8 million). Upon completion of the subscription, the
Company became the second largest shareholder of LNGL. The completion
of the subscription took place on 13 June 2018.

In 2020, LNGL had evaluated potential corporate and asset transactions to
provide liquidity and value for its shareholders. Being affected by the adverse
dynamics in the general global economy and the oil and gas market, and
other factors, LNGL's cash reserves were insufficient to sustain its
operations in the long run. To raise additional funding for its operations,
LNGL sold its equity interests in subsidiaries that own and operate the
Magnolia LNG project, which is situated in Louisiana. U.S., in late May 2020.
LNGL and the purchaser had agreed to work together (on a non-exclusive
basis) on a potential recapitalization proposal for LNGL but without success.

On 9 February 2021, the creditors of LNGL resolved to place LNGL into
liquidation, and all the remaining assets of LNGL were to be used to pay the
creditors in full for their claims before its shareholders can receive any
distribution.

On 15 July 2020, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with a
small scale LNG solution provider (“ssLNG solution investment”) at an
aggregate subscription price of US$3 million (approximately HK$23.2
million). LNG solution provider aims to solve defining challenges in strategy,
operation, sustainability and new business development for LNG industry
clients across Asian Market.

On 8 June 2020, Valuefort Investment Limited (“Valuefort”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and general partner of IDG Capital
Project Fund Il, L.P. entered into an subscription agreement for the
admission of Valuefort as the subscriber into the Fund. Pursuant to the
agreement, Valuefort proposed to make capital commitments of US$20
million (equivalent to approximately HK$155.05 million). As at 31 March
2021, the total capital contributed by Valuefort was US$6.6 million

(equivalent to approximately HK$51.2 million).
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LA TTHIR)

20 BiBER

BORREIRZ &

BE®)

BAE -

(d)

(e)

(%)

RZZE—NFRAZH KRR BEWB
A &) B8 M _E A 7 Liquefied Natural Gas
Limited ([LNGL]) :T 2 R E W% « Btk - &
ARIERERE: ﬁ'ﬁLNGLE H BT
56,444,500 INGLE B % - ZRBEE A
28,200,00032 7T ( 48 & M %’9166,800,000/%
TT) c REZBEEMKE - ARARIKALNGLE
ZARE - REEENR=_ZT—N\FXA+=
BHFER °

EA* T T4 INGLEHEBEERARIREE

TG AAEBRRREERDES R
Fﬁfﬁ o SRR ERER B i L K7 e SR T 35 S A
BUREMRAENTE  INGLHR S FHE
TRAMBRIEY - ARNHEEEERS
BES  INCLR=ZE-_ZTFRAARGEES
4% % 8 Magnolia LNGTE B (I R385
Hﬁﬁﬁw‘\‘\)E’]M’JE"?E’JH%E&%%—%E
77 o INGLEE HEREXR (EIFBRIE
T) #I7E LNGL ) BIE & AR E AT E - @IEEE
SR ©

RZZBE-—F-FANHE LNGLZEREAZ
RELNGLETTERE - LNGLH R HEA T B E
HEEANEEBREANRE  E&RHAM
HR SRR ERAIK ©

R-ZZE-_TE+LA+HB  ARFE—F/)
BIINGRR R T R E A 5] L R B% 1 &
(rssLNGﬁ&,}U?%EﬁJ) BREER
3,000,000 3% 7T ( #723,200,0005% 7t ) ° LNG
RS REEEE A INGITTERF RN
TNTIZEERS « B « TR EMRIES
R IB R AR PR -

RZZ_TFANE  KRAGZEHRBER
Al Valuefort Investment Limited
([Valuefort |) E21DG Capital Project Fund II,
LPHERERAT L —ERE R - U
W Valuefort tE BRI ANMAZES - RIFWH
7% * Valuefort 724 1 & 20,000,000 % 7T (418
EPA4)155,050,00087T) c BT —F=
B =+ — B Valuefortz * & # 58 A
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21

22

B MR M T

(RSB ZEHI

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Equity investment designated as
FVOCI (non-recycling) — listed in HK

The equity investment designated as FVOCI represents
shareholding of a company listed in Hong Kong. Golden Libra
designated the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling), as the
investment is held for strategic purposes. During the year ended
31 March 2021, dividends amounting to HK$879,776 have been
received (2020: HK$1,585,371) from the company listed in Hong
Kong.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

BHLAETTHIR)

21 BHRAMBEAKRSIRARMKRET
IR R REE

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020
REBZ—F EyNee s
=A=+—H =A=+—H

HK$’000
FTERT

HK$'000
TAT

BE /B BEMEMKSIR
NRBEIIR(TE ﬁ)\?@ £)
HRERE —REE L

- 36,476

BERBEREMEANEIZA R BET
IRMREREE—HHES EMmAFMNR
7 > Golden Libra B # 8 @ H b 2 H U ek
BRAREBEIER(TIEEABRR) NRE
EEAEYRRBEENMBAEMNIEE -
HE-_ZT_—F=-A=1+—HILFE"
EBEZB B LT AAUE879,776 % 7T
MRS (ZT=FF : 1,685,371 87T) °

22 HthIERENEE

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020

R-ZB-—F [Ssemiets

=A=+—H =A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Prepayments for construction in progress fE&E T2 7 FB 50 3,156 4,108
Performance deposit due from Yanchang [EUWIERAHAEELIZ S 6,455 5,970
Expenditures on public facilities A Z AR S 13,177 12,810
Prepayment for mobility service HAT7RRTS 2 FAR K 1,039 1,673
Loans to employees M{E BB 4,600 6,600
Loans to a third party mM—HBE=ZFER 5,000 =
Others Hit 205 -
33,632 31,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

l\\/T\

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

23

(b)

B MR M T

INVENTORIES
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

Spare parts and consumables

or loss is as follows:

(B S E RSN - BIABTTIIIR)

B R 5FER
Finished goods LAY oh

HEMBRIERATHFEE

The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in profit

7
At 31 March At 31 March
2021 2020
et S T T
:H :‘f’— =] E)E] :_1_7 =l
HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
3,927 4,455
791 2,037
4,718 6,492
BB Z LT ABEFE
THAAT -

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2021

—E-—F
HK$'000
FET

2020
s
HK$'000
THAT

Carrying amount of inventories sold HEFERNRE S 79,521 86,960
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24 EYIRHR R HEtEKRIE

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020
R-Z-—F [Seimieotes
=A=+—H =B =4—=E

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Trade receivables, net of allowance JE Y BR 7R (FNRR RER B )
for doubtful debts 54,648 10,825
Bills receivable FEME & 24,965 =
Other receivables H e U ROR 19,003 8,691
Prepayment to suppliers A RV 2 TR X 26,974 22,702
125,590 42,218
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be A FEURBE 3 N2 H fb fE UG F OB FE HR i A
recovered or recognised as expense within one year. —ER WO K ER AR ©
Aging analysis BB 2
As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade HEREHK  BEZEHE (mERK
receivables, based on the invoice date (or date of revenue SHEEH - WER) R REER M pE L
recognition, if earlier) and net of allowance for doubtful debts, is BE BRI OO T ¢
as follows:

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 AOYAS)
RO —F e imte s
=HA=+—H =A=+—H

HK$"000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Within 1 month 1E AR 51,216 10,825
1 to 6 months 1 Z261EH 3,432 =
54,648 10,825

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising BEAEBR ZEREREWRERELEZ
from trade receivables are set out in note 33(a). =ERBHE — S E SN MIEE33() ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3A &8RN © HABTHIR)

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25 BEeERBeSEYDRAMRER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION BEEH
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BERELZEYEIEE :

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020
RIZZ—F [l ats
=A=+—H =HA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T T

Deposit with banks SRITER 510,787 738,714
Cash at bank and on hand RITNFHERE 473,005 375,487
983,792 1,114,201
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

25 iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%l&;ﬂﬂﬁﬁm

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (b) BF 1517 &8 EE,%‘—_‘ EEBRELZ
generated from operations:

2021 2020
—E-—-F —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT T
Loss before taxation bR AT E 1R (464,389) (303,843)
Adjustments for: IR -
Depreciation of property, ME - RENMREITE
plant and equipment 8(c) 46,390 47,459
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 8(c) 6,834 3,263
Amortisation of intangible EEEEEE
assets 8(c) 86,775 32,002
Amortisation of other E b IER B & E
non-current assets 8(c) 2,897 2,732
Dry holes I 7 13,321 -
Impairment loss of trade FEMER R BB & B
receivables 13,550 1,832
Net financial costs ERLE R 6,567 19,767
Net realised and unrealised BRBRZALEETIER
losses on financial assets MEmEENMITE SR
at FVTPL and derivative TEAMBEERARER
financial instruments EEFRE 4(a) 290,262 235,664
Share of losses of an associate  fE{h — & R &) EE 4(a) 7,334 8,952
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of HEWE - BMELR ﬁ
property, plant and equipment 2 %E18 (IS 5 2 (39)
Net gain on lease modification HEEFDF S 5 (56) -
Net gain on exemption of debt  {EIFEARFIE 5 (1,910) -
Net gains on disposal of HEHB AR ZF S
subsidiaries (19) (598)
Changes in working capital: BIEE S EE)
Decrease/(Increase) FERL(Ehm)
in inventories 1,774 (1,393)
Increase in trade and 5 R 5 B L A UK
other receivables FIEE N (96,520) (12,958)
Increase in trade and FEATBR SR N B E A
other payables FRIEE N 170,087 10,556
Cash generated from operations 44 XEFBEE VIS 82,899 43,396

IDGRERIRERRA A / F#2021

291
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&2 AR - HABTTIIR)
25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

25 HeRBACEEMRAMBA LR
E¥EHE @
(c) BEZTBELZEREHKR

292

activities
Bank and
other  Convertible Interest Lease
borrowings bond payable liabilities Total
BTR
Hitfgm  TRRES ERFIE HEak @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT TET TET
(Note 27) (Note 29) (Note 26) (Note 28)
GEZ) (Kik29) (K&t 26) (K&t28)
At 1 April 2020 R-E-ZEFMA—H 77,543 50,018 9,711 13,667 150,939
Changes from financing cash flows: BEBRERELE
Proceeds from bank borrowings KRERTEE ZFER0E 23,046 - - - 23,046
Bank and other borrowings paid EHRIT R EMER (77,538) - - - (77,538)
Interest paid ERFIE - - (2,061) - (2,061)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ ERTREREHEALTH - - - (6,220) (6,220)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 HAEREHF S5 - - - (570) (570)
Total changes from financing MERSRESDEHE
cash flows (54,492) - (2,061) (6,790) (63,343)
Exchange adjustments ERAZ 613 - 1,071 814 2,498
Other changes: Hitt# g
Net increase in lease liabilities FAREABEINTE
during the year - - - 1,092 1,092
Interest expenses (note 8a)) FlS A% (f17E8(a) - 4,704 1,247 570 6,521
Interest payable FERT IS - (600) 600 - -
Conversion of convertible bond BRI E A - (17,977) - - (17,977)
Total other changes Hip )@ - (13,873) 1,847 1,662 (10,364)
At 31 March 2021 R=®--£=A=t+-R 23,664 36,145 10,568 9,353 79,730
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

25 iﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%l&;ﬂﬂﬁﬁm
(c) Eﬂﬁ)‘%ﬁéizgﬁffﬁﬂ%)

activities (continued)

Bank and
other  Convertible Interest Lease
borrovvmgs bond payable liabilities Total
' QeSS JERTFE HEEE Foby
HK$ (0010 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
(Note 29) (Note 26) (Note 28)
(B35 29) (F17+26) (F17+28)
At 1 April 2019 R-B-7EMmA-A - 45,653 9973 4,698 60,324
Changes from financing cash flows: BERLRESE
Proceeds from bank borrowings REBITEEZFETE 78413 - - - 78413
Interest paid EAFE = - (2,188) - (2,188)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BN HAER LMW ERDH - - - (2,978) (2,978)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 HAEREHF S - - - (406) (406)
Total changes from financing MERSRERHEE
cash flows 78,413 - (2,188) (3,384) 72,841
Exchange adjustments ERAE (870) - (712) (700) (2,282)
Other changes: Hitt# g
Increase in lease liabilities FARBEHMEEZ
from entering into new leases HESEEM
during the year - - - 8,110 8,110
Increase in lease liabilities R B U8 Weipin 2 A&
from acquisition of Weipin BB = = = 4,537 4,537
Interest expenses (note 8a)) FIERX (FE8() = 4,967 2,036 406 7,049
Interest payable R & = (602) 602 - =
Total other changes HitZ8hesm - 4,365 2,638 13,053 20,056
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-Z5=H=+-H 77,543 50,018 9,711 13,667 150,939
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25

26

294

B MR M T

(B S E RSN - BIABTTIIIR)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases

EB/HGD

25 HeRBACEEMRAMBA LR

(d) HERELHHBE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz TFETT
Within operating cash flows KERPREN 988 824
Within financing cash flows RMEREMEN 6,790 3,384
7,778 4,208
These amounts relate to the following: ZESTHEIATIEEAR :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT T
Lease rentals paid B HEERE 7,778 4,208

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26 FEfHRRR B H i FE £’ IR

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020

RIBZ—F Nt iiescs

=A=+-5 [RElERaE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FATT

Trade payables FESERRX 207,463 94,076
Taxes other than income tax payable B PTSH ASNRY R IR 20,849 13,694
Income tax payable FERETSR 1,624 1,410
Payable due to Yanchang FERTEEAM 2 208 65,346 57,286
Interest payable FEST R B 10,568 9,711
Others H{th 20,872 17,198
326,622 193,275
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26

27

BB HRRME

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
payables, based on the invoice date (or date of recognition, if

earlier), is as follows:

Within 1 year —FR

Over 1 year but within 2 years —FUAEERER
Over 2 years but within 3 years MENAEEB=FR
Over 3 years =FMNUE

Trade payables FEfTEREX

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

On 28 August 2020, Hongbo Mining entered into a mortgage
loan contract with Dongwuzhumugin Rural Commercial bank
("Loan Contract”), persuade to which, Hongbo Mining, as the
borrower, obtained a credit amount of RMB20.0 million
(approximately HK$22.2 million), with interest rate at floating rate
of Loan Prime Rate (“LPR") 3.85% +2.03% per annum,
repayable within one year, which was secured by land and
buildings with an aggregate carrying value of HK$93,469,000. On
14 September 2020 and 20 January 2021, the drawdown with
total amount of RMB20.0 million (approximately HK$22.9 million)
was made by Hongbo Mining under the Loan Contract.

26 FEfF ARk B 3 Ath FE 7 3R 0R (48)
FIT 7 P AR 0 B L A FE A R TR 0 —
FREERAREREE -

EREHR - RIEFXZ AL (R B

H(HAREE)) BN ERR KRS

At 31 March At 31 March
2021 2020
REIZ-—F [Seimieotes
=A=+—8H =A=+—~H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
178,599 73,928
15,341 4,781

3,376 8,058

10,147 7,309
207,463 94,076

27 SRITRHEMER

W-BE-TENA-+/\B - FEEE
B SR E RN ERITR L IE1E
EREHN(EREN]) Bt - 2EE
XEREBERARGSEESEARE
20,000,000 7t ( 4922,200,0007%8 T ) » %

EFREEENX(ERZEERE )
385%jJuﬂ¢2 03% HYF B F 5T 8 -
AR —FRNEE BHEEBRLREAR
93,469,000 7 7T #) - 1 R AE FEH 1 o
RZEBE_ZTFNATEHBER=ZFT=—%F
—AZ+H ZEBEEREERENE
# 2 B A K 20,000,000 ( %
22,900,000 7T) °
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28 LEASE LIABILITIES 28 HERAMR
At 31 March 2021, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows: R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H " ErHA
EBENT

31 March 2021 REYR\VEIe \WAAY

g -5

=A=+-8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within 1 year —FR 5,189 5,209
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFNR 3,318 3,795
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERAFR 846 4,560
After 5 years hF® - 103

,,,,,,,,,,, 4164 RN
9,353 13,667
29 CONVERTIBLE BOND 29 THWBEES

Liability Equity
component component Total

&&EHD G E b #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT TAT TAT

At 1 April 2019 R-ZE—hEMA—H 45,653 86,119 131,772
Interest expenses M BEFX 4,967 - 4,967
Interest payable JEASFI 2 (602) - (602)
At 31 March 2020 NR-E-_FE=H=+—H 50,018 86,119 136,137
Interest expenses A EFEX 4,704 - 4,704
Interest payable FEASTF 2 (600) - (600)
Conversion of convertible bond A & (&5

(note (f)) (B%E () (17,977) (28,707) (46,684)
At 31 March 2021 R-—B-_—F=A=+—H 36,145 57,412 93,557
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(RSB ZEHI

29 CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued)

Notes:

(@)

(c)

(d)

(f)

As at 29 July 2016, the convertible bonds originally had total nominal value
of HK$120,000,000 and interest at 1 % per annum which were payable half
year in arrears. The convertible bonds were convertible into the Company'’s
ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$0.0672 per share at any time
before 30 April 2018.

The convertible bonds have been accounted for as compound financial
instruments containing an equity component and a liability component. The
liability component was initially measured at fair value of HK$114,208,000 at
discount rate of 4.12% per annum and carried at amortised cost.

On 15 August 2017, the Company entered into a deed of amendment with
Titan Gas, one holder of the convertible bond, to further extend the maturity
date of the convertible bond with nominal value of HK$96,832,526 from 30
April 2018 to 30 April 2022, and to remove certain adjustment events to the
conversion price.

The modification resulted in the extinguishment of the financial liability of
the convertible bond and the recognition of new financial liability and equity
component. The fair value of the new financial liability regarding the
convertible bond revised portion immediately following the modification was
approximately HK$63,421,000. The fair value of the liability component was
determined by discounted cash flows over the remaining terms of the
convertible bonds at an effective interest rate of 10.88% per annum.

On 25 September 2017, Tanisca Investments Limited, another holder of the
convertible bond, exercised the conversion rights to convert all the
convertible bond held with the nominal value of HK$23,167,474 into
344,754,077 ordinary shares.

On 22 August 2018, Titan Gas transferred parts of the convertible bonds
with the nominal value of HK$16,832,526 to three entities.

On 18 October 2018 and 17 December 2018, convertible bond holders
exercised the conversion rights to convert their convertible bond with the
nominal value of HK$18,432,526 and HK$18,400,000, into 274,293,540 and
273,809,523 ordinary shares respectively.

On 9 March 2021, Titan Gas transferred part of the convertible bond with
the nominal value of HK$6,048,000 to one entity. On 11 March 2021, Titan
Gas and the other convertible bond holder exercised the conversion rights to
convert their convertible bonds with the nominal value of HK$13,952,000
and HK$6,048,000 into 207,619,047 and 90,000,000 ordinary shares
respectively. At 31 March 2021, the remaining convertible bond with
nominal value of HK$40,000,000 was solely held by Titan Gas.

BHLAETTHIR)

29 TAMERRTF (&)

Fi%E

(a)

(b)

(e)

REZZE—AR"FLAZ+NA - A[BRREFD
1]) 44 44 T {& /120,000,000 78 7 * 12 F F| R
1% B EEFEFELMAFE - TR ES
AIR=ZF— \FMNA=+B ZaIHERERE
R RERESR0.0672 8 TER AR QT
ZEBR o

AHRREFEARIN A EEND KA ER
DHERSEBTE - AEHDNBUAEF

4.12% Rh 3R 4% A 7 (B {H114,208,00078 7T
EITEE - WIREHRATIRR -

R-ZZE—t&ENA+HB  ARFHEEH—
% A] #2 i & 5 # A A Titan Gas 7] M5 2
% - DA — P8 E{E A 96,832,526 7 7T H) AT
BRESNIPHAR - N\ENA=1+H
ERE-T-__FNA=1H  LHEEHHR
RRABH S T =G -

ZIEFTERARRESF SR E BT EILE
w%ﬁ%mﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁé** o BRI AR A SRAE
ERIMOME MeMABEZRBETRZA
ﬁ%fﬁ%@a—%e&&tooolﬁm cBEHAZA
A BETRRN AR EFRSGRRREF
10.88% EFRFIRMBHRE ©MELEE °

RZZE—+tFNA=1+FEB  Z—FAHBRK
8z % A ATanisca Investments Limited &
TR - AR B EE /523,167,474 7%
TCH)FT A AT H R (B 55 #4275 344,754,077 IR
LA -

R-ZZ—NFENA=-+=0  Titan GasE#
DAIRREFERT="REE  BFFH 2
H18/4 16,832,526 /87T °

RIE—NF+ATNBER-F-—NF+=
A++tR - TRRESSTEATEERES
HE{E /518,432,526 7 7T & 18,400,000 % 7T
7 AT 32 AR 15 55 9 Bl #4284 274,293,540 A% K
273,809,523 i L 3@ A% o

R-ZT-——%F=HFNH  Titan Gas#§=F5 aJ
BREHFERT RER @RI HO2HEE
%6,048,000/8 T c R=ZE=—F=A+—
B © Titan Gas R E b A AR EHFH ATTE
i jE % H | 413,952,000 T &
6,048,000/ ;L M) Al R IR (B 5H 9 Bl 8 3% &
207,619,047 % % 90,000,000 f% & 38 A% - 7
—ZT-—4%=fA=+—H ®f&40,000,000
B TTHIRIEA AT AR (B35 2 20 H Titan GasHiA °
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AR B SRR M R

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3A &8RN © HABTHIR)

30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 30 FEMBRARZAEBR
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) ZEBBEMEEAZ IR #IE
financial position represents: 15

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE

2021 AOYA)

—B-—F —T_THF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT T4

At the beginning of the reporting period AR Hi4]) 1,410 -
Provision for the year FEEAE - 1,448
Exchange adjustments bE o 3R 2 114 (38)
At the end of the reporting period RIS HR 1,524 1,410
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fk3A &8RN © HABITTIHIR)

30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 30 FEMBRRARZAER(2)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) EFELEHELZEREE:
(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax (i) EEHEEEREENESA
assets and liabilities BRI Y B
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities R B 75 AR O 2k P AR A IR R
recognised in the statement of financial position and HIE(EE) /ABEAKISS
the movements during the year are as follows: RERNZEEHWOT :

Provision Fair value

for assets Property, Accumulated  adjustment

retirement plantand Intangible Credit loss tax  onbusiness
obligation  equipment assets Accruals  allowance losses  combination Total

HEERE UF KR 2 EBAH2
£ RkRfs  EVEE  EdRE  BEBE  HEEE AAEESR a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FEL ThET T TET TR ThT T

Deferred tax arising from: BERERE

At 1 April 2019 R=Z-hEMA-R (4,750) 8171 2 (11,672 - - - 31,770
(Credited)lcharged to profitorloss (3 ABz)/Rigz % (597) 2293 (1) 405 (458) (2,516) (7,682) (8,566)
Acquisition of Weipin (note 34) (& Weipin (¥f3£34) - - - - - - 97,890 97,890
Exchange adjustments ERSBE 307 3,008) (1) 703 12 43 (1,864) (3,808)
At 31 March 2020 R-E-2£=f=+-A (5,040) 47,456 9 (10,564) (446) (2473) 88,344 117,286
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (S ABz) /A B3R (635) 1,044 (1) 94 (3,673) (3,792) 21,040) (28,013)
Exchange adjustments Ef% (431) 3,884 - (853) (163) (332) 6,434 8,539
At 31 March 2021 R=B=-5=B=1-8 (6,106) 52,384 (2) (11,323) (4,282) (6,597) 73,738 97,812
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30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

30 FEMBRRRZAF/R (D)

(b) ERELEHEEERARE  (18)

(continued)
(i) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (ii) HMEMBERRTRZEE
financial position

31 March 31 March

2021 AOYA)

—E-—-fF —EEF

=A=+—H =B =4—=E

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT T
Net deferred tax asset recognised R 4R4& BI 7S AR M 2%

in the consolidated statement of TR IR IE R I8

financial position BEFE (10,101) (2,473)

Net deferred tax liability recognised R 4r& BT FSA R &R B

in the consolidated statement of R AR EF IR

financial position BEFE 107,913 119,759

97,812 117,286

(c) REFIELZHEEE
RIBMTE200) FREVEFTER - AR

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note

300

2(u), the Company and its subsidiaries have not recognized
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses
amounting to HK$100,879,000 (2020: HK$73,655,000) as
at 31 March 2021, as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

The unutilised tax losses in the PRC established entities
will expire in five years after the tax losses generated under
current tax legislation. The tax losses in those Hong Kong
incorporated companies can be utilised to offset any future
taxable profits under current tax legislation.
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31 PROVISIONS 31 Efm
The amount represents provision for future dismantlement costs Z B R E E R R AR AN B o
of oil and gas properties. Movements of provision during the RS EARBE B 0T

reporting period are set out as follows:

Assets
retirement
obligations

EEREE®
HK$'000
TAT

At 1 April 2019 R-ZE-hEMA—H 51,419
Additions NE 3,914
Reassessment Hih (2,602)
Accretion expense IEIEE 2,386
Exchange adjustments PE 5 (3,245)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEF=HA=+—H 51,872
Reassessment EHih (1,474)
Accretion expense R 2,539
Exchange adjustments PE 5 2 4,243
At 31 March 2021 R-EB-_—F=H=+—H 57,180
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 32 BF - #Him kR
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) BmEHEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing A RERE WM& 205 BRI & HA
balances of each component of the Company's RSB B L ERESIIN G S N EE
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement = o AR AR EF Y F K 2 A E R
of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the RO NEEBFHIFHIIMNT -

Company'’s individual components of equity between the
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Share Treasury Share Other Accumulated Total
capital shares premium reserve losses equity
(V&S EFkRG R E Hitf# % RitEE EReHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT FHT FHT FHT FHT FHEIT
(note 32(c)) (note 32(d)(i))  (note 32(d)(v))
(P 3E32(c)) (Bt 32(d)(i))  (HEE32(d)(v)

Balance at 1 April 2019 R-Z-N1&
MA—RAZ&H 65,959 - 4,235,186 150,517 (711,431) 3,740,231

Changes in equity HE-Z-EH

for the year ended =A=+—H

31 March 2020: EEEZREEE
Total comprehensive income  FE 2 m AW

for the year - - - - (27,358) (27,358)
Purchase of own shares HEIEEG ) - (680) - - - (680)

Balance at 31 March 2020 R-ZS-ZHF

ZRA=+-BZ&R 65,959 (680) 4,235,186 150,517 (738,789) 3,712,193
Changes in equity HE-Z—_-—&
for the year ended =HA=+—-H
31 March 2021: LEEZER2E :
Total comprehensive income  &E 2 H 42 UM
for the year - - - - (8,140) (8,140)
Conversion of convertible bond 2 Al % &5 2,976 - 43,707 (28,707) - 17,976
Purchase of own shares [AEI=EEg ) (18) 680 (1,317) - - (655)

Balance at 31 March 2021 R-B=-—-%
=ZA=t-RAz&H 68,917 - 4,277,576 121,810 (746,929) 3,721,374
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 32 B - EmBER (&)
(continued)
(b) Dividends (b) RE
No dividends were paid, declared or proposed during the BE T - FR-_ZT-_ZTF=8
year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. =t+—HIFE #BEXN Zik

HEFIRTALS

(c) Share capital and treasury shares (c) BRAEREFRG
Ordinary shares Preferred shares Total
ZER EER st
Number Nominal Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value  of shares value  of shares value
R H{E (¢4 HE B & HE
‘000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
FHIT Fi& FHT % FHT
Shares of HK$0.01 each SREE00EBTZRS
Authorised: VAT
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 RZZE-NFHA—B -
and 31 March 2021 ZZ-TFE=A=+-HRK
B —F=A=+— 11,000,000 110,000 5,000,000 50,000 16,000,000 160,000
Issued, paid or payable: BT SHREN:
At 1 April 2019 RZE—NFMA—H 6,595,907 65,959 - - 6,695,907 65,959
Purchase of own shares (note (i)) EAEEESGICE) (1,040) - - - (1,040) -
At 31 March 2020 AT -_TE=F=+—H 6,594,867 65,959 - - 6,594,867 65,959
Purchase of own shares (note (i) B0l B &R (PR G) (776) (18) - - (776) (18)
Conversion of convertible bond RN E & 297,619 2,976 - - 297,619 2,976
At 31 March 2021 RZZE=——%=A=+—8H 6,891,710 68,917 - - 6,891,710 68,917

IDG 8RR EERA A / F5;2021 303



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Are SRR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERESN » HLAEITTIIR)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 32 8% - EWRKRRE (&)
(continued)
(c) Share capital and treasury shares (continued) (c) REREFRG (&)

Note:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company repurchased its
own shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

Number
of shares
repurchased

Month/year BERGEE

Bt

) BE-E-—FZA=+-ALLF
B AARRBXAEERASRE
W -

Highest Lowest
price paid price paid Aggregate
per share per share price paid
B8R BENER
BEEE RIEERE 2f#aE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
I BT FHAT

March 2020 -

=z 1,040,000
April 2020 —_=—

776,000

0.68 0.58 680
0.89 0.80 655

As of 31 March 2021, all the repurchased shares were cancelled by
the Company upon such repurchase and, accordingly, the issued
share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of
these shares. The premium payable on the repurchase was charged
against the share premium account.

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium
The share premium represents the difference
between the nominal value and the subscription price
of ordinary shares and preferred shares issued by the
Company.

(ii) Specific reserve
According to relevant PRC rules and regulations,
Hongbo Mining is required to transfer an amount to
specific reserve for the safety production fund based
on the production volume of crude oil and natural gas.
The amount of safety production fund utilised would
be transferred from the specific reserve back to
retained earnings.
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(continued)

(RSB ZEHI

BHLAETTHIR)

32 8% - EmEREKRE (8

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(e)

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations as well as the
effective portion of any foreign exchange differences
arising from hedges of the net investment in these
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2(x).

(iv) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investment designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of reporting period in accordance
with the accounting policy in note 2(g).

(v) Other reserve
The other reserve comprises the equity component
of convertible bond and convertible note, and
reserves arising from the Reverse Takeover
Transaction.

Capital management

The Company and its subsidiaries’ primary objectives when
managing capital are to safeguard the Company and its
subsidiaries” ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Company and its subsidiaries actively and regularly
review and manage their capital structure to maintain a
balance between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in
light of changes in economic conditions.

(d) FEMHEREH(E)

(e)

(iii) ER#E
fEHEERRERABREGINE
B2 ERERMELEZNE

BN T 5= 7R DA I R 0 %
FBI R ZREFEME
EZEMINEEREZRZE
AR o FEETIIRIRFTRE 2(x)
PrEl @t R E -

(ivi 2REERB(TSEAR
)
AR BEFEBETTEAR
&) BREREREMEHREE
AIEOMEERBRBEME
EW iR AR BEIIRNE

Se

=
EAAhBERFTFE
B) - RIS ERTIREBM
2() FRE B ETEERIFE ©

B
y&“ﬁ

(v) HtufEt
HitfEmeE s RkEzR
AR RE SRS - A
KRB RIAKIER 52 8

BXEHE
ARAREMBARERERNET
ZANRRERRALENMB AR
BRENFERE - KimEBEER
K AE Y 8 2 E m A AR A TE (B A K2
ESEEMANEE - AEHEE
A8 7 IS R 20 [0 3 0 4 L 4t M 2 K
BAE R A2 o

ZAUNSIPS SRt PNCIE- LR -l |
REBREEARE  UEESRR
Bl (ATEAER/KFNEE)ERR
BEAAR T EENES RREZ
BREEF&  WREER R 2 B
BEARRBEITRE
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32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

306

(continued)
(e) Capital management (continued)

The Company and its subsidiaries monitor their capital
structure on the basis of gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of
convertible bond and bank and other borrowings to the
total assets).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company and
its subsidiaries’ strategy, which was unchanged from the
year ended 31 March 2020, is to maintain adequate funding
from bank and related parties according to the operating
needs and the capital commitments, and to maintain the
gearing ratio at a range considered reasonable by
management.

The Company and its subsidiaries’ gearing ratio at 31 March
2021 and 2020 was as follows:

Interest-bearing debts: FTEMER ¢
— Bank and other borrowings ~ — 84T RE A {E K
— Convertible bond — AR ES
Total debt BIET
Total assets BEE
Gearing ratio EEAELE

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.
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EXAEE ()
ARBREMBAREREERAR
R (LR BB ESRRITR
Hip &R AAREREENLLA)
EREENER -

HE—T - F=A=+—HIF
B AREREME A TR RS E
HE_Z-_TF=HA=1+—HIF
ERFBAE  DABBRKERFER
BAFRERIRIT KA TG RE
Bd UTHREERBBRHERENE
BERASENSGEN -

RABREMBARN T - —%F
R—_ZE_ZFF-_A=1+—HNEE
BELERMT

31 March
=H=+—H
2021

—E-—F
HK$'000
F#ExT

HK$ 000
TAET

23,664 77,543
36,145 50,018
59,809 127,561
3,605,524 3,914,009
2% 3%

NGRS eSO NG SR
ERME AN B AR B RATARIR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Are SRR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BA7ERRSN » HLAEITTIIR)

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency, oil price and
equity price risks arises in the normal course of the Company
and its subsidiaries’ business.

The Company and its subsidiaries’ exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Company and its subsidiaries to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company and its
subsidiaries’ credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at
bank and trade and other receivables. Management has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Company and its subsidiaries’ credit risk arising from
cash at bank is limited because the counterparties are
state-owned/controlled or listed bank and well-known
financial institutions which the directors assessed the credit
risk to be insignificant.

The Company and its subsidiaries does not provide any
guarantees which would expose the Company and its
subsidiaries to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Company and its subsidiaries measure loss allowance
for trade receivables at amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The
ECLs were calculated based on historical actual credit loss
experiences. The rates were considered the differences
between economic conditions during the period over which
the historical data has been collected, current conditions
and Company and its subsidiaries’ view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. The
Company and its subsidiaries performed the calculation of
ECL rates by the operating segment.

33 eMEARETEREMIAZAR
Ri{E
ARBREMBRAREBEREERS
HREE RBEES  ME- 8% h
BREEERRR

ZNYNETD NN LN = N DT o 3
B ARARBREMBRARERZE
REEAERNEREAREERRLER
ARt o

(a) EFEmEE

EERBEXZHFTEREAH
R EMEEA R A K E K 8RB
BEANER - AAFREMB A
AZEERBREIZRARTRER
FE UG RR TR S EL A FE MR IR © EIETE
EREEEEEBRLFEEET
Mz EEERR -

RRBREKMEB AR ZEERIRT
RemEERRER  REARRS
BFHREABREH S LR
ThkAZTHBBAERNGHHEE
ERBEN -

RRBREKE AR EREAR
AR E MR RAREEE AR
ERIHER -

P W BR K
RATREMBARIZREAENE
EFEREREEE RN SETE
FEW R E IR R - REMEEE
BERBENEREEBEERT
8- B EEBRERRE /MRS
R 2 BUREARR MV EAOR ~ B AT
BB IR AR B R ENB R
AT R AR B IER TRRF A
MEBERR=EZHNER - KD
AINMEMB AR EED B EA
HEEERX -
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 £MEREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®
(continued
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EEREE (&)
Trade receivables (continued) FEUS BR R (45)
The following table provides information about the THREBHENR -_E-_—FR-_FE-F
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivables FZA=+—BHEHEEEEER
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020: KkEWERNBEREEBERD é“
#

Impairment provision on
provision matrix basis
REGEREEE
REERE

Impairment
Gross  provision on Weighted-

carrying individual average  Impairment Loss
amount basis loss rate provision allowance
RERIEE mEFs
BEEE FHRAERE BiEx RERE BERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2021 TER TER % TER TEr
With 1 month past due BE—EANARA 53,859 - 4.91% 2,643 2,643
1 to 6 months past due BE—ZXEA 13,773 - 75.08% 10,341 10,341
Over 6 months past due BESEANE 2,964 1,928 100.00% 1,036 2,964
Total FeE 70,596 1,928 14,020 15,948

Impairment provision on
provision matrix basis

Impairment

Gross provision on Weighted-
carrying individual average Impairment Loss
amount basis loss rate provision allowance

RAFIRIE2E IEF
BEEE FHORERE BkE HEE EiREB
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2020 FAT FET % TAT FHBT
With 1 month past due BE—EAAR 10,825 - 0.00% = -
1 to 6 months past due BE—ZEA 1,784 1,784 N/AE A = 1,784
Total st 12,609 1,784 - 1,784
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

33 eRMARETEERSGMIAZIAR
RE®

(b) Liquidity risk (b) /J,biﬂﬁfﬂ/%%
The Company and its individual operating entities are AN RHEELEEREEHE Y
responsible for their own cash management, including the E’jiﬁ{ﬁg - BIERIE £ BRI H
short term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of WEREEEF R ETEHRSE
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval K Iﬁﬁf\{ﬁ?ktﬂ*ma’\ﬁﬁim&%
by the parent company’s board when the borrowings IKERERSESEAREEZS 2 it

exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The policy
of Company and its subsidiaries is to regularly monitor its

- A N/N T&EW% AW BUR 2
TEHEEE RS ESHT RN EEST

liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending EEZENIBR - ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?&ﬁ}ﬁ:&
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of MRS HERINERNEEBE

cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Company and its subsidiaries’ non-derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the
Company and its subsidiaries can be required to pay:

KB 2T BMEERGE R AN A
f‘f?ﬁ% J«A;ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬂ};m@

TRETARBREME QAT
EeMBERREHRNB TN

AEBER &tB%EAm REART
ERE(BEEREHNX(RINE
/% B IER®E

B M ENT
/_\—J

R FIR) &
R B AR 2 R R

EEANTNRRERE

Year ended 31 March 2021 Year ended 31 March 2020
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
HE-B--ESf=t-HLEE = ALEE
ARARRRERH I
More More More
Within ~ than 1year ~than 2 years Carrying Within ~ than 1year  than 2 years Carrying
1 year or but less but less More amount at 1 year or but less butless  More than amount at
ondemand than2years than5years than5 years Total KINUEXCOM  ondemand  than2years  than b years 5 years Total 31 March
B®
R-FAs RE-FE RBEWEFE Zh=t-B BB—FE
®EX TEERF THEIF  B8IF @t ZBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TR FiER TiEn
Bank and other borrowings  $£TREfof3 24,280 - - - 24,280 23,664 71543 - - - 71,543 71543
Trade and other payables  FERTEFREf
FER50R 326,622 - - - 326,622 326,622 193,275 - - - 193,275 193,275
Convertible bond ThERES 400 40,033 - - 40433 36,145 600 600 60,048 - 61248 50,018
Lease liabilities BEEE 5494 3475 851 - 9,820 9,353 5,766 4,159 47 104 14,801 13,667
356,796 43508 851 - 401,155 395,784 277,184 4,759 64,820 104 346,867 334,503
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 eMEARETEEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®
(continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIEREp
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash NZEREAE—THESMITIENARE
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of B EFEL T2 EHE mi@ﬂﬁ@
changes in market interest rates. The Company and its BN S O I NN
subsidiaries’ interest rate risk arises primarily from interest- HIBAFKFERERS EZE K Q -|—
bearing borrowings. The Company and its subsidiaries BER - KRR REWE A RITEL
regularly review and monitor the mix of fixed and variable %V&W&m K2 BAaRTTE A
rate borrowing in order to manage its interest rate risks. HEAEBEMN R
(i) Interest rate risk profile (i) FI=EEARRT
The following table, as reported to the management ka0 1A AR R | K E B A A
of the Company and its subsidiaries, details the EIREIMES  NRFM
interest rate risk profile of the Company and its RABREKB AR EE
subsidiaries’ interest-bearing borrowings at the FRE|MEHRE BHF =H
respective reporting period end dates. BB IE M ©

Notional amount

H{E

31 March 2021 EeARY/EIfelaWA040)
—E-—F —ETF
=HA=+—H =EH=—=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Fixed rate borrowings: EEMB
Convertible bond Al AR E 5 36,145 50,018
Lease liabilities HEaE 9,353 13,667
45,498 63,685

Variable rate borrowings: SEMER
Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEK 23,664 77,543
23,664 77,543
Net exposure B e FE 69,162 141,228
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The directors of the Company considered that the
Company and its subsidiaries’ to interest rate risk was
not significant, no sensitivity analysis has been
presented accordingly.

(d) Currency risk
The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed to currency

risk primarily through overseas investment which give rise

to other receivables and cash balances that are

denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other

than the functional currency of the operations to which the

transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk

are primarily Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar and

RMB. The Company and its subsidiaries manage this risk

as follows:

(i)

Recognised assets and liabilities

In respect of other receivables and payables
denominated in foreign currencies, the Company and
its subsidiaries ensure that the net exposure is kept
to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances. The Company and its
subsidiaries’ borrowings are denominated in United
States dollars and the Company and its subsidiaries’
functional currency is Hong Kong dollars. Given this,
management did not expect any significant currency
risk associated with the Company and its subsidiaries’
borrowings.

BHLAETTHIR)

33 eMEARETEREMIAZAR

BE®
(c) FIREER (&)
(i) BBESW
AAREERAARARRE

(d)

G PN E RIS S
REA - F L% 25 F =
B2 GURE AT -

B mEpE
RRE R EKE A R RS S
BT ERBEGELNIIMNE (BNER
%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ’]%‘@ﬁ]ﬁ%%%%é’l\mm
%) EHEME MR YFARR
BREEBIMRE - EXBERAR E’]f"i
%IEF’;%E CRTTRARE o K
B R M B BB IR bt L B 4
—F :

(i) CRILERAEE
FL DA NS SHE B9 H 78 KR

IE'&FEH*”IE AR AIRE
RN AR ARG BT
?%#ﬂ%%&ﬁ;%aa
HNEE - RERFEEFR

A KE - AAE REM
BRARMERAETTEE " &
AN REWEB R FA 6L
E¥ABT  BERIL &
I8 /2 7B H I AR ] B AN R A
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 £RNBREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E#¥mEp (&)

(ii) Exposure to currency risk (i) BE¥EE

The following table details the Company and its TREFLAAR T REBER
subsidiaries’ exposure at the end of the reporting BN EHRE AL 52
period to currency risk arising from recognised assets KL B AN B 5B
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the MEEREEXBBEMES
functional currency of the entity to which they relate. HEERERISN - 5258
For presentation purposes, the amounts of the # RRESENEITES
exposure are shown in Hong Kong dollars, translated RERANREE®RE - I
using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences ARG BN E SRR
resulting from the translation of the financial BME B2 EBEMELEN=
statements of foreign operations into the presentation #o

currency are excluded.

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

S mE (BB T5ITR)

31 March 2021 31 March 2020
—Z--F¥=H=+-H —Z E=A=+—H
United States Hong Kong RURIICRINEICS Hong Kong
Dollars RMB Dollars Dollars RMB Dollars
ES AR#® BT S AR BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET FET
Cash and cash equivalents HeERBEEEY 630,374 2,766 3,569 772,681 2,559 5,083
Trade and other TENER R R E A
receivables i &) 2,813 - - 2,154 - -
Bank and other borrowings fﬂfﬂiﬁﬁﬂ EFA - - - (77,543) - -
Trade and other payables EARREEM
JEfTRIR - - - (254) = =
Net exposure arising ERREERAR
from recognised EAERRBRFE
assets and liabilities 633,187 2,766 3,569 697,038 2,559 5,083
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 eMEARETEEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 8 (®)

(continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E#¥mEp (&)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis (iii) BBEIN

The directors of the Company considered that the KRB EERABARRRE
Company and its subsidiaries’ exposure to currency M B A B M % 2 & e I
risk was not significant. It was assumed that the TNEKX  AEEREZBILE
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the EnNZENHEERTEE
United States dollar would not be materially affected %fz)ﬂ@}ﬁﬁ@f‘fﬁ%{ﬁ@ﬁ@
by any changes in movement in value of the United ZHAEEME R ERTE
States dollar against other currencies.

(e) Oil price risk (e) HEREEE

The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries and
invested portfolios in the “global energy investment”
segment consist of upstream oil and gas business, LNG
liquefaction and exporting, LNG importing, processing and
sales, and LNG logistics services. Hongbo Mining, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, is engaged in
petroleum-related activities in the PRC. The Company also
has the Term Loan granted to Stonehold, which is engaged
in petroleum-related activities as well. Prices of crude oil
are affected by a wide range of global and domestic
political, economic and military factors which are beyond
the control of the Company. A decrease in such prices
could adversely affect the financial result and financial
position of the Company and its subsidiaries.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company and its
subsidiaries did not purchase any put options.

RARMBRARINEZEREB R
RI2HKREREZE | HEHMEER
SEELEFBRER - INGRIL K
HOCINGED - I REER
LNG¥IRRTE » RIBHEZE (AR A
WEEWB AR RAEREAH
HEEFESH - "R NEFEET
Stonehold (7R #¢ = A M EEEE 2))
MEHEN - FBERZERKEA
ABVR - KEMREZEARERZRE
=8 EZ%%jﬂFZK’\’TFﬁ
BEYER o RE TREAI LR ¥ AR
REKBA _TE’JHM‘%%%&EH%#
REETHEE -

Eﬁ aw‘ﬁﬁﬂ% °
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(f)

(g)

314

Equity price risk

The Company and its subsidiaries were exposed to equity
price changes arising from listed securities classified as
financial assets at FVTPL (see note 20) and financial assets
at FVOCI (see note 21). Decisions to buy or sell trading
securities were based on daily monitoring of the
performance of individual securities compared to that of
the Index and other industry indicators, as well as the
Company and its subsidiaries’ liquidity needs.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company and its subsidiaries did
not hold any listed securities.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The fair value of the Company and its subsidiaries’ financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, is categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 £MEREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®

(continued)

(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (g) £HMTAZAAEBEE (E)
(continued)

Fair value at
31 March Fair value measurements as at
2021 31 March 2021 categorised into
R-BZ-F
=ZA=t-H AREETE
2AAEE R=B--5=A=t+-EHEH

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

-8 et =8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TET TER

Recurring fair value BRAAEBETE
measurements

Assets: BE:
— Stonehold investment — Stonehold % & 964,430 - - 964,430
— JOVO investment —NERE 170,950 - - 170,950
— GNL Quebec investment — GNL Quebec & & 68,342 - 68,342 -
— Bank financing products —BTBRUER 35,495 - 35,495 -
— ssLNG solution investment —ssLNG AL RIZE 25,109 - - 25,109
— Fund investment —HEeRE 59,322 - - 59,322
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 eMEARETEEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®

(continued)

(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (g) =& ZRAAREEFE (B)
(continued)

Fair value at
31 March
2020
S 35
Eﬂ:ﬂ-*ﬁ AhBEE
RZZ_ZF=A=+—-HHEAR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
-1 EHR F=H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THT TR THET

Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2020 categorised into

AN

316

Recurring fair value BRANEENE
measurements
Assets: BE:
— Stonehold investment — Stonehold % & 1,264,851 - - 1,264,851
— JOVO investment —NERE 140,321 - - 140,321
— GNL Quebec investment — GNL Quebec & & 75,061 - 75,061 -
— Equity investment designate  — EEABBEM2E IR
as FVOCI — listed in HK BRARBESIRNES
BRE—REELT 36,476 36,476 — -
— LNGL investment — LNGL#Z & 26,144 26,144 - -
— Trading securities listed —REB ETNR 5% S
in the U.S. 3,661 3,661 - -
— Bank financing products — RITBMES 13,338 = 13,338 =
During the year end 31 March 2021, there were no HE—E-——®=A=+—HIt&E

transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or

B E—

AREE — K2 MY EE
B TEEAZ=AXBFE=AE
H o ARRREMB AR ZBES
REBELEER T RERRERAAE
BEARzEE -

out of Level 3. The Company and its subsidiaries’ policy is
to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

B MR M T

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(RSB ZEHI

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(conti

(i)

nued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value

Information about level 3 fair value measurement

JOVO investment
NEERE

ssLNG solution investment

sSING R A RIEE
Stonehold investment
Stonehold % &

Valuation techniques

fhER%

Discounted cash flow
BERBRERE
Discounted cash flow
BHERERE
Discounted cash flow
BRBemE

Significant
unobservable inputs
EPENIE i E
BAYE

Discount rate
RS

Discount rate
MR
Discount rate
BRI K

QOil price

HE

Proved reserves

BHLAETTHIR)

RiE@

(g0 2@MTAZRAR

33 eMEARETEREMIAZAR

EETE (%)

(i) BAABEFEBEZEWMEE

kEFZAREE
BEE=RIAAIEEAEZ
a¥

31 March 2021
—E-—F
ZA=t+-H

18%

44%

9.5%

USD56.0-79.9/bbl

56.0-79.9 £ 7T 1%
13,267.9MBOE

13,2679 THHEE

IDGRERIRERRA A / F#2021

31 March 2020

16%

9.1%

USD35.0-93.8/bbl
35.0-93.8% 7T/ 1#
15,525.4MBOE

15,625.4 A E =
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

318

(continued)

(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(continued)

(i)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (continued)

Information about level 3 fair value measurement
(continued)

The fair value of the JOVO investment measured at
FVTPL was based on the Discounted Cash Flow
Model. The cost of equity was determined based on
the Capital Asset Pricing Model with additional risk
premium built in to reflect the risks specific to JOVO.
The discount rate was then estimated by using the
debt/equity weights of JOVO. As at 31 March 2021, it
was estimated that with all other variables held
constant, a decrease/increase in discount rate by 1%
would have decreased/increased the loss after tax
(and decreased/increased accumulated losses) by
HK$8,996,000 and HK$7,949,000 respectively (31
March 2020: HK$9,806,000 and HK$8,483,000
respectively).

The fair value of the ssLNG solution investment
measured at FVTPL was based on the Discounted
Cash Flow Model. The cost of equity was determined
based on the Capital Asset Pricing Model with
additional risk premium built in to reflect the risks
specific to ssLNG solution. The discount rate was
then estimated by using the debt/equity weights of
ssLNG solution. As at 31 March 2021, it was
estimated that with all other variables held constant,
a decrease/increase in discount rate by 5% would
have decreased/increased the loss after tax (and
decreased/increased accumulated losses) by
HK$7,777,000 and HK$5,626,000 respectively.
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BRARBEFGBZERMEE
REBZAREBEGE)
BEE=RIAAIEEAEZ

BEH(E)

REBERERALEBYE
AEZNERENAREE
DERBRBEREER o
B ATRBEEREEE
BEREABE HP 558N
[ B s (B DA I Bk L R Y
Ebe o BhIRRpERHEANE
WMER o EEETH
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=+—8  4Fr(FBHME
BTSRRI £
1% &5 BIE D, SE ANk
BEE (R G MR ETE
B )8,996,000% T K
7,949,000 L (Z T = F
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(continued)

(i)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (continued)

Information about level 3 fair value measurement
(continued)

Given the extent of the Company and its subsidiaries’
exposure to the fluctuation in the value of the
underlying assets held by Stonehold, as at 31 March
2021 the fair value of the Stonehold investment was
measured using a Discounted Cash Flow Model. The
discount rate was estimated by using the debt/equity
weights of Stonehold, with Stonehold’s cost of equity
being determined based on the Capital Asset Pricing
Model with additional risk premium built in to reflect
the risks specific to Stonehold. The oil prices were
forecasted with reference to WTI crude oil price
forecast made by an independent valuer adjusted by
pricing differentials applied to account for
transportation charges, geographical differentials, and
quality adjustments. The proved reserves of
Stonehold were estimated by an independent valuer.

As at 31 March 2021, it was estimated that with all
other variables held constant, (i) a decrease/increase
in discount rate by 1% would have decreased/
increased the loss after tax (and decreased/increased
accumulated losses) by HK$31,748,000 and
HK$30,242,000 respectively (31 March 2020:
HK$72,598,000 and HK$85,727,000 respectively); (ii)
an decrease/increase in oil price by 10% would have
decreased/increased the loss after tax (and
decreased/increased accumulated losses) by
HK$193,403,000 and HK$216,887,000 respectively
(31 March 2020: HK$154,869,000 and
HK$207,447,000 respectively); (iii) an increase/
decrease in the proved reserves by 5% would have
decreased/increased the loss after tax (and
decreased/increased accumulated losses) by
HK$99,398,000 and HK$110,276,000 respectively (31
March 2020: HK$91,806,000 and HK$119,146,000
respectively).

(i)

33 aMEARETEREMIAZAR
R"E®E

(g) ZBTAZAEETE(E)

BRARBENEZEREE
PEBZAAREE(E)
ﬁ/?ﬁ*”_ﬁﬁz}fzﬁ‘féﬁiz‘
BHH(E)
B KRR A R EN B A R &
% Stonehold Fﬁ?ﬂ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?fﬁ
BEESRBROREE K=
e . B EI
Stonehold #& & H) A 7t BEF
FHMBRERERAgE -
85 I8 & {F [ Stonehold #Y 1&
1%,/ RS EHE - Stonehold
NEmKAREEAEERE
ERAEE - M INEE SN
2B V4 & LA S B Stonehold F
EHRE - MEN2EEL
& {5 B 1B B B WTI R i (B 1%
TEORI M AT TER - W 48
RAPRERER WEER
LEERABRNTEZERZ
M &A% o Stonehold I 2 B &
HERBY T HMEE -

#:f——ifﬂf+—
1&#(%%%@ ''''''' AEURTS
""""" ) ()RR R,
%g/\%l /Uw/i*ﬂurﬁf
g EECRR D>,
2 51 &5 8 ) 31,748,000 JT
30,242,000 T( = =
—EFE=A=+—8: 53l
72,598,000 7 7T & 85,727,000
ABT) s ivhE TR EFH
10% & 2 Bl A3 kR F
1?:)%%%(&&9/*3[15%
=t & 18 ) 193,403,00078 JT
12216,887,000/8 L ( =& =
TEF=A=+—H: 57l
154,869,000% 71T X
2mMmm%m)mEﬁ
BEHER N R P5%E
o Bl 41 R R &
BER(ERRD R
=t /&5 18 ) 99,398,000/ T &
110,276,000 T (= E =&
F=ZA=Z=+—8: % 7
91,806,000/ 1t K
119,146,000787T) °
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 £RNBREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®
(continued)
(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (g) £BTAZAABEE(E)

(continued)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) BAREETEZERMEE
measured at fair value (continued) REBZRAAEBEGE)
Information about level 3 fair value measurement BEE=F LA EETEZ
(continued) BER(E)

The fair value of the Fund investment was mainly %i&ﬁﬂ’]’& CEBETER
measured by reference to the price of a recent BLEHMKBREERES
transaction carried out by other investors for unlisted AR LT ?xﬁf\ﬂ/\’“
portfolio companies invested by the fund. ETHITHIR ZRERETE ©
The movements during the period in the balance of HRNZEF =P AN BET
Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows: SEZREEFHNAT ¢

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT T
JOVO investment: hERE .
At the beginning of the R HAAT)
reporting period 140,321 138,154
Net gains recognised in profit or HIR R 1B e MR A U 2 )5 R
loss during the period 30,629 2,167
At the end of the reporting period R ER&EEIR 170,950 140,321

Total gains for the period included  REEHRIEE 2 BE
in profit or loss for assets held at BEAAEZEEANZ
the end of the reporting period BRIk 25 48 %A 30,629 2,167
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 £RNBREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®
(continued)
(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (g) £HMTAZAAEBEE (E)

(continued)

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) BARAEBESEZEREE
measured at fair value (continued) kEEZAREEGE)
Information about level 3 fair value measurement BHEE=ZRLALBHEHTEZ
(continued) BH(4E)

Year ended
31 March
2021
BZE
—E-—F
=A=+—H
LFE
HK$°000
FET
ssLNG solution investment: ssLNG f#R F RIRE :
At the beginning of the reporting period ¥R & ER 1) -
Purchase BE 23,263
Net gains recognised in profit or loss R B R =) F /e
during the period 1,846
At the end of the reporting period KRR HiR 25,109
Total gains for the period included in NREMRFFECEE
profit or loss for assets held at the end EIABEERAZ
of the reporting period AW a4 RE 1,846
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 £RNBREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®
(continued)
(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (g) £HMTAZAAEEE (E)

(continued)

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) BARAEBESEZEREE
measured at fair value (continued) kEEZAREEGE)
Information about level 3 fair value measurement BHEE=ZRLALBHEHTEZ
(continued) B (&)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ET_THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Stonehold investment: Stonehold & :
At the beginning of the RERE B )
reporting period 1,264,851 1,510,062
Net losses recognised in profit or BB HERH 18 F 58
loss during the period (300,421) (143,298)
Interests received B FI & - (101,913)
At the end of the reporting period AR iR 964,430 1,264,851

Total losses for the period included EAi&iﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁzgé

in profit or loss for assets held at I AB=R
the end of the reporting period ZE@WEETE!%@%Q (300,421) (143,298)
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 £RNBREEREMIAZAR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BE®
(continued)
(g) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (g) £HMTAZAAEBEE (E)

(continued)

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) BARAEBESEZEREE
measured at fair value (continued) REBZAREEE)
Information about level 3 fair value measurement BHEE=ZRLALBHEHTEZ
(continued) B (&)

Year ended
31 March
2021
BZ
—E_—F
=A=+—H
LFE
HK$°000
FET
Fund investment: HEeRE:
At the beginning of the reporting period ¥R & ER 1) -
Purchase BE 51,161
Net gains recognised in profit or loss R B R =) F /e
during the period 8,161
At the end of the reporting period REREHIR 59,322
Total gains for the period included in ﬁ’\iﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁzgé
profit or loss for assets held at the end B AB &R
of the reporting period Z AR ?F‘HE 8,161

(i)  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried (i) UAAARBEEUMIRZEH
at other than fair value EEREBZAARER
The directors of the Company considered that the KRR EEZRBIEE MW
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial RANREHEKNAARZ 2/
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the BERBRBEZREER
consolidated financial statements approximate their ERAREERES -
fair values.
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34

35

324

BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of 35.5% equity share in Weipin

On 15 November 2019, Triple Talents Limited (“Triple Talents”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a series
of agreements with Weipin and its affiliates, pursuant to which
Triple Talents agreed to subscribe for certain equity shares in
Weipin. Upon completion of this transaction with a total
investment of approximately RMB200 million, the Company has
become the controlling shareholder of Weipin effectively holding
35.5% of its total share capital and Weipin has become the
holding company of the mobility services platform business.

COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March not provided for in

the financial statements were as follows:

Contracted, but not provided for D ETAYB AR EHER S
— property, plant and equipment — W - BB NEE
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35

EBatt
Y 5% Weipin 2 35.5% # 2 IR 15
RZZT—NE+—A+HB  XQFZ
% & [t B A A Triple Talents Limited
([Triple Talents|) 2 Weipin & H B &
AR —ZR5a% » Bt - Triple Talents
B REREWeipin & FHEZKMD © 5%
R 5 B A K AR 200,000,000 7T * 32
S % - NAEE KA Weipin AE A%
RN - BERSBERABEER35.5% -
i Weipin B & 77 AR 75 F & S 75 A9 1E AR

A -

iz
R=A=+— BRI |MER AR
WE RN ERAENT

At 31 March At 31 March
2021 2020
REIZ-—F [Seimieotes
=A=+—8H =A=+—~H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T

- 479
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company's directors as disclosed in
note 10 and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in note 11, is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits mEEERA
Post-employment benefits BEE 18 R A

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
8(b)).

(b) Financing arrangements

36 EXEABAXS

(a) FTEEEES T ZFHH
TREEEE T ZHM(BRENM
HI0ORBENARRESE RMEN
BENETRSHES 2FM) 0
i

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FAT
9,477 8,672

54 249

9,531 8,921

[BEIA| BRELFHFM(R KM
8(b)) °

(b) @EZH

Amounts owed to the

Company by related parties Related interest income
BREE 5 AR A B RIE BEAMEWA
As at 31 March Year ended 31 March

R=A

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FET

Loans to members of [AIFXZEIEE
key management BTRHEER
personnel 3,000

Er=E BEZE=A=1+—HLEE

2020 2021 2020
—E DT byl T T F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FBxT FHETT

3,000 123 3
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 36 EXRABARS (B
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Material related party transactions (c) EXBEHIXZ
Apart from the transactions disclosed elsewhere in this Br AN F BTSRRI P 55
annual financial report, there were following material MR SN NG BN A
transactions with related parties during the reporting IUTERRS -
period.

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2021

B
HK$'000 HK$’ OOO
FEx TAT

With the immediate holding company £ B %12 & A &)

— increase in interest payable on — AR ES Z N FLA

convertible bond (note (i) 0 (I EE () 600 602
— interest paid on the convertible — MR ESFZENFE

bond (600) (406)

Note: HsE -

(i) Interest on the convertible bond was payable to Titan Gas at 1% per (i) FEf Titan Gas Z AJ AR (&5 2 F| 8%
annum. As at 31 March 2021, Titan Gas held the Company's FFE1%FF - R=ZFE=Z—F =4
convertible bond with principal amount of HK$40,000,000 (31 March =+—8 - Titan Gas#HAARRQF ZA]
2020: HK$60,000,000). Details of the transaction and the terms of AR 15 35‘ 7R 4288 /& 40,000,000 7%
the convertible bonds were disclosed in note 29. T(ZE-_FTHF=A=+—H8:

60,000,000/ 7T ) © 22 5 & 15 & A #2
BB TR M E 29 TR 4 5 ©
(d) Related party balances (d) BEHmiEer

The outstanding balances with related parties are as EAREEE T 2 RIEBEHBIAT ¢

follows:

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020
RO —F S
=A=+—H =A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TFETT
Trade and other payables & BR 30 N EL b FE < R TE
— the immediate holding company — EEIERAT] 341 341
Convertible bond AIR R E S
— the immediate holding company — EEERA A 36,145 50,018
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36

37

38

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(e) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions
None of the above related party transactions falls under the
definition of connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2021, there
had been no litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance
in which the Company or its respective subsidiaries was engaged
or pending or which as threatened against the Company or its
respective subsidiaries.

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION AND COMPANY-
LEVEL OF STATEMENT OF PROFIT ON LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Non-current assets kRBEE

Investments in subsidiaries REBRARZEE

Other non-current assets BEmIERnBEE

Current assets REBEE

Prepayments, deposits and TBRFRIE -« Rl REAM
other receivables JE W R IE

Financial assets at fair value BRIBRIZE AN EENIERD
through profit or loss CRVEE

Cash and cash equivalents RHe MREEEY

36

37

38

EXFEBAXS (5

(e) HEEXZHEZ LHHRAZ
ERt
IR RERE S R BT BN LT AR
FUAEMAENBER 5 AFHE
FRER S e

BRAR

BEERA R-_T-_—F=A=+—
B ARBIREMBIERRREY R
BERFDR - FEEHRE - FEEREK
TRERS AR R HE RN E R FE
BB ZERFHR - PERHRE -

AFIBREZHBERARR AFE
HZRERAMEERRE

At 31 March At 31 March
2021 2020
RIBZ—F S ss
=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

887,266 887,971
9,600 6,600

B 896,866 894,571
1,978,675 2,206,472
25,109 1,656
871,066 760,174
2,874,850 2,958,302
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38 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 38 AFIBEZHMERIEZERATE
FINANCIAL POSITION AND COMPANY- AZEAREMX2ERESE &)

LEVEL OF STATEMENT OF PROFIT ON LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(continued)

At 31 March At 31 March

2021 2020
ROZ-—F ENeeiees
=RA=+—H =A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Current liabilities REBAE
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMER - 77,543
Other payables and accruals H b B~ FRIE M BT FUA 14,197 13,119
14,197 90,662
Net current assets rpREFE 2860653 25867640
Total assets less current liabilities EEZABERABAEE 3,757,519 3,762,211
Non-current liabilities FREBEME
Convertible bond Al AR (E % 29 36,145 50,018
,,,,,,,,,, 36145 90,018
NET ASSETS BEEFE 3,721,374 3,712,193
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#EE
Share capital &7 32(c) 68,917 65,959
Treasury shares EFRG5 - (680)
Reserves EfE 3,652,457 3,646,914
TOTAL EQUITY R 3,721,374 3,712,193
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38 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 38 AFIBRAZHMERIZRRAFRE
FINANCIAL POSITION AND COMPANY- AZESREMZEBEEE (&)
LEVEL OF STATEMENT OF PROFIT ON LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(continued)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Investment income/(loss) EWA (E1E) 2,680 (6,267)
Total income/(loss) from principal FEEBTEEHABA (FHE)
business activities, net of cost R A 2,680 (6,267)
Other net losses H b Ei8 55 (1,390) =
Administrative expenses ITHRS (15,392) (24,449)
Loss before net finance income HEBRMEWRANFERFIEASE
and taxation (14,102) (30,716)
Finance income BhE U A 11,342 17,574
Finance costs Bh& B 2N (5,380) (14,216)
Net finance income mESAER 5962 3,358
Loss before taxation BB AT ES 18 (8,140) (27,358)
Income tax FTiS %t - -
Loss for the year FEEIE (8,140) (27,358)
Other comprehensive income FEHMZ2EmKE

for the year - =

Total comprehensive income FEXHEKRERE
for the year (8,140) (27,358)
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on BEHREEeR - -_—F~A=-+HH
25 June 2021. BOAE N RAE TS
Wang Jingbo Liu Zhihai
EFHR 2158
Director Director
EF EF
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39 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE

330

REPORTING PERIOD
(a) Deconsolidation of the mobility services business

As at 31 March 2021, the Company effectively holds 35.5%
of the equity share of Weipin, and the Company had the
majority voting right of the board of directors with all the
decision-making power over the activities of Weipin.

To provide the management of Weipin with more flexibility
in terms of decision making over its operations, on 21 June
2021, through amicable negotiations, the shareholders of
Weipin agreed to enter into an amended shareholders’
agreement so as to, among other things, make adjustments
to the structure of the board of Weipin, of which the
Company agrees to lower its number of designated
directors from 3 to 2 directors in the board of Weipin (the
“Adjustment”). After the Adjustment, the Company no
longer has the majority voting right of the board of directors
of Weipin, and in turn no longer has the control over the
relevant activities of Weipin. Pursuant to the relevant
regulatory requirements and accounting standards, Weipin
ceased to be consolidated into the financial statements of
the Company with effect from 21 June 2021. The
shareholding percentage held by the Company in Weipin
remains unchanged (i.e. 35.5%), and Weipin continues to
be a portfolio company invested by the Company. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the fair value of
the investment held by the Company and the deemed
disposal gain or loss of Weipin will be recognized in the
year ending 31 March 2022.

IDG ENERGY INVESTMENT LIMITED / Annual Report 2021

39 RENMERBAREZER

(a) BUEHITTIRBEEFHHE AR

R-E-_—F=A=+—H &R
7] B X #F 5 Weipin 35.5% % 78 -
BARRRFEEE SN ZERAE
K Weipin 2755 B FT B IR HE o

BT EWepinEIE B B & &R
REBEANEEE RZT=—
FERXAZ+—B  KBRTER -
Weipin 8% 3R [Fl B 5T LA IE FT HI AR
R (ERBeHE) TJ’Weipin%
%AE’J EEEL AT HRARQ

=) /\EWelpmﬁ%/\qﬂh/ﬁi
$H’]/\§5{EE—%H’J\Z\W%(WZB§
B|)  RZ#AER  KNARTHE
BWeipinZEEEH) KN Z R ZHE -
#E T S B ¥ B Weipin 48 B8 2 7508
B hliE - RIBEEEEERK
SR Weipin B ZZE=—F X
AZ+—HRTHEHERAFN
B TS 3R K o A A Bl 7 Weipin A 15
B tb B AR #=F T 2 ( B135.5%) -
WeipnI BN ARIWIEEHAE A
A] o AR FEERHE AR A FTiFik
B RAREE" KWeipin H) 1% 1E
HEREIBEEEREE=S ==
FZA=Zt+—HAILLFE®ER -
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39 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

39 REMEBARBZER ()

(b) Impact of COVID-19

The Coronavirus outbreak (“COVID-19") since early 2020
has brought additional uncertainties to the global business
environment as well as to the Company.

As far as the Company's businesses are concerned, the
COVID-19 has negatively affected the operation, and
caused the decrease in the demand for crude oil. Although
crude oil price was on the rise recently as a result of the
expected gradual recovery in demand, it is very difficult to
predict how the situation will turn out in the near future
considering the impact of repeated epidemics. As the

(b) COVID-19 H9& £
BT - TFEYURFABERES
1E2 ([COVID-19]) ¥ 2 BR & B IR
B R AR R EREBINFEE H
%o

AR AEHMEF - COVID-192
HHLEEAREZE  WEHR
HESR D - BEHERFREY
FEHZMEMNOHE LB - =
BREIRERENTE  REBAE
MEIB RS SRR - Ft - ™
BT DRSS

result, the market is still very fragile.

40 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At 31 March 2021, the directors consider the immediate parent

40 HERZRERS

R_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H ' BEERAE
KA REMBRAR CEERTRR AR
B BE 2 B S Rk it B AL 2 Titan Gas,
Titan Gas # Titan Gas Technology
Holdings Limited¥ & 75.73% © Titan
Gas Technology Holdings Limited F
Standard Gas Capital Limited % &
35.13% ~ IDG-Accel China Capital Il
L.P. %2 IDG-Accel China Capital Il
Investors L.P. 5 49.14% « T&FFtE
WEHB.06% - & BB IERRMN B R
N B # B6.87% * Zhang Weiwei#% &
0.73% K Bryce Wayne Leef#%50.08% °

of the Company and its subsidiaries to be Titan Gas, incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands, which is 75.73% held by Titan Gas
Technology Holdings Limited. Titan Gas Technology Holdings
Limited is owned as to 35.13% by Standard Gas Capital Limited,
49.14% by IDG-Accel China Capital Il L.P. and IDG-Accel China
Capital Il Investors L.P., 8.05% by Mr. Wang Jingbo and 6.87%
by Kingsbury International Holdings Co., Ltd., 0.73% by Zhang
Weiwei and 0.08% by Bryce Wayne Lee.
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41 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 41 EAfERMEANBE_S_—%F

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS Z=R=+—HLEFEEERZE
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE Rl - HEARREVREEANR
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 &

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the BEEAYBBRRTIEZEAR AL BFS
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new S ASEEMA TN RBE S -—%F
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet —A=+—BItFEHRAERI L H AR
effective for the year ended 31 March 2021 and which have not R IERERIRN 2 ZIEER] k— BT &
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments B(EBUBERELERNE 17T [REAS
include the following which may be relevant to the Group. 271]) o ZEEREBIE TS AL RNE R

BHE -

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

AT B 2%

R EHBREN

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
BB BMEERE IR (EFIAR) 1R B2 HES —E__F—HA—H

Amendments to HKAS 16,

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
BEEGTENFE 6] BRI N WX - BEKRZE - BT HZERATEHE] —T—_—F—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
BEEGTENEI7TR BN EESL — BITE A9 K ] —T—_—F—A—H
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
) \FE_Z_TFRPEEMBmE LR FEE —T—_—F—A—H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what AEER FFHTEHZEERTEEXNE
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the period AHENEZE - BRiASEBEE RS &
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of i RN SERE SRSV EHRRESE
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated BAFERAREERRK o

financial statements.
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